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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This annual report on Form 10-K contains statements that are forward-looking statements as defined within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements give our current expectations of forecasts of future events. All statements other than statements of current or historical fact contained in this annual report, including statements
regarding our future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “will,” and similar expressions, as they relate to us, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These
statements are based on our current plans and actual future activities, and our results of operations may be materially different from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. In particular,
these include, among other things, statements relating to:

”» » » . »

. the growth in the privatization of the corrections and detention industry and the public acceptance of our services;

. our ability to obtain and maintain correctional facility management contracts;

. changes in government policy and in legislation and regulation of the corrections and detention industry that adversely affect our business;

. the availability of debt and equity financing on terms that are favorable to us, including a successful refinancing of our senior bank credit facility;

. fluctuations in operating results because of changes in occupancy levels, competition, increases in cost of operations, fluctuations in interest rates and risks of operations; and
. general economic and market conditions.

Any or all of our forward-looking statements in this annual report may turn out to be inaccurate. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and
projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial needs. They can be affected by
inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including the risks, uncertainties and assumptions described in “Risk Factors.”

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this annual report may not occur and actual results could differ materially from
those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. When you consider these forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind these risk factors and other cautionary statements in
this annual report, including in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Business.”

Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary
statements contained in this annual report.
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PART L.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

We are the nation’s largest owner and operator of privatized correctional and detention facilities and one of the largest prison operators in the United States behind only the federal government and
four states. At December 31, 2001, we owned 39 correctional, detention and juvenile facilities, three of which we lease to other operators, and two additional facilities which are not yet in
operation. We also have a leasehold interest in a juvenile facility. At December 31, 2001, we operated 64 facilities, including 36 facilities that we owned, with a total design capacity of
approximately 61,000 beds in 21 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.

We specialize in owning, operating and managing prisons and other correctional facilities and providing inmate residential and prisoner transportation services for governmental agencies. In
addition to providing the fundamental residential services relating to inmates, our facilities offer a variety of rehabilitation and educational programs, including basic education, life skills and
employment training and substance abuse treatment. These services are intended to help reduce recidivism and to prepare inmates in the facilities we operate for their successful reentry into
society. We also provide health care (including medical, dental and psychiatric services), food services and work and recreational programs.

Operations

Management and Operation of Facilities. Our customers consist of local, state and federal correctional and detention authorities. For the year ended December 31, 2001, federal correctional and
detention authorities represented approximately 28.2% of our total management revenue. Federal correctional and detention authorities consist of the Federal Bureau of Prisons (the “BOP”), the
U.S. Marshals Service (the “USMS”) and the U.S. Immigration and Naturalization Service (the “INS™).

Our management services contracts typically have terms of one to five years, and contain multiple renewal options that are exercisable at the option of the government agency. Most of our facility
contracts also contain clauses which allow the government agency to terminate the contract at any time without cause, and our contracts are generally subject to annual or bi-annual legislative
appropriation of funds.

We are compensated for operating and managing facilities at an inmate per diem rate based upon actual or minimum guaranteed occupancy levels. Occupancy rates for a particular facility are
typically low when first opened or when expansions are first available. However, beyond the start-up period, which typically ranges from 90 to 180 days, the occupancy rate tends to stabilize. For
2001 and 2000, the average system-wide occupancy, based on rated capacity, of our facilities was 88.5% and 84.8%, respectively. From a capacity perspective, we currently have three facilities
that are substantially vacant and provide us with approximately 4,500 available beds. These beds can be brought on-line with only minimal capital outlays by us.

Our contracts generally require us to operate each facility in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. We are required by our contracts to maintain certain levels of insurance coverage
for general liability, workers’ compensation, vehicle liability and property loss or damage. We are also required to indemnify the contracting agencies for claims and costs arising out of our
operations and,
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in certain cases, to maintain performance bonds and other collateral requirements. Over 80% of the facilities we operate are accredited by the American Correctional Association Commission on
Accreditation compared with 40% of all government operated facilities. The American Correctional Association, or the ACA, is an independent organization comprised of professionals in the
corrections industry that establish standards by which a correctional institution may gain accreditation.

Operating Procedures. Pursuant to the terms of our management contracts, we are responsible for the overall operation of our facilities, including staff recruitment, general administration of the
facilities, facility maintenance, security and supervision of the offenders. We also provide a variety of rehabilitative and educational programs at our facilities. Inmates at most facilities we manage
may receive basic education through academic programs designed to improve inmate literacy levels and the opportunity to acquire General Education Development, or GED, certificates. We also
offer vocational training to inmates who lack marketable job skills. In addition, we offer life skills transition planning programs that provide inmates with job search skills, health education,
financial responsibility training, parenting and other skills associated with becoming productive citizens. At several of our facilities, we also offer counseling, education and/or treatment to inmates
with alcohol and drug abuse problems through our LifeLine™ program. We believe these programs help to reduce recidivism.

We operate each facility in accordance with company-wide policies and procedures and the standards and guidelines established by the ACA. The ACA believes its standards safeguard the life,
health and safety of offenders and personnel and, accordingly, these standards are the basis of the accreditation process and define policies and procedures for operating programs. The ACA
standards, which are the industry’s most widely accepted correctional standards, describe specific objectives to be accomplished and cover such areas as administration, personnel and staff
training, security, medical and health care, food services, inmate supervision and physical plant requirements. We have sought and received ACA accreditation for 54 of the facilities we currently
manage, and we intend to apply for ACA accreditation for all of our eligible facilities. The accreditation process is usually completed 18 to 24 months after a facility is opened.

We devote considerable resources to monitoring compliance with contractual and other requirements and to maintain a high level of quality assurance at each facility through a system of formal
reporting, corporate oversight, site reviews and inspection by on-site facility administrators.

Under our management contracts, we usually provide the contracting government agency with the services, personnel and material necessary for the operation, maintenance and security of the
facility and the custody of inmates. We offer full logistical support to the facilities we manage, including security, health care services, transportation, building and ground maintenance, education,
treatment and counseling services and food services.

Our operations department, in conjunction with our legal department, supervises compliance of each facility with operational standards contained in the various management contracts as well as
those of professional and government agencies. These responsibilities include developing specific policies and procedures manuals, monitoring all management contracts, ensuring compliance
with applicable labor and affirmative action standards, training and administration of personnel, purchasing supplies and developing educational, vocational, counseling and life skills inmate
programs. We provide meals for inmates at the facilities we operate in accordance with regulatory, client and nutritional requirements. These catering responsibilities include hiring and training
staff, monitoring food operations, purchasing food and supplies, and maintaining equipment, as well as adhering to all applicable safety and nutritional standards and codes.

6
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Facility Portfolio

General. Our facilities can generally be classified according to the level(s) of security at such facility. Minimum-security facilities are facilities having open housing within an appropriately
designed and patrolled institutional perimeter. Medium-security facilities are facilities having either cells, rooms or dormitories, a secure perimeter and some form of external patrol. Maximum-
security facilities are facilities having single occupancy cells, a secure perimeter and external patrol. Multi-security facilities are facilities with various areas encompassing either minimum,
medium or maximum security. Non-secure facilities are juvenile facilities having open housing that inhibit movement by their design. Secure facilities are juvenile facilities having cells, rooms, or
dormitories, a secure perimeter and some form of external patrol.

Our facilities can also be classified according to their primary function. The primary functional categories are:

. Correctional Facilities. Correctional facilities house and provide contractually agreed upon programs and services to sentenced adult prisoners, typically prisoners on whom a
sentence in excess of one year has been imposed.

. Detention Facilities. Detention facilities house and provide contractually agreed upon programs and services to prisoners being detained by the INS, prisoners who are awaiting
trial who have been charged with violations of federal criminal law who are in the custody of the USMS or state criminal law, and prisoners who have been convicted of crimes
and on whom a sentence of one year or less has been imposed.

. Juvenile Facilities. Juvenile facilities house and provide contractually agreed upon programs and services to juveniles, typically defined by applicable federal or state law as
being persons below the age of 18, who have been determined to be delinquents by a juvenile court and who have been committed for an indeterminate period of time but who
typically remain confined for a period of six months or less.

. Leased Facilities. Leased facilities are facilities that we own but do not manage.

Facilities and Facility Management Contracts. At December 31, 2001, we owned 39 correctional, detention and juvenile facilities in 14 states and the District of Columbia, three of which we
lease to other operators, and two additional facilities which are not yet in operation. Two of the 39 facilities are held for sale as of December 31, 2001. We also have a leasehold interest in a
juvenile facility and own two corporate office buildings. We have pledged each of the properties we own to secure borrowings under our senior bank credit facility. At December 31, 2001, we
leased one of these facilities to a government agency and two of these facilities to private operators. Additionally, we managed 28 correctional and detention facilities owned by government
agencies. The following table sets forth all of the facilities which, as of December 31, 2001, we (i) owned and managed, (ii) owned, but are leased to another operator, (iii) managed but are owned
by a government authority, and (iv) sub-leased to a private operator. The table includes certain information regarding each facility, including the term of the primary management contract related to
such facility, or, in the case of facilities we own but lease to another operator, the term of such lease. Subsequent to year-end, we have continued, and expect to continue, to manage or lease these
facilities, except as noted otherwise.

As indicated in the following table, in late 2001 and early 2002, we were provided notice from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico of its intention to terminate the management contracts at the
Ponce Young Adult Correctional Facility and the Ponce Adult Correctional Facility, located in Ponce, Puerto Rico, upon the expiration of the management contracts in February 2002. Although we
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continue to negotiate with respect to the continued operation of these facilities, we have begun a transition period to transfer operation of the facilities to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. We
can provide no assurance that we will continue our operation of these facilities. We have recently signed an extension of our management contract with the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico for the
operation of the Guayama Correctional Center located in Guayama, Puerto Rico, through December 2006. However, the management contract is terminable at any time without cause by the
Commonwealth.

Remaining
Primary Design Security Facility Renewal
Facility Name Customer Capacity (A) Level Type (B) Term Options (C)

Owned and Managed Facilities:
Central Arizona Detention Center UsSMS 2,304 Multi Detention November (2) 1 year
Florence, Arizona 2002
Eloy Detention Center BOP, INS 1,500 Medium Detention February (7) 1 year
Eloy, Arizona 2002
Florence Correctional Center State of Hawaii 1,600 Medium Correctional June 2004 —
Florence, Arizona
California Correctional Center BOP 2,304 Medium Correctional September (7) 1 year
California City, California 2003
San Diego Correctional Facility (D) INS 1,232 Minimum/ Detention December (2) 1 year
San Diego, California Medium 2002
Bent County Correctional Facility State of Colorado 700 Medium Correctional June 2002 (2) 1 year
Las Animas, Colorado
Huerfano County Correctional State of Colorado 752 Medium Correctional June 2002 (2) 1 year
Center (E)
Walsenburg, Colorado
Kit Carson Correctional Center State of Colorado 768 Medium Correctional June 2002 (2) 1 year
Burlington, Colorado
Coffee Correctional Facility (F) State of Georgia 1,524 Medium Correctional June 2002 (17) 1 year
Nicholls, Georgia
Wheeler Correctional Facility (F) State of Georgia 1,524 Medium Correctional June 2002 (17) 1 year
Alamo, Georgia
Leavenworth Detention Center USMS 483 Maximum Detention December (1) 1 year
Leavenworth, Kansas 2002
Lee Adjustment Center State of Kentucky 756 Minimum/ Correctional May 2003 (3) 2 year
Beattyville, Kentucky Medium
Marion Adjustment Center State of Kentucky 790 Minimum Correctional December —
St. Mary, Kentucky 2003
Otter Creek Correctional Center State of Indiana 656 Minimum/ Correctional January —
Wheelwright, Kentucky Medium 2003
Prairie Correctional Facility State of Wisconsin 1,338 Medium Correctional December —
Appleton, Minnesota 2002
Tallahatchie County Correctional Tallahatchie 1,104 Medium Correctional May 2003 3 year
Facility (G) County, indefinite
Tutweiler, Mississippi Mississippi
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Remaining
Primary Design Security Facility Renewal

Facility Name Customer Capacity (A) Level Type (B) Term Options (C)
Crossroads Correctional Center (H) State of Montana 512 Multi Correctional August (8) 2 year
Shelby, Montana 2003
Cibola County Corrections Center BOP 1,072 Multi Correctional September (7) 1 year
Milan, New Mexico 2003
New Mexico Women’s Correctional State of New Mexico 596 Multi Correctional June 2002 (3) 1 year
Facility
Grants, New Mexico
Torrance County Detention Facility USMS 910 Multi Detention Indefinite —
Estancia, New Mexico
Northeast Ohio Correctional Center — 2,016 Medium Correctional — —
Youngstown, Ohio (I)
Cimarron Correctional Facility (J) State of Oklahoma 960 Medium Correctional March 2002 1 year
Cushing, Oklahoma indefinite
Davis Correctional Facility (J) State of Oklahoma 960 Medium Correctional March 2002 1 year
Holdenville, Oklahoma indefinite
Diamondback Correctional Facility State of Oklahoma 2,160 Medium Correctional March 2002 (1) 1 year
Watonga, Oklahoma
North Fork Correctional Facility State of Wisconsin 1,440 Medium Correctional December —
Sayre, Oklahoma 2002
West Tennessee Detention Facility State of Wisconsin 600 Multi Correctional December —
Mason, Tennessee 2002
Shelby Training Center (K) Shelby County, 200 Secure Juvenile April 2015 —
Memphis, Tennessee Tennessee
Whiteville Correctional Facility State of Wisconsin 1,536 Medium Correctional December —
Whiteville, Tennessee 2002
Bridgeport Pre-Parole Transfer State of Texas 200 Medium Correctional August —
Facility 2002
Bridgeport, Texas
Eden Detention Center BOP 1,225 Minimum Correctional April 2004 —
Eden, Texas
Houston Processing Center INS 411 Medium Detention September (2) 3 month
Houston, Texas 2002
Laredo Processing Center INS 258 Minimum/ Detention September —
Laredo, Texas Medium 2002
Webb County Detention Center USMS 480 Medium Detention February (1) 1 year
Laredo, Texas 2002
Mineral Wells Pre-Parole Transfer State of Texas 2,103 Minimum Correctional August —
Facility 2002
Mineral Wells, Texas
T. Don Hutto Correctional Center State of Texas 480 Medium Correctional January (1) 2 year
Taylor, Texas 2003
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Remaining
Primary Design Security Facility Renewal
Facility Name Customer Capacity (A) Level Type (B) Term Options (C)
D.C. Correctional Treatment Facility (L) Washington D.C District of Columbia 866 Medium Correctional March 2017 —
Managed Only Facilities:
Bay Correctional Facility State of Florida 750 Medium Correctional June 2002 (2) 2 year
Panama City, Florida
Bay County Jail and Annex Panama City, Florida Bay County, 677 Multi Detention September —
Florida 2006
Citrus County Detention Facility Citrus County, 400 Multi Detention September (1) 5 year
Lecanto, Florida Florida 2005
Gadsden Correctional Institution State of Florida 896 Minimum/ Correctional June 2003 —
Quincy, Florida Medium
Hernando County Jail Hernando County, 302 Multi Detention October —
Brooksville, Florida Florida 2010
Lake City Correctional Facility State of Florida 350 Secure Correctional June 2003 (1) 2 year
Lake City, Florida
Okeechobee Juvenile Offender State of Florida 96 Secure Juvenile December —
Correctional Center 2002
Okeechobee, Florida
Idaho Correctional Center State of Idaho 1,270 Minimum/ Correctional June 2003 —
Boise, Idaho Medium
Marion County Jail Marion County, 670 Multi Detention November —
Indianapolis, Indiana Indiana 2004
Southwest Indiana Regional Youth Children and Family 188 Non-secure/ Juvenile July —
Village (M) Services Corporation Secure 2004 (M)
Vincennes, Indiana
Winn Correctional Center State of Louisiana 1,538 Medium/ Correctional March 2003 (1) 2 year
Winnfield, Louisiana Maximum
Delta Correctional Facility State of Mississippi 1,016 Minimum/ Correctional January —
Greenwood, Mississippi Medium 2004
Wilkinson County Correctional State of Mississippi 900 Medium Correctional January (1) 2 year
Facility 2004
Woodville, Mississippi
Southern Nevada Women’s State of Nevada 500 Multi Correctional October 3 year
Correctional Center (N) 2004 (N) indefinite
Las Vegas, Nevada
Elizabeth Detention Center INS 300 Minimum Detention January (2) 1 year
Elizabeth, New Jersey 2003
David L. Moss Criminal Justice Center Tulsa, Oklahoma Tulsa County, 1,440 Multi Detention August (2) 1 year
Oklahoma 2002

10
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Primary Design Security Facility Renewal
Facility Name Customer Capacity (A) Level Type (B) Term Options (C)
Guayama Correctional Commonwealth of 1,000 Medium Correctional December (1) 5 year
Center Puerto Rico 2006
Guayama, Puerto Rico
Ponce Adult Correctional Commonwealth of 1,000 Medium Correctional February (1) 5 year
Center (O) Puerto Rico 2002 (O)
Ponce, Puerto Rico
PonceYoung Adult Correctional Commonwealth of 500 Multi Correctional February (1) 5 year
Facility (O) Puerto Rico 2002 (O)
Ponce, Puerto Rico
Silverdale Facilities Hamilton County, 576 Multi Juvenile September (2) 4 year
Chattanooga, Tennessee Tennessee 2004
South Central Correctional Center State of Tennessee 1,506 Medium Correctional February —
Clifton, Tennessee 2002
Tall Trees State of Tennessee 63 Non-secure Juvenile June 2002 —
Memphis, Tennessee
Metro-Davidson County Detention Davidson County, 1,092 Multi Detention May 2002 —
Facility Tennessee
Nashville, Tennessee
Hardeman County Correctional State of Tennessee 2,016 Medium Correctional July 2002 —
Facility
Whiteville, Tennessee
Bartlett State Jail State of Texas 962 Minimum/ Correctional August —
Bartlett, Texas Medium 2003
Liberty County Jail/Juvenile Center Liberty County, 380 Multi Detention January (2) 1 year
Liberty, Texas Texas 2005
Sanders Estes Unit State of Texas 1,000 Minimum/ Correctional August (1) 1 year
Venus, Texas Medium 2002
Lawrenceville Correctional Center Commonwealth of 1,500 Medium Correctional March 2003 —
Lawrenceville, Virginia Virginia
Leased Facilities:
Leo Chesney Correctional Cornell 240 Minimum Owned/ February (2) 5 year
Center (P) (Q) Corrections Leased 2002 (Q)
Live Oak, California
Queensgate Correctional Hamilton County, 850 Medium Owned/ February (3) 1 year
Facility (P) Ohio Leased 2003
Cincinnati, Ohio
Community Education Partners (R) Dallas, Texas Community — Non-secure Sub-leased August (3) 5 year
Education 2008
Partners
Community Education Partners (R) Houston, Texas Community — Non-secure Owned/ June 2008 (3) 5 year
Education Leased
Partners

11
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Design capacity measures the number of beds, and accordingly, the number of inmates each facility is designed to accommodate. We believe design capacity is an appropriate
measure for evaluating prison operations, because the revenue generated by each facility is based on a per diem or monthly rate per inmate housed at the facility paid by the
corresponding contracting governmental entity. The ability of another private operator to satisfy its financial obligations under our leases is based in part on the revenue
generated by the facilities.

‘We manage numerous facilities that have more than a single function (e.g., housing both long-term sentenced adult prisoners and pre-trial detainees). The primary functional
categories into which facility types are identified was determined by the relative size of prisoner populations in a particular facility on December 31, 2001. If, for example, a
1,000-bed facility housed 900 adult prisoners with sentences in excess of one year and 100 pre-trial detainees, the primary functional category to which it would be assigned
would be that of correction facilities and not detention facilities. It should be understood that the primary functional category to which multi-user facilities are assigned may
change from time to time.

Remaining renewal options represents the number of renewal options, if applicable, and the term of each option renewal.
The facility is subject to a ground lease with the County of San Diego whereby the initial lease term is 18 years from the commencement of the contract, as defined. The County
has the right to buy out all, or designated portions of, the premises at various times prior to the expiration of the term. Upon expiration of the lease, ownership of the facility

automatically reverts to the County of San Diego.

The facility is subject to a purchase option held by Huerfano County which grants Huerfano County the right to purchase the facility upon an early termination of the contract at
a price determined by a formula set forth in the agreement.

The facility is subject to a purchase option held by the Georgia Department of Corrections, or GDOC, which grants the GDOC the right to purchase the facility for the lesser of
the facility’s depreciated book value or fair market value at any time during the term of the contract between us and the GDOC.

The facility is subject to a purchase option held by the Tallahatchie County Correctional Authority which grants Tallahatchie County Correctional Authority the right to
purchase the facility at any time during the contract at a price determined by a formula. This facility is substantially vacant.

The State of Montana has an option to purchase the facility at fair market value generally at any time during the term of the contract with us.

All inmates were transferred out of this facility during 2001 due to a new law that mandated that the BOP assume jurisdiction of all D.C. offenders under the custody of the
BOP by the end of 2001.

The facility is subject to a purchase option held by the Oklahoma Department of Corrections, or ODC, which grants the ODC the right to purchase the facility at its fair market
value at any time.

Upon the conclusion of the thirty-year lease with Shelby County, Tennessee, the facility will become the property of Shelby County. Prior to such time, if the County terminates
the lease without cause, breaches the lease or the State fails to fund the contract, we may purchase the property for $150,000. If we terminate the lease without cause, or breach

the contract, we will be required to purchase the property for its fair market value as agreed to by the County and us.

The District of Columbia has the right to purchase the facility at any time during the term of the contract at a price determined by a formula. Upon expiration of the lease,
ownership of the facility automatically reverts to the District of Columbia.

We have agreed to terminate the management contract with Children and Family Services Corporation, effective March 31, 2002, prior to its expiration.

We have contracted with the State of Nevada to continue to manage and operate the facility, which we sold on October 3, 2001.

The Commonwealth of Puerto Rico has provided notice of its intention to terminate the management contract. Although we continue to negotiate to maintain our management
contract with the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, we have begun a transition period to transfer operation of the facility to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. We can provide no
assurance that we will be successful in attempting to maintain the management contract at this facility.

The facility was held for sale as of December 31, 2001.

Upon expiration of the lease in February 2002, we agreed to extend the lease through June 30, 2002.

The alternative educational facility is currently configured to accommodate 900 at-risk juveniles and may be expanded to accommodate a total of 1,400 at-risk juveniles. We

believe that design capacity does not generally apply to educational facilities, and therefore, the aggregate design capacity of our facilities referred to in this Form 10-K does not
include the total number of at-risk juveniles which can be accommodated at this facility.

Facilities Under Construction or Development. In addition to owning and/or managing the facilities listed in the preceding table, we are currently in the process of developing two facilities.
Presently, construction has ceased and no opening date has been established. Set forth below is a brief description of these two facilities.
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McRae Correctional Facility. The McRae Correctional Facility is located on 70 acres in McRae, Georgia. The 297,550 square foot medium security facility has a design capacity of 1,524 beds and
is substantially complete. Management has submitted this facility in a response to a proposal from the BOP for the placement of up to 1,500 inmates under the BOP’s Criminal Alien Requirement
11, or CAR II. The BOP has identified this facility as one of two “preferred alternative” sites to house inmates under CAR II. The BOP is expected to award CAR II during the first half of 2002.
However, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in securing CAR II or any other contract to utilize this facility. We currently estimate that the facility could be ready for operation
with approximately $6.0 million of capital expenditures to meet BOP specifications.

Stewart County Detention Center. The Stewart County Detention Center is located in Stewart County, Georgia. The 297,550 square foot medium security facility will have a design capacity of
1,524 beds and is partially complete. We estimate that the facility could be completed with approximately $20.0 million of capital expenditures. At this time, there are no plans to complete this
project until we have a firm commitment to fill a substantial portion of the facility’s beds.

Business Objectives and Strategies

Business Objectives. Our primary business strategy and objectives are to provide quality corrections services (which are intended to improve prisoner rehabilitation), increase occupancy and
revenue, control operating costs and continue to reduce our debt, while maintaining our position as the leading owner, operator and manager of privatized correctional and detention facilities. We
will also consider opportunities for growth, including potential acquisitions of businesses within our line of business and those that provide complimentary services, provided that we believe such
opportunities can broaden our market and/or increase the services we can provide to our customers. We intend to achieve these objectives by the following:

. Delivery of Quality Corrections Services. Our operations department has been organized to help ensure continued delivery of quality corrections services and efficiently
manage day-to-day operations and security. This department also includes our quality assurance and human resources divisions. Our quality assurance division provides oversight
and establishes checkpoints for examining our performance, and the human resources division formalizes our commitment to employee recruitment and retention. Our
management has completed a systematic facility-by-facility review in order to establish projections and benchmarks for facility performance. We believe that a focus on the day-
to-day management of our facilities, quality assurance and our employees will enable us to continue the delivery of quality corrections services and to maintain and increase our
facilities’ accreditation.

. Increasing Occupancy Rates. We are typically compensated based on the number of inmates held in our facilities. Our new management team has taken a number of initiatives
intended to increase occupancy. We are currently pursuing three prospective contracts with a total of approximately 2,700 beds for which written responses to Requests for
Proposals, or RFPs, and other solicitations have been submitted, including the BOP CAR II proposal. We also are focused on renewing and enhancing the terms of our existing
contracts. Given our significant number of available beds, we believe we can increase operating cash flow from increased occupancy without incurring significant capital
expenditures. Our goal is to obtain contracts to fill our vacant beds, and we do not currently intend to add new beds or develop new facilities without a firm commitment from a
governmental entity to fill a substantial portion of such beds or facilities.

. Cost Reduction Efforts. An important component of our strategy is to position our company as a cost effective, high quality provider of corrections management services. We
continue to focus on improving operating performance and efficiency through the following
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key operating initiatives: (i) standardizing supply and service purchasing practices and usage; (ii) improving inmate management, resource consumption and reporting procedures;
and (iii) improving employee productivity. We intend to continue to implement a wide variety of specialized services that address the unique needs of various segments of the
inmate population. Because the facilities we operate differ with respect to security levels, ages, genders and cultures of inmates, we focus on the particular needs of an inmate
population and tailor our services based on local conditions and our ability to provide such services on a cost-effective basis. Our objective is to reduce recidivism by providing
those services that allow inmates in the facilities we operate to reenter society with better skills.

. Reducing Debt. In 2001, we repaid approximately $189.0 million of indebtedness with the proceeds of asset sales and through cash flow generated from operations. We believe
that our anticipated capital expenditures and the benefit of our net operating loss carryforwards will allow us to generate free cash flow and enable us to continue to reduce our
debt. In addition, we have identified selected assets for sale, the proceeds of which we would also use to repay debt.

Business Strategy. We believe that we are well positioned to take advantage of opportunities in the privatized corrections industry. We currently are able to benefit from different types of private
sector/public sector partnership with respect to correctional and detention facilities, including: (i) facilities we own and manage; (ii) facilities owned by government entities and managed by us;
(iii) facilities owned by us and managed by government entities; and (iv) facilities owned by us and managed by other private operators.

Our principal business strategies are to fill vacant beds currently in our inventory and increase revenue by obtaining additional management contracts. Substantially all of our income is expected to
be derived from contracts with government entities for the provision of correctional and detention facility management and related services.

We currently have three facilities that are substantially vacant and provide us with approximately 4,500 available beds. These beds can be brought on-line with only minimal capital outlays by us.
In addition, through the completion of construction of an additional facility, we could provide approximately 1,500 additional beds with approximately $20.0 million of additional capital
expenditures. As an alternative to filling these beds, we would consider selling some or all of these facilities. In addition, as of December 31, 2001, we had a total of 11 facilities that had 200 or
more beds available at each facility, which we believe provides further potential for increased cash flow without additional capital expenditures.

Our goal is to obtain contracts to fill our vacant beds, and we do not currently intend to add new beds or develop new facilities without a firm commitment from a government entity to fill a
substantial portion of such beds or facilities.

We will also consider other opportunities for growth, including potential acquisitions of businesses within our line of business and those that provide complimentary services, provided that we
believe such opportunities can broaden our market and/or increase the services we can provide to our customers.
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Business Development

General. We are currently the nation’s largest provider of outsourced correctional management services. At December 31, 2001, we controlled approximately 52% of all beds under contract with
private operators of correctional and detention facilities in the United States.

Under the direction of our business development department and our senior management and with the aid, where appropriate, of certain independent consultants, we market our services to
government agencies responsible for federal, state and local correctional facilities in the United States. Recently, the industry has experienced greater opportunities at the federal level, as needs are
increasing within the BOP, the USMS and the INS. The BOP was our only customer that accounted for 10.0% or more of our management revenue in 2001 and 2000, generating 12.8% and 11.3%,
respectively, of total management revenue. Contracts at the federal level generally offer more favorable contract terms. For example, many federal contracts contain “take-or-pay” clauses which
guarantee us a certain percentage of management revenue, regardless of occupancy levels.

We believe that we can further develop our business by, among other things:

. maintaining our existing customer relationships and continuing to fill existing beds within our facilities;
. enhancing the terms of our existing contracts; and
. establishing relationships with new customers who have either previously not outsourced their correctional management needs or have utilized other private enterprises.

We generally receive inquiries from or on behalf of government agencies that are considering outsourcing the management of certain facilities or that have already decided to contract with private
enterprise. When we receive such an inquiry, we determine whether there is an existing need for our services and whether the legal and political climate in which the inquiring party operates is
conducive to serious consideration of outsourcing. Based on the findings, an initial cost analysis is conducted to further determine project feasibility.

We pursue our business opportunities primarily through RFPs and Request for Qualifications, or RFQs. RFPs and RFQs are issued by government agencies and are solicited for bid.

Generally, government agencies responsible for correctional and detention services procure goods and services through RFPs and RFQs. Most of our activities in the area of securing new business
are in the form of responding to RFPs. As part of our process of responding to RFPs, members of our management team meet with the appropriate personnel from the agency making the request to
best determine the agency’s needs. If the project fits within our strategy, we submit a written response to the RFP. A typical RFP requires bidders to provide detailed information, including, but not
limited to, the service to be provided by the bidder, its experience and qualifications, and the price at which the bidder is willing to provide the services (which services may include the renovation,
improvement or expansion of an existing facility or the planning, design and construction of a new facility). Based on the proposals received in response to an RFP, the agency will award a
contract to the successful bidder. In addition to issuing formal REFPs, local jurisdictions may issue an RFQ. In the RFQ process, the requesting agency selects a firm believed to be most qualified to
provide the requested services and then negotiates the terms of the contract with that firm, including the price at which its services are to be provided.
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The Industry

We believe that governments will continue to privatize correctional and detention facilities and that, as a result, the number of opportunities available to us in the United States will continue to
grow, primarily due to a general shortage of beds available in correctional and detention systems, and also due to shifts in demographics, the economy and governmental policy. However, we
believe that the procurement of new contracts is expected to become more competitive and private corrections managers will be forced to contain rising operating costs, including medical costs,
and improve operational performance.

According to statistics recently released by the United States Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics, or the BJS, between December 31, 1990 and December 31, 2000, the jail and
prison population rose at an average annual rate of 5.3%. Between December 31, 1999 and December 31, 2000, however, the prisoner population increased by only 2.1%. Notwithstanding the
lower growth rate in the prisoner population, continued increasing inmate populations and the resulting pressure on governments to control correctional costs and to improve correctional services
is expected to continue. While we believe rising pressure on governments to control correctional costs favors privatized outsourced corrections, state budgetary problems currently being
experienced throughout the United States may cause state governments to consider lighter sentencing, or alternatives to incarceration, such as community-based sentencing, including probation,
parole, halfway houses or substance abuse treatment, in lieu of a sentence in a secure facility. However, while lighter sentencing and alternatives to incarceration may alleviate short-term
budgetary constraints, we do not believe lighter sentencing and alternatives to incarceration provide a long-term solution to the overcrowding situation. Additionally, state budgetary problems may
also result in a curtailment of the construction of new prisons, restricting the public supply of available beds.

Although the BJS report indicates a more moderate prisoner population increase than was experienced in previous years, a general shortage of beds available in correctional and detention facilities
in the United States still exists, especially in the federal prison system. According to reports issued by the BJS, the number of inmates housed in the United States federal and state prisons and local
jail facilities increased from 1,148,702 at December 31, 1990 to 1,933,503 at December 31, 2000, an average annual growth rate of 5.3%. The reports also estimate that the prisoner population will
reach approximately 2.1 million by the close of 2005. As of December 31, 2000, the BJS reported that one in every 143 residents in the United States and its territories were incarcerated as
compared to one in 137 in 1999. Further, at December 31, 2000, at least 22 states and the federal prison system reported operating at 100% or more of their highest capacity, which was unchanged
from 1999. Of those operating at 100% or more of their highest capacity, the federal prison system was the most overcrowded at 31% above capacity. During 2000, the sentenced federal prison
population grew 9.4%, while the state sentenced prison population grew only 0.5%. Industry reports indicated that inmates convicted of violent crimes generally serve approximately one-third of
their sentence, with the majority of them being repeat offenders. Accordingly, there has been a perceived public demand for, among other things, longer prison sentences, as well as prison terms
for juvenile offenders, which may result in additional overcrowding in the United States correctional and detention facilities.

In an attempt to address the fiscal pressure resulting from rising incarceration costs, government agencies responsible for correctional and detention facilities are increasingly privatizing such
facilities. The design capacity of privately managed adult correctional and detention facilities worldwide has increased dramatically since the first privatized facility was opened by our predecessor

in 1984. According to the BJS, the prisoner population housed in privately managed facilities in the U.S. at the end of 2000 was 87,369, which represented a 22.7% increase over 1999
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numbers. The BJS also reported that, as of December 31, 2000, 10.7% of all federal inmates and 5.8% of all state inmates were held in private facilities. Six states, all of which are our customers —
New Mexico (40%), Alaska (33%), Montana (32%), Oklahoma (30%), Hawaii (24%), and Wisconsin (21%) — housed at least 20% of their prison population in private facilities as of

December 31, 2000, according to the BJS. All three federal agencies with prisoner custody responsibilities (i.e., the BOP, the INS and the USMS) continued to contract with private management
firms. We believe that the continued trend indicated by these statistics is primarily the result of competition among private companies in the industry who have incentives to keep costs down and to
improve the quality of services to customers.

Additional factors such as the state of the economy, age of the general population, government spending and public policy significantly influence federal and state corrections policy and
incarceration rates. Over the previous five to ten years, the state of the economy and age of the general population have trended in a direction that favors a slowing in the growth rate of the prison
population. However, we believe the moderation in prisoner population growth will begin to reverse itself. Adult males 18 to 29 years of age tend to be the range in which a criminal is most active
committing crimes and most likely to be caught, convicted, and incarcerated. The population of 18- to 29-year-old males in the United States fell steadily from 1991 to 1996, but began to increase
gradually thereafter. The U.S. Census Bureau now projects a steady rise in this section of the population. We believe the increase in the general population of people that commit crimes will result
in an increasing prison population. Additionally, although the 1980’s war on crime, get-tough rules, truth-in-sentencing, “three-strikes-and-you’re-out laws” and minimum sentencing laws
stimulated growth in prison populations, recent events have also influenced corrections policy, particularly at the federal level.

The attacks on the World Trade Center, the Pentagon, and in the air over Pennsylvania on September 11, 2001, underscored the heightened threats to the nation and illustrated tragically the gaps in
our counterterrorism efforts. According to recent reports released by the Department of Justice, defending the nation and its citizens against terrorist attacks and ensuring the protection and security
of our homeland under the law is now the Department of Justice’s first priority. Although we have yet to see an immediate impact on our business, we believe policy initiatives are likely to favor
more incarceration and detention, particularly of illegal immigrants, and increased supervision of persons on probation and parole. However, these benefits may be at least partially offset by
stricter enforcement to prevent illegal entry into the country, reducing the overall illegal immigrant population in the United States in the future.

The President’s budget for fiscal year 2003 proposes a number of initiatives to address heightened threats to the nation’s security and increases funding by $2.0 billion to support these efforts.
Approximately 53% of this increase has been earmarked for the INS and USMS, two of our largest customers. To address the gap in securing the nation’s borders, the budget will bring additional
law enforcement personnel together with advanced technology to better prevent illegal entry into the country, target persons who are a threat to homeland security, and assist with non-U.S. citizens
entering and exiting the country. The INS will also increase its air surveillance fleet to enable more thorough coverage of border areas. The budget report notes that immigration enforcement
activities have made progress in gaining control along specific sections of the Southwest border, resulting in a decrease in apprehensions, yet, total illegal immigration, including people
overstaying their visas, remains high.

The federal government also acknowledges in the budget report that, although the current supply of prison bed space is inadequate, solutions to overcrowding are being addressed. According to the
Department of Justice budget for fiscal 2003, between 1993 and 2001, the federal government has
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spent over $4.0 billion constructing new prisons. During that time, the federal prison population has grown by over 76%, from 88,565 in 1993 to 156,572 in 2001. In response to rapid inmate
growth, federal prison facilities grew from 72 in 1993 to 100 in 2001, with 18 additional institutions now underway. The fiscal 2003 budget for the Department of Justice acknowledges that the
“purchase of excess private sector and other correctional facilities may offer an affordable alternative to federal construction of additional prison space. The Department will evaluate the feasibility
of purchasing private facilities for use by the BOP.” We believe this initiative could result in the potential sale of one or more of our idle facilities, including primarily our Northeast Ohio
Correctional Center, for which we have had discussions with the BOP regarding a possible sale, and perhaps for the possible sale of our Tallahatchie Correctional Facility. No assurance, however,
can be given that we will be able to sell these facilities on commercially reasonable terms or otherwise.

The President’s budget for fiscal year 2003 also provides for a business process reengineering study to examine the advisability, feasibility and cost-effectiveness of contracting out the Justice
Prisoner and Alien Transportation System, the governmental agency responsible for transporting by air all Federal prisoners and detainees, including sentenced, pretrial, and illegal aliens, whether
in the custody of the USMS, BOP or INS. The Justice Prisoner and Alien Transportation System also provides prisoner transportation to the Department of Defense, and state and local law
enforcement. According to the Justice Prisoner and Alien Transportation System, the agency, on average, transports more than 250,000 prisoners and aliens each year. Outsourcing the Justice
Prisoner and Alien Transportation System could provide additional opportunities for TransCor, our wholly-owned prisoner transportation subsidiary, which transported approximately 50,000
inmates during 2001.

General Development of Business
The Company

We are a Maryland corporation formerly known as Prison Realty Trust, Inc., also referred to herein as New Prison Realty, which commenced operations as Prison Realty Corporation on January 1,
1999, following its mergers with each of the former Corrections Corporation of America, a Tennessee corporation, also referred to herein as Old CCA, on December 31, 1998, and CCA Prison
Realty Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust, also referred to herein as Old Prison Realty, on January 1, 1999. These mergers are referred to collectively herein as the 1999 merger and we
are referred to as New Prison Realty for the period following the 1999 merger and prior to the completion of our restructuring discussed further herein under “ — The 2000 Restructuring and
Related Transactions”.

Prior to the 1999 merger, Old Prison Realty had been a publicly traded entity operating as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, which was primarily in the business of owning and leasing prison
facilities to private prison management companies and certain government entities. Prior to the 1999 merger, Old CCA was also a publicly traded entity engaged primarily in the business of
owning, operating and managing prisons on behalf of government entities. Additionally, Old CCA, which was the largest developer and manager of private correctional and detention facilities
worldwide, had been Old Prison Realty’s primary tenant.

The 1999 Merger
During the first quarter of 1998, Old Prison Realty and Old CCA proposed a strategic combination whereby the companies would be merged to create the nation’s leading company in the private
corrections industry. Pursuant to the terms of an amended and restated agreement and plan of merger dated September 29, 1998, which amended and restated an agreement and plan of merger

dated April
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18, 1998, each of Old CCA and Old Prison Realty agreed to merge with and into New Prison Realty, with New Prison Realty as the surviving company. The companies also agreed to complete a
series of transactions to enable New Prison Realty to operate so as to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes following the 1999 merger.

In order for New Prison Realty to qualify as a REIT, New Prison Realty’s income generally could not include income from the operation and management of correctional and detention facilities,
including those facilities operated and managed by Old CCA. Accordingly, immediately prior to the 1999 merger, Old CCA sold all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of certain of its
wholly-owned corporate subsidiaries, certain management contracts and certain other non-real estate assets related thereto, to a newly formed entity, Correctional Management Services
Corporation, a privately-held Tennessee corporation referred to herein as Operating Company. Also immediately prior to the 1999 merger, Old CCA sold certain management contracts and other
assets and liabilities relating to government owned adult facilities to Prison Management Services, LLC, or PMS, LLC (subsequently merged with Prison Management Services, Inc., or PMSI) and
sold certain management contracts and other assets and liabilities relating to government owned jails and juvenile facilities to Juvenile and Jail Facility Management Services, LLC, or JJEMS,
LLC (subsequently merged with Juvenile and Jail Facility Management Services, Inc., or JJFMSI). PMS, LLC and JJFMS, LLC were two privately-held Delaware limited liability companies
formed in connection with the 1999 merger.

In exchange for the sale of certain management contracts and other non-real estate assets to Operating Company, Old CCA received an installment note in the principal amount of $137.0 million,
referred to herein as the CCA Note, and 100% of the non-voting common stock of Operating Company. Old CCA’s ownership interest in the CCA Note and the non-voting common stock of
Operating Company were transferred to New Prison Realty as a result of the 1999 merger.

The non-voting common stock of Operating Company represented approximately a 9.5% economic interest in Operating Company. During 1999, Operating Company paid no dividends on the
shares of its non-voting common stock. The CCA Note was payable over 10 years at an interest rate of 12% per annum. Interest only was generally payable for the first four years of the CCA
Note, and the principal was to be amortized over the following six years. The chief executive officer of New Prison Realty and a member of its board of directors at that time, had guaranteed
payment of 10% of the outstanding principal amount due under the CCA Note.

In exchange for the sale of certain management contracts and other assets and liabilities to PMS, LLC and JJFMS, LLC, Old CCA received 100% of the non-voting membership interests in PMS,
LLC and JJFMS, LLC, which obligated PMS, LLC and JJFMS, LLC to make distributions to Old CCA equal to 95% of each company’s net income, as defined. New Prison Realty succeeded to
these interests as a result of the 1999 merger. Immediately following the 1999 merger, PMS, LLC merged with PMSI and JJFMS, LLC merged with JJFMSI. PMSI provided adult prison facility
management services to government agencies pursuant to management contracts with state governmental agencies and authorities in the United States and Puerto Rico. JJFMSI provided juvenile
and jail facility management services to government agencies pursuant to management contracts with federal, state and local governmental agencies and authorities in the United States and Puerto
Rico.

In addition to providing juvenile and jail facility management services to government agencies pursuant to management contracts with federal, state and local government agencies and authorities
in the United States and Puerto Rico, JJFMSI also provided correction and detention facility management services to governments in the United Kingdom (the “U.K.”) and Australia through

certain of its subsidiaries formed in connection with an international joint venture with Sodexho
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Alliance, S.A., a French société anonyme. In connection with the 1999 merger, Old CCA’s international operations were transferred to JJEMSI, which succeeded to Old CCA’s obligations under
the joint venture. PMSI and JJFMSI are collectively referred to herein as the service companies. As a result of the 1999 merger, Sodexho, a significant shareholder of Old CCA, became a
significant stockholder of New Prison Realty with the right to appoint a director to the board of directors of New Prison Realty. Accordingly, Jean-Pierre Cuny, former Senior Vice President of the
Sodexho Group, an affiliate of Sodexho, became a member of the board of directors of New Prison Realty. Because Sodexho also made a significant investment in Operating Company, Mr. Cuny
also became a director of Operating Company.

The 1999 merger agreement was approved and adopted by the shareholders of Old CCA and Old Prison Realty at special meetings held in December 1998. Subsequently, on January 1, 1999, the
1999 merger was completed substantially in accordance with the 1999 merger agreement. Under the terms of the merger agreement: (i) holders of Old Prison Realty common shares and Old Prison
Realty 8% cumulative preferred shares, referred to herein as the Old Prison Realty series A preferred shares, received one share of New Prison Realty common stock or New Prison Realty 8%
series A cumulative preferred stock, referred to herein as the New Prison Realty preferred stock, for each common share or Old Prison Realty series A preferred share they owned at January 1,
1999, respectively; and (ii) holders of shares of Old CCA’s common stock obtained the right to receive 0.875 share of New Prison Realty common stock for each share of Old CCA common stock
they owned at December 31, 1998. Approximately 105,272,183 shares of New Prison Realty common stock and 4,300,000 shares of New Prison Realty preferred stock were issued in the 1999
merger. Following the 1999 merger, New Prison Realty’s common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange on January 4, 1999 under the symbol “PZN,” and the New Prison Realty
series A preferred stock began trading on the NYSE under the symbol “PZN PrA” on the same date.

Effective January 1, 1999, New Prison Realty elected to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 1999. Also effective January 1,
1999, New Prison Realty entered into lease agreements and other agreements with Operating Company, whereby Operating Company would lease the substantial majority of New Prison Realty’s
facilities and Operating Company would provide certain services to New Prison Realty. As a result, following the 1999 merger, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI assumed the business of
operating correctional and detention facilities formerly operated by Old CCA, with Operating Company being the lessee of the substantial majority of New Prison Realty’s facilities.

Under a trade name use agreement with Old CCA resulting from the 1999 merger, Operating Company paid a licensing fee to New Prison Realty for the right to use the name “Corrections
Corporation of America” and derivatives thereof. The trade name use agreement had a term of 10 years and the licensing fee paid pursuant to the agreement was based upon the gross revenue of
Operating Company, subject to a limitation based on a percentage of the gross revenue of New Prison Realty. The trade name use agreement was terminated pursuant to the restructuring completed
in 2000 discussed further herein under “ — The 2000 Restructuring and Related Transactions.”

In connection with the 1999 merger, New Prison Realty entered into lease agreements with Operating Company with respect to the correctional and detention facilities owned by New Prison
Realty and operated by Operating Company. The terms of the Operating Company leases were 12 years, which could be extended at fair market rates for three additional five-year periods upon the
mutual agreement of New Prison Realty and Operating Company. As a result of Operating Company’s liquidity position, Operating Company was unable to make timely rental payments to New
Prison Realty under the Operating Company leases. Consequently, in June 2000, New Prison Realty and Operating Company amended the original terms of the Operating Company leases to defer,
with
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interest, rental payments originally due to New Prison Realty during the period from January 2000 to June 2000 until September 30, 2000, with the exception of certain installment payments.
Pursuant to the terms of this amendment, Operating Company agreed to pay interest on such deferred rental payments, at an annual rate equal to the current non-default rate of interest applicable to
Operating Company’s revolving credit facility (subject to adjustment if and to the extent that such rate of interest under such existing revolving credit facility was adjusted) from the date such
payment would have been payable under the original terms of the Operating Company leases until the date such payment was actually paid. Operating Company’s obligation to make payments
under the Operating Company leases was not secured by any of the assets of Operating Company, although the obligations under the Operating Company leases were cross-defaulted so that New
Prison Realty could terminate all of the Operating Company leases if Operating Company failed to make required lease payments.

On September 29, 2000, New Prison Realty and Operating Company entered into agreements pursuant to which New Prison Realty forgave all unpaid rental payments plus accrued interest, due
and payable to New Prison Realty through August 31, 2000, related to the Operating Company leases. See “ — The 2000 Restructuring and Related Transactions.”

On January 1, 1999, immediately after the 1999 merger, New Prison Realty entered into a services agreement with Operating Company pursuant to which Operating Company agreed to serve as a
facilitator of the construction and development of additional facilities on behalf of New Prison Realty for a term of five years from the date of the services agreement. In such capacity, Operating
Company agreed to perform, at the direction of New Prison Realty, such services as were customarily needed in the construction and development of correctional and detention facilities, including
services related to construction of the facilities, project bidding, project design, and governmental relations. In consideration for the performance of such services by Operating Company, New
Prison Realty agreed to pay a fee equal to 5% of the total capital expenditures (excluding the incentive fee discussed below and the additional 5% fee herein referred to) incurred in connection with
the construction and development of a facility, plus an amount equal to approximately $560 per bed for facility preparation services provided by Operating Company prior to the date on which
inmates are first received at such facility. The board of directors of New Prison Realty subsequently authorized payments of up to an additional 5% of the total capital expenditures (as determined
above) to Operating Company if additional services were requested by New Prison Realty. In connection with such authorization, New Prison Realty and Operating Company entered into an
amended and restated services agreement authorizing the payment of such additional amount if additional services were requested by New Prison Realty. As a result, a majority of New Prison
Realty’s ongoing development projects were subject to a fee totaling 10% of capital expenditures. On June 9, 2000, Operating Company and New Prison Realty amended the amended and restated
services agreement to defer, with interest, payments to Operating Company by New Prison Realty pursuant to the amended and restated services agreement. This agreement was cancelled in
connection with the restructuring completed in 2000, discussed further herein under “ — The 2000 Restructuring and Related Transactions.”

On January 1, 1999, immediately after the 1999 merger, New Prison Realty entered into a tenant incentive agreement with Operating Company pursuant to which New Prison Realty agreed to pay
to Operating Company an incentive fee to induce Operating Company to enter into Operating Company leases with respect to those facilities developed and facilitated by Operating Company. The
amount of the incentive fee was set at $840 per bed for each facility leased by Operating Company for which Operating Company served as developer and facilitator. This $840 per bed incentive
fee, however, did not include an allowance for rental payments to be paid by Operating Company. On May 4, 1999, New Prison Realty and Operating Company entered into an amended and
restated tenant
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incentive agreement, effective as of January 1, 1999, providing for (i) a tenant incentive fee of up to $4,000 per bed payable with respect to all future facilities developed and facilitated by
Operating Company, as well as certain other facilities which, although operational on January 1, 1999, had not achieved full occupancy; and (ii) an $840 per bed allowance for all beds in operation
at the beginning of January 1999, approximately 21,500 beds, that were not subject to the tenant allowance in the first quarter of 1999. The amount of the amended tenant incentive fee included an
allowance for rental payments to be paid by Operating Company prior to the facility reaching stabilized occupancy. The term of the amended and restated tenant incentive agreement was four
years, unless extended upon the written agreement of New Prison Realty and Operating Company. On June 9, 2000, Operating Company and New Prison Realty amended the amended and restated
tenant incentive agreement to defer, with interest, payments to Operating Company by New Prison Realty pursuant to this agreement. This agreement was cancelled in connection with the
restructuring completed in 2000, discussed further herein under “— The 2000 Restructuring and Related Transactions.”

On May 4, 1999, New Prison Realty entered into a four year business development agreement with Operating Company, which provided that Operating Company would perform, at the direction
of New Prison Realty, services designed to assist New Prison Realty in identifying and obtaining new business. Pursuant to the agreement, New Prison Realty agreed to pay to Operating Company
a total fee equal to 4.5% of the total capital expenditures (excluding the amount of the tenant incentive fee and the services fee discussed above as well as the 4.5% fee) incurred in connection with
the construction and development of each new facility, or the construction and development of an addition to an existing facility, for which Operating Company performed business development
services. On June 9, 2000, Operating Company and New Prison Realty amended this agreement to defer, with interest, any payments to Operating Company by New Prison Realty pursuant to this
agreement. This agreement was cancelled in connection with the restructuring completed in 2000 discussed further herein under “ — The 2000 Restructuring and Related Transactions.”

The 2000 Restructuring and Related Transactions
Developments After the 1999 Merger

General. Following the 1999 merger, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI assumed the business of operating correctional and detention facilities, with Operating Company being the lessee of a
substantial number of New Prison Realty’s facilities. The rates on the Operating Company leases were set with the intention that the public stockholders of New Prison Realty would receive as
much of the benefit as possible from owning and operating the correctional and detention facilities, while at the same time New Prison Realty would be able to maintain its status as a REIT. This
status as a REIT would enable New Prison Realty to pay no corporate income tax, but would require it to pay out large amounts of dividends to the New Prison Realty stockholders. In fact, the
Operating Company lease rates were set so that Operating Company was projected to lose money for the first several years of its existence. Both New Prison Realty and Operating Company
believed that Operating Company would have access to adequate debt financing to fund this deficit until Operating Company became profitable.

After completion of the first quarter of 1999, the first quarter in which operations were conducted in this new structure, management of New Prison Realty and management of Operating Company
determined that Operating Company had not performed as well as projected for several reasons: occupancy rates at its facilities were lower than in 1998; operating expenses were higher as a
percentage of revenue than in 1998; and certain aspects of the Operating Company leases, including the obligation of Operating Company to begin making full lease payments even before a
facility accepted inmates, adversely affected Operating Company. As a result, in May 1999, New Prison
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Realty and Operating Company amended certain of the agreements between them to provide Operating Company with additional cash flow. The objective of these changes was to allow Operating
Company to be able to continue to make its full lease payments, to allow New Prison Realty to continue to make dividend payments to its stockholders and to provide time for Operating Company
to improve its operations so that it might ultimately perform as projected and be able to make its full lease payments.

However, after these changes were announced, a chain of events occurred which adversely affected both New Prison Realty and Operating Company. New Prison Realty’s stock price fell
dramatically, resulting in the commencement of stockholder litigation against New Prison Realty and its directors. These events made it more difficult for New Prison Realty to raise capital. A
lower stock price meant that New Prison Realty had more restricted access to equity capital, and the uncertainties caused by the falling stock price, the stockholder litigation and the results of
operations at Operating Company made it much more difficult for New Prison Realty to obtain debt financing. In addition, the stock prices of REITs generally suffered in the capital markets
during this period as a result of both general market and REIT-specific factors. During this time, New Prison Realty was trying to raise approximately $300.0 million of debt financing through an
offering of high-yield notes. Because of these events and the conditions of the capital markets generally, New Prison Realty was only able to raise $100.0 million in this financing, and the notes
bore interest at a much higher rate than was expected.

Raising capital was important to New Prison Realty because as a REIT, it had to pay out 95% of its taxable income as dividends. During the first three quarters of 1999, New Prison Realty paid out
approximately $217.7 million in cash as dividends. At the same time, New Prison Realty’s business strategy was to develop, finance and own prison facilities. New Prison Realty believed that
providing this construction financing for federal, state and local governments was an important factor in its success. Building prison facilities is very expensive; the cost of the average prison
facility built by New Prison Realty over the previous three years had been approximately $43.5 million. In addition to the need for capital to build prisons, it was very important that both New
Prison Realty and Operating Company have adequate capital to fund their operations because the business of owning and operating correctional facilities involves significant issues with respect to
public safety. It was essential that the government customers of New Prison Realty and Operating Company believe that New Prison Realty and Operating Company have adequate capital
resources to conduct their business. Accordingly, if New Prison Realty was required to pay out large amounts of cash as dividends and could not raise debt or equity capital, its business would
have suffered.

During the summer of 1999, New Prison Realty was able to increase its line of credit facility from $650.0 million to $1.0 billion. However, for the reasons described above, this financing had
higher interest rates and transaction costs and also imposed other significant requirements on New Prison Realty. One of the financing requirements was that New Prison Realty raise

$100.0 million in new equity and Operating Company raise $25.0 million in new equity in order for New Prison Realty to make the distributions in cash that would be necessary to enable New
Prison Realty to qualify as a REIT with respect to its 1999 taxable year; provided, however, that such requirement did not prohibit New Prison Realty from making such required distributions in
certain combinations of its securities.

Fortress/Blackstone. In order to address the capital and liquidity constraints facing New Prison Realty and Operating Company, as well as concerns regarding the corporate structure and
management of New Prison Realty, during the fourth quarter of 1999, New Prison Realty, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI entered into a series of agreements concerning a proposed
restructuring led by a group of institutional investors consisting of an affiliate of Fortress Investment Group LLC and affiliates of The Blackstone Group, together with an affiliate of Bank of
America Corporation,
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collectively referred to herein as Fortress/Blackstone. Under the terms of the Fortress/Blackstone restructuring, New Prison Realty proposed to:
. complete the combination of the companies and operate as a taxable subchapter C corporation commencing with New Prison Realty’s 1999 taxable year;

. raise up to $350.0 million by selling shares of convertible preferred stock and warrants to purchase shares of New Prison Realty’s common stock to the Fortress/Blackstone
investors in a private placement and to New Prison Realty’s existing common stockholders in a $75.0 million rights offering;

. obtain a new $1.2 billion credit facility;
. restructure existing management through a newly constituted board of directors and executive management team; and
. amend New Prison Realty’s existing charter and bylaws to accommodate the Fortress/Blackstone restructuring.

After publicly announcing the proposed Fortress/Blackstone restructuring, during February 2000, New Prison Realty received an unsolicited proposal from Pacific Life Insurance Company with
respect to a series of restructuring transactions intended to serve as an alternative to the restructuring proposed by Fortress/Blackstone. Fortress/Blackstone elected not to match the terms of the
proposal from Pacific Life. Consequently, the securities purchase agreement with Fortress/Blackstone was terminated, and New Prison Realty and the Operating Company entered into a securities
purchase agreement with Pacific Life. Fortress/Blackstone commenced litigation against the companies claiming it was owed compensatory damages of approximately $24.0 million consisting of
various fees and expenses under the terms of the agreement. For a discussion of our recent settlement of this litigation, please see the information contained herein under “Legal Proceedings.”

Pacific Life. The companies’ agreement with Pacific Life also contemplated a restructuring of the companies. Under the terms of the Pacific Life restructuring, New Prison Realty proposed to:

. complete the combination of the companies on substantially identical terms as proposed by Fortress/Blackstone, with New Prison Realty electing to be taxed as a REIT with
respect to its 1999 taxable year and operating as a taxable subchapter C corporation commencing with its 2000 taxable year;

. raise up to $200.0 million in a common stock rights offering to existing stockholders, backstopped 100% by Pacific Life, which would purchase shares of New Prison Realty
series B convertible preferred stock in satisfaction of this commitment;

. issue shares of convertible preferred stock in satisfaction of its remaining 1999 REIT distribution requirements;

. refinance or renew $1.0 billion of New Prison Realty’s senior secured debt;

. restructure existing management through a newly constituted board of directors and executive management team; and
. amend New Prison Realty’s existing charter and bylaws to accommodate the Pacific Life restructuring.

Following the execution of the Pacific Life securities purchase agreement, New Prison Realty began taking the steps necessary to fulfill the conditions to Pacific Life’s obligations under the
agreement,
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including the refinancing or renewal of New Prison Realty’s $1.0 billion senior secured bank credit facility. As part of this process, New Prison Realty consulted with Pacific Life as to the terms of
the renewal of the bank credit facility that would be satisfactory to Pacific Life. In June 2000, New Prison Realty obtained a series of amendments to the provisions of the amended and restated
credit agreement governing its senior bank credit facility, as further discussed below. After New Prison Realty obtained the June 2000 waiver and amendment, Pacific Life advised New Prison
Realty that it required certain information before it could reach a definitive conclusion as to whether the June 2000 waiver and amendment satisfied a required condition contained in the securities
purchase agreement. Based on the preliminary review, however, Pacific Life indicated that it had significant concerns with respect to a number of terms. As a result of Pacific Life’s statements, it
was unclear to New Prison Realty whether the June 2000 waiver and amendment to the senior bank credit facility would satisfy the condition contained in the securities purchase agreement that
the renewal of the senior bank credit facility would be in a form reasonably acceptable to Pacific Life. Also, given the requirements of the June 2000 waiver and amendment that a proxy statement
be filed with the SEC by July 1, 2000 with respect to a restructuring of New Prison Realty, on June 30, 2000, the boards of directors of New Prison Realty, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI
approved the execution of an agreement with Pacific Life mutually terminating the securities purchase agreement with Pacific Life, and the boards of New Prison Realty and Operating Company
approved a comprehensive restructuring. Under the terms of the Pacific Life securities purchase agreement and the mutual termination, the companies were not liable for any fees or material
expenses as the result of the termination of the Pacific Life securities purchase agreement and the completion of the restructuring.

The 2000 Restructuring Transactions
June 2000 Waiver and Amendment

In June 2000, New Prison Realty obtained a series of amendments to the provision of the amended and restated credit agreement governing its senior bank credit facility. The June 2000 waiver and
amendment waived or addressed all then existing events of default under the provisions of the senior bank credit facility that resulted from: (i) the financial condition of New Prison Realty and
Operating Company; (ii) the transactions undertaken by New Prison Realty and Operating Company in an attempt to resolve the liquidity issues of New Prison Realty and Operating Company; and
(iii) previously announced restructuring transactions. The June 2000 waiver and amendment also contained certain amendments to the credit agreement, including the replacement of existing
financial covenants contained in the credit agreement applicable to New Prison Realty with new financial ratios following completion of the comprehensive restructuring. As a result of the June
2000 waiver and amendment, we began monthly interest payments on outstanding amounts under the senior bank credit facility beginning July 2000.

In obtaining the June 2000 waiver and amendment, New Prison Realty also agreed to complete certain transactions which were incorporated as covenants in the June 2000 waiver and amendment.
Pursuant to these requirements, New Prison Realty was obligated to complete a corporate restructuring, including: (i) its merger with Operating Company; (ii) the amendment of its charter to
remove the requirements that it elect to be taxed as a REIT commencing with its 2000 taxable year; (iii) the restructuring of its senior management; and (iv) the distribution of shares of its series B
cumulative convertible preferred stock, in satisfaction of its remaining 1999 REIT distribution requirement. The June 2000 waiver and amendment also amended the terms of the senior bank credit
facility to permit (i) the amendment of the Operating Company leases and the other contractual arrangements between the companies and (ii) the merger of each of PMSI and JJFMSI with New
Prison Realty, upon terms and conditions specified in the June 2000 waiver and amendment.
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The June 2000 waiver and amendment prohibited: (i) us from settling our then outstanding stockholder litigation for cash amounts not otherwise fully covered by our existing directors” and
officers’ liability insurance policies; (ii) the declaration and payment of dividends with respect to our currently outstanding series A preferred stock prior to the receipt of net cash proceeds of at
least $100.0 million from the issuance of additional shares of common or preferred stock; and (iii) Operating Company from amending or refinancing its revolving credit facility on terms and
conditions less favorable than Operating Company’s then existing revolving credit facility. The June 2000 waiver and amendment also required that we complete the securitization of lease
payments (or other similar transaction) with respect to our Agecroft facility located in Salford, England on or prior to February 28, 2001, although such deadline was extended (as described
herein).

Merger With Operating Company

We completed our merger with Operating Company effective October 1, 2000. In connection with the completion of the Operating Company merger, we amended our charter to, among other
things,

. remove provisions relating to our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our 2000 taxable year,
. change our name to “Corrections Corporation of America” and
. increase the amount of our authorized capital stock.

The merger was completed through the merger of Operating Company with and into our wholly-owned operating subsidiary, CCA of Tennessee, Inc., which assumed the operations of the
correctional and detention facilities managed by Operating Company prior to the merger. Immediately prior to the merger date, we leased to Operating Company 35 correctional and detention
facilities, with a total design capacity of 37,520 beds. Following the completion of the merger, Operating Company ceased to exist, and our wholly-owned subsidiary began operating collectively
with us under the “Corrections Corporation of America” name. Following the Operating Company merger, our common stock continued trading on the NYSE, but under the symbol “CXW,” while
the symbol for our series A preferred stock was changed to “CXW PrA,” and our series B preferred stock was changed to “CXW PrB.”

In connection with the completion of the Operating Company merger, we issued an aggregate of approximately 1.9 million shares of our common stock (as adjusted for our reverse stock split in
May 2001) to the holders of Operating Company’s voting common stock, including the wardens of the facilities operated by Operating Company and certain current and former members of
management and key employees of New Prison Realty and Operating Company, and certain outside shareholders of Operating Company. The shares of our common stock issued to the Operating
Company wardens are subject to vesting and forfeiture provisions under a restricted stock plan. In addition, we issued warrants to purchase 142,000 shares and 71,000 shares of our common stock
with exercise prices of $0.01 per share and $14.10 per share, respectively (as adjusted for our reverse stock split in May 2001), to one of the outside shareholders of Operating Company in
consideration for its consent to the Operating Company merger, and warrants to purchase 75,000 shares of our common stock with an exercise price of $33.30 per share to the holders of warrants
to purchase shares of Operating Company’s common stock outstanding at the time of the merger. Immediately prior to the merger, we also purchased an aggregate of 400,000 shares of the
Operating Company’s common stock from former executive officers of New Prison Realty for $800,000 cash.

The Operating Company merger was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets purchased and the liabilities assumed
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based upon the fair value at the date of acquisition. The excess of the aggregate purchase price over the assets purchased and liabilities assumed was reflected as goodwill. The Operating Company
merger was structured as a tax-free transaction for the Operating Company stockholders that received shares of our company’s common stock in connection with the merger.

As aresult of the merger with Operating Company, our wholly-owned subsidiary assumed the $137.0 million CCA Note which was subsequently extinguished. Also, as a result of the merger with
Operating Company, all existing Operating Company leases, the trade name use agreement, the business development agreement, the services agreement and the tenant incentive agreement were
cancelled. In addition, all shares of Operating Company’s non-voting common stock, all of which shares were owned by us, were cancelled.

Merger With Service Companies

From December 31, 1998 until December 1, 2000, we owned 100% of the non-voting common stock of PMSI and JJFMSI, and were entitled to receive 95% of each company’s net income, as
defined, as dividends on such shares, while other outside shareholders and the wardens at the individual facilities owned 100% of the voting common stock of PMSI and JJFMSI, entitling those
voting stockholders to receive the remaining 5% of each company’s net income as dividends on such shares. During September 2000, wholly-owned subsidiaries of PMSI and JJFMSI entered into
separate transactions with each of PMSI’s and JJEMSI’s respective non-management, outside shareholders to reacquire all of the outstanding voting stock of their non-management, outside
shareholders, representing 85% of the outstanding voting stock of each entity for cash payments.

The June 2000 waiver and amendment permitted our merger with each of PMSI and JJFMSI. On December 1, 2000, we completed the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI. Immediately prior to the
acquisition date, PMSI had contracts to manage 11 correctional and detention facilities with a total design capacity of 13,372 beds, and JJFMSI had contracts to manage 17 correctional and
detention facilities with a total design capacity of 9,204 beds. The mergers were completed through the mergers of each of PMSI and JJFMSI with and into our wholly-owned operating subsidiary,
CCA of Tennessee, Inc., which assumed the operations of the correctional and detention facilities managed by each of the service companies prior to the mergers.

As aresult of the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI on December 1, 2000, all shares of PMSI and JJFMSI common stock held by us and certain subsidiaries of PMSI and JJFMSI were cancelled.
In connection with the acquisition of PMSI, we issued approximately 130,000 shares of our common stock (as adjusted for our reverse stock split in May 2001) valued at approximately

$0.6 million to the wardens of the correctional and detention facilities operated by PMSI and who were the remaining shareholders of PMSI. The shares of common stock issued to the PMSI
wardens are subject to vesting and forfeiture provisions under a restricted stock plan. In connection with the acquisition of JJFMSI, we issued approximately 160,000 shares of our common stock
(as adjusted for our reverse stock split in May 2001) valued at approximately $0.7 million to the wardens of the correctional and detention facilities operated by JJFMSI and who were the
remaining shareholders of JJFMSI. The shares of our common stock issued to the JJFMSI wardens are also subject to vesting and forfeiture provisions under a restricted stock plan.

The acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets purchased and liabilities assumed
based upon the fair value at the date of acquisition. The excess of the aggregate purchase price over the assets purchased and liabilities assumed was reflected as goodwill.
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We believe that the corporate restructuring provides a simplified and more stable corporate and financial structure that will create the most value for our stockholders by allowing us to retain
earnings and use capital for working capital purposes or to pay-down debt. Further, the restructuring eliminates potential conflicts of interest, which have harmed our credibility in the capital
markets, including those conflicts arising out of the landlord-tenant and debtor-creditor relationship that existed between our company and the operations of Operating Company. The restructuring
also allows for combined cash flows from our operations and the operations of Operating Company to service the immediate financial and liquidity needs of the combined companies, compared
with the restricted use of cash on a separate company basis.

Changes in Board of Directors and Senior Management

In connection with our corporate restructuring, we completed a restructuring of our board of directors and executive management, including the appointment of John D. Ferguson as our new chief
executive officer and president and William F. Andrews as the chairman of our board of directors. Further, during the fourth quarter of 2000, and the first quarter of 2001, respectively, we
appointed Irving E. Lingo, Jr. as our chief financial officer, and G. A. Puryear IV as our general counsel. In addition, at our 2000 annual meeting of stockholders, our stockholders elected a newly
constituted nine-member board of directors, including six independent directors. All of these board members were subsequently re-elected at our 2001 annual meeting of stockholders, with the
exception of Jean-Pierre Cuny, who resigned from the board effective May 21, 2001. See “Our Executive Officers and Directors” for further information regarding the biographies of our executive
officers and directors.

Changes in Capital Structure

As a result of our highly leveraged capital structure that existed upon completion of the comprehensive restructuring, we have completed various transactions that we believe have improved our
financial position. While we have made progress, we continue to evaluate our capital structure and are pursuing a number of transactions that are expected to enhance our financial position
primarily through the reduction of debt and lengthened debt maturities, while reducing interest rates and improving the flexibility of our financial covenants. The following information describes
our debt and equity capital structure and, where applicable, certain steps we have taken to date in connection with our capital strategy.

Debt Structure

As of December 31, 2001, we had $963.6 million of outstanding indebtedness, consisting of $791.9 million outstanding under the senior bank credit facility due December 31, 2002,
$100.0 million of 12% senior notes due 2006, $40.0 million of 10% convertible subordinated notes due 2008, $1.1 million of 10% convertible subordinated notes due 2003, $30.0 million of 8%
convertible subordinated notes due 2005, and $0.6 million of other debt.

Senior Bank Credit Facility. In August 1999, we amended and restated our original bank credit facility to increase the amount available from $650.0 million to $1.0 billion. Prior to an amendment
and restatement of the senior bank credit facility completed during December 2001, the senior bank credit facility consisted of up to $600.0 million of term loans, which matured December 31,
2002, and up to $400.0 million in revolving loans, which matured January 1, 2002. The senior bank credit facility bore interest at variable rates of interest based on a spread over the base rate or
LIBOR (as elected by us), which spread is determined by reference to our credit rating. Prior to the June 2000 waiver and amendment, the spread for the revolving loans ranged from 0.5% to
2.25% for base rate loans and from 2.0% to 3.75% for LIBOR rate loans. Prior to the June 2000 waiver and amendment,
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the spread for the term loans ranged from 2.25% to 2.5% for base rate loans and from 3.75% to 4.0% for LIBOR rate loans. The senior bank credit facility, similar to the original bank credit
facility, is secured by all of our tangible and intangible assets.

During the first quarter of 2000, the ratings on our bank indebtedness, senior unsecured indebtedness and series A preferred stock were lowered. As a result of these reductions, the interest rate
applicable to outstanding amounts under the senior bank credit facility for revolving loans was increased by 0.5%, to 1.5% over the base rate and to 3.0% over the LIBOR rate; the spread for term
loans remained unchanged at 2.5% for base rate loans and 4.0% for LIBOR rate loans. The rating on our indebtedness was also lowered during the second quarter of 2000, although no interest rate
increase was attributable to this rating adjustment.

Following the approval of the requisite senior lenders under the senior bank credit facility, in June 2000, we obtained a series of amendments to the provisions of the credit agreement governing
the senior bank credit facility. The June 2000 waiver and amendment waived or addressed all then existing events of default under the provisions of the senior bank credit facility that resulted
from: (i) the financial condition of our company and Operating Company; (ii) the transactions undertaken by us and Operating Company in an attempt to resolve the liquidity issues faced by us
and Operating Company; and (iii) previously announced restructuring transactions. As a result of the then existing defaults, we were subject to the default rate of interest, or 2.0% higher than the
rates discussed above, effective from January 25, 2000 until June 9, 2000. The June 2000 waiver and amendment also contained certain amendments to the credit agreement, including the
replacement of existing financial covenants contained in the senior bank credit facility applicable to us with new financial ratios following completion of the comprehensive restructuring. As a
result of the June 2000 waiver and amendment, we began monthly interest payments on outstanding amounts under the senior bank credit facility beginning July 2000.

The June 2000 waiver and amendment prohibited: (i) us from settling our then outstanding stockholder litigation for cash amounts not otherwise fully covered by our existing directors” and
officers’ liability insurance policies; (ii) the declaration and payment of dividends with respect to our currently outstanding series A preferred stock prior to the receipt of net cash proceeds of at
least $100.0 million from the issuance of additional shares of common or preferred stock; and (iii) Operating Company from amending or refinancing its revolving credit facility on terms and
conditions less favorable than Operating Company’s then existing revolving credit facility. The June 2000 waiver and amendment also required us to complete the securitization of lease payments
(or other similar transaction) with respect to our Agecroft facility located in Salford, England on or prior to February 28, 2001, although such deadline was extended (as described herein).

As a result of the June 2000 waiver and amendment, we were generally required to use the net cash proceeds received from certain transactions, including the following transactions, to repay
outstanding indebtedness under the senior bank credit facility:

. any disposition of real estate assets;
. the securitization of lease payments (or other similar transaction) with respect to our Agecroft facility; and
. the sale-leaseback of our corporate headquarters.

Under the terms of the June 2000 waiver and amendment, we were also required to apply a designated portion of our “excess cash flow,” as such term was defined in the June 2000 waiver and
amendment, to the prepayment of outstanding indebtedness under the senior bank credit facility.
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As a result of the June 2000 waiver and amendment, the interest rate spreads applicable to outstanding borrowings under the senior bank credit facility were increased by 0.5%. As a result, the
range of the spread for the revolving loans became 1.0% to 2.75% for base rate loans and 2.5% to 4.25% for LIBOR rate loans. The resulting range of the spread for the term loans became 2.75%
to 3.0% for base rate loans and 4.25% to 4.5% for LIBOR rate loans. Based on our credit rating at that time, the range of the spread for revolving loans was 2.75% for base rate loans and 4.25%
for LIBOR rate loans, while the range of the spread for term loans was 3.0% for base rate loans and 4.5% for LIBOR rate loans.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2000, we were not in compliance with certain applicable financial covenants contained in our senior bank credit facility, including (i) debt service coverage
ratio; (ii) interest coverage ratio; (iii) leverage ratio; and (iv) net worth. In November 2000, we obtained the consent of the requisite percentage of the senior lenders to replace previously existing
financial covenants with the following amended financial covenants, each defined in the November 2000 consent and amendment:

. total leverage ratio;

. interest coverage ratio;

. fixed charge coverage ratio;

. ratio of total indebtedness to total capitalization;
. minimum EBIDTA; and

. total beds occupied ratio.

The November 2000 consent and amendment further provided that we would be required to use commercially reasonable efforts to complete a “capital raising event” on or before June 30, 2001. A
“capital raising event” was defined in the November 2000 consent and amendment as any combination of the following transactions, which together would result in net cash proceeds of $100.0
million:

. an offering of our common stock through the distribution of rights to our existing stockholders;

. any other offering of our common stock or certain types of our preferred stock;

. issuances of unsecured, subordinated indebtedness providing for in-kind payments of principal and interest until repayment of the senior bank credit facility;

. certain types of asset sales, including the sale-leaseback of our corporate headquarters, but excluding the securitization of lease payments (or other similar transaction) with

respect to the Agecroft facility.

The November 2000 consent and amendment also contained limitations upon the use of proceeds obtained from the completion of such “capital raising events.” The requirements relating to
“capital raising events” contained in the November 2000 consent and amendment replaced the requirement contained in the senior bank credit facility that we use commercially reasonable efforts
to consummate a rights offering on or before December 31, 2000. We had considered a distribution of rights to purchase common or preferred stock to our existing stockholders, or an equity
investment from an outside investor. However, we determined that it was not commercially reasonable to issue additional equity or debt securities, other than those securities for which we had
already contractually agreed to issue, including primarily the issuance of shares of our common stock in connection with
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the settlement of our stockholder litigation. Further, as a result of our restructuring during the third and fourth quarters of 2000, prior to the completion of the audit of our 2000 financial statements
and the filing of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 17, 2001, we were unable to provide the SEC with
the requisite financial information required to be included in a registration statement. Therefore, even if we had been able to negotiate a public or private sale of our equity securities on
commercially reasonable terms, our inability to obtain an effective registration statement with respect to such securities prior to April 17, 2001 would have effectively prohibited any such
transaction. Moreover, the terms of any private sale of our equity securities likely would have included a requirement that we register with the SEC the resale of our securities issued to a private
purchaser thereby also making it impossible to complete any private issuance of our securities. Due to the fact that we would have been unable to obtain an effective registration statement, and
therefore, would have been unable to make any public issuance of our securities (or any private sale that included the right of resale), any actions prior to April 17, 2001 to complete a capital
raising event through the sale of equity or debt securities would have been futile.

Although we would have technically been able to file a registration statement with the SEC following April 17, 2001, we believe that various market factors, including the depressed market price
of our common stock immediately preceding April 17, 2001, the pending reverse stock split required to maintain our continued New York Stock Exchange listing, and the uncertainty regarding the
maturity of the revolving loans under the senior bank credit facility, made the issuance of additional equity or debt securities commercially unreasonable.

Because the issuance of additional equity or debt securities was deemed unreasonable, we determined that the sale of assets represented the most effective means by which we could satisfy the
covenant. During the first and second quarters of 2001, we completed the sale of our Mountain View Correctional Facility for approximately $24.9 million and our Pamlico Correctional Facility
for approximately $24.0 million, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2001, we completed the sale of our Southern Nevada Women’s Correctional Facility for approximately $24.1 million,
and are actively pursuing the sale of additional assets. As a result of the foregoing, we believe we demonstrated commercially reasonable efforts to complete the $100.0 million capital raising
event as of June 30, 2001. Under terms of an amendment and restatement of the senior bank credit facility obtained in December 2001, as further described below, our obligation to complete the
capital raising event was removed.

The maturities of the loans under the senior bank credit facility remained unchanged as a result of the November 2000 consent and amendment. No event of default was declared due to the
amendment of the financial covenants obtained in connection with the November 2000 consent and amendment. As a result of the November 2000 consent and amendment, the interest rate
applicable to our senior bank credit facility remained unchanged from the rate stipulated in the June 2000 waiver and amendment. This applicable rate, however, was subject to (i) an increase of 25
basis points (0.25%) on July 1, 2001 if we had not prepaid $100.0 million of the outstanding loans under the senior bank credit facility, and (ii) an increase of 50 basis points (0.50%) on October 1,
2001 if we had not prepaid an aggregate of $200.0 million of the loans under the senior bank credit facility. We satisfied the condition to prepay, prior to July 1, 2001, $100.0 million of outstanding
loans under the senior bank credit facility through the application of proceeds from the sale of the Mountain View Correctional Facility, the Pamlico Correctional Facility and the completion of the
Agecroft transaction, as further discussed below, and through the lump sum pay-down of $35.0 million of outstanding loans under the senior bank credit facility with cash on hand. Although we
applied additional proceeds from the sale of the Southern Nevada Women’s Correctional Facility to further pay-down the senior bank credit facility, we did not satisfy the condition to prepay, prior
to October 1, 2001, $200.0 million of
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outstanding loans under the senior bank credit facility. As a result, the interest rates under the senior bank credit facility were increased by 0.50% until the senior bank credit facility was amended
and restated in December 2001, as further discussed below.

In January 2001, the requisite percentage of our senior lenders under the senior bank credit facility consented to the issuance of a promissory note in partial satisfaction of our requirements under
the definitive settlement agreements relating to our then-outstanding stockholder litigation. The stockholder litigation, including terms of the settlement, is further discussed herein under “Legal
Proceedings.”

In March 2001, we obtained an amendment to the senior bank credit facility which: (i) changed the date the securitization of lease payments (or other similar transaction) with respect to our
Agecroft facility was required to be consummated from February 28, 2001 to March 31, 2001; (ii) modified the calculation of EBITDA used in calculating the total leverage ratio, to take into
effect any loss of EBITDA that may result from certain asset dispositions, and (iii) modified the minimum EBITDA covenant to permit a reduction by the amount of EBITDA that certain asset
dispositions had generated.

The securitization of lease payments (or other similar transaction) with respect to our Agecroft facility did not close by the required date. However, the covenant allowed for a 30-day grace period
during which the lenders under the senior bank credit facility could not exercise their rights to declare an event of default. On April 10, 2001, prior to the expiration of the grace period, we
consummated the Agecroft transaction through the sale of all the issued and outstanding capital stock of Agecroft Properties, Inc., our wholly-owned subsidiary, and used the net proceeds of
approximately $65.7 million to pay-down the senior bank credit facility, thereby fulfilling our covenant requirements with respect to the Agecroft transaction.

The senior bank credit facility also contains a covenant requiring us to provide the lenders with audited financial statements within 90 days of our fiscal year-end, subject to an additional five-day
grace period. Due to our attempts to close the Agecroft transaction, we did not provide the audited financial statements within the required time period. However, in April 2001, we obtained a
waiver from the lenders under the senior bank credit facility of this financial reporting requirement. This waiver also cured the resulting cross-default under our $41.1 million convertible
subordinated notes. During the third quarter of 2001, we also obtained waivers from the lenders under the senior bank credit facility to permit the settlement of the Fortress/Blackstone litigation, as
further discussed herein under “Legal Proceedings,” and to pay a one-time dividend with respect to the series A preferred stock, which was paid on October 15, 2001.

During December 2001, we completed an amendment and restatement of our existing senior bank credit facility. As part of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, the existing
$269.4 million revolving portion of the senior bank credit facility, which was to mature on January 1, 2002, was replaced with a term loan of the same amount maturing on December 31, 2002, to
coincide with the maturity of the other loans under the senior bank credit facility.

Pursuant to terms of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, all loans under the senior bank credit facility bear interest at a variable rate of 5.5% over LIBOR, or 4.5% over the base rate,
at our option, through June 30, 2002. Following June 30, 2002, the applicable interest rate for all loans under the senior bank credit facility will increase to 6.5% over LIBOR, or 5.5% over the
base rate, at our option. In the event we are unable to refinance the entire senior bank credit facility prior to July 1, 2002, we will also be required to pay the lenders under the facility an additional
fee equal to 1.0% of the amounts then outstanding under the senior bank credit facility.
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As a result of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, certain financial and non-financial covenants were amended, including the removal of prior restrictions on our ability to pay cash
dividends on shares of our issued and outstanding series A preferred stock. Under the terms of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, we are permitted to pay quarterly dividends, when
declared by the board of directors, on the shares of series A preferred stock, including all dividends in arrears. On December 13, 2001, our board of directors declared a cash dividend on the shares
of series A preferred stock for the period from October 1, 2001 through December 31, 2001 and for all five quarters then unpaid and in arrears, payable on January 15, 2002 to the holders of record
of series A preferred stock on December 31, 2001. As a result of the board’s declaration, in January 2002, we paid an aggregate of $12.9 million to shareholders of the series A preferred stock.

If we default under any of our debt covenants, there can be no assurance that we would be able to obtain additional waivers or amendments. If we were to be in default under the senior bank credit
facility, and if the senior lenders under the senior bank credit facility elected to exercise their rights to accelerate our obligations under the senior bank credit facility, such events could result in the
acceleration of all or a portion of the outstanding principal amount of our senior notes or our convertible subordinated notes, which would have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and
financial position. Further, even if the lenders under the senior bank credit facility did not elect to exercise their acceleration rights upon a default under the senior bank credit facility permitting
acceleration, the holders of the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes could require us to repurchase such notes. Unsuccessful attempts to refinance the senior bank credit facility maturing
December 31, 2002, or events of default which result in the acceleration of all or a portion of our outstanding debt, would have a material adverse affect on our liquidity and financial position. We
do not have sufficient working capital to satisfy our debt obligations in the event of an acceleration of all or a substantial portion of our outstanding indebtedness.

$41.1 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes. During the first and second quarters of 2000, certain existing or potential events of default arose under the provisions of the note purchase
agreement relating to $40.0 million in convertible subordinated notes, and, as described below, the $1.1 million convertible subordinated notes issued in June 2000, as a result of our financial
condition and a “change of control” arising from our execution of the aforementioned securities purchase agreements with respect to the proposed restructuring led by Fortress/Blackstone, and a
similar restructuring subsequently proposed by Pacific Life. This “change of control” gave rise to the right of the holders of such notes, MDP Ventures IV LLC, to require us to repurchase the
notes at a price of 105% of the aggregate principal amount of such notes within 45 days after the provision of written notice by such holders to us. In addition, our defaults under the provisions of
the note purchase agreement gave rise to the right of the holders of such notes to require us to pay an applicable default rate of interest of 20.0%. In addition to the default rate of interest, as a
result of the events of default, we were obligated, under the original terms of the notes, to pay the holders of the notes contingent interest sufficient to permit the holders to receive a 15.0% rate of
return (increased by 0.5%, as further discussed below), excluding the effect of the default rate of interest, on the $40.0 million principal amount. The contingent interest is payable upon each of
December 31, 2003 and upon repayment of the notes unless the holders of the notes elect to convert the notes into our common stock under the terms of the note purchase agreement or unless the
price of our common stock meets or exceeds a “target price” as defined in the note purchase agreement. Such contingent interest was retroactive to the date of issuance of the notes.

In order to address the events of default discussed above, on June 30, 2000, we obtained a waiver and amendment to the provisions of the note purchase agreement governing the notes. This
waiver and amendment provided for a waiver of all existing events of default under the provisions of the note purchase agreement. In addition, the waiver and amendment to the note purchase
agreement
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amended the economic terms of the notes to increase the applicable interest rate of the notes by 0.5% per annum from 9.5% to 10.0%, and adjusted the conversion price of the notes to a price equal
to 125% of the average high and low sales price of our common stock on the NYSE for a period of 20 trading days immediately following the earlier of (i) October 31, 2000 or (ii) the closing date
of the Operating Company merger. The waiver and amendment also increased the contingent interest rate to 15.5% retroactive to the date of issuance of the notes. In addition, the waiver and
amendment to the note purchase agreement provided for the replacement of financial ratios applicable to us. The conversion price for the notes has been established at $11.90 per share (as adjusted
for our reverse stock split in May 2001), subject to adjustment in the future upon the occurrence of certain events, including the payment of dividends and the issuance of stock at below market
prices. Under the terms of the waiver and amendment, the distribution of our series B preferred stock during the fourth quarter of 2000 did not cause an adjustment to the conversion price of the
notes. In addition, we do not believe that the distribution of shares of our common stock in connection with the settlement of all outstanding stockholder litigation against us, as described below,
causes an adjustment to the conversion price of the notes. MDP, however, has indicated its belief that such an adjustment is required. At an adjusted conversion price of $11.90 per share, the

$40.0 million convertible subordinated notes are convertible into approximately 3.4 million shares of common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001.

In connection with the waiver and amendment to the note purchase agreement, we issued additional convertible subordinated notes containing substantially similar terms in the aggregate principal
amount of $1.1 million, which amount represented all interest owed at the default rate of interest through June 30, 2000. These additional notes were convertible, at an adjusted conversion price of
$11.90 per share (as adjusted for our reverse-stock split during May 2001), into an additional 0.1 million shares (as adjusted for our reverse-stock split during May 2001) of common stock. After
giving consideration to the issuance of these additional notes, we have made all required interest payments under the $41.1 million convertible subordinated notes. On January 14, 2002, MDP
elected to convert the $1.1 million convertible subordinated notes into approximately 0.1 million shares of common stock.

Under the terms of a registration rights agreement with the holders of the $41.1 million convertible subordinated notes, we are required to use our best efforts to file and maintain with the SEC an
effective shelf registration statement covering the future sale by the holders of the shares of common stock to be issued upon conversion of the notes. As a result of the completion of the
restructuring, as previously discussed herein, we were unable to file such a registration statement with the SEC prior to the filing of our 2000 Form 10-K with the SEC on April 17, 2001.
Following the filing of our Form 10-K, we commenced negotiations with MDP with respect to an amendment to the registration rights agreement to defer our obligations to use our best efforts to
file and maintain the registration statement. MDP later informed us that it would not complete such an amendment. As a result, we completed and filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC
on September 13, 2001, which became effective on September 26, 2001, in compliance with this obligation.

$30 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes. Certain existing or potential events of default arose under the provisions of the note purchase agreement relating to our $30.0 million convertible
subordinated notes as a result of our financial condition and as a result of the restructuring. However, on June 30, 2000, we obtained a waiver and amendment to the provisions of the note purchase
agreement governing the notes. This waiver and amendment provided for a waiver of all existing events of default under the provisions of the note purchase agreement. In addition, the waiver and
amendment to the note purchase agreement amended the economic terms of the notes to increase the applicable interest rate of the notes by 0.5% per annum, from 7.5% to 8.0%, and adjusted the
conversion price of the notes to a price equal to 125% of the average closing price of our
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common stock on the NYSE for a period of 30 trading days immediately following the earlier of (i) October 31, 2000 or (ii) the closing date of the Operating Company merger. In addition, the
waiver and amendment to the note purchase agreement provided for the replacement of financial ratios applicable to us.

The conversion price for the notes has been established at $10.68 per share (as adjusted for our reverse stock split during May 2001), subject to adjustment in the future upon the occurrence of
certain events, including the payment of dividends and the issuance of stock at below market prices. Under the terms of the waiver and amendment, the distribution of our series B preferred stock
during the fourth quarter of 2000 did not cause an adjustment to the conversion price of the notes. However, the distribution of shares of our common stock in connection with the settlement of all
outstanding stockholder litigation against us, as described below, does cause an adjustment to the conversion price of the notes in an amount to be determined at the time shares of our common
stock are distributed pursuant to the settlement. However, the ultimate adjustment to the conversion ratio will depend on the number of shares of our common stock outstanding on the date of
issuance of the shares pursuant to the stockholder litigation settlement. In addition, since all of the shares are not issued simultaneously, multiple adjustments to the conversion ratio will be
required. We currently estimate that the $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes will be convertible into approximately 3.4 million shares (as adjusted for our reverse stock split during May
2001) of our common stock once all of the shares under the stockholder litigation settlement have been issued.

At December 31, 2000, we were in default under the terms of the note purchase agreement governing the $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes due to our failure to comply with the total
leverage ratio financial covenant. However, in March 2001, we obtained a waiver and amendment to the provisions of the note purchase agreement governing the notes. This waiver and
amendment provided for a waiver of all existing events of default under the provisions of the note purchase agreement and amended the financial covenants applicable to us.

Operating Subsidiary Revolving Credit Facility. On September 15, 2000, Operating Company entered into a $50.0 million revolving credit facility with Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc., also the
administrative agent under the senior bank credit facility. This facility was assumed by our wholly-owned operating subsidiary in connection with the Operating Company merger on October 1,
2000. The facility, which bears interest at an applicable prime rate plus 2.25% and matures on December 31, 2002, is secured by the accounts receivable and all other assets of our operating
subsidiary.

Equity Structure

Common Stock. In connection with the restructuring and related transactions completed in the fourth quarter of 2000, we engaged in a series of transactions which resulted in the issuance of
additional shares of common stock and securities convertible into shares of common stock. The common stock prices and shares discussed in this section have been adjusted to reflect the reverse
stock split in May 2001, as further discussed below.

. On October 1, 2000, we issued approximately 1.9 million shares of common stock in connection with the Operating Company merger, including 1.1 million shares to Baron and
Sodexho, the holders of approximately 34% of the outstanding common stock of Operating Company. In addition, we issued warrants to Baron to purchase approximately
142,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share and warrants to purchase approximately 71,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $14.10 per
share in consideration for Baron’s consent to the Operating Company merger. Further, we assumed the obligation to issue up to approximately 75,000 shares of common stock, at
a price of
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$33.30 per share to the holders of warrants to purchase shares of Operating Company’s common stock outstanding at the time of the merger.

. On December 1, 2000, we issued approximately 288,000 shares of common stock to the wardens of the facilities operated by the service companies in connection with the
acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI.

. During October and December 2000, we issued approximately 9.5 million shares of common stock pursuant to the conversion of our series B preferred stock into shares of
common stock, as further discussed below.

. In February 2001, we received court approval, which became final in March 2001, of the revised terms of the definitive settlement agreements regarding the “global” settlement
of all outstanding stockholder litigation against us and certain of our existing and former directors and executive officers. Pursuant to the terms of the settlement, we will issue to
the plaintiffs and plaintiffs’ counsel:

. an aggregate of approximately 4.7 million shares of common stock;
. an aggregate $29.0 million subordinated promissory note; and
. approximately $47.5 million in cash payable solely from the proceeds of insurance policies.

During March and April of 2001, we issued approximately 1.6 million shares of our common stock under terms of the settlement to the plaintiffs’ counsel in the actions.
Additionally, on December 31, 2001, approximately 2.8 million shares of common stock were issued, along with a $26.1 million subordinated promissory note, in conjunction
with the final settlement of the federal court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement. Under the terms of the promissory note, the note was extinguished in full in January
2002 as the result of the average closing price of our common stock meeting or exceeding a price of $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive trading days following the issuance
of the note. Upon completion of the settlement claims process in the state court portion of the stockholder litigation, we anticipate issuing approximately 310,000 additional
shares of common stock to the eligible state class claimants. We will also issue a $2.9 million subordinated promissory note payable to the eligible claimants similar to the note
issued in the federal settlement, which may also be extinguished if the average closing price of the common stock meets or exceeds $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive
trading days following the issuance of such note and prior to January 2, 2009, the maturity date of the note. Additionally, to the extent the common stock price does not meet the
termination price, the note will be reduced by the amount that the shares of common stock issued to the plaintiffs in the state settlement appreciate in value in excess of $4.90 per
share, based on the average trading price of the stock following the date of the note’s issuance and prior to its maturity. We currently expect the settlement claims process in the
state portion of the stockholder litigation to be completed during the first half of 2002.

. On December 13, 2000, our stockholders approved a reverse stock split of our common stock at a ratio to be determined by the board of directors of not less than one-for-ten and
not to exceed one-for-twenty. Our board of directors subsequently declared a one-for-ten reverse stock split of our common stock, which became effective May 18, 2001. The
reverse stock split satisfied a condition of continued listing of our common stock on the NYSE. Additionally, we believe the reverse stock split has encouraged greater interest in
our stock by the financial community and investing public.
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Series A Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2001, we had 4.3 million shares of series A preferred stock outstanding. In connection with the June 2000 waiver and amendment, we were
prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends with respect to our outstanding series A preferred stock until such time as we raised at least $100 million in equity. Dividends with respect to the
series A preferred stock continued to accrue under the terms of our charter until such time as payment of such dividends was permitted under the terms of the senior bank credit facility. Under the
terms of our charter, in the event dividends are unpaid and in arrears for six or more quarterly periods, the holders of the series A preferred stock will have the right to vote for the election of two
additional directors to our board of directors.

During the third quarter of 2001, we received a consent and waiver to the senior bank credit facility, which allowed us to declare a dividend on shares of series A preferred stock. On September 28,
2001, our board of directors declared a cash dividend on the shares of series A preferred stock for the first quarter of previously accrued and unpaid dividends on the shares, payable on October 15,
2001 to the holders of record of our series A preferred stock on October 5, 2001. As a result of this declaration, the holders of our series A preferred stock were entitled to receive $0.50 per share
for every share of series A preferred stock they held on the record date. The cash paid as the dividend was based on a dividend rate of 8.0% per annum of the stock’s stated value ($25.00).
Approximately $2.2 million was paid on October 15, 2001 as a result of this dividend.

In connection with the December 2001 amendment and restatement of the senior bank credit facility, certain financial and non-financial covenants were amended, including the removal of prior
restrictions on our ability to pay cash dividends on shares of our issued and outstanding series A preferred stock. Under the terms of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, we are
permitted to pay quarterly dividends on the shares of our issued and outstanding series A preferred stock, including all dividends in arrears.

On December 13, 2001, our board of directors declared a cash dividend on the shares of series A preferred stock for the fourth quarter of 2001 and all five quarters of previously accrued and
unpaid dividends on the shares, payable on January 15, 2002 to the holders of record of our series A preferred stock on December 31, 2001. As a result of this declaration, the holders of our series
A preferred stock were entitled to receive $3.00 per share for every share of series A preferred stock they held on the record date. The cash paid as the dividend was based on a dividend rate of
8.0% per annum of the stock’s stated value ($25.00). Approximately $12.9 million was paid on January 15, 2002 as a result of this dividend.

The payment of the dividends in arrears on the series A preferred stock, combined with the extension of the maturity date of the revolving loans outstanding under the senior bank credit facility,
contributed to an upgrade of the ratings on our indebtedness. On December 14, 2001, Moody’s Investors Service upgraded the rating on our senior secured debt to “B2” from “B3”, our senior
unsecured debt to “B3” from “Caal”, and our preferred stock to “Caa2” from “Ca”. These upgrades followed an upgrade in the ratings outlook from Standard & Poor’s on September 4, 2001, to
positive from negative . On that date, Standard & Poor’s also reaffirmed the “B” senior secured and corporate credit ratings, as well as the “CCC+” rating on our senior unsecured indebtedness.

Series B Preferred Stock. In order to satisfy the REIT distribution requirements with respect to our 1999 taxable year, we issued approximately 7.5 million shares of a newly created series B
preferred stock to shareholders of our common stock, as a stock dividend. The series B preferred stock was distributed to common stockholders of record on September 14, 2000, in the amount of
five shares of series B preferred stock for every 100 shares of common stock held by the stockholder. The series B preferred stock was convertible into shares of common stock during two separate
conversion periods
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during the fourth quarter of 2000, the last of which expired on December 20, 2000, at a conversion price based on the average closing price of our common stock on the NYSE during the ten
trading days prior to the first day of each applicable conversion period, subject to a floor of $1.00. During the two conversion periods, approximately 4.2 million shares of series B preferred stock
were converted into approximately 9.5 million shares of common stock (as adjusted for our reverse stock split in May 2001). The shares of series B preferred stock currently outstanding, as well as
any additional shares issued as dividends, are not and will not be convertible into shares of our common stock.

The shares of series B preferred stock we issued provide for cumulative dividends payable at a rate of 12% per year of the stock’s stated value of $24.46. The dividends are payable quarterly in
arrears, in additional shares of series B preferred stock through the third quarter of 2003, and in cash thereafter, provided that all accrued and unpaid cash dividends have been made on our series A
preferred stock.

During 2001, we issued approximately 452,000 shares of series B preferred stock in satisfaction of the regular quarterly distributions. We may call the shares of series B preferred stock at a price
per share equal to the stated value of $24.46, plus any accrued dividends, at anytime after six months following the later of (i) three years following the date of issuance or (ii) the 91st day
following the redemption of our senior notes, due 2006.

Capital Strategy
Since the comprehensive restructuring of the company was completed in the fourth quarter of 2000, we have focused on selling assets to pay-down debt, resolving certain outstanding litigation
against us, increasing occupancy, improving operating margins, addressing short-term debt maturities, and positioning our capital structure for future opportunities. During 2001, we achieved the
following accomplishments:
. During the first quarter of 2001, we obtained final court approval of the settlements of a series of outstanding consolidated federal and state class action and derivative
stockholder lawsuits brought against us and certain of our former directors and executive officers. The final terms of the settlement agreements provided for the “global”

settlement of all such outstanding stockholder litigation.

. In March 2001, we completed the sale of our Mountain View Correctional Facility, located in Spruce Pine, North Carolina, for a net sales price of approximately $24.9 million,
utilizing the net proceeds to pay-down debt.

. In April 2001, we completed the sale of our Agecroft facility, located in Salford, England, for a net sales price of approximately $65.7 million, utilizing the net proceeds to pay-
down debt. The completion of this transaction also satisfied a covenant under the terms of our senior bank credit facility.

. In May 2001, we completed a one-for-ten reverse stock split of our common stock. The reverse stock split satisfied a condition of continued listing of our common stock on the
NYSE. We also believe this reverse stock split has encouraged greater interest in our stock by the financial community and investing public.

. In June 2001, we completed the sale of our Pamlico Correctional Facility, located in Bayboro, North Carolina, for a net sales price of approximately $24.0 million, utilizing the
net proceeds to pay-down debt.
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. In June 2001, we utilized $35.0 million of cash on hand to pay-down our senior bank credit facility.

. In August 2001, we entered into a definitive agreement to settle litigation regarding fees and expenses we allegedly owed to an entity formed by a group of institutional investors,
as a result of the termination of a securities purchase agreement related to our proposed corporate restructuring in 2000 led by the Fortress/Blackstone investment group. In July
2001, we also agreed to a settlement in full satisfaction of a disputed invoice from Merrill Lynch for services as our financial advisor in connection with the corporate
restructuring.

. In September 2001, we completed and filed a registration statement with the SEC, which was declared effective in September 2001, satisfying a covenant under the terms of our
$41.1 million convertible subordinated notes to register the shares into which the notes would convert.

. In September 2001, Standard & Poor’s upgraded our credit ratings outlook to positive from negative, and reaffirmed the “B” senior secured and corporate credit ratings, as well as
the “CCC+” rating on our senior unsecured indebtedness.

. In October 2001, we completed the sale of our Southern Nevada Women’s Correctional Facility, located in Las Vegas, Nevada, for a net sales price of approximately
$24.1 million, utilizing the net proceeds to pay-down debt. We continue to manage this facility subsequent to the sale pursuant to a contract with the State of Nevada.

. In December 2001, we completed an amendment and restatement of our existing senior bank credit facility, extending the maturity date of the revolving portion of the facility to
December 31, 2002, to coincide with the maturity of the term portion of the facility.

. The amendment and restatement of our senior bank credit facility also removed the restriction on our ability to pay cash dividends on the shares of our series A preferred stock.
During December 2001, our board of directors declared a cash dividend on the shares of series A preferred stock for the fourth quarter of 2001 and all five quarters of previously
accrued and unpaid dividends on the shares totaling approximately $12.9 million, which was paid January 15, 2002, bringing current all dividends on such shares.

. In December 2001, Moody’s Investors Service upgraded the rating on our senior secured debt to “B2” from “B3”, our senior unsecured debt to “B3” from “Caal”, and our
preferred stock to “Caa2” from “Ca”.

. In December 2001, we issued a $26.1 million promissory note in partial satisfaction of the “global” settlement of the stockholder litigation brought in federal court, which became
extinguished in January 2002 under the terms of the settlement and promissory note, as the average closing price of our common stock met or exceeded a “termination price” of
$16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive trading days following the issuance of the note.

. Average occupancy increased to 88.5% during 2001 from 84.8% during 2000, despite losing approximately 1,300 inmates from a contract with the District of Columbia due to a
new law mandating that the BOP assume jurisdiction of all D.C. offenders by the end of 2001.

. Facility operating margins improved to 23.1% during 2001 from 18.0% during 2000.
. During 2001, we paid-down approximately $189.0 million in total debt through a combination of cash generated from asset sales, as discussed above, and internally generated
cash.
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We believe these accomplishments have improved our leverage ratios and overall financial position, improving our ability to refinance our maturing indebtedness, including primarily the senior
bank credit facility, which matures December 31, 2002. We expect to complete a comprehensive refinancing of the senior bank credit facility during the first half of 2002 through short-term senior
secured debt or through a combination of senior secured bank debt and senior unsecured debt with longer maturities. The combination and amount of secured bank debt and senior unsecured debt,
and consequently, the blended interest rates associated with such a refinancing, however, will be somewhat dependent upon market conditions and the outcome of our discussions with the BOP
regarding a potential sale of our Northeast Ohio Correctional Center, as well as the potential award of a contract for up to 1,500 inmates under the BOP’s CAR II proposal. There can be no
assurance that we will be successful in our negotiations to sell any additional assets, including the Northeast Ohio Correctional Center, or that we will be awarded the CAR 1II contract from the
BOP.

We expect that we will be able to complete a refinancing of our senior bank credit facility during the first half of 2002 on favorable terms even without the positive outcome of either of these
transactions. However, we believe the sale of our Northeast Ohio Correctional Center would significantly improve our leverage ratios, while we believe an award of the CAR II contract would
provide us with an increase in operating cash flows, enhancing the terms of a refinancing. We believe that either of these transactions could also result in an improvement in our credit ratings,
further improving the terms of a refinancing. Without firm commitments from the BOP to complete these transactions, however, we expect to be able to complete a refinancing weighted toward
shorter-term maturities with flexible prepayment provisions. Nonetheless, there can be no assurance that we will be able to complete a refinancing of our senior bank credit facility prior to its
maturity on December 31, 2002, on commercially reasonable or any other terms. Unsuccessful attempts to refinance the senior bank credit facility would have a material adverse affect on our
liquidity and financial position.

Financial Information About Industry Segments

We are currently engaged primarily in the business of owning, operating and managing correctional and detention facilities, as well as providing prisoner transportation services for government
agencies. As of December 31, 2001, we owned and managed 36 correctional and detention facilities, and managed an additional 28 correctional and detention facilities owned by governmental
agencies. During the second quarter of 2001, management began viewing our operating results in two segments: owned and managed correctional and detention facilities and managed-only
correctional and detention facilities. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in the notes to consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this annual report. Owned and managed facilities include the operating results of those facilities we own and manage. Managed-only facilities include the
operating results of those facilities owned by a third party and managed by us. We measure the operating performance of each facility within the above two segments, without differentiation, based
on facility contribution. We define facility contribution as a facility’s operating income or loss from operations before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Since each of our facilities
within the two operating segments exhibit similar economic characteristics, provide similar services to governmental agencies, and operate under a similar set of operating procedures and
regulatory guidelines, the facilities within the identified segments have been aggregated and reported as one operating segment. The financial information and disclosures required under Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” are included in this annual report as of and for the year ended December 31,
2001 referred to in the index to financial statements commencing on page F-1.

40




Table of Contents

Government Regulation

Environmental Matters. Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real property may be liable for the costs
of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on, under or in such property. Such laws often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the
presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. As an owner of correctional and detention facilities, we have been subject to these laws, rules, ordinances and regulations. In addition, we are also
subject to these laws, ordinances and regulations as the result of our, and our subsidiaries’, operation and management of correctional and detention facilities. The cost of complying with
environmental laws could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Phase I environmental assessments have been obtained on substantially all of the facilities we currently own. The purpose of a Phase I environmental assessment is to identify potential
environmental contamination that is made apparent from historical reviews of such facilities, review of certain public records, visual investigations of the sites and surrounding properties, toxic
substances and underground storage tanks. The Phase I environmental assessment reports do not reveal any environmental contamination that we believe would have a material adverse effect on
our business, assets, results of operations or liquidity, nor are we aware of any such liability. Nevertheless, it is possible that these reports do not reveal all environmental liabilities or that there are
material environmental liabilities of which we are unaware. In addition, environmental conditions on properties we own may affect the operation or expansion of facilities located on the properties.

Business Regulations. The industry in which we operate is subject to extensive federal, state and local regulations, including educational, health care and safety regulations, which are
administered by many regulatory authorities. Some of the regulations are unique to the corrections industry, and the combination of regulations we face is unique. Facility management contracts
typically include reporting requirements, supervision and on-site monitoring by representatives of the contracting governmental agencies. Corrections officers and juvenile care workers are
customarily required to meet certain training standards and, in some instances, facility personnel are required to be licensed and subject to background investigation. Certain jurisdictions also
require us to award subcontracts on a competitive basis or to subcontract with businesses owned by members of minority groups. Our facilities are also subject to operational and financial audits
by the governmental agencies with which we have contracts. We may not always successfully comply with these regulations, and failure to comply can result in material penalties or non-renewal
or termination of facility management contracts.

In addition, private prison managers are increasingly subject to government legislation and regulation attempting to restrict the ability of private prison managers to house certain types of inmates.
Legislation has been enacted in several states, and has previously been proposed in the United States House of Representatives, containing such restrictions. Although we do not believe that
existing legislation will have a material adverse effect on us, there can be no assurance that future legislation would not have such an effect.

Americans with Disabilities Act. The correctional and detention facilities we operate and manage are subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended. The Americans with
Disabilities Act, or the ADA, has separate compliance requirements for “public accommodations” and “commercial facilities” but generally requires that public facilities such as correctional and

detention facilities be made accessible to people with disabilities. These requirements became effective in 1992. We continue to monitor our facilities for compliance with the ADA in order to
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conform to its requirements. Compliance with the ADA requirements could require removal of access barriers and other modifications or capital improvements at the facilities. Noncompliance
could result in imposition of fines or an award of damages to private litigants. Although we believe we are in compliance, any additional expenditures incurred in order to comply with the ADA at
our facilities, if required, would not have a material adverse effect on our business and operations.

Insurance

‘We maintain a general liability insurance policy of $5.0 million for each facility we operate, as well as insurance in amounts we deem adequate to cover property and casualty risks, workers’
compensation and directors and officers liability. In addition, each of our leases with third-parties provides that the lessee will maintain insurance on each leased property under the lessee’s
insurance policies providing for the following coverages: (i) fire, vandalism and malicious mischief, extended coverage perils, and all physical loss perils; (ii) comprehensive general public
liability (including personal injury and property damage); and (iii) workers’ compensation. Under each of these leases, we have the right to periodically review our lessees’ insurance coverage and
provide input with respect thereto.

Insurance expense represents a significant component of our operating expenses. Each of our management contracts and the statutes of certain states require the maintenance of insurance. We
maintain various insurance policies including employee health, workers’ compensation, automobile liability and general liability insurance. Because we are significantly self-insured for employee
health, workers’ compensation, and automobile liability insurance, the amount of our insurance expense is dependent on claims experience and our ability to control our claims experience. Our
insurance policies contain various deductibles and stop-loss amounts intended to limit our exposure for individually significant occurrences. However, the nature of our self-insurance policies
provides little protection for a deterioration in overall claims experience in general. We continue to incur increasing insurance expense due to adverse claims experience. We are developing a
strategy to improve the management of our future loss claims but can provide no assurance that this strategy will be successful. Additionally, general liability insurance costs have risen
substantially since the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001. Unanticipated additional insurance expenses resulting from adverse claims experience or a continued increasing cost environment
for general liability insurance could adversely impact our results of operations and cash flows.

Employees
As of December 31, 2001, we employed 14,941 full-time employees and 215 part-time employees. Of such employees, 203 were employed at our corporate offices and 14,953 were employed at
our facilities and in our inmate transportation business. We employ personnel in the following areas: clerical and administrative, including facility administrators/wardens, security, food service,

medical, transportation and scheduling, maintenance, teachers, counselors and other support services.

Each of the correctional and detention facilities we currently operate is managed as a separate operational unit by the facility administrator or warden. All of these facilities follow a standardized
code of policies and procedures.

We have not experienced a strike or work stoppage at any of our facilities. Approximately 515 employees at four of our facilities are represented by labor unions. We are also currently negotiating
in good faith with organized labor representing approximately 95 employees at two of our facilities. In addition, in March 2002 employees at another facility elected to be represented by a union

with respect to future negotiations with respect to approximately 411 employees at such facility, although
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at this time the nature and extent of such future negotiations have not been determined. In the opinion of management, overall employee relations are generally considered good.
Competition

The correctional and detention facilities we operate and manage, as well as those facilities we own and are managed by other operators, are subject to competition for inmates from other private
prison managers. We compete primarily on the basis of the quality and range of services offered, our experience in the operation and management of correctional and detention facilities and our
reputation. We compete with government agencies that are responsible for correctional facilities and a number of privatized correctional service companies including, but not limited to, Wackenhut
Corrections Corporation, Correctional Services Corporation, and Cornell Companies, Inc.. Other potential competitors may in the future enter into businesses competitive with us without a
substantial capital investment or prior experience. Competition by other companies may adversely affect the number of inmates at our facilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the
operating revenue of our facilities. In addition, revenue derived from our facilities will be affected by a number of factors, including the demand for inmate beds, general economic conditions and
the age of the general population.

Risk Factors

As the owner and operator of correctional and detention facilities, we are subject to certain risks and uncertainties associated with, among other things, the corrections and detention industry and
pending or threatened litigation involving us. In addition, as a result of our operation so as to preserve our ability to qualify as a REIT for the year ended December 31, 1999, we are also currently
subject to certain tax related risks. We are also subject to risks and uncertainties associated with the demands placed on our capital and liquidity associated with our current capital structure. These
risks and uncertainties set forth below could cause our actual results to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements contained herein and elsewhere.

We Are Subject to Risks Associated with the Corrections and Detention Industry

General. As of December 31, 2001, we operated 64 correctional and detention facilities, including 36 that we own. The facilities we managed had a total design capacity of approximately 61,000
beds in 21 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. Accordingly, we are subject to the operating risks associated with the corrections and detention industry, including those set forth
below. See “Business” for a complete description of our business operations.

We are Subject to Fluctuations in Occupancy Levels. While a substantial portion of our cost structure is fixed, a substantial portion of our revenues are generated under facility management
contracts that specify per diem payments based upon occupancy rates. Under a per diem rate structure, a decrease in our occupancy rates could cause a decrease in revenue and profitability.
Average system-wide occupancy for our facilities during 2001 and 2000 was 88.5% and 84.8%, respectively. There can be no assurance, however, that occupancy rates will not decrease below
these levels in the future.

We Are Subject to the Termination or Non-Renewal Nature of Our Government Contracts. We typically enter into facility management contracts with government entities for terms of up to five
years, with additional renewal periods at the option of the contracting governmental agency. No assurance can be given that any agency will exercise a renewal option in the future. The contracting

agency typically may also terminate a facility contract at any time without cause. In the event any of
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our management contracts are terminated or are not renewed on favorable terms or otherwise, we may not be able to obtain additional replacement contracts. The non-renewal or termination of any
of our contracts with governmental agencies could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operation and liquidity, including our ability to secure new facility management
contracts from others.

Competition for Inmates May Adversely Affect the Profitability of Our Business. We compete with government entities and other private operators on a basis of costs, quality and range of services
offered, experience in managing facilities and reputation of management and personnel. While there are barriers to entering the market for the management of correctional and detention facilities,
there is no assurance that these barriers will be sufficient to limit additional competition. In addition, our government customers may assume the management of a facility currently managed by us
upon the termination of the corresponding management contract or, if such customers have capacity at their facilities, may take inmates currently housed in our facilities and transfer them to
government run facilities. Since we are paid on a per-diem basis with no minimum guaranteed occupancy under certain of our contracts, the loss of such inmates and resulting decrease in
occupancy would cause a decrease in our revenues and profitability.

We Are Dependent on Government Appropriations. Our cash flow is subject to the receipt of sufficient funding of and timely payment by contracting governmental entities. If the appropriate
governmental agency does not receive sufficient appropriations to cover its contractual obligations, it may terminate our contract or delay or reduce payments to us. Any delays in payment, or the
termination of a contract, could have an adverse effect on our cash flow and financial condition. In addition, as a result of, among other things, the recent economic developments and the even ts of
September 11, 2001, federal, state and local governments have and may encounter unusual budgetary constraints. As a result, a number of state and local governments are under pressure to control
additional spending or reduce current levels of spending. Accordingly, we may be requested to reduce our existing per diem contract rates or forgo prospective increases to those rates. In addition,
it may become more difficult to renew our existing contracts on favorable terms or otherwise.

Public Resistance to Privatization of Correctional and Detention Facilities Could Result in Our Inability to Obtain New Contracts or the Loss of Existing Contracts. The operation of correctional
and detention facilities by private entities has not achieved complete acceptance by either governments or the public. The movement toward privatization of correctional and detention facilities has
also encountered resistance from certain groups, such as labor unions and others that believe that correctional and detention facilities should only be operated by governmental agencies.

Moreover, negative publicity about an escape, riot or other disturbance or perceived poor conditions at a privately managed facility may result in publicity adverse to us, and the private corrections
industry in general. Any of these occurrences or continued trends may make it more difficult for us to renew or maintain existing contracts or to obtain new contracts, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business.

Our Ability to Secure New Contracts to Develop and Manage Correctional and Detention Facilities Depends on Many Factors Outside Our Control. Our growth is generally dependent upon our
ability to obtain new contracts to develop and manage new correctional and detention facilities. This depends on a number of factors we cannot control, including crime rates and sentencing
patterns in various jurisdictions and acceptance of privatization. The demand for our facilities could be adversely affected by the relaxation of enforcement efforts, leniency in conviction and
sentencing practices or through the legal decriminalization of certain activities that are currently proscribed by our criminal laws. For instance, any changes with respect to drugs and controlled
substances or
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illegal immigration could affect the number of persons arrested, convicted and sentenced, thereby potentially reducing the demand for correctional facilities to house them. Similarly, reductions in
crime rates could lead to reductions in arrests, convictions and sentences requiring incarceration at correctional facilities.

Moreover, certain jurisdictions recently have required successful bidders to make a significant capital investment in connection with the financing of a particular project, a trend that will require us
to have sufficient capital resources to compete effectively. We may not be able to obtain these capital resources when needed. Additionally, our success in obtaining new awards and contracts may
depend, in part, upon our ability to locate land that can be leased or acquired under favorable terms. Otherwise desirable locations may be in or near populated areas and, therefore, may generate
legal action or other forms of opposition from residents in areas surrounding a proposed site.

Failure to Comply with Unique and Increased Governmental Regulation Could Result in Material Penalties or Non-Renewal or Termination of Our Contracts to Manage Correctional and
Detention Facilities. The industry in which we operate is subject to extensive federal, state and local regulations, including education, health care and safety regulations, which are administered by
many regulatory authorities. Some of the regulations are unique to the corrections industry, and the combination of regulations we face is unique. Facility management contracts typically include
reporting requirements, supervision and on-site monitoring by representatives of the contracting governmental agencies. Corrections officers and juvenile care workers are customarily required to
meet certain training standards and, in some instances, facility personnel are required to be licensed and subject to background investigation. Certain jurisdictions also require us to award
subcontracts on a competitive basis or to subcontract with businesses owned by members of minority groups. Our facilities are also subject to operational and financial audits by the governmental
agencies with which we have contracts. We may not always successfully comply with these regulations, and failure to comply can result in material penalties or non-renewal or termination of
facility management contracts.

In addition, private prison managers are increasingly subject to government legislation and regulation attempting to restrict the ability of private prison managers to house certain types of inmates.
Legislation has been enacted in several states, and has previously been proposed in the United States House of Representatives, containing such restrictions. Although we do not believe that
existing legislation will have a material adverse effect on us, there can be no assurance that future legislation would not have such an effect.

Government Agencies May Investigate and Audit Our Contracts and, if any Improprieties are Found, We May Be Required to Refund Revenues We Have Received, to Forego Anticipated Revenues
and May Be Subject to Penalties and Sanctions, Including Prohibitions on our Bidding in Response to RFPs. Certain of the government agencies we contract with have the authority to audit and
investigate our contracts with them. As part of that process, the government agency reviews our performance on the contract, our pricing practices, our cost structure and our compliance with
applicable laws, regulations and standards. For contracts that actually or effectively provide for certain reimbursement of expenses, if the agency determines that we have improperly allocated
costs to a specific contract, we may not be reimbursed for those costs and we could be required to refund the amount of any such costs that have been reimbursed. If a government audit asserts
improper or illegal activities by us, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeitures of profits, suspension of payments,
fines and suspension or disqualification from doing business with the government. Any adverse determination could adversely impact our ability to bid in response to RFP’s in one or more
jurisdictions.
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We Depend on a Limited Number of Governmental Customers for a Significant Portion of Our Revenues. We currently derive, and expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of our
revenues from a limited number of governmental agencies. The loss of, or a significant decrease in, business from the BOP, INS or USMS or various state agencies could seriously harm our
financial condition and results of operations. The three federal governmental agencies with correctional and detention responsibilities, the BOP, INS and USMS, accounted for approximately 28%
of our total revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, with the BOP accounting for approximately 13% of our total revenues for such period.

We Are Dependent Upon Our Senior Management and Our Ability to Attract and Retain Sufficient Qualified Personnel

We are dependent upon the continued service of each member of our senior management team, including John D. Ferguson, our chief executive officer. The unexpected loss of any of these persons
could materially adversely affect our business and operations. Although we have entered into employment agreements with certain of these individuals, we can provide no assurances of the
continued services of our senior management.

In addition, the services we provide are labor-intensive. When we are awarded a facility management contract or open a new facility, we must hire operating management, correctional officers and
other personnel. The success of our business requires that we attract, develop and retain these personnel. Our inability to hire sufficient qualified personnel on a timely basis or the loss of
significant numbers of personnel at existing facilities could adversely affect our business and operations.

We Are Subject to Necessary Insurance Cost

Workers” compensation and general liability insurance represent significant costs to us. We continue to incur increasing insurance costs due to adverse claims experience. In addition, since the
events of September 11, 2001, liability insurance has become more difficult and costly to obtain. Unanticipated additional insurance costs could adversely impact our results of operations and cash
flows and the failure to obtain or maintain any necessary insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on us.

We May be Adversely Affected by Increases in Inflation

Most of our facility management contracts provide for fixed management fees or fees that increase by only small amounts during their terms. If, due to inflation or other causes, our operating
expenses, such as wages and benefits of our employees, increase at rates faster than increases, if any, in management fees, then our profitability would be adversely affected. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Inflation”.

We Are Subject to Legal Proceedings Associated with Owning and Managing Correctional and Detention Facilities

Our ownership and management of correctional and detention facilities, and the provision of inmate transportation services by a subsidiary, expose us to potential third party claims or litigation by
prisoners or other persons relating to personal injury or other damages resulting from contact with a facility, its managers, personnel or other prisoners, including damages arising from a prisoner’s
escape from, or a disturbance or riot at, a facility we own or manage, or from the misconduct of our employees. In addition, as an owner of real property, we may be subject to a variety of

proceedings
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relating to personal injuries of persons at such facilities. The claims against our facilities may be significant, and may not be covered by insurance. Even in cases covered by insurance, our
deductible may be significant. See “Legal Proceedings” for a description of certain outstanding litigation against us associated with owning and managing correctional and detention facilities.

We Are Subject to Tax Related Risks

In connection with our merger with Old CCA on December 31, 1998, we assumed the tax obligations of Old CCA. The IRS has completed field audits of Old CCA’s federal tax returns for the
taxable years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, and is currently auditing our federal tax returns for the taxable year ended December 31, 2000. We have received the IRS agent’s report related
to 1998 and 1997 and are currently appealing certain of those findings with the Appeals Office of the IRS. Included in the agent’s report for 1998 and 1997 is a determination by the IRS to
increase taxable income by approximately $120.0 million. If ultimately upheld, these adjustments would result in a cash tax liability to us of approximately $46.8 million, not including penalties
and interest. While we are currently unable to predict the ultimate outcome of these IRS audits, it is possible that such audits will result in claims against us in excess of reserves currently recorded.

In connection with the IRS’s audit of our 2000 federal tax return, the agent conducting the audit has indicated that the IRS may disallow a loss we claimed as the result of our forgiveness in
September 2000 of certain indebtedness with Operating Company. The IRS, however, has not made any assessment of tax liability against us to date. In the event the IRS does make such an
assessment and prevails, we would be required to pay the IRS in excess of $56.0 million in cash plus penalties and interest. This adjustment would also substantially eliminate our net operating
loss carryforward. We believe, based on consultation with our tax advisors, that we will be able to successfully defend our positions. Accordingly, we have not established a reserve for this matter.
No assurance can be given that the IRS will not make such an assessment and prevail in any such claim against us.

In addition, although the IRS has concluded its audit of our federal tax return for the taxable year ended December 31, 1999, the statute of limitations for such taxable year still has not expired.
Thus, our election of REIT status for 1999 remains subject to review by the IRS generally until the expiration of three years from the date of filing of our 1999 federal tax return. While we believe
that we met the qualifications as a REIT for 1999, qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code for which there is only limited judicial
and administrative interpretations. Should the IRS subsequently disallow our election to be taxed as a REIT for the 1999 taxable year, we would be subject to income taxes and interest on our 1999
taxable income and possibly could be subject to penalties, which would have an adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. To the extent that any IRS audit
adjustments, including any adjustments resulting from the audit of Old CCA’s 1997 and 1998 tax returns, increase the accumulated earnings and profits of Old CCA, we could be required to make
additional distributions of such to our stockholders, either in cash or through the issuance of certain types of our securities, in order to preserve our REIT status for our 1999 taxable year. With
respect to an increase in Old CCA’s earnings and profits for 1997 and 1998, if the IRS ultimately increases taxable income as described above and requires us to distribute the full amount of the
increase in Old CCA’s earnings and profits (less any taxes, interest and penalties paid by us), we would be required to distribute approximately $70.5 million in cash or securities to our
stockholders of record at the time of distribution, none of which is currently accrued. Pursuant to the terms of our senior bank credit facility, however, we would not be permitted to satisfy any
such obligation with cash.
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We Are Subject to Risks Associated with Ownership of Real Estate

We Are Subject to General Real Estate Risks. Our ownership of correctional and detention facilities subjects us to risks typically associated with investments in real estate. Investments in real
estate, and in particular correctional and detention facilities, are relatively illiquid and, therefore, our ability to divest ourselves of one or more of our facilities promptly in response to changed
conditions is limited. Investments in correctional and detention facilities, in particular, subject us to risks involving potential exposure to environmental liability and uninsured loss. Our operating
costs may be affected by the obligation to pay for the cost of complying with existing environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, as well as the cost of complying with future legislation. In
addition, although we maintain insurance for many types of losses, there are certain types of losses, such as losses from earthquakes, riots and acts of terrorism, which may be either uninsurable or
for which it may not be economically feasible to obtain insurance coverage, in light of the substantial costs associated with such insurance. As a result, we could lose both our capital invested in,
and anticipated profits from, one or more of the facilities we own. Further, it is possible to experience losses which exceed the limits of insurance coverage. See “Business — Insurance.”

We May be Unable to Sell Assets or Receive Sales Proceeds at Expected Levels. As of December 31, 2001, we were holding for sale numerous assets, including six parcels of land, one correctional
facility leased to a governmental agency, and one correctional facility leased to a private operator, with an aggregate book value of approximately $22.3 million. Additionally, we have had
discussions with various parties regarding the potential sale of additional assets. We expect to use the net proceeds from any of such sales to repay outstanding indebtedness. Our ability to
refinance or renew indebtedness could be adversely affected if we are not able to sell a sufficient number of assets, or if the proceeds received from such sales do not achieve expected levels. See «
— The 2000 Restructuring and Related Transactions” for a complete discussion of our efforts to sell designated assets and apply the proceeds from such sales to our outstanding indebtedness.

Options to Purchase and Reversions Could Adversely Affect Our Investments. Nine of our facilities are or will be subject to an option to purchase by certain government agencies. If any of these
options are exercised, there exists the risk that we will be unable to invest the proceeds from the sale of the facility in one or more properties that yield as much revenue as the property acquired by
the government entity. In addition, ownership of three of the facilities will, upon the expiration of a specified time period, revert to the respective governmental agency contracting with us. See
“Business — Facility Portfolio” herein for a description of the terms and conditions of these options to purchase and reversions.
We Are Subject to Refinancing Risk and Risk of Default
A Significant Portion of Our Indebtedness Matures December 31, 2002. Our senior bank credit facility currently consists of $791.9 million in term loans which mature December 31, 2002. The
senior bank credit facility bears interest at a floating rate calculated from either the LIBOR rate or an applicable base rate, at our election. We are generally required to use the net cash proceeds
received from certain transactions, including the following transactions, to repay our outstanding indebtedness under the senior bank credit facility:

. any disposition of real estate assets; and

. the sale-leaseback of our corporate headquarters.
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We are also required to apply a designated portion of our “excess cash flow,” as such term is defined in the amendment, to the prepayment of outstanding indebtedness under the senior bank credit
facility. We believe that we will be able to refinance or renew the senior bank credit facility prior to or upon maturity; however, there can be no assurance that the we will be able to refinance or
renew such indebtedness on commercially reasonable or any other terms. We do not have sufficient working capital to satisfy our obligations in the event we are unable to refinance or renew the
senior bank credit facility upon maturity. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “ — The 2000 Restructuring and Related
Transactions” for more complete discussions of the provisions of our senior bank credit facility.

We Are Restricted in Our Ability to Incur Additional Debt. Our senior bank credit facility also contains restrictions upon our ability to incur additional debt and requires us to maintain specified
financial ratios. These provisions may also restrict our ability to obtain additional debt capital or limit our ability to engage in certain transactions. These restrictions may inhibit our ability to fund
capital expenditures or operating expenses when required. However, in the future we may refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness, including our senior bank credit facility, and incur more
debt as a result. The incurrence of additional indebtedness, and the potential issuance of additional debt securities, may result in increased interest expense. Additionally, the incurrence of
additional indebtedness may result in an increased risk of default, and increase our exposure to the risks associated with debt financing and access to debt markets to fund future growth at an
acceptable cost.

We Could Default on Our Indebtedness. As of December 31, 2001, our debt consisted primarily of $791.9 million outstanding under our senior bank credit facility, $100.0 million of 12.0% senior
notes, $41.1 million of 10.0% convertible subordinated notes and $30.0 million of 8.0% convertible subordinated notes. We also had $50.0 million available under a revolving credit facility with a
$50.0 million capacity. Terms of our indebtedness contain financial and non-financial covenants. These terms are further described in the notes to our financial statements and under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Failure to comply with these covenants could result in the acceleration of all or a significant portion of
our indebtedness. We do not have sufficient working capital to satisfy our debt obligations in the event of an acceleration of all or a significant portion of our outstanding indebtedness. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations", which contains discussions of the impact of a default under the terms of our existing indebtedness, and
our projected compliance.

Our Indebtedness is Subject to a Risk of Cross-Default. We currently believe that we are in compliance with the financial and other covenants under our senior bank credit facility and under the
terms of our other indebtedness. The provisions of our debt agreements related to the senior bank credit facility, the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes, the $30.0 million convertible
subordinated notes, and the 12.0% senior notes contain certain cross-default provisions. Any events of default under the senior bank credit facility which give rise to the ability of the lenders under
the senior bank credit facility to exercise their acceleration rights result in an event of default under our $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes. Any events of default under our senior bank
credit facility that results in the lenders’ actual acceleration of amounts outstanding thereunder also result in an event of default under our $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes and the
12.0% senior notes. Additionally, any events of default under the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes, the $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes and the 12.0% senior notes which
give rise to the ability of the holders of such indebtedness to exercise their acceleration rights also result in an event of default under our senior bank credit facility.
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If we were to be in default under our senior bank credit facility, and if the lenders under the senior bank credit facility elected to exercise their rights to accelerate our obligations under the senior
bank credit facility, such events could result in the acceleration of all or a portion of our $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes, our $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes and our
12.0% senior notes, which would have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial position. Additionally, under the terms of our $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes, even if
the lenders under the senior bank credit facility did not exercise their acceleration rights, the holders of the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes could require us to repurchase such notes
upon an event of default under the senior bank credit facility permitting acceleration. We do not have sufficient working capital to satisfy our debt obligations in the event of an acceleration of all
or a significant portion of our outstanding indebtedness. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “ — The 2000 Restructuring and
Related Transactions,” which contain discussions of the impact of a default under the terms of our existing indebtedness.

Because Portions of Our Indebtedness Have Floating Rates, a General Increase in Interest Rates Will Adversely Affect Cash Flows. Our senior bank credit facility bears interest at a variable rate.
To the extent our exposure to increases in interest rates is not eliminated through interest rate protection or cap agreements, such increases will adversely affect our cash flows. In accordance with
terms of the senior bank credit facility, we have entered into certain swap arrangements guaranteeing that we will not pay an index rate greater than 6.51% on outstanding balances of at least
$325.0 million through December 31, 2002. There can be no assurance that these interest rate protection provisions will be effective, or that once the interest rate protection agreement expires, we
will enter into additional interest rate protection agreements. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” for a further discussion of our exposure to interest rate increases.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

The properties we owned at December 31, 2001 are described under Item 1. and in Note 7 of the Notes to the Financial Statements contained in this annual report.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Proceedings/Litigation Against Us That Have Been Resolved

During the first quarter of 2001, we obtained final court approval of the settlements of the following outstanding consolidated federal and state class action and derivative stockholder lawsuits
brought against us and certain of our former directors and executive officers: (i) In re: Prison Realty Securities Litigation; (ii) In re: Old CCA Securities Litigation; (iii) John Neiger, on behalf of
himself and all others similarly situated v. Doctor Crants, Robert Crants and Prison Realty Trust, Inc.; (iv) Dasburg, S.A., on behalf of itself and all others similarly situated v. Corrections
Corporation of America, Doctor R. Crants, Thomas W. Beasley, Charles A. Blanchette, and David L. Myers; (v) Wanstrath v. Crants, et al.; and (vi) Bernstein v. Prison Realty Trust, Inc. The final
terms of the settlement agreements provide for the “global” settlement of all such outstanding stockholder litigation against us brought as the result of, among other things, agreements entered into
by us and Operating Company in May 1999 to increase payments we made to Operating Company under the terms of certain agreements, as well as transactions relating to the proposed corporate
restructurings led by the Fortress/Blackstone investment group and Pacific Life Insurance Company. Pursuant to the terms of the settlements, we agreed to issue or pay to the plaintiffs (and their
respective legal counsel) in the actions: (i) an aggregate of 4.7 million shares of common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001); (ii) a subordinated promissory note in the
aggregate principal
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amount of $29.0 million; and (iii) approximately $47.5 million in cash payable solely from the proceeds of certain insurance policies.

Pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreements, the promissory note would be due January 2, 2009, and accrue interest at a rate of 8.0% per year. Pursuant to the terms of the settlements, the
note and accrued interest may be extinguished if our common stock price meets or exceeds a “termination price” equal to $16.30 per share for any fifteen consecutive trading days following the
note’s issuance and prior to the maturity date of the note. Additionally, to the extent our common stock price does not meet the termination price, the note will be reduced by the amount that the
shares of common stock issued to the plaintiffs appreciate in value in excess of $4.90 per share, based on the average trading price of the stock following the date of the note’s issuance and prior to
the maturity of the note. We accrued the estimated obligation of approximately $75.4 million associated with the stockholder litigation during the third quarter of 2000.

During March and April of 2001, we issued approximately 1.6 million shares of our common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, under the settlement to the plaintiffs’ counsel in the
actions. Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2001, we issued approximately 2.8 million shares of common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, along with a $26.1 million promissory
note, in conjunction with the final settlement of the federal court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement. Under the terms of the promissory note, the note was extinguished in full in
January 2002 as the result of the average closing price of our common stock meeting or exceeding a price of $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive trading days following the issuance of the
note. The state court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement has not yet been completed; however, the settlement is expected to result in the issuance of approximately 310,000 additional
shares of common stock and a $2.9 million subordinated promissory note, which may also be extinguished if the average closing price of the common stock meets or exceeds $16.30 per share for
fifteen consecutive trading days following the issuance of such note and prior to its maturity in 2009.

On June 9, 2000, a complaint captioned Prison Acquisition Company, L.L.C. v. Prison Realty Trust, Inc., Correction Corporation of America, Prison Management Services, Inc. and Juvenile and
Jail Facility Management Services, Inc. was filed in federal court in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York to recover fees allegedly owed the plaintiff as a result of
the termination of a securities purchase agreement related to the proposed corporate restructuring led by the Fortress/Blackstone investment group. The complaint alleged that the defendants failed
to pay amounts allegedly due under the securities purchase agreement and asked for compensatory damages of approximately $24.0 million consisting of various fees, expenses and other relief.
During August 2001, we entered into a definitive agreement to settle this litigation. Under terms of the agreement, we made a cash payment of $15.0 million to the plaintiffs in full settlement of all
claims. During 2000, we recorded an accrual reflecting the estimated liability of this matter.

On September 14, 1998, a complaint captioned Thomas Horn, Ferman Heaton, Ricky Estes, and Charles Combs, individually and on behalf of the U.S. Corrections Corporation Employee Stock
Ownership Plan and its participants v. Robert B. McQueen, Milton Thompson, the U.S. Corrections Corporation Employee Stock Ownership Plan, U.S. Corrections Corporation, and Corrections
Corporation of America was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Kentucky alleging numerous violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, including but not
limited to a failure to manage the assets of the U.S. Corrections Corporation Employee Stock Ownership Plan in the sole interest of the participants, purchasing assets without undertaking
adequate investigation of the investment, overpayment for employer securities, failure to resolve conflicts of interest, lending money between the ESOP and employer, allowing the ESOP to
borrow money other than for the acquisition of employer securities, failure to make adequate, independent
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and reasoned investigation into the prudence and advisability of certain transactions, and otherwise. The plaintiffs were seeking damages in excess of $30.0 million plus prejudgment interest and
attorneys’ fees. We have entered into a definitive agreement with the plaintiffs to settle their claims against us, which was preliminarily approved by the court during the first quarter of 2002.
During 2000, we recorded an accrual reflecting the estimated liability of this matter.

Commencing in late 1997 and through 1998, Old CCA became subject to approximately sixteen separate suits in federal district court in the state of South Carolina claiming the abuse and
mistreatment of certain juveniles housed in the Columbia Training Center, a South Carolina juvenile detention facility formerly operated by Old CCA. These suits claim unspecified compensatory
and punitive damages, as well as certain statutory costs. One of these suits, captioned William Pacetti v. Corrections Corporation of America, went to trial in late November 2000, and in December
2000 the jury returned a verdict awarding the plaintiff in the action $125,000 in compensatory damages, $3.0 million in punitive damages, and attorneys’ fees. However, during the second quarter
of 2001, we reached an agreement in principle with all plaintiffs to settle their asserted and unasserted claims against us, and we subsequently executed a definitive settlement agreement which was
approved by the court, with the full settlement funded by insurance.

Outstanding Proceedings/Litigation Against Us and Our Subsidiaries

In February 2000, a complaint was filed in federal court in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas against our inmate transportation subsidiary, TransCor America, LLC.
The lawsuit, captioned Cheryl Schoenfeld v. TransCor America, Inc., et al., alleges that two former employees of TransCor sexually assaulted plaintiff Schoenfeld during her transportation to a
facility in Texas in late 1999. An additional individual, Annette Jones, has also joined the suit as a plaintiff, alleging that she was also mistreated by the two former employees during the same trip.
No trial date has been set. Both former employees were subject to criminal charges in Houston, Harris County, Texas; one has pleaded guilty to a criminal civil rights violation, and the other was
convicted of sexual assault. TransCor is defending this action vigorously. We expect that a portion of any of TransCor’s liabilities resulting from this litigation will be covered by liability
insurance; however, the insurance carrier and TransCor are in litigation over various coverage issues relating to this lawsuit. TransCor has recorded an accrual reflecting management’s best
estimate of the ultimate outcome of this matter based on consultation with legal counsel. In the event any resulting liability is not covered by insurance proceeds and is in excess of the amount
accrued by TransCor, such liability could have a material adverse effect upon the business, results of operations and financial position of TransCor and, potentially, us and our other subsidiaries.

In addition to the above legal matters, the nature of our business results in claims and litigation alleging that we are liable for damages arising from the conduct of our employees or others. In the
opinion of management, other than the outstanding litigation discussed above, there are no pending legal proceedings that would have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or
results of operations for which we have not established adequate reserves.

Other Commitments

We received an invoice, dated October 25, 2000, from Merrill Lynch & Co. for $8.1 million for services as our financial advisor in connection with the restructuring. Prior to their termination in
the third quarter of 2000, Merrill Lynch served as a financial advisor to us and our board of directors in connection with the restructuring. Merrill Lynch claimed that our merger with Operating
Company constituted a “restructuring transaction,” which Merrill Lynch further contended triggered certain fees under engagement letters allegedly entered into between Merrill Lynch and us, and

Merrill
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Lynch and Operating Company management, respectively. In July 2001, Merrill Lynch agreed to accept payment of $3.0 million in three $1.0 million installment payments over a one year period
in full and complete satisfaction of the invoice. As of December 31, 2001, we had paid $2.0 million to Merrill Lynch in connection with the satisfaction of this obligation.

Income Tax Contingencies

In connection with our merger with Old CCA on December 31, 1998, we assumed the tax obligations of Old CCA. The IRS has completed field audits of Old CCA’s federal tax returns for the
taxable years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, and is currently auditing our federal tax returns for the taxable year ended December 31, 2000. We have received the IRS agent’s report related
to 1998 and 1997, which includes a determination by the IRS to increase taxable income by approximately $120.0 million. If ultimately upheld, these adjustments would result in a cash tax
liability to us of approximately $46.8 million, not including penalties and interest. We are currently appealing the IRS’s preliminary findings with the Appeals Office of the IRS. While we intend to
vigorously defend our position, we are currently unable to predict the ultimate outcome of these IRS audits. It is possible that such audits will result in claims against us in excess of reserves
currently recorded.

In connection with the IRS’s audit of our 2000 federal tax return, the agent conducting the audit has indicated that the IRS may disallow a loss we claimed as the result of our forgiveness in
September 2000 of certain indebtedness with Operating Company. The IRS, however, has not made any assessment of tax liability against us to date. In the event the IRS does make such an
assessment and prevails, we would be required to pay the IRS in excess of $56.0 million in cash plus penalties and interest. This adjustment would also substantially eliminate our net operating
loss carryforward. We believe, based on consultation with our tax advisors, that we will be able to successfully defend our positions. Accordingly, we have not established a reserve for this matter.
No assurance can be given that the IRS will not make such an assessment and prevail in any such claim against us.

In addition, although the IRS has concluded its audit of our federal tax return for the taxable year ended December 31, 1999, the statute of limitations for such taxable year still has not expired.
Thus, our election of REIT status for 1999 remains subject to review by the IRS generally until expiration of three years from the date of filing of our 1999 federal tax return. While we believe that
we met the qualifications as a REIT for 1999, qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code for which there is only limited judicial and
administrative interpretations. Should the IRS subsequently disallow our election to be taxed as a REIT for the 1999 taxable year, we would be subject to income taxes and interest on our 1999
taxable income and possibly could be subject to penalties, which would have an adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. To the extent that any IRS audit
adjustments, including any adjustments resulting from the audit of Old CCA’s 1997 and 1998 tax returns, increase the accumulated earnings and profits of Old CCA, we could be required to make
additional distributions of such to our stockholders, either in cash or through the issuance of certain types of our securities, in order to preserve our REIT status for our 1999 taxable year. With
respect to an increase in Old CCA’s earnings and profits for 1997 and 1998, if the IRS ultimately increases taxable income as described above and requires us to distribute the full amount of the
increase in Old CCA’s earnings and profits (less any taxes, interest and penalties paid by us), we would be required to distribute approximately $70.5 million in cash or securities to our
stockholders of record at the time of distribution, none of which is currently accrued. Pursuant to the terms of our senior bank credit facility, however, we would not be permitted to satisfy any
such obligation with cash.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

ITEM 4A. OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Our board of directors has determined that the following officers are our executive officers within the meaning of Rule 3b-7 under the Securities Exchange Act:

John D. Ferguson, age 56, our president, chief executive officer and vice chairman of the board of directors, has held these positions since August 2000. Prior to joining CCA, Mr. Ferguson
served as the commissioner of finance for the State of Tennessee from June 1996 to July 2000. As commissioner of finance, Mr. Ferguson served as the state’s chief corporate officer and was
responsible for directing the preparation and implementation of the State’s $17.2 billion budget. From 1990 to February 1995, Mr. Ferguson served as the chairman and chief executive officer of
Community Bancshares, Inc., the parent corporation of The Community Bank of Germantown (Tennessee). Mr. Ferguson is a former member of the State of Tennessee Board of Education and
served on the Governor’s Commission on Practical Government for the State of Tennessee. Mr. Ferguson graduated from Mississippi State University in 1967.

J. Michael Quinlan, age 60, our executive vice president and chief operating officer, has held these positions since August 2000. Mr. Quinlan previously served as our president from December
1999 to August 2000 and as the president and chief operating officer of Operating Company and as a member of its board of directors from June 1999 through the completion of our restructuring.
From January 1999 until May 1999, Mr. Quinlan served as a member of our board of directors and as the vice-chairman of our board of directors. Prior to the completion of the 1999 merger,

Mr. Quinlan served as a member of the board of trustees and as chief executive officer of Old Prison Realty. From July 1987 to December 1992, Mr. Quinlan served as the director of the Federal
Bureau of Prisons. In such capacity, Mr. Quinlan was responsible for the total operations and administration of a federal agency with an annual budget of more than $2 billion, more than 26,000
employees and 75 facilities. In 1988, Mr. Quinlan received the Presidential Distinguished Rank Award, which is the highest award given by the United States government to civil servants for
service to the United States. In 1992, he received the National Public Service Award of the National Academy of Public Administration and the American Society of Public Administration,
awarded annually to the top three public administrators in the United States. Mr. Quinlan is a 1963 graduate of Fairfield University with a B.S.S. in History, and he received a J.D. from Fordham
University Law School in 1966. He also received an L.L.M. from the George Washington University School of Law in 1970.

During February 2002, it was announced that Mr. Quinlan will step down from his position as chief operating officer upon the appointment of a new chief operating officer. Mr. Quinlan has agreed
to assist us in our search for a new chief operating officer and to continue to serve in his current capacity until a new chief operating officer is identified. Following this transition, pursuant to the
terms of a new two-year employment agreement with us, Mr. Quinlan will continue to assist us in our operations, and with respect to business development activities with our customers, including
the federal government and state agencies.

Irving E. Lingo, Jr., age 50, our executive vice president and chief financial officer, has held these positions since December 2000. Prior to joining CCA, Mr. Lingo was chief financial officer for
Bradley Real Estate, Inc., a NYSE listed REIT headquartered in Chicago, Illinois, where he was responsible for financial accounting and reporting, including SEC compliance, capital markets, and

mergers and acquisitions from September 1995 to September 2000. Prior to joining Bradley Real
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Estate, Mr. Lingo held positions as chief financial officer, chief operating officer and vice president, finance for several public and private companies, including Lingerfelt Industrial Properties,
CSX Corporation, and Goodman Segar Hogan, Inc. In addition, he was previously an audit manager at Ernst & Young LLP. Mr. Lingo graduated summa cum laude from Old Dominion University
where he received a Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration.

G. A. Puryear IV, age 33, our executive vice president, general counsel and secretary, has held these positions since January 2001. Prior to joining CCA, from 1998 to 2001, Mr. Puryear served as
legislative director and counsel for U.S. Senator Bill Frist, where he worked on legislation and other policy matters. During that time, he also took a leave of absence to serve as a debate advisor to
Vice President Richard B. Cheney. In addition, from 1997 to 1998, Mr. Puryear worked as counsel on the special investigation of campaign finance abuses during the 1996 elections conducted by
the U.S. Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs, which was chaired by U.S. Senator Fred Thompson. Prior to his career on Capitol Hill, Mr. Puryear practiced law with Farris, Warfield &
Kanaday, PLC (now Stites & Harbison) in Nashville in the commercial litigation section. Mr. Puryear graduated from Emory University with a major in Political Science in 1990 and received his
J.D. from the University of North Carolina in 1993.

David M. Garfinkle, age 34, our vice president, finance, has held this position since February 2001. Prior to joining CCA, Mr. Garfinkle was the vice president and controller for Bradley Real
Estate, Inc. since 1996. Prior to joining Bradley Real Estate, Mr. Garfinkle was a senior audit manager at KPMG Peat Marwick LLP. Mr. Garfinkle graduated summa cum laude from St.
Bonaventure University in 1989 with a B.B.A. degree.

Todd Mullenger, age 43, our vice president, treasurer, has held this position since January 2001, after serving as our vice president, finance since August 2000. Mr. Mullenger previously served as
the vice president of finance of Old CCA from August 1998 until the completion of its merger with us. Mr. Mullenger also served as vice president, finance of Operating Company from January 1,
1999 through the completion of our restructuring. From September 1996 to July 1998, Mr. Mullenger served as assistant vice president-finance of Service Merchandise Company, Inc., a publicly
traded retailer headquartered in Nashville, Tennessee. Prior to September 1996, Mr. Mullenger served as an audit manager with Arthur Andersen LLP. Mr. Mullenger graduated from the University
of Towa in 1981 with a B.B.A. degree. He also received an M.B.A. from Middle Tennessee State University.

Information Concerning Our Board of Directors
General

Our charter provides that our board of directors shall consist of the number of directors determined from time to time by resolution of the board of directors, in accordance with our bylaws,
provided that the number of our directors may be no less than the minimum number required by Maryland law. By resolution of our board of directors, our board of directors currently consists of
the ten directors identified below. Our charter does not divide the directors into classes. Accordingly, under Maryland law, all directors are to be elected annually, at our annual meeting of
stockholders, for a one-year term and until the next annual meeting of stockholders. Our charter also requires that at least two members of the board of directors must be “independent directors.”
For purposes of our charter, an “independent director” is defined to be an individual who: (i) is not an officer or employee; (ii) is not the beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of equity
securities of our company or an officer, employee or “affiliate” of such security holder, as defined under federal securities laws; or (iii) does not have an economic relationship with us that requires
disclosure under
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federal securities laws. Under the terms of our stockholder litigation settlement, a majority of our board directors must be comprised of independent directors.

Our board of directors currently consists of the following ten directors: William F. Andrews, Chairman; John D. Ferguson, Vice-Chairman; Lucius E. Burch, III; John D. Correnti; John R. Horne;
C. Michael Jacobi; Charles L. Overby; John R. Prann, Jr.; Joseph V. Russell and Henri L. Wedell. With the exception of John R. Horne and Charles L. Overby, each of these directors was elected at
our 2000 annual meeting of stockholders, which was held on December 13, 2000. John R. Horne and Charles L. Overby were appointed to serve as independent directors by the board of directors
on December 13, 2001.

Information regarding each director, with the exception of John D. Ferguson, is set forth below. Directors’ ages are given as of the date of this annual report.

William F. Andrews, age 70, a director and the chairman of our board of directors, has held these positions since August 2000. Mr. Andrews also serves as a member of the executive committee
of the board of directors. Mr. Andrews has been a principal of Kohlberg & Company, a private equity firm specializing in middle market investing, since 1995 and is currently the chairman of the
board of directors of Katy Industries, Inc., a publicly-traded manufacturer and distributor of consumer electric corded products and maintenance cleaning products, among other product lines.
Mr. Andrews served as a director of JJFMSI from its formation in 1998 to July 2000 and served as a member of the board of directors of Old CCA from 1986 to May 1998. Mr. Andrews has
served as the chairman of Scovill Fasteners Inc., a manufacturing company, from 1995 to 2001 and has served as the chairman of Northwestern Steel and Wire Company, a manufacturing
company, from 1998 to 2001. From 1995 to 1998, he served as chairman of Schrader-Bridgeport International, Inc. and has also served on the board of directors of Navistar International
Corporation. Mr. Andrews also currently serves as a director of Black Box Corporation and Trex Corporation. Mr. Andrews is a graduate of the University of Maryland and received a Masters of
Business Administration from Seton Hall University.

Lucius E. Burch, III, age 60, an independent director and a member of the audit committee of our board of directors, has held these positions since December 2000. Mr. Burch also serves as a
member of the executive committee of our board of directors. Mr. Burch currently serves as chairman and chief executive officer of Burch Investment Group, a private venture capital firm located
in Nashville, Tennessee, formerly known as Massey Burch Investment Group, Inc., a position he has held since October 1989. Mr. Burch served as a member of the board of directors of Old CCA
from May 1998 through the completion of its merger with us, and as the chairman of the board of directors of Operating Company from January 1999 through the completion of our restructuring.
Mr. Burch has served on a number of public and private boards of directors, including seven New York Stock Exchange companies. Mr. Burch graduated from the University of North Carolina
where he received a B.A. degree in 1963.

John D. Correnti, age 54, an independent director and a member of the compensation committee of our board of directors, has held these positions since December 2000. Mr. Correnti currently
serves as the chairman of the board of directors and as the chief executive officer of Birmingham Steel Corporation, a publicly-traded steel manufacturing company. Mr. Correnti has held these
positions since December 1999. Mr. Correnti served as the president, chief executive officer and vice chairman of Nucor Corporation, a mini mill manufacturer of steel products, from 1996 to
1999 and as its president and chief operating officer from 1991 to 1996. Mr. Correnti also serves as a director of Harnischfeger Industries and Navistar International Corporation. Mr. Correnti
holds a B.S. degree in civil engineering from Clarkson University.
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John R. Horne, age 64, an independent director, has held this position since December 2001. Mr. Horne was appointed to the compensation committee of our board of directors in February 2002.
Mr. Horne is currently the chairman, president and chief executive officer of Navistar International Corporation, one of the world’s largest truck and engine manufacturers. He was elected to this
position effective April 1, 1996, after having served as president and chief executive officer for one year, and as chief operating officer for more than four years. Mr. Horne also serves on the board
of directors of Intermet Corporation, the National Association of Manufacturers, Junior Achievement of Chicago and the board of trustees of Manufacturer’s Alliance/MAPI. He received his M.S.
degree in mechanical engineering from Bradley University in 1964, a B.S. degree in mechanical engineering from Purdue University in 1960, which also awarded him an Honorary Doctor of
Engineering degree on May 17, 1998, and is a graduate of the management program at Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration.

C. Michael Jacobi, age 60, an independent director and the chairman of the audit committee of our board of directors, has held these positions since December 2000. Mr. Jacobi is currently the
president, chief executive officer and board member of Katy Industries, Inc., a publicly-traded manufacturer and distributor of consumer electric corded products and maintenance cleaning
products, among other product lines. Mr. Jacobi currently serves as a member of the board of directors of Webster Financial Corporation, a publicly-held bank headquartered in Waterbury,
Connecticut. Mr. Jacobi also currently serves as chairman of the board of directors of Innotek, Inc., a privately-held company located in Garrett, Indiana engaged in the manufacture of electronic
pet containment systems. Mr. Jacobi served as the president and chief executive officer of Timex Corporation from December 1993 to August 1999 and as a member of its board of directors from
1992 to 2000. Mr. Jacobi is a certified public accountant and holds a B.S. degree from the University of Connecticut.

Charles L. Overby, age 55, an independent director, has held this position since December 2001. Mr. Overby was appointed to the audit committee of our board of directors in February 2002.
Mr. Overby is currently chairman and chief executive officer of The Freedom Forum, an independent, non-partisan foundation dedicated to First Amendment and media issues, a position he has
held since 1997. He also is chairman and CEO of two affiliate organizations: the Newseum and the Freedom Forum First Amendment Center. Mr. Overby is a former Pulitzer Prize-winning editor
in Jackson, Mississippi. He worked for 16 years as reporter, editor and corporate executive for Gannett Company, the nation’s largest newspaper company. He was vice president for news and
communications for Gannett and served on the management committees of Gannett and USA TODAY. Mr. Overby serves on the board of the Committee to Protect Journalists, the Board of
Regents of Baylor University, the board of the National Collegiate Athletic Association Foundation and the board of FreedomChannel.com. He is a member of the foundation board of the
University of Mississippi, his alma mater.

John R. Prann, Jr., age 51, an independent director and a member of the compensation committee of our board of directors, has held these positions since December 2000. Mr. Prann served as the
president and chief executive officer of Katy Industries, Inc., a publicly-traded manufacturer and distributor of consumer electric corded products and maintenance cleaning products, among other
product lines, from 1993 to February 2001. From 1991 to 1995, Mr. Prann served as the president and chief executive officer of CRL, Inc., an equity and real estate investment company which
held a 25% interest in Katy. A former partner with the accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche, Mr. Prann graduated from the University of California, Riverside in 1974 and obtained his M.B.A.
from the University of Chicago in 1979.
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Joseph V. Russell, age 61, an independent director, has held this position since the completion of the 1999 merger. Mr. Russell also serves as the chairman of the compensation committee of our
board of directors and as a member of the executive committee of our board of directors. Prior to our merger with Old Prison Realty, Mr. Russell served as an independent trustee of Old Prison
Realty. Mr. Russell is the president and chief financial officer of Elan-Polo, Inc., a Nashville-based, privately-held, world-wide producer and distributor of footwear. Mr. Russell is also the vice
president of and a principal in RCR Building Corporation, a Nashville-based, privately-held builder and developer of commercial and industrial properties. He also serves on the boards of directors
of Community Care Corp., the Footwear Distributors of America Association and US Auto Insurance Company. Mr. Russell graduated from the University of Tennessee in 1963 with a B.S. in
Finance.

Henri L. Wedell, age 60, a director and a member of the audit committee of our board of directors, has held these positions since December 2000. Mr. Wedell currently is a private investor in
Memphis, Tennessee and also serves on the Board of Equalization of Shelby County, Tennessee. Prior to Mr. Wedell’s retirement in 1999, he served as the senior vice president of sales of The
Robinson Humphrey Co., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smith-Barney, Inc., an investment banking company with which he was employed for over 24 years. From 1990 to 1996, he served as a
member of the board of directors of Community Bancshares, Inc., the parent corporation to The Community Bank of Germantown (Tennessee). Mr. Wedell graduated from the Tulane University
Business School, where he received a B.B.A. in 1963.

PART II.
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR OUR COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
Market Price of and Distributions on Capital Stock

Our common stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol “CXW,” our series A preferred stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol “CXW PrA,” and our series B preferred stock is traded
on the NYSE under the symbol “CXW PrB.” On March 14, 2002, the last reported sale price of our common stock was $16.04 per share and there were 7,724 registered holders and approximately
29,000 beneficial holders, respectively, of our common stock.

Our common stock and series A preferred stock began trading on the NYSE on January 4, 1999, under the symbol “PZN” and “PZN PrA,” respectively, the first trading day following completion
of our mergers with Old CCA and Old Prison Realty. Our series B preferred stock began trading on the NYSE September 13, 2000. The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated,
the range of high and low sales prices of the common stock, the series A preferred stock, and the series B preferred stock on the NYSE, and the amount of cash distributions or dividends paid per
share. We completed a reverse stock split of our common stock effective May 18, 2001, at a rate of one-for-ten. Accordingly, all per share amounts of the common stock have been retroactively
restated to reflect the reduction in common shares and corresponding increase in the per share amounts resulting from the reverse stock split.
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Common Stock

SALES PRICE
PER SHARE CASH
HIGH LOW DISTRIBUTION
FISCAL YEAR 2001
First Quarter $15.00 $ 3.75 $0.00
Second Quarter $16.00 $ 6.00 $0.00
Third Quarter $17.88 $12.40 $0.00
Fourth Quarter $19.25 $13.10 $0.00
FISCAL YEAR 2000
First Quarter $62.50 $27.50 $0.00
Second Quarter $40.00 $20.00 $0.00
Third Quarter $32.50 $ 6.30 $0.00
Fourth Quarter $11.90 $ 1.90 $0.00
Series A Preferred Stock
SALES PRICE
PER SHARE CASH
HIGH LOW DISTRIBUTION
FISCAL YEAR 2001
First Quarter $ 8.00 $ 4.06 $0.00
Second Quarter $14.10 $ 6.30 $0.00
Third Quarter $17.80 $14.30 $0.50
Fourth Quarter $21.58 $15.10 $3.00
FISCAL YEAR 2000
First Quarter $14.00 $ 8.44 $0.50
Second Quarter $11.88 $ 8.00 $0.00
Third Quarter $ 8.50 $ 5.81 $0.00
Fourth Quarter $ 7.31 $ 2.88 $0.00
Series B Preferred Stock
SALES PRICE
PER SHARE CASH
HIGH LOW DISTRIBUTION
FISCAL YEAR 2001
First Quarter $ 9.63 $ 6.25 $0.00
Second Quarter $13.90 $ 8.50 $0.00
Third Quarter $15.50 $13.30 $0.00
Fourth Quarter $19.70 $14.61 $0.00
FISCAL YEAR 2000
Third Quarter $23.00 $15.00 $0.00
Fourth Quarter $18.75 $ 6.00 $0.00
Dividend Policy

Pursuant to the terms of the senior bank credit facility, we are restricted from declaring or paying cash dividends with respect to outstanding shares of our common stock. Moreover, even if such
restriction is ultimately removed, we do not intend to pay dividends with respect to shares of our common stock in the future.

Our series A preferred stock provides for quarterly cash dividends at a rate of 8.0% per year, based on a liquidation price of $25.00 per share. Under the terms of our senior bank credit facility we
were prohibited from paying any dividends with respect to the series A preferred stock until such time as we had raised $100.0 million in equity.
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During the third quarter of 2001, we received a consent and waiver to the senior bank credit facility, which allowed us to declare a dividend on shares of series A preferred stock. On September 28,
2001, our board of directors declared a cash dividend on the shares of series A preferred stock for the first quarter of previously accrued and unpaid dividends on the shares, payable on October 15,
2001 to the holders of record of our series A preferred stock on October 5, 2001.

On December 7, 2001, we completed an amendment and restatement of our senior bank credit facility. In connection with this amendment and restatement, certain financial and non-financial
covenants were amended, including the removal of prior restrictions on our ability to pay cash dividends on shares of our issued and outstanding series A preferred stock. Under the terms of the
December 2001 amendment and restatement, we are permitted to pay quarterly dividends on the shares of our issued and outstanding series A preferred stock, including all dividends in arrears.
Following the December 2001 amendment and restatement, on December 13, 2001 our board of directors declared a cash dividend on the shares of series A preferred stock for the fourth quarter of
2001 and all five quarters of previously accrued and unpaid dividends on the shares, payable on January 15, 2002 to the holders of record of our series A preferred stock on December 31, 2001.
The dividend was paid on January 15, 2002.

Our shares of series B preferred stock provides for quarterly dividends at a rate of 12.0% per year, based on a stated value of $24.46 per share. The dividends are payable quarterly in arrears, in
additional shares of series B preferred stock through the third quarter of 2003, and in cash thereafter, provided that all accrued and unpaid cash dividends have been made on our series A preferred
stock.

Sale of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Securities
Sale of Unregistered Securities

The following description sets forth our sales or other issuances of unregistered securities within the past three years. Old Prison Realty did not issue unregistered securities during the period from
January 1, 1998 until completion of the 1999 merger. Unless otherwise indicated, all securities were issued and sold in private placements pursuant to the exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act, contained in Section 4(2) of the Securities Act. No underwriters were engaged in connection with the issuances of securities described below. In the 1999
merger, each outstanding share of Old CCA common stock was converted into the right to receive 0.875 share of our common stock, pursuant to an effective registration statement on Form S-4
(Reg. no. 333-65017), filed with the SEC on September 30, 1998 and declared effective by the SEC on October 16, 1998. All references to shares and prices of our common stock are on a pre-
reverse stock split adjusted basis, unless otherwise indicated.

Initial Shares of Common Stock. We were formed as a Maryland corporation in September 1998, with one stockholder being issued 100 shares of common stock in consideration of $1,000. We
purchased these shares upon completion of the 1999 merger.

Sodexho Convertible Subordinated Notes. In connection with the 1999 merger, we assumed: (i) $7.0 million 8.5% convertible subordinated notes, due November 7, 1999, originally issued to

Sodexho by Old CCA on June 23, 1994, which, upon assumption, were convertible into 1,709,699 shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $4.09 per share; and (ii) $20.0 million 7.5%
convertible subordinated notes, due April 5, 2002, originally issued to Sodexho by Old CCA on April 5, 1996, which, upon assumption, were convertible into 701,135 shares of our common stock
at a conversion price of $28.53 per share. We also assumed Old CCA’s obligations under a forward contract between Old CCA and Sodexho, in which Old CCA had agreed to sell to Sodexho up to
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$20.0 million of convertible subordinated notes, bearing interest at LIBOR plus 1.35%, at any time prior to December 1999, which, upon assumption, were convertible into 2,564,103 shares of our
common stock at a conversion price of $7.80 per share. We received no cash proceeds from the assumption of these notes and the assumption of Old CCA’s obligations under the Sodexho forward
contract.

On March 8, 1999, in satisfaction of our obligations under the Sodexho forward contract, we issued the $20.0 million in Sodexho floating rate convertible notes, due March 8, 2004, in
consideration of cash proceeds of $20.0 million. Immediately after issuance of these notes, pursuant to Sodexho’s exercise of its conversion option, we converted the $7.0 million 8.5% Sodexho
convertible notes, the $20.0 million 7.5% Sodexho convertible notes and the $20.0 million Sodexho floating rate convertible notes into an aggregate of 4,974,937 shares of our common stock. We
received no proceeds from the issuance of these shares of common stock to Sodexho.

MDP Convertible Subordinated Notes. Pursuant to the terms of a note purchase agreement, dated as of December 31, 1998, with MDP Ventures IV LLC and certain affiliated purchasers,
referred to herein as MDP, we issued the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes. The first $20.0 million tranche closed on December 31, 1998, and the second $20.0 million tranche closed
on January 29, 1999, resulting in aggregate proceeds of $40.0 million. See “Business — Changes in Capital Structure” for a description of the conversion rate applicable to the $40.0 million
convertible subordinated notes.

In connection with the waiver and amendment to the note purchase agreement governing the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes, on June 30, 2000 we also issued, on a pro-rata basis to
the holders of the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes, additional convertible subordinated notes in the aggregate principal amount of $1.1 million, which amount represented all accrued
but unpaid interest upon the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes, at an applicable default rate of interest, through June 30, 2000. Under the terms of these additional notes, in January
2002, MDP elected to convert the $1.1 million convertible subordinated notes into approximately 0.1 million shares of common stock.

PMI Convertible Subordinated Notes. Pursuant to the terms of a note purchase agreement, dated as of December 31, 1998, with Pacific Mezzanine Fund, L.P., referred to herein as PMI, we
issued the $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes, which replaced a convertible subordinated note previously issued by Old CCA on February 29, 1996. We received no cash proceeds from
the issuance of the $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes. See “Business — Changes in Capital Structure” for a description of the conversion rate applicable to the $30.0 million convertible
subordinated notes.

Issuance and Conversion of Series B Preferred Stock. On September 22, 2000, we issued an aggregate of approximately 5.9 million shares of series B preferred stock as a taxable dividend,
exempt from registration under the Securities Act, on shares of our common stock in connection with our election to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes with respect to our 1999
taxable year. On November 13, 2000, we issued an additional 1.6 million shares of series B preferred stock as a taxable dividend, exempt from registration under the Securities Act, in further
satisfaction of our 1999 REIT distribution requirements. An aggregate of 4.2 million shares of series B preferred stock were converted into approximately 9.5 million shares of our common stock
(as adjusted for our reverse stock split in May 2001) during the following two conversion periods: (i) October 2, 2000 through October 12, 2000; and (ii) December 7, 2000 through December 20,
2000. During 2001, we issued approximately 452,000 shares of series B preferred stock in satisfaction of the regular quarterly distributions on the series B preferred stock.
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On May 22, 2001, we issued 0.2 million shares of series B preferred stock under two series B preferred stock restricted stock plans, which were valued at $2.0 million on the date of the award. The
restricted shares of series B preferred stock were granted to certain of our key employees and wardens. Under the terms of the series B preferred stock restricted stock plans, the shares in the key
employee plan vest in equal intervals over a three-year period expiring in May 2004, while the shares in the warden plan vest all at one time in May 2004.

Assumption of Operating Company Warrants. As a result of the corporate restructuring completed during the fourth quarter of 2000, effective October 1, 2000, we assumed Operating
Company’s obligation to issue shares of its Class A common stock upon the exercise of certain common stock purchase warrants, dated as of December 31, 1998. As a result of this assumption, we
became obligated to issue, upon exercise of the warrants, an aggregate of: (i) approximately 50,046 shares of our common stock to G.E. Capital Corporation and (ii) an aggregate of approximately
25,023 shares of our common stock to Bank of America. The warrants, which have an exercise price of $33.30 per share, expire December 31, 2008. These shares and per share amounts are on a
post-reverse stock split basis.

Service Company Mergers. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement and plan of merger with each of PMSI and JJFMSI, we issued an aggregate of approximately 0.3 million shares of our
common stock (as adjusted for our reverse stock split in May 2001) to the employee shareholders of PMSI and JJFMSI at the time of the completion of the service company mergers.

Issuances to Directors. On January 6, 1999, we issued a total of 1,410 shares of common stock to eight of our non-employee directors. These shares were issued to these directors in satisfaction
of Old Prison Realty’s obligations under the Old Prison Realty Non-Employee Trustees’ Compensation Plan, under which these individuals, previously trustees of Old Prison Realty, opted to
receive Old Prison Realty common shares in lieu of certain trustees’ fees. On January 29, 1999, we issued approximately 0.1 million shares of common stock to a former director of Old CCA in
satisfaction of our obligations under the Old CCA Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan, which we assumed in the merger. In addition, on October 2, 2000, we issued 31,111 shares of
common stock to one of our directors in connection with such director’s service on the special committee of our board of directors. These shares of common stock were valued based on market
prices of the common stock on the NYSE. We received no cash proceeds from the issuance of these shares of common stock.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
The following selected financial data for the five years ended December 31, 2001, were derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto. Our audited
consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 are included in this annual report. See “Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview” for a discussion of the factors that affect the comparability of the following financial data.
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS: 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Revenue:
Management and other $974,360 $ 261,774 $ — $662,059 $462,249
Rental 6,431 40,938 270,134 — —
Licensing fees from affiliates — 7,566 8,699 — —
Total revenue 980,791 310,278 278,833 662,059 462,249
Expenses:
Operating 753,521 217,315 — 496,522 330,470
General and administrative 34,568 45,463 24,125 28,628 16,025
Lease — — — 58,018 18,684
Depreciation and amortization 54,135 59,799 44,062 14,363 13,378
Fees to Operating Company — 1,401 — — —
Write-off of amounts under lease arrangements — 11,920 65,677 — —
Impairment losses — 527,919 76,433 — —
Old CCA compensation charge — — — 22,850 —
Total expenses 842,224 863,817 210,297 620,381 378,557
Operating income (loss) 138,567 (553,539) 68,536 41,678 83,692
Equity (earnings) loss and amortization of deferred gain, net 358 11,638 (3,608) — —
Interest expense (income), net 125,640 131,545 45,036 (2,770) (3,404)
Other income — (3,099) — — —
Change in fair value of derivative instruments (14,554) — — — —
Loss on disposal of assets 74 1,733 1,995 — —
Unrealized foreign currency transaction loss 219 8,147 — — —
Stockholder litigation settlements — 75,406 — — —
Write-off of loan costs — — 14,567 2,043 —
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and cumulative effect
of accounting change 26,830 (778,909) 10,546 42,405 87,096
Income tax (expense) benefit (1,136) 48,002 (83,200) (15,424) (33,141)
Income (loss) before minority interest and cumulative effect of accounting
change 25,694 (730,907) (72,654) 26,981 53,955
Minority interest in net loss of PMSI and JJFMSI — 125 — — —
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change 25,694 (730,782) (72,654) 26,981 53,955
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes — — — (16,145) —
Net income (loss) 25,694 (730,782) (72,654) 10,836 53,955
Distributions to preferred stockholders (20,024) (13,526) (8,600) — —
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 5,670 $(744,308) $(81,254) $ 10,836 $ 53,955
(continued)
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(in thousands, except per share data)

(continued)
Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 023 $(56.68) $ (7.06) $ 3.78 $ 7.99
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.26) —
$ 023 $(56.68) $ (7.06) $ 1.52 $ 7.99
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 0.20 $(56.68) $ (7.06) $ 3.47 $ 6.92
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (2.05) —
$ 020 $(56.68) $ (7.06) $ 1.42 $ 6.92
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 24,380 13,132 11,510 7,138 6,757
Diluted 28,392 13,132 11,510 7,894 7,894
December 31,
BALANCE SHEET DATA: 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Total assets $1,971,280 $2,176,992 $2,716,644 $1,090,437 $697,940
Total debt $ 963,600 $1,152,570 $1,098,991 $ 299,833 $132,922
Total liabilities excluding deferred gains $1,224,119 $1,488,977 $1,209,528 $ 395,999 $214,112
Stockholders’ equity $ 747,161 $ 688,015 $1,401,071 $ 451,986 $348,076

Prior to our merger in 1999 with Old CCA, Old CCA operated as a taxable corporation and managed prisons and other correctional and detention facilities and provided prisoner
transportation services for governmental agencies. The 1999 merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition of us by Old CCA and as an acquisition of Old Prison Realty by us. As such,
the provisions of reverse acquisition accounting prescribe that Old CCA’s historical financial statements be presented as our historical financial statements prior to January 1, 1999.
Therefore, the results of operations prior to 1999 reflect the results of Old CCA as a taxable corporation operating as a prison management company.

In connection with the 1999 merger, we elected to change our tax status from a taxable corporation to a REIT effective with the filing of our 1999 federal income tax return. Therefore, the

1999 financial statements reflect the results of our operations as a REIT. As a REIT, we were dependent on Operating Company, as a lessee, for a significant source of our income. In
connection with the restructuring in 2000, we acquired Operating Company on October 1, 2000 and the service companies on December 1, 2000, and amended our charter to remove
provisions requiring us to elect to qualify and be taxed as a REIT. The 2001 financial statements reflect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for a full year as an
owner, operator and manager of prisons and other correctional facilities.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those
described under “Risk Factors” and included in other portions of this report.

OVERVIEW

We were formed in September 1998 as Prison Realty Corporation and commenced operations on January 1, 1999, following our mergers with each of Old CCA on December 31, 1998 and Old
Prison Realty on January 1, 1999, which are collectively referred to herein as the 1999 merger. As more fully discussed in Note 3 to the accompanying 2001 financial statements, effective
October 1, 2000, we completed a series of previously announced restructuring transactions. As part of the restructuring, our primary tenant, Operating Company, was merged with and into our
wholly-owned operating subsidiary on October 1, 2000. This merger is referred to herein as the Operating Company merger. In connection with the restructuring and the Operating Company
merger, we amended our charter to, among other things, remove provisions relating to our operation and qualification as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes
commencing with our 2000 taxable year and change our name to “Corrections Corporation of America.” As more fully discussed in Note 3 to the accompanying 2001 financial statements,
effective December 1, 2000, each of the service companies, known herein individually as PMSI and JJFMSI, also merged with and into our wholly-owned operating subsidiary.

As the result of the Operating Company merger and the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI, we now specialize in owning, operating and managing prisons and other correctional facilities and
providing inmate residential and prisoner transportation services for governmental agencies. In addition to providing the fundamental residential services relating to inmates, our facilities offer a
variety of rehabilitation and educational programs, including basic education, life skills and employment training and substance abuse treatment. These services are intended to help reduce
recidivism and to prepare inmates in the facilities we operate for their successful reentry into society. We also provide health care (including medical, dental and psychiatric services), food services
and work and recreational programs.

Our results of operations for 1999 reflect our operating results as a REIT. We believe the comparison between 2000 and prior years is not meaningful because the 2000 financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows reflect our operation as a subchapter C corporation, which, for the period January 1, 2000 through September 30, 2000, included real estate activities with Operating
Company during a period of severe liquidity problems, and as of October 1, 2000, also includes the operations of the correctional and detention facilities previously leased to and managed by
Operating Company. In addition, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the year ended December 31, 2000 also include the operations of PMSI and JJFMSI as
of December 1, 2000 (acquisition date) on a consolidated basis. For the period January 1, 2000 through August 31, 2000, the investments in PMSI and JJFMSI were accounted for and presented
under the equity method of accounting. For the period from September 1, 2000 through November 30, 2000, the investments in PMSI and JJFMSI were accounted for on a combined basis with the
results of our operations due to the repurchase by the wholly-owned subsidiaries of PMSI and JJFMSI of the non-management, outside stockholders’ equity interest in PMSI and JJFMSI during
September 2000. For these reasons, we believe the comparison between the results of operations for the year ended
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December 31, 2001 and the results of operations for periods prior to the restructuring in the fourth quarter of 2000 is not meaningful, as the 2001 financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows reflect our operations for a full year as an owner, operator and manager of prisons and other correctional facilities, while the 2000 financial statements do not reflect such results.

Since the 1999 merger and through September 30, 2000, we specialized in acquiring, developing and owning correctional and detention facilities. Operating Company was a private prison
management company that operated and managed the substantial majority of the facilities we owned. As a result of the 1999 merger and certain contractual relationships with Operating Company,
we were dependent on Operating Company for a significant source of our income. In addition, we were obligated to pay Operating Company for services rendered to us in the development of our
correctional and detention facilities. As a result of certain liquidity issues, the parties amended the contractual agreements during 2000. For a more complete description of the historical contractual
relationships and of these amendments, see Note 6 to the accompanying 2001 financial statements.

As required by our governing instruments, we operated and elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes with respect to our taxable year ended
December 31, 1999. In connection with the completion of the restructuring, on September 12, 2000, our stockholders approved an amendment to our charter to remove the requirements that we
elect to be taxed and qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our 2000 taxable year. Accordingly, with respect to our taxable year ended December 31, 2000 and
thereafter, we have operated and are taxed as a subchapter C corporation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. As such, we are required to make certain estimates, judgments
and assumptions that we believe are reasonable based upon the information available. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. A summary of our significant accounting policies is described in Note 4 to our financial
statements. The significant accounting policies and estimates which we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include the following:

Asset impairments. As of December 31, 2001, we had approximately $1.6 billion in long-lived assets. We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying values of our long-lived assets, other than
intangibles, when events suggest that an impairment may have occurred. In these circumstances, we utilize estimates of undiscounted cash flows to determine if an impairment exists. If an
impairment exists, it is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

Goodwill impairments. As of December 31, 2001, we had approximately $104.0 million in goodwill. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives will no longer be subject to amortization, but instead will be tested for impairment at least annually using a fair-
value based approach. We will apply the new rules on accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets beginning in the first quarter of 2002. During 2002, we will perform the first of the
required impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets as of January 1, 2002. We have not yet determined what effect, if any, applying those tests will have on our financial
position and results of operations. We are subject to financial statement risk to the extent that the goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets become impaired.
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Income taxes. As of December 31, 2001, we had approximately $150.5 million in deferred tax assets. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Realization of the future tax benefits related to deferred tax assets is dependent on
many factors, including our ability to generate taxable income within the net operating loss carryforward period. Since the change in tax status in connection with the restructuring in 2000, and as
of December 31, 2001, we have provided a valuation allowance to reserve the deferred tax assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes.” The valuation allowance was recognized based on the weight of available evidence indicating that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would not be realized.
This evidence primarily consisted of, but was not limited to, recurring operating losses for federal tax purposes.

Our assessment of the valuation allowance could change in the future. Removal of the valuation allowance in whole or in part would result in a non-cash reduction in income tax expense during
the period of removal. To the extent no reserve is established for our deferred tax assets, the financial statements would reflect a provision for income taxes at the applicable federal and state tax
rates on income before taxes.

As further discussed in Note 21 to our financial statements, we have received the IRS’s preliminary findings related to audits of Old CCA’s federal tax returns for the taxable years ended
December 31, 1998 and 1997, in which the IRS has proposed to increase taxable income by approximately $120.0 million. If ultimately upheld, these adjustments would result in a cash tax
liability to us of approximately $46.8 million, not including penalties and interest. We are currently appealing the IRS’s preliminary findings with the Appeals Office of the IRS. While we intend to
vigorously defend our position, we are currently unable to predict the ultimate outcome of these IRS audits. It is possible, however, that future cash flows could be materially affected by claims
against us, and results of operations could be materially affected by claims against us in excess of reserves currently recorded.

In addition, to the extent that any IRS audit adjustments increase the accumulated earnings and profits of Old CCA, we could be required to make additional distributions of such to our
stockholders, either in cash or through the issuance of certain types of our securities, in order to preserve our REIT status for our 1999 taxable year. If the IRS ultimately upholds the adjustments
described above and requires us to distribute the full amount of the increase in Old CCA’s earnings and profits (less any taxes, interest and penalties paid by us), we would be required to distribute
approximately $70.5 million in cash or securities to our stockholders of record at the time of distribution, none of which is currently accrued. Pursuant to the terms of our Senior Bank Credit
Facility, however, we would not be permitted to satisfy any such obligation with cash.

Self-funded insurance reserves. As of December 31, 2001, we had approximately $21.7 million in accrued liabilities for employee health, workers’ compensation, and automobile insurance. We
are significantly self-insured for employee health, workers’ compensation, and automobile liability insurance. As such, our insurance expense is largely dependent on claims experience and our
ability to control our claims experience. We have consistently accrued the estimated liability for employee health based on our history of claims experience and time lag between the incident date
and the date the cost is reported to us. We have accrued the estimated liability for workers’ compensation and automobile insurance based on a third-party actuarial valuation of the outstanding
liabilities. These estimates could change in the future.
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Legal reserves. As of December 31, 2001, we had approximately $24.1 million in accrued liabilities for litigation. As further discussed in Note 21 to our financial statements, we are currently
involved in certain legal proceedings. We have accrued our estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these claims based on a range of potential outcomes. In addition, we are subject to
current and potential future legal proceedings for which little or no accrual has been reflected because our current assessment of the potential exposure is nominal. These estimates have been
developed in consultation with inside legal counsel and, if applicable, outside counsel handling our defense in these matters, and are based upon an analysis of potential results, assuming a
combination of litigation and settlement strategies. It is possible, however, that future cash flows and results of operations could be materially affected by changes in our assumptions, new
developments, or by the effectiveness of our strategies.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

As of December 31, 2001, our liquidity was provided by cash on hand of approximately $46.3 million and $50.0 million available under a revolving credit facility with a $50.0 million capacity
which was assumed in connection with the Operating Company merger. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we generated $92.8 million in cash through operating activities. As of
December 31, 2001, we had a net working capital deficiency of $760.4 million. Contributing to the net working capital deficiency was the classification of the outstanding balance of

$791.9 million under our Senior Bank Credit Facility, which matures on December 31, 2002, as current, along with the estimated negative fair value of an interest rate swap agreement, which also
expires on December 31, 2002, of $13.6 million. We do not have sufficient working capital resources or any other ability to satisfy amounts outstanding under our Senior Bank Credit Facility
without extending or refinancing the Senior Bank Credit Facility, and expect to refinance the Senior Bank Credit Facility during 2002 on a longer term basis. The estimated negative fair value of
the interest rate swap agreement represents the cost we would incur to terminate the interest rate swap agreement on December 31, 2001. Since we do not expect to terminate the interest rate swap
agreement prior to its maturity on December 31, 2002, unless the interest rate swap agreement is terminated in connection with a refinancing of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, the negative fair
value of the interest rate swap agreement is expected to reverse into earnings prior to the maturity date without any impact on our cash flows. However, until the maturity date, changes in the fair
value of the interest rate swap agreement could result in additional non-cash charges or gains.

Our principal capital requirements are for working capital, capital expenditures and debt maturities. Capital requirements may also include cash expenditures associated with our outstanding
commitments and contingencies, as further discussed in the notes to the financial statements. During 2001, we made cash payments in excess of $17.0 million, and have committed to pay an
additional $1.0 million, in settlement of our stockholder litigation, our dispute with Fortress/Blackstone and claims against us by Merrill Lynch. We may be required to use significant capital
resources for other litigation in the future. In addition, we may incur capital expenditures to expand the design capacity of our facilities in order to retain management contracts. We have financed,
and intend to continue to finance, the working capital and capital expenditure requirements with existing cash balances, net cash provided by operations, and borrowings under the Operating
Company revolving credit facility. In addition, as a result of a change in tax law that became effective March 9, 2002, permitting an extension of the carryback period of net operating losses from
two years to five years, we will be due an income tax refund of approximately $30.0 million. The refund results from net operating losses experienced in 2001 that can be carried back to 1997 and
1996. This refund will provide us with additional liquidity.

68




Table of Contents

We currently expect to be able to meet our cash expenditure requirements and extend or refinance our debt maturities, including primarily the Senior Bank Credit Facility, due within the next year.
However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to extend or refinance such debt. If we are unable to extend or refinance the debt maturity on December 31, 2002, we currently do not have
sufficient working capital or any other ability to satisfy this obligation.

As a result of our current financial condition, including: (i) the loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility maturing December 31, 2002; (ii) our negative working capital position; and (iii) our
highly leveraged capital structure, we continue to evaluate our current capital structure, including the consideration of various potential transactions that could improve our financial position.

Following the completion of the Operating Company merger and the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI, during the fourth quarter of 2000, our new management conducted strategic assessments;
developed a strategic operating plan to improve our financial position; developed revised projections for 2001; evaluated the utilization of existing facilities, projects under development and excess
land parcels; and identified certain non-strategic assets for sale. During the first quarter of 2001, we completed the sale of one of these assets, a facility located in Spruce Pine, North Carolina, for
approximately $24.9 million. During the second quarter of 2001, we completed the sale of our interest in our Agecroft facility located in Salford, England, for approximately $65.7 million, and an
additional facility located in Bayboro, North Carolina for a sales price of approximately $24.0 million. During the fourth quarter of 2001, we also completed the sale of a facility located in Las
Vegas, Nevada for a sales price of approximately $24.1 million. The proceeds from the sales of these four correctional facilities provided us with additional liquidity, which was used to pay-down
outstanding balances under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, significantly improving our leverage ratios. During the fourth quarter of 2000, we completed the sale of our interest in two international
subsidiaries, an Australian corporation, Corrections Corporation of Australia Pty., Ltd., and a company incorporated in England and Wales, U.K. Detention Services Limited, for an aggregate sales
price of $6.4 million. As a result of these sales, we own or operate only correctional and detention facilities located in the United States and Puerto Rico.

Our debt agreements include covenants that restrict our ability to enter into certain types of transactions and require us to meet certain financial covenants. Our debt covenants also include
restrictions on the use of our liquidity. Under terms of an amendment to our Senior Bank Credit Facility in June 2000, we were prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends with respect to
our outstanding Series A Preferred Stock until such time as we raised at least $100 million in equity. Dividends with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock continued to accrue under the terms of
our charter. During the third quarter of 2001, however, we received a consent and waiver to the Senior Bank Credit Facility, which allowed us to declare a dividend on shares of the Series A
Preferred Stock. On September 28, 2001, our board of directors declared a cash dividend on the shares of Series A Preferred Stock for the first quarter of previously accrued and unpaid dividends
on the shares, payable on October 15, 2001 to the holders of record of our Series A Preferred Stock on October 5, 2001. Approximately $2.2 million was paid on October 15, 2001 as a result of
this dividend. In addition, as described below, as a result of an amendment and restatement of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, we are now permitted to pay quarterly dividends with respect to our
Series A Preferred Stock, as and when declared by our board of directors, including dividends in arrears.

During the first and second quarters of 2001, we obtained amendments to the Senior Bank Credit Facility to modify the financial covenants to take into consideration any loss of EBITDA that may
result from certain asset dispositions during 2001 and subsequent periods, to permit the issuance of indebtedness in partial satisfaction of our obligations in the stockholder litigation settlement,

and to change the consummation date for securitizing the lease payments (or other similar transaction)
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related to our Agecroft facility. Also, during the first quarter of 2001, we amended the provisions of the note purchase agreement governing our $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes to
replace previously existing financial covenants in order to remove existing defaults and attempt to remain in compliance during 2001 and subsequent periods.

We also have certain non-financial covenants that must be met in order to remain in compliance with our debt agreements, including a requirement to complete the securitization of lease payments
(or other similar transaction) with respect to the Agecroft facility (which was completed in April 2001) and the delivery of audited financial statements. During 2001, we obtained waivers of these
covenants, which cured a resulting cross-default under our $41.1 million convertible subordinated notes.

The Senior Bank Credit Facility also required us to use commercially reasonable efforts to complete a “capital raising event” on or before June 30, 2001. A “capital raising event” is defined in the
Senior Bank Credit Facility as any combination of the following transactions, which together would result in net cash proceeds of at least $100.0 million:

. an offering of our common stock through the distribution of rights to our existing stockholders;

. any other offering of our common stock or certain types of our preferred stock;

. issuances of unsecured, subordinated indebtedness providing for in-kind payments of principal and interest until repayment of the Senior Bank Credit Facility; or

. certain types of asset sales, including the sale-leaseback of our corporate headquarters, but excluding the securitization of lease payments (or other similar transaction) with

respect to the Agecroft facility.

The Senior Bank Credit Facility also contains limitations upon the use of proceeds obtained from the completion of such transactions. We had considered a distribution of rights to purchase
common or preferred stock to our existing stockholders, or an equity investment from an outside investor. However, we determined that it was not commercially reasonable to issue additional
equity or debt securities, other than those securities for which we had already contractually agreed to issue, including primarily the issuance of shares of our common stock in connection with the
settlement of our stockholder litigation. Further, as a result of our restructuring during the third and fourth quarters of 2000, prior to the completion of the audit of our 2000 financial statements and
the filing of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 with the SEC on April 17, 2001, we were unable to provide the SEC with the requisite financial information
required to be included in a registration statement. Therefore, even if we had been able to negotiate a public or private sale of our equity securities on commercially reasonable terms, our inability
to obtain an effective SEC registration statement with respect to such securities prior to April 17, 2001 would have effectively prohibited any such transaction. Moreover, the terms of any private
sale of our equity securities likely would have included a requirement that we register with the SEC the resale of our securities issued to a private purchaser thereby also making it impossible to
complete any private issuance of its securities. Due to the fact that we would have been unable to obtain an effective registration statement, and therefore, would have been unable to make any
public issuance of our securities (or any private sale that included the right of resale), any actions prior to April 17, 2001 to complete a capital raising event through the sale of equity or debt
securities would have been futile.

Although we would technically have been able to file a registration statement with the SEC following April 17, 2001, we believe that various market factors, including the depressed market price
of our
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common stock immediately preceding April 17, 2001, the pending reverse stock split required to maintain our continued NYSE listing, and the uncertainty regarding the maturity of the revolving
loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, made the issuance of additional equity or debt securities commercially unreasonable.

Because the issuance of additional equity or debt securities was deemed unreasonable, we determined that the sale of assets represented the most effective means by which we could satisfy the
covenant. As discussed above, during the first and second quarters of 2001, we completed the sale of our Mountain View Correctional Facility for approximately $24.9 million and our Pamlico
Correctional Facility for approximately $24.0 million, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2001, we also completed the sale of our Southern Nevada Women’s Correctional Facility for
approximately $24.1 million, and are actively pursuing the sales of additional assets. As a result of the foregoing, we believe we demonstrated commercially reasonable efforts to complete the
$100.0 million capital raising event as of June 30, 2001. Under terms of an amendment and restatement of the Senior Bank Credit Facility obtained in December 2001, as further described below,
our obligation to complete the capital raising event was removed.

As part of our plans to improve our financial position and address the January 1, 2002 maturity of portions of the debt under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, during the fourth quarter of 2000, we
committed to a plan of disposal for certain additional long-lived assets. During 2001, we paid-down $189.0 million in total debt through a combination of $138.7 million in cash generated from
asset sales and internally generated cash. Additionally, we are currently holding assets for sale with an aggregate carrying value of $22.3 million. Although there can be no assurance that we will
be able to complete the sale of any assets, including those currently held for sale, we may pursue the sale of additional assets. We expect to use anticipated proceeds from any such future asset
sales to pay-down additional amounts outstanding under the Senior Bank Credit Facility. We believe that utilizing sale proceeds to pay-down debt and the generation of $138.6 million of operating
income during 2001 has improved our leverage ratios and overall financial position, which has improved our ability to renew and refinance maturing indebtedness.

During December 2001, we completed an amendment and restatement of our existing Senior Bank Credit Facility. As part of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, the existing
$269.4 million revolving portion of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, which was to mature on January 1, 2002, was replaced with a term loan of the same amount maturing on December 31, 2002,
to coincide with the maturity of the other loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility.

Pursuant to terms of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, all loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility bear interest at a variable rate of 5.5% over LIBOR, or 4.5% over the base
rate, at our option, through June 30, 2002. Following June 30, 2002, the applicable interest rate for all loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility will increase to 6.5% over LIBOR, or 5.5% over
the base rate, at our option. In the event we are unable to refinance the entire Senior Bank Credit Facility prior to July 1, 2002, we will be required to pay the lenders under the facility an additional
fee equal to 1.0% of the amounts then outstanding under the Senior Bank Credit Facility.

As aresult of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, certain financial and non-financial covenants were amended, including the removal of prior restrictions on our ability to pay cash
dividends on shares of our issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock. Under the terms of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, we are permitted to pay quarterly dividends, when
declared by the board of directors, on the shares of Series A Preferred Stock, including all dividends in arrears. On December 13, 2001, our board of directors declared a cash dividend on the
shares of Series A Preferred Stock for the period from October 1, 2001 through December 31, 2001 and for all
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five quarters then unpaid and in arrears, payable on January 15, 2002 to the holders of record of Series A Preferred Stock on December 31, 2001. As a result of the board’s declaration, we paid an
aggregate of $12.9 million to shareholders of the Series A Preferred Stock in January 2002.

We believed, and continue to believe, that a short-term extension of the revolving portion of our Senior Bank Credit Facility was in our best interests for a longer-term financing strategy,
particularly due to difficult market conditions for the issuance of debt securities following the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, and during the fourth quarter of 2001. Additionally, we
believed that certain terms of the amendment and restatement, including primarily the removal of prior restrictions to pay cash dividends on our shares of Series A Preferred Stock, including all
dividends in arrears, would result in an improvement to our credit ratings, enhancing the terms of a more comprehensive refinancing. Further, we believe that the successful pursuit of additional
transactions that would not be completed by January 1, 2002, such as the sale of additional assets and a potential contract award from the Federal Bureau of Prisons for 1,500 inmates under the
BOP’s Criminal Alien Requirement II, or CAR II, could improve the terms of a more comprehensive refinancing.

After completing the amendment and restatement of the Senior Bank Credit Facility in December 2001, Moody’s Investors Service upgraded the rating on our senior secured debt to “B2” from
“B3”, our senior unsecured debt to “B3” from “Caal”, and our preferred stock to “Caa2” from “Ca”. We have prepared financial projections for 2002, which indicate we will continue to remain
compliant with our debt covenants. In addition, we continue to pursue additional asset sales and contract awards. Based upon these additional factors, we have begun pursuing alternatives to
refinance the Senior Bank Credit Facility scheduled to mature December 31, 2002.

We believe that we will be able to complete a refinancing of our Senior Bank Credit Facility during the first half of 2002 through senior secured bank debt or through a combination of senior
secured bank debt and senior unsecured debt even without the sale of additional assets or the BOP contract award. The combination and amount of short-term bank debt and senior unsecured debt
with longer term maturities, however, will be somewhat dependent upon market conditions and the outcome of our discussions with the BOP regarding a potential sale of our Northeast Ohio
Correctional Center, as well as the potential award of CAR II. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to meet our financial projections for 2002, sell additional assets, obtain a new
contract from the BOP or complete a refinancing of our Senior Bank Credit Facility prior to its maturity on December 31, 2002, on commercially reasonable or any other terms. Unsuccessful
attempts to refinance the Senior Bank Credit Facility, or events of default which result in the acceleration of all or a portion of our outstanding debt, would have a material adverse effect on our
liquidity and financial position. We do not have sufficient working capital resources to satisfy our debt obligations in the event we cannot complete a refinancing prior to December 31, 2002.

We believe that we are currently in compliance with the terms of the covenants on all of our indebtedness. Further, we believe our operating plans and related projections are achievable and will
allow us to remain in compliance with our debt covenants during 2002. However, there can be no assurance that the cash flow projections will reflect actual results, and there can be no assurance
that we will remain in compliance with our debt covenants or that, if we default under any of our debt covenants, we will be able to obtain waivers or amendments.

Due to certain cross-default provisions contained in certain of our debt instruments, if we were to be in default under the Senior Bank Credit Facility and if the lenders under the Senior Bank
Credit Facility elected to exercise their rights to accelerate our obligations under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, such events could result in the acceleration of all or a portion of the outstanding

principal amount of our $100.0 million senior notes and our aggregate $70.0 million convertible subordinated

72




Table of Contents

notes, which would have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial position. Additionally, under our $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes, even if the lenders under the Senior
Bank Credit Facility did not elect to exercise their acceleration rights, the holders of the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes could require us to repurchase such notes upon a default under
the Senior Bank Credit Facility permitting acceleration. We do not have sufficient working capital to satisfy our debt obligations in the event of an acceleration of all or a substantial portion of our
outstanding indebtedness.

Operating Activities

Our net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2001, was $92.8 million. This amount represents net income for the year plus depreciation and amortization, changes
in various components of working capital and adjustments for various non-cash charges, including primarily the change in fair value of the interest rate swap agreement. During 2001, we received
significant tax refunds of approximately $32.2 million, contributing to the net cash provided by operating activities. These refunds, however, were partially offset by the payment of $15.0 million
during August 2001 for a full settlement of all claims in a dispute regarding the termination of a securities purchase agreement in 2000 related to our proposed corporate restructuring led by the
Fortress/Blackstone investment group.

Investing Activities

Our cash flow provided by investing activities was $130.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, and was primarily attributable to the proceeds received from the sales of the Mountain
View Correctional Facility on March 16, 2001, our interest in the Agecroft facility on April 10, 2001, the Pamlico Correctional Facility, on June 28, 2001, and the Southern Nevada Women’s
Correctional Center on October 3, 2001.

Financing Activities

Our cash flow used in financing activities was $198.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Net payments on debt totaled $189.0 million and primarily represents the net cash proceeds
received from the sale of the Mountain View Correctional Facility, our interest in the Agecroft facility, the Pamlico Correctional Facility, and the Southern Nevada Women’s Correctional Center
that were immediately applied to amounts outstanding under the Senior Bank Credit Facility. In addition, during June we paid-down a lump sum of $35.0 million on the Senior Bank Credit
Facility with cash on hand.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

A substantial portion of our revenue during 2000 was derived from: (i) rents received under triple net leases of correctional and detention facilities, including the leases with Operating Company,
referred to herein as the Operating Company leases; (ii) dividends from investments in the non-voting stock of certain subsidiaries; (iii) interest income on a $137.0 million promissory note
payable to us from Operating Company, referred to herein as the Operating Company note; and (iv) license fees earned under the terms of a trade name use agreement with Operating Company.
Operating Company leased 37 of our 46 operating properties pursuant to the Operating Company leases. We, therefore, were dependent for our rental revenue upon Operating Company’s ability to
make the lease payments required under the Operating Company leases for such facilities. Operating Company had incurred a net loss of $202.9 million as of December 31, 1999 and had net
working capital deficiencies. As a

73




Table of Contents

result, during 2000, Operating Company was unable to pay the first scheduled interest payment under the terms of the Operating Company note and the scheduled lease payments to us under the
Operating Company leases.

We incurred a net loss of $730.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, used net cash of $46.6 million in operating activities and had a net working capital deficiency of $36.8 million at
December 31, 2000. Included in the $730.8 million net loss for the year ended December 31, 2000, was a $527.9 million non-cash impairment loss associated with the reduction of the carrying
values of certain long lived assets to their estimated fair values in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of”, referred to herein as SFAS 121. Contributing to the net loss and net working capital deficiency was an accrual at December 31, 2000 of $75.4 million
related to the settlement of our stockholder litigation (which would be satisfied through the issuance of 4.7 million shares of common stock, as adjusted for the reverse-stock split in May 2001, and
the issuance of an aggregate $29.0 million note payable due in 2009), strategic investor and merger related charges of $24.2 million, and $11.9 million of amounts written-off under lease
arrangements.

In June 2000, we obtained a waiver and amendment to the Senior Bank Credit Facility and waivers and amendments to our convertible subordinated notes to permit the Operating Company
merger and the amendments to the Operating Company leases and the other contractual arrangements we had with Operating Company. At September 30, 2000, we were not in compliance with
certain applicable financial covenants contained in the Senior Bank Credit Facility, including: (i) debt service coverage ratio; (ii) interest coverage ratio; (iii) leverage ratio; and (iv) net worth. We
subsequently obtained a consent and amendment, effective November 17, 2000, to the Senior Bank Credit Facility thereby avoiding an event of default under the facility.

In an effort to address the liquidity needs of Operating Company prior to the completion of the restructuring, and as permitted by the terms of the June 2000 waiver and amendment, we amended
the terms of our leases with Operating Company in June 2000. As a result of this amendment, lease payments under the Operating Company leases were due and payable on June 30 and
December 31 of each year, instead of monthly. In addition, we agreed to defer, with interest, and with the exception of certain scheduled payments, the first semi-annual rental payment under the
revised terms of the Operating Company leases, due June 30, 2000, until September 30, 2000.

In connection with the amendments to the Operating Company leases, deferring a substantial portion of the rental payments due to us thereunder, the terms of the June 2000 waiver and amendment
also conditioned its effectiveness upon the deferral of our payment of fees to Operating Company which would otherwise be payable pursuant to the terms of certain agreements, including the
amended and restated tenant incentive agreement, the business development agreement, and the amended and restated service agreement, each as further described in Note 6 to the financial
statements.

Immediately prior to the Operating Company merger, we entered into agreements with Operating Company pursuant to which we forgave all unpaid amounts due and payable to us through
August 31, 2000, totaling approximately $226.1 million, relating to the Operating Company leases, the interest due on the unpaid Operating Company leases, and the interest accrued on the

Operating Company note.

As a result of the Operating Company merger, the Operating Company leases, the amended and restated tenant incentive agreement, the business development agreement, and the amended and
restated services agreement were canceled.
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During 2000, we recognized rental income, net of reserves, from Operating Company based on the actual cash payments received. In addition, we continued to record our obligations to Operating
Company under the various agreements discussed above through the effective date of the Operating Company merger.

As of December 31, 2000, our liquidity was provided by cash on hand of approximately $20.9 million and $42.4 million available under the Operating Company revolving credit facility. At
December 31, 2000, borrowings outstanding under the revolving loans of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, which were scheduled to mature January 1, 2002, totaled $382.5 million.

As a result of our financial condition at December 31, 2000, including (i) the revolving loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility maturing January 1, 2002; (ii) the requirement under a consent
and amendment to the Senior Bank Credit Facility completed in November 2000 to use commercially reasonable efforts to complete any combination of certain transactions, as defined therein,
which together result in net cash proceeds of at least $100.0 million; (iii) our negative working capital position; and (iv) our highly leveraged capital structure, we evaluated our capital structure
and considered various potential transactions that could improve our financial position. During the third quarter of 2000, we named a new president and chief executive officer, followed by a new
chief financial officer in the fourth quarter. At our 2000 annual meeting of stockholders held during the fourth quarter of 2000, the stockholders elected a newly constituted nine-member board of
directors, including six independent directors.

Following the completion of the Operating Company merger and the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI during the fourth quarter of 2000, our new management conducted strategic assessments;
developed a strategic operating plan to improve our financial position; developed revised projections for 2001; and evaluated the utilization of existing facilities, projects under development,
excess land parcels, and identified certain of these non-strategic assets for sale. As a result of these assessments, we recorded non-cash impairment losses totaling $508.7 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, we obtained a consent and amendment to our Senior Bank Credit Facility to replace existing financial covenants. During the first quarter of 2001, we also
obtained amendments to the Senior Bank Credit Facility to modify the financial covenants to take into consideration any loss of EBITDA that may result from certain asset dispositions during
2001 and subsequent periods and to permit the issuance of indebtedness in partial satisfaction of our obligations in the stockholder litigation settlement. Also, during the first quarter of 2001, we
amended the provisions to the note purchase agreement governing our $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes to replace previously existing financial covenants in order to remove existing
defaults and attempt to remain in compliance during 2001 and subsequent periods.

Operating Activities

Our net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2000, was $46.6 million, and represented the net loss for the year plus depreciation and amortization, changes in various
components of working capital and adjustments for various non-cash charges, including primarily impairment losses and the write-off of amounts under lease arrangements, included in the
statement of operations.

Investing Activities

Our cash flow used in investing activities was $38.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Additions to property and equipment totaling $78.7 million in 2000 were primarily related to
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expenditures associated with two, 1,524 bed medium security prisons under construction in Georgia. These uses of cash were partially offset by the reduction of restricted cash that had been used
as collateral for an irrevocable letter of credit issued in connection with the construction of a facility. In addition, in connection with the Operating Company merger and the acquisitions of PMSI
and JJFMSI, we acquired approximately $6.9 million in cash.

Financing Activities

Our cash flow used in financing activities was $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Net proceeds from the issuance of debt totaled $29.1 million and was used primarily to fund
additions to property and equipment and working capital needs, partially offset by $11.3 million used to pay debt issuance costs.

On March 22, 2000, our board of directors declared a quarterly dividend on our Series A Preferred Stock of $0.50 per share to preferred stockholders of record on March 31, 2000. These dividends
totaling $2.2 million were paid on April 17, 2000. During the first quarter of 2000, we also paid the accrued distributions as of December 31, 1999, on the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock,
totaling $2.2 million.

The combined and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2000 includes certain transactions by PMSI and JJEMSI prior to their acquisition on December 1, 2000.
In September 2000, a wholly-owned subsidiary of PMSI purchased 85% of the outstanding voting common stock of PMSI for total cash consideration of $8.3 million. Also in September 2000, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of JJFMSI purchased 85% of the outstanding common stock of JJEMSI for total cash consideration of $5.1 million. These transactions are included in “Purchase of
treasury stock” in the combined and consolidated statement of cash flows for 2000.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

As previously discussed, we do not believe the comparison between the results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 are meaningful. Please refer to the discussion
under the overview of the Company for further information on the lack of comparability of the results of operations between the years.

Year Ended December 31, 2001

We generated net income available to common stockholders of $5.7 million, or $0.20 per diluted share for the year ended December 31, 2001. Contributing to the net income was a non-cash gain
of $25.6 million related to the extinguishment of the promissory note issued in connection with our federal stockholder litigation settlement. Results also included the non-cash effect of an

$11.1 million charge associated with the accounting for interest rate swap agreements into which we were required to enter under prior terms of the Senior Bank Credit Facility.

Facility Operations

A key performance indicator we use to measure the revenue and expenses associated with the operation of the facilities we own or manage is expressed in terms of a compensated man-day, and
represents the revenue we generate and expenses we incur for one inmate for one calendar day. During 2001, we generated $48.35 in revenue per compensated man-day, and incurred $37.20 in

operating expenses per compensated man-day, resulting in an operating margin of 23.1%.
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The operation of the facilities we own carries a higher degree of risk associated with a management contract than the operation of the facilities we manage but do not own because we incur
significant capital expenditures to construct or acquire facilities we own. Additionally, correctional and detention facilities have a limited or no alternative use. Therefore, if a management contract
is terminated on a facility we own, we continue to incur certain operating expenses, such as real estate taxes, utilities, and insurance, that we would not incur if a management contract were
terminated for a managed-only facility. As a result, revenue per compensated man-day is typically higher for facilities we own and manage than for managed-only facilities. Revenue per
compensated man-day for the facilities we own and manage was $53.63 for 2001. Revenue per compensated man-day for the managed-only facilities was $40.94 for 2001. Because we incur
higher expenses such as repairs and maintenance, real estate taxes, and insurance on the facilities we own and manage, our cost structure for facilities we own and manage is also higher than the
cost structure for the managed-only facilities. Operating expense per compensated man-day for the facilities we own and manage was $40.20 for 2001. Operating expense per compensated man-
day for the managed-only facilities was $33.01 for 2001. Operating margins, therefore, for owned and managed facilities and managed-only facilities were 25.0% and 19.4%, respectively.

Management and other revenue. Management and other revenue consists of revenue earned from the operation and management of adult and juvenile correctional and detention facilities we own
or manage, which, for the year ended December 31, 2001, totaled $974.4 million. Occupancy for the facilities we operate was 88.5% for the year ended December 31, 2001, including 82.6% for
facilities we own and manage, and 98.2% for our managed-only facilities.

During the first quarter of 2001, the State of Georgia began filling two of our facilities that had been expanded during 2000 to accommodate an additional 524 beds at each facility, contributing to
an increase in management and other revenue at these facilities.

During the second quarter of 2001, we were informed that our current contract with the District of Columbia to house its inmates at the Northeast Ohio Correctional Center, which expired
September 8, 2001, would not be renewed due to a new law that mandated the BOP to assume jurisdiction of all District of Columbia offenders by the end of 2001. The Northeast Ohio
Correctional Center is a 2,016-bed medium-security prison. The District of Columbia began transferring inmates out of the facility during the second quarter, and completed the process in July.
Accordingly, substantially all employees at the facility have been terminated. Total management and other revenue at this facility was approximately $6.4 million during 2001. The related
operating expenses at this facility were $12.6 million during 2001. Overall, our occupancy decreased by approximately 1,300 inmates at our facilities as a result of this mandate. We have engaged
in discussions with the BOP regarding a sale of the Northeast Ohio Correctional Center to the BOP, and are also pursuing agreements to reopen the facility; however, there can be no assurance that
we will be able to reach agreements on a sale or to reopen this facility.

During the third quarter of 2001, due to a short-term decline in the State of Wisconsin’s inmate population, the State transferred approximately 700 inmates out of our Whiteville Correctional
Facility, located in Whiteville, Tennessee, to the State’s correctional system. Therefore, management and other revenue declined at this facility during 2001. We are currently pursuing a contract

with the State of Tennessee to replace the vacancy from these inmates, although we can provide no assurance that we will be successful in this pursuit.

In late 2001 and early 2002, we were provided notice from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico of its intention to terminate the management contracts at the Ponce Young Adult Correctional
Facility and the Ponce Adult Correctional Facility, located in Ponce, Puerto Rico, upon the expiration of the
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management contracts in February 2002. Although we continue to negotiate with respect to the continued operation of these facilities, we have begun a transition period to transfer operation of the
facilities to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. We can provide no assurance that we will continue our operation of these facilities. During 2001, these facilities generated total revenue of

$22.6 million and total operating expenses of $19.3 million. The termination of the Ponce Adult Correctional Facility management contract would result in a non-cash charge of approximately
$1.9 million for the write-off of the carrying value of assets associated with this management contract. We have recently signed an extension of our management contract with the Commonwealth
of Puerto Rico for the operation of the Guayama Correctional Center located in Guayama, Puerto Rico, through December 2006. However, the management contract is terminable at any time
without cause by the Commonwealth.

We have responded to a proposal from the BOP for the placement of up to 1,500 inmates under the BOP’s CAR 1II proposal. We have earmarked our McRae Correctional Facility located in
McRae, Georgia, which has a design capacity of 1,524 beds, for this opportunity. The BOP has identified this facility as one of two “preferred alternative” sites to house inmates under CAR 1II. If
we are successful in securing a contract under CAR II, management and other revenue would increase at this facility upon commencement of the contract. However, start-up expenses expected to
be incurred prior to the commencement of the contract, including but not limited to, salaries, utilities, medical and food supplies and clothing, would result in additional operating expenses before
any revenue is generated, resulting in a reduction in net income in the short-term. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in securing CAR II, which is expected to be awarded during
the first half of 2002.

Operating expenses. Operating expenses totaled $753.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Operating expenses consist of those expenses incurred in the operation and management of
correctional and detention facilities and other correctional facilities.

Salaries and benefits represent the most significant component of operating expenses. During 2001, we incurred wage increases due to tight labor markets, particularly for correctional officers.
However, as the unemployment rate has increased, we have seen an increase in the availability of potential employees, providing some moderation to the trend of increasing salary requirements.
Nonetheless, the market for correctional officers has remained challenging. In addition, ten of our facilities have contracts with the federal government requiring that our wage and benefit rates
comply with wage determination rates set forth, and as adjusted from time to time, under the Service Contract Act of the U.S. Department of Labor. Our contracts generally provide for
reimbursement of a portion of the increased costs resulting from wage determinations in the form of increased per-diems, thereby mitigating the effect of increased salaries and benefits expenses at
those facilities. We may also be subject to adverse claims, or government audits, relating to alleged violations of wage and hour laws applicable to us, which may result in adjustments to amounts
previously paid as wages and, potentially interest and/or monetary penalties.

We also experienced a trend of increasing insurance expense during 2001. Because we are significantly self-insured for employee health, workers’ compensation, and automobile liability
insurance, our insurance expense is dependent on claims experience and our ability to control our claims experience. Our insurance policies contain various deductibles and stop-loss amounts
intended to limit our exposure for individually significant occurrences. However, the nature of our self-insurance policies provides little protection for a deterioration in claims experience in
general. We continue to incur increasing insurance expense due to adverse claims experience. We are developing a strategy to improve the management of our future loss claims but can provide no
assurance that this strategy will be successful. Additionally, general liability insurance costs have
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risen substantially since the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001. Unanticipated additional insurance expenses resulting from adverse claims experience or a continued increasing cost
environment for general liability insurance could result in increasing expenses in the future.

We were able to achieve reductions in food expenses during 2001 through the renegotiation of food service contracts. In addition, despite increasing medical costs nationwide, we were able to
achieve a modest reduction in medical expenses. We can provide no assurance, however, that we will continue to achieve further expense reductions, or that we will not experience an increase in
such expenses in the future.

Rental revenue

Rental revenue was $6.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, and was generated from leasing correctional and detention facilities to governmental agencies and other private operators.
On March 16, 2001, we sold the Mountain View Correctional Facility, and on June 28, 2001, we sold the Pamlico Correctional Facility, two facilities that had been leased to governmental
agencies. Therefore, no further rental revenue will be received for these facilities. For the year ended December 31, 2001, rental revenue for these facilities totaled $2.0 million.

General and administrative expense

For the year ended December 31, 2001, general and administrative expenses totaled $34.6 million. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of corporate management salaries and
benefits, professional fees and other administrative expenses.

Depreciation and amortization

For the year ended December 31, 2001, depreciation and amortization expense totaled $54.1 million. Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2001 includes approximately

$7.6 million for goodwill that was established in connection with the acquisitions of Operating Company on October 1, 2000 and the service companies on December 1, 2000. Goodwill will no
longer be subject to amortization effective January 1, 2002, in accordance with a new accounting pronouncement, as further discussed under “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” herein.
Amortization expense during the year ended December 31, 2001 is also net of a reduction to amortization expense of $9.1 million for the amortization of a liability relating to contract values
established in connection with the mergers completed in 2000. Due to certain of these liabilities becoming fully amortized during 2001, we currently expect the corresponding amortization
reduction to decrease during 2002.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net, is reported net of interest income for the year ended December 31, 2001. Gross interest expense was $133.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Gross interest
expense is based on outstanding convertible subordinated notes payable balances, borrowings under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, the Operating Company revolving credit facility, our

$100.0 million senior notes, net settlements on interest rate swaps, and amortization of loan costs and unused facility fees. The decrease in gross interest expense from the prior year is primarily
attributable to declining interest rates and lower amounts outstanding under the Senior Bank Credit Facility. Based on our credit rating, from January 1, 2001 through September 30, 2001, the
interest rate applicable to the Senior Bank Credit Facility was 2.75% over the base rate and 4.25% over the London Interbank Offering Rate, or LIBOR, for revolving loans, and 3.0% over the base
rate and 4.5% over LIBOR for
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term loans. These rates increased 50 basis points (0.50%) on October 1, 2001 since, under terms of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, we had not prepaid an aggregate of $200.0 million of the
outstanding loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility.

On December 7, 2001, pursuant to terms of the December 2001 amendment and restatement, the interest rate for all loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility was adjusted to a variable rate of
5.5% over LIBOR, or 4.5% over the base rate, at our option, through June 30, 2002, subject to an increase of 1.0% on July 1, 2002.

Gross interest income was $8.1 million for year ended December 31, 2001. Gross interest income is earned on cash used to collateralize letters of credit for certain construction projects, direct
financing leases, notes receivable and investments of cash and cash equivalents. On October 3, 2001, we sold our Southern Nevada Women’s Correctional Facility, which had been accounted for
as a direct financing lease. Therefore, no further interest income will be received on this lease. For the year ended December 31, 2001, interest income for this lease totaled $0.9 million.
Subsequent to the sale, we continue to manage the facility pursuant to a contract with the State of Nevada.

Change in fair value of derivative instruments

As of December 31, 2001, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” referred to herein as SFAS
133, as amended, we have reflected in earnings the change in the estimated fair value of our interest rate swap agreement during the year ended December 31, 2001. We estimate the fair value of
interest rate swap agreement using option-pricing models that value the potential for interest rate swap agreements to become in-the-money through changes in interest rates during the remaining
terms of the agreements. A negative fair value represents the estimated amount we would have to pay to cancel the contract or transfer it to other parties.

Our swap agreement fixes LIBOR at 6.51% (prior to the applicable spread) on outstanding balances of at least $325.0 million through December 31, 2002. As of December 31, 2001, due to a
reduction in interest rates since entering into the swap agreement, the interest rate swap agreement has a negative fair value of approximately $13.6 million. This negative fair value consists of a
transition adjustment of $5.0 million for the reduction in the fair value of the interest rate swap agreement from its inception through the adoption of SFAS 133 on January 1, 2001, and a reduction
in the fair value of the swap agreement of $8.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2001. In accordance with SFAS 133, we have recorded an $11.1 million non-cash charge for the change
in fair value of the swap agreement for the year ended December 31, 2001, which includes $2.5 million for amortization of the transition adjustment. The transition adjustment represents the fair
value of the swap agreement as of January 1, 2001, which has been reflected as a cumulative effect of accounting change included in other comprehensive income in the accompanying statement
of stockholders’ equity. The unamortized transition adjustment at December 31, 2001 of $2.5 million is expected to be included in earnings as a non-cash charge, along with a corresponding
increase to stockholders’ equity through accumulated comprehensive income, over the remaining term of the swap agreement. The non-cash charge of $11.1 million for the year ended

December 31, 2001, is expected to reverse into earnings through increases in the fair value of the swap agreement, prior to the maturity of the swap agreement on December 31, 2002, unless the
swap is terminated in conjunction with a refinancing of the Senior Bank Credit Facility. However, for each quarterly period prior to the maturity of the swap agreement, we will continue to adjust
the swap agreement to its estimated fair value potentially resulting in additional non-cash charges or gains.
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Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2001, a $26.1 million promissory note was issued in connection with the final settlement of the federal court portion of the stockholder litigation
settlement. Under terms of the promissory note, the note and accrued interest became extinguished in January 2002 once the average closing price of the common stock met or exceeded a
“termination price” equal to $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive trading days following the issuance of such note. The terms of the note, which allow the principal balance to fluctuate
dependent on the trading price of our common stock, create a derivative instrument that must be valued and accounted for under the provisions of SFAS 133. As a result of this extinguishment, we
estimated the fair value of this derivative to approximate the face amount of the note, resulting in an asset being recorded in the fourth quarter of 2001. The derivative asset offsets the face amount
of the note in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001.

The state court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement has not yet been completed; however, the settlement is expected to result in the issuance of 0.3 million additional shares of common
stock and a $2.9 million subordinated promissory note, which may also be extinguished if the average closing price of the common stock meets or exceeds $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive
trading days following the issuance of such note and prior to its maturity in 2009. The estimated liability is included in accrued expenses at December 31, 2001. Since we have reflected the
maximum obligation of the contingency associated with the state court portion of the stockholder litigation in the balance sheet as of December 31, 2001, the issuance of the note is currently
expected to have a favorable impact on our financial position and results of operations initially; thereafter, the financial statement impact will fluctuate based on changes in our stock price.
However, the impact cannot be determined until the promissory note is issued and an estimated fair value of the derivative included in the promissory note is determined.

Income tax expense

We incurred approximately $1.1 million of income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2001, primarily consisting of taxes associated with our operations in Puerto Rico, partially offset
by an income tax benefit for the reduction in our deferred tax liabilities.

As of December 31, 2001, our deferred tax assets totaled approximately $150.5 million. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Realization of the future tax benefits related to deferred tax assets is dependent on many
factors, including our ability to generate taxable income within the net operating loss carryforward period. Since the change in tax status in connection with the restructuring in 2000, and as of
December 31, 2001, we have provided a valuation allowance to reserve the deferred tax assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes”. The valuation allowance was recognized based on the weight of available evidence indicating that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would not be realized. This
evidence primarily consisted of, but was not limited to, recurring operating losses for federal tax purposes.

Our assessment of the valuation allowance could change in the future. Removal of the valuation allowance in whole or in part would result in a non-cash reduction in income tax expense during
the period of removal. To the extent no reserve is established for our deferred tax assets, our financial statements would reflect a provision for income taxes at the applicable federal and state tax

rates on income before taxes.

On March 9, 2002, the “Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002” was signed into law. Among other changes, the law extends the net operating loss carryback period to five years from
two
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years for net operating losses arising in tax years ending in 2001 and 2002, and allows use of net operating loss carrybacks and carryforwards to offset 100% of the alternative minimum taxable
income. We experienced net operating losses during 2001 resulting primarily from the sale of assets at prices below the tax basis of such assets. Under terms of the new law, we will be able to
utilize our net operating losses to offset taxable income generated in 1997 and 1996. As a result of this tax law change in 2002, we will be due an income tax refund of approximately

$30.0 million, which will be reflected as an income tax benefit during the first quarter of 2002.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1999
Management revenue

Management revenue consisted of revenue earned from the operation and management of adult and juvenile correctional and detention facilities for the year ended December 31, 2000, totaling
$182.5 million, which, beginning as of October 1, 2000 and December 1, 2000, included management revenue previously earned by Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI, respectively. Also
included was the management revenue earned by PMSI and JJFMSI from the operation and management of adult prisons and jails and juvenile detention facilities on a combined basis for the
period September 1, 2000 through November 30, 2000, totaling $79.3 million. As a REIT, we had no management revenue in 1999.

Rental revenue

Net rental revenue was $40.9 million and $270.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and was generated from leasing correctional and detention facilities to
Operating Company, governmental agencies and other private operators. For the year ended December 31, 2000, we reserved $213.3 million of the $244.3 million of gross rental revenue due from
Operating Company through September 30, 2000 due to the uncertainty regarding the collectibility of the payments. During September 2000, we forgave all unpaid rental payments due from
Operating Company as of August 31, 2000 (totaling $190.8 million). The forgiveness did not impact our financial statements at that time as the amounts forgiven had been previously reserved.
The remaining $22.5 million in unpaid rentals from Operating Company was fully reserved in September 2000. The Operating Company leases were cancelled in the Operating Company merger.

For the year ended December 31, 1999, rental revenue was $270.1 million and was generated primarily from leasing correctional and detention facilities to Operating Company, as well as
governmental and private operators. During 1999, we began leasing five new facilities in addition to the 37 facilities leased at the beginning of the year. We recorded no reserves for the year ended
December 31, 1999, as all rental revenue was collected from lessees, including Operating Company.

Licensing fees from dffiliates

Licensing fees from affiliates were $7.6 million and $8.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Licensing fees were earned as a result of a trade name use
agreement between us and Operating Company, which granted Operating Company the right to use the name “Corrections Corporation of America” and derivatives thereof subject to specified
terms and conditions therein. The licensing fee was based upon gross rental revenue of Operating Company, subject to a limitation based on our gross revenue. All licensing fees were collected
from Operating Company. The decrease in licensing fees in 2000 compared with 1999 was due to the cancellation of the trade name use agreement in connection with the Operating Company
merger.
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Operating expenses

Operating expenses included the operating expenses of PMSI and JJFMSI on a combined basis for the period September 1, 2000 through November 30, 2000, totaling $64.5 million. Also included
were the operating expenses we incurred for the year ended December 31, 2000, totaling $152.8 million, which, beginning as of October 1, 2000 and December 1, 2000, included the operating
expenses incurred by Operating Company and the service companies, respectively. Operating expenses consisted of those expenses incurred in the operation and management of prisons and other
correctional facilities. Also included in operating expenses were our realized losses on foreign currency transactions of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. These losses resulted
from a detrimental fluctuation in the foreign currency exchange rate upon the collection of certain receivables denominated in British pounds. See “Unrealized foreign currency transaction loss”
for further discussion of these receivables.

General and administrative expense

For the year ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, general and administrative expenses were $45.5 million and $24.1 million, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 1999, we entered into a
series of agreements concerning a proposed restructuring led by a group of institutional investors consisting of an affiliate of Fortress Investment Group LLC and affiliates of The Blackstone
Group. In April 2000, the securities purchase agreement by and among the parties was terminated when Fortress/Blackstone elected not to match the terms of a subsequent proposal by Pacific Life
Insurance Company. In June 2000, our securities purchase agreement with Pacific Life was mutually terminated by the parties after Pacific Life was unwilling to confirm that the June 2000 waiver
and amendment to our Senior Bank Credit Facility satisfied the terms of the agreement with Pacific Life. In connection with the proposed restructuring transactions with Fortress/Blackstone and
Pacific Life and the completion of the restructuring, including the Operating Company merger, we terminated the services of one of our financial advisors during the third quarter of 2000. For the
year ended December 31, 2000, we accrued expenses of approximately $24.3 million in connection with existing and potential litigation associated with the termination of the aforementioned
agreements. All disputes with these parties have since been settled.

General and administrative expenses incurred by PMSI and JJFMSI on a combined basis for the period September 1, 2000 through November 30, 2000 totaled $0.6 million. Additional general and
administrative expenses incurred for the year ended December 31, 2000 totaled $20.6 million, which, beginning as of October 1, 2000 and December 1, 2000, included the general and
administrative expenses incurred by Operating Company and the service companies, respectively. These additional general and administrative expenses consisted primarily of corporate
management salaries and benefits, professional fees and other administrative expenses. Effective October 1, 2000, as a result of the Operating Company merger, corporate management salaries and
benefits also contained the former corporate employees of Operating Company. Also included in these additional general and administrative expenses were $2.0 million in severance payments to
our former chief executive officer and secretary and $1.3 million in severance payments to various other company employees.

During 1999, we were a party to various litigation matters, including stockholder litigation and other legal matters, some of which have been settled. We incurred legal expenses of $6.3 million

during 1999 in relation to these matters. Also included in 1999 was $3.9 million of expenses incurred for consulting and legal advisory services in connection with the proposed restructuring. In
addition, as a result of our failure to declare, prior to December 31, 1999, and the failure to distribute, prior to January 31, 2000, dividends sufficient to distribute 95% of our taxable income for

1999, we were subject to excise taxes, of which $7.1 million was accrued as of December 31, 1999.
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Depreciation and amortization

For the year ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, depreciation and amortization expense was $59.8 million and $44.1 million, respectively. The increase was a result of a greater number of
correctional and detention facilities in service during 2000 compared with 1999. Also included was the depreciation and amortization expense for PMSI and JJFMSI from the operation and
management of adult prisons and jails and juvenile detention facilities on a combined basis for the period September 1, 2000 through November 30, 2000, totaling $3.9 million.

License fees to Operating Company

Licensing fees to Operating Company were recognized under the terms of a trade name use agreement between Operating Company and each of PMSI and JJFMSI, which were assumed as a result
of the Operating Company merger. Under the terms of the trade name use agreement, PMSI and JJFMSI were required to pay to Operating Company 2.0% of gross management revenue for the
use of the CCA name and derivatives thereof. PMSI and JJFMSI incurred expenses of $0.5 million under this agreement for the month of September 2000. The October and November expenses
incurred under this agreement were eliminated in combination, subsequent to the Operating Company merger. The trade name use agreement was cancelled upon the acquisitions of PMSI and
JJFMSIL.

Administrative services fee to Operating Company

Operating Company and each of PMSI and JJFMSI entered into an administrative services agreement whereby Operating Company would charge a fee to manage and provide general and
administrative services to each of PMSI and JJFMSI. We assumed this agreement as a result of the Operating Company merger. PMSI and JJFMSI recognized expense of $0.9 million under this
agreement for the month of September 2000. The October and November expenses incurred under this agreement were eliminated in combination, subsequent to the Operating Company merger.
The administrative services agreement was cancelled upon the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI.

Write-off of amounts under lease arrangements

During 2000, we opened or expanded five facilities that were operated and leased by Operating Company prior to the Operating Company merger. Based on Operating Company’s financial
condition, as well as the proposed merger with Operating Company and the proposed termination of the Operating Company leases in connection therewith, we wrote-off the accrued tenant
incentive fees due Operating Company in connection with opening or expanding the five facilities, totaling $11.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

For the year ended December 1999, we paid tenant incentive fees of $68.6 million, with $2.9 million of those fees amortized against rental revenues. During the fourth quarter of 1999, we
undertook a plan that contemplated merging with Operating Company and thereby eliminating the Operating Company leases or amending the Operating Company leases to significantly reduce
the lease payments to be paid by Operating Company to us. Consequently, we determined that remaining deferred tenant incentive fees at December 31, 1999 were not realizable and wrote-off fees
totaling $65.7 million.
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Impairment losses

SFAS 121 requires impairment losses to be recognized for long-lived assets used in operations when indications of impairment are present and the estimate of undiscounted future cash flows is not
sufficient to recover asset carrying amounts. Under terms of the June 2000 waiver and amendment to our Senior Bank Credit Facility, we were obligated to complete the restructuring, including
the Operating Company merger, and complete the restructuring of management through the appointment of a new chief executive officer and a new chief financial officer. The restructuring also
permitted the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI. During the third quarter of 2000, we named a new president and chief executive officer, followed by the appointment of a new chief financial
officer during the fourth quarter of 2000. At our 2000 annual meeting of stockholders held during the fourth quarter of 2000, our stockholders elected a newly constituted nine-member board of
directors, including six independent directors.

Following the completion of the Operating Company merger and the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI, during the fourth quarter of 2000, after considering our financial condition, our new
management developed a strategic operating plan to improve our financial position, and developed revised projections for 2001 to evaluate various potential transactions. Management also
conducted strategic assessments and evaluated our assets for impairment. Further, management evaluated the utilization of existing facilities, projects under development, excess land parcels, and
identified certain of these non-strategic assets for sale.

In accordance with SFAS 121, we estimated the undiscounted net cash flows for each of our properties and compared the sum of those undiscounted net cash flows to our investment in each
property. Through this analyses, we determined that eight of our correctional and detention facilities and the long-lived assets of the transportation business had been impaired. For these properties,
we reduced the carrying values of the underlying assets to their estimated fair values, as determined based on anticipated future cash flows discounted at rates commensurate with the risks
involved. The resulting impairment loss totaled $420.5 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, as part of the strategic assessment, we committed to a plan of disposal for certain of our long-lived assets. In accordance with SFAS 121, we recorded losses on
these assets based on the difference between the carrying value and the estimated net realizable value of the assets. We estimated the net realizable values of certain facilities and direct financing
leases held for sale based on outstanding offers to purchase, appraisals, as well as utilizing various financial models, including discounted cash flow analyses, less estimated costs to sell each asset.
The resulting impairment loss for these assets totaled $86.1 million.

Included in property and equipment were costs associated with the development of potential facilities. Based on our strategic assessment during the fourth quarter of 2000, management decided to
abandon further development of these projects and expense any amounts previously capitalized. The resulting expense totaled $2.1 million.

During the third quarter of 2000, our management determined either not to pursue further development or to reconsider the use of certain parcels of property in California, Maryland and the
District of Columbia. Accordingly, we reduced the carrying values of the land to their estimated net realizable value, resulting in an impairment loss totaling $19.2 million.

In December 1999, based on the poor financial position of Operating Company, we determined that three of our correctional and detention facilities located in the State of Kentucky and leased to
Operating Company were impaired. In accordance with SFAS 121, we reduced the carrying values
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of the underlying assets to their estimated fair values, as determined based on anticipated future cash flows discounted at rates commensurate with the risks involved. The resulting impairment loss
totaled $76.4 million.

Equity in earnings and amortization of deferred gains, net

For the year ended December 31, 2000, equity in losses and amortization of deferred gains, net, was $11.6 million, compared with equity in earnings and amortization of deferred gains, net, of
$3.6 million in 1999. For the year ended December 31, 2000, we recognized equity in losses of PMSI and JJFMSI of approximately $12,000 and $870,000, respectively through August 31, 2000.
In addition, we recognized equity in losses of Operating Company of approximately $20.6 million. For 2000, the amortization of the deferred gain on the sales of contracts to PMSI and JJFMSI
was approximately $6.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 1999, we recognized twelve months of equity in earnings of PMSI and JJFMSI of $4.7 million and $7.5 million, respectively, and received distributions from
PMSI and JJFMSI of $11.0 million and $10.6 million, respectively. In addition, we recognized equity in losses of Operating Company of $19.3 million. For 1999, the amortization of the deferred
gain on the sales of contracts to PMSI and JJFMSI was $7.1 million and $3.6 million, respectively.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net, was reported net of interest income and capitalized interest for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999. Gross interest expense was $145.0 million and $51.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Gross interest expense was based on outstanding convertible subordinated notes payable balances, borrowings under the Senior Bank
Credit Facility, the Operating Company revolving credit facility, our $100.0 million senior notes, and amortization of loan costs and unused facility fees. Interest expense was reported net of
capitalized interest on construction in progress of $8.3 million and $37.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The increase in gross interest expense related to:
(i) higher average debt balances outstanding, primarily related to the Senior Bank Credit Facility; (ii) increased interest rates due to rising market rates, and increases in contractual rates associated
with the Senior Bank Credit Facility due to modifications to the facility agreement in August 1999, the June 2000 waiver and amendment and reductions to our credit rating; (iii) increased interest
rates due to the accrual of default interest on the Senior Bank Credit Facility and default and contingent interest on the $40 million convertible notes during 2000; and (iv) the assumption of the
Operating Company revolving credit facility.

Gross interest income was $13.5 million and $6.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Gross interest income was earned on cash used to collateralize letters of
credit for certain construction projects, direct financing leases and investments of cash and cash equivalents.

The increase in gross interest income in 2000 compared with 1999 was primarily due to interest earned on the direct financing lease with Agecroft Prison Management, Ltd., or APM. During
January 2000, we completed construction, at a cost of approximately $89.4 million, of an 800-bed medium-security prison in Salford, England and entered into a 25-year direct financing lease

with APM. This asset was included in “assets held for sale” on the combined and consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2000. On April 10, 2001, we sold our interest in this facility.
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Other income

Other income for the year ended December 31, 2000 totaled $3.1 million. In September 2000, we received approximately $4.5 million in final settlement of amounts held in escrow related to the
1998 acquisition of the outstanding capital stock of U.S. Corrections Corporation. The $3.1 million represented the proceeds, net of miscellaneous receivables arising from claims against the
€SCIOw.

Loss on sales of assets

We incurred a loss on sales of assets during 2000 and 1999, of approximately $1.7 million and $2.0 million, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2000, JJFMSI sold its 50% interest in CCA
Australia resulting in a $3.6 million loss. This loss was offset by a gain of $0.6 million resulting from the sale of a correctional facility located in Kentucky, a gain of $1.6 million on the sale of
JJFMSI’s 50% interest in U.K. Detention Services Limited and a loss of $0.3 million resulting from the abandonment of a project under development.

For the year ended December 31, 1999, we incurred a loss of $1.6 million as a result of a settlement with the State of South Carolina for property previously owned by Old CCA. Under the
settlement, we, as the successor to Old CCA, received $6.5 million in three installments expiring June 30, 2001 for the transferred assets. The net proceeds were approximately $1.6 million less
than the surrendered assets” depreciated book value. We received $3.5 million of the proceeds during 1999 and $1.5 million during each of 2000 and 2001. In addition, we incurred a loss of
$0.4 million resulting from a sale of a newly constructed facility in Florida. We completed construction on the facility in May 1999. In accordance with the terms of the management contract
between Old CCA and Polk County, Florida, Polk County exercised an option to purchase the facility. We received net proceeds of $40.5 million.

Unrealized foreign currency transaction loss

In connection with the construction and development of the Agecroft facility, located in Salford, England, during the first quarter of 2000, we entered into a 25-year property lease. We have been
accounting for the lease as a direct financing lease and recorded a receivable equal to the discounted cash flows to be received over the lease term. We also have extended a working capital loan to
the operator of this facility. These assets, along with various other short-term receivables, are denominated in British pounds; consequently, we adjust these receivables to the current exchange rate
at each balance sheet date, and recognize the currency gain or loss in current period earnings. Due to negative fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the British pound and the
U.S. dollar, we recognized net unrealized foreign currency transaction losses of $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. On April 10, 2001 we sold our interest in the Agecroft facility.

Stockholder litigation settlement
In February 2001, we received court approval of the revised terms of the definitive settlement agreements regarding the settlement of all outstanding stockholder litigation against us and certain of
our existing and former directors and executive officers. Pursuant to the terms of the settlement, we agreed to issue to the plaintiffs an aggregate of 4.7 million shares of common stock, as adjusted

for the reverse stock split in May 2001, and a subordinated promissory note in the aggregate principal amount of $29.0 million.
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As of December 31, 2000, we had accrued the estimated obligation of the contingency associated with the stockholder litigation, amounting to approximately $75.4 million.
Write-off of loan costs

As a result of an amendment to the original bank credit facility on August 4, 1999, we wrote-off loan costs of approximately $9.0 million during the year ended December 31, 1999. Additionally,
we paid approximately $5.6 million to a financial advisor for a potential debt transaction, which was written-off when the transaction was abandoned.

Income taxes

Prior to 1999, Old CCA operated as a taxable subchapter C corporation. We elected to change our tax status from a taxable corporation to a real estate investment trust effective with the filing of
our 1999 federal income tax return. As of December 31, 1998, our balance sheet reflected $83.2 million in net deferred tax assets. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 109, we provided a
provision for these deferred tax assets, excluding any estimated tax liabilities required for prior tax periods, upon completion of the 1999 merger and the election to be taxed as a real estate
investment trust. As such, our results of operations reflected a provision for income taxes of $83.2 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. However, due to our tax status as a real estate
investment trust, we recorded no income tax provision or benefit related to operations for the year ended December 31, 1999.

In connection with the restructuring, on September 12, 2000, our stockholders approved an amendment to our charter to remove provisions requiring us to elect to qualify and be taxed as a real
estate investment trust for federal income tax purposes effective January 1, 2000. As a result of the amendment to our charter, we have been taxed as a taxable subchapter C corporation beginning
with our taxable year ended December 31, 2000. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 109, we were required to establish current and deferred tax assets and liabilities in our financial
statements in the period in which a change of tax status occurred. As such, our benefit for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2000 included the provision associated with establishing
the deferred tax assets and liabilities in connection with the change in tax status during the third quarter of 2000, net of a valuation allowance applied to certain deferred tax assets.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, or SFAS 142. SFAS 142 addresses
accounting and reporting standards for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 17, “Intangible Assets”. Under SFAS 142, goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives will no longer be subject to amortization, but instead will be tested for impairment at least annually using a fair-value-based approach. The
impairment loss is the amount, if any, by which the implied fair value of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is less than their carrying amounts and is recognized in earnings.
SFAS 142 also requires companies to disclose information about the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, the carrying amount of intangible assets by major intangible asset class for those
assets subject to amortization and those not subject to amortization, and the estimated intangible asset amortization expense for the next five years. As of December 31, 2001, we had $104.0
million of goodwill reflected on the accompanying balance sheet associated with the Operating Company merger and the acquisitions of the service companies completed during the fourth quarter
of 2000. We do not have any intangible

88




Table of Contents

assets with indefinite useful lives. Amortization of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $7.6 million.

Provisions of SFAS 142 are required to be applied starting with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. Because goodwill and some intangible assets will no longer be amortized, the
reported amounts of goodwill and intangible assets (as well as total assets) will not decrease at the same time and in the same manner as under previous standards. There may be more volatility in
reported income than under previous standards because impairment losses may occur irregularly and in varying amounts. The impairment losses, if any, that arise due to the initial application of
SFAS 142 resulting from a transitional impairment test applied as of January 1, 2002, will be reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the statement of operations.
Although the amount of impairment losses, if any, has not yet been determined, the initial application of SFAS 142 could have a material effect on our financial statements.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” referred to herein as SFAS 144. SFAS
144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets and supersedes Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of” and the accounting and reporting provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the
Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions”, for the disposal of a
segment of a business (as previously defined in that Opinion). SFAS 144 retains the fundamental provisions of SFAS 121 for recognizing and measuring impairment losses on long-lived assets
held for use and long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale, while also resolving significant implementation issues associated with SFAS 121. Unlike SFAS 121, however, an impairment
assessment under SFAS 144 will never result in a write-down of goodwill. Rather, goodwill is evaluated for impairment under SFAS 142. The provisions of SFAS 144 are effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Adoption of SFAS 144 is not expected to have a material impact on our
financial statements.

INFLATION

We do not believe that inflation has had or will have a direct adverse effect on our operations. Many of our management contracts include provisions for inflationary indexing, which mitigates an
adverse impact of inflation on net income. However, a substantial increase in personnel costs, workers’ compensation or food and medical expenses could have an adverse impact on our results of
operations in the future to the extent that these expenses increase at a faster pace than the per diem or fixed rates we receive for our management services.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Our primary market risk exposure is to changes in U.S. interest rates and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the British pound. We are exposed to market
risk related to our Senior Bank Credit Facility and certain other indebtedness. The interest on the Senior Bank Credit Facility and such other indebtedness is subject to fluctuations in the market. If
the interest rate for our outstanding indebtedness under the Senior Bank Credit Facility was 100 basis points higher or lower during the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, our interest
expense, net of amounts capitalized, would have been increased or decreased by approximately $5.5 million and
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$6.0 million, respectively, including the effects of our interest rate swap arrangements discussed below.

As of December 31, 2001, we had outstanding $100.0 million of senior notes with a fixed interest rate of 12.0%, $41.1 million of convertible subordinated notes with a fixed interest rate of 10.0%,
$30.0 million of convertible subordinated notes with a fixed interest rate of 8.0%, $107.5 million of series A preferred stock with a fixed dividend rate of 8.0% and $96.6 million of series B
preferred stock with a fixed dividend rate of 12.0%. Because the interest and dividend rates with respect to these instruments are fixed, a hypothetical 10.0% increase or decrease in market interest
rates would not have a material impact on our financial statements.

The Senior Bank Credit Facility required us to hedge $325.0 million of our floating rate debt on or before August 16, 1999. We have entered into certain swap arrangements fixing LIBOR at
6.51% (prior to the applicable spread) on outstanding balances of at least $325.0 million through December 31, 2002. The difference between the floating rate and the swap rate is recognized in
interest expense. In accordance with SFAS 133, as amended, as of December 31, 2001 we recorded a $13.6 million liability, representing the estimated amount we would have to pay to cancel the
contract or transfer it to other parties. The estimated negative fair value of the swap agreement as of January 1, 2001 of $5.0 million was reflected as a cumulative effect of accounting change
included in other comprehensive income in the statement of stockholders’ equity. The reduction in the fair value of the swap agreement during the year ended December 31, 2001 was charged to
earnings. This decline in fair value is due to declining interest rates and is expected to reverse into earnings prior to the maturity of the swap on December 31, 2002, unless the swap is terminated
in connection with a refinancing of the Senior Bank Credit Facility.

Additionally, we may, from time to time, invest our cash in a variety of short-term financial instruments. These instruments generally consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities at
the date of purchase between three and twelve months. While these investments are subject to interest rate risk and will decline in value if market interest rates increase, a hypothetical 10%
increase or decrease in market interest rates would not materially affect the value of these investments.

Our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk relates to our construction, development and leasing of our Agecroft facility located in Salford, England, which was sold in April 2001. We
extended a working capital loan to the operator of this facility. Such payments to us are denominated in British pounds rather than the U.S. dollar. As a result, we bear the risk of fluctuations in the
relative exchange rate between the British pound and the U.S. dollar. At December 31, 2001, the receivables due us and denominated in British pounds totaled 3.9 million British pounds. A
hypothetical 10% increase in the relative exchange rate would have resulted in an increase of $0.6 million in the value of these receivables and a corresponding unrealized foreign currency
transaction gain, and a hypothetical 10% decrease in the relative exchange rate would have resulted in a decrease of $0.6 million in the value of these receivables and a corresponding unrealized
foreign currency transaction loss.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
The financial statements and supplementary data required by Regulation S-X are included in this annual report on Form 10-K commencing on page F-1.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
Not applicable.

PART IIL
ITEM 10. OUR DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS.
The information required by this Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference from the text appearing under Part I, Item 4A, under the caption “Our Executive Officers and Directors™ in this report,
and will appear in, and is hereby incorporated by reference from, the information under the headings “Proposal 1. Election of Directors-Certain Information Concerning the Board of Directors,” “-
Certain Information Concerning Executive Officers Who Are Not Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2002
annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than April 30, 2002.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item 11 will appear in, and is hereby incorporated by reference from, the information under the headings “Proposal 1. Election of Directors-Compensation of the
Company’s Board of Directors,” “~-Employment Agreements and Change of Control Provisions,” “Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and
“Performance Graph” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2002 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than April 30, 2002.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

The information required by this Item 12 will appear in, and is hereby incorporated by reference from, the information under the heading “Ownership of Our Securities” in our definitive proxy
statement for the 2002 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than April 30, 2002.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The information required by this Item 13 will appear in, and is hereby incorporated by reference from, the information under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in our
definitive proxy statement for the 2002 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than April 30, 2002.
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PART IV.
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.
(@ The following documents are filed as part of this report:
1) Financial Statements.
The financial statements as set forth under Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K have been filed herewith, beginning on Page F-1 of this report.
2) Financial Statement Schedules.

Schedules for which provision is made in Regulation S-X are either not required to be included herein under the related instructions or are inapplicable or the related information
is included in the footnotes to the applicable financial statements and, therefore, have been omitted.

3) The Exhibits are listed in the Index of Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K included herewith.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K:
The following Forms 8-K were filed during the period October 1, 2001 through December 31, 2001:

1) Filed December 12, 2001 (earliest event December 7, 2001) reporting in Item 1., amendment and restatement to our senior bank credit facility, replacing the revolving portion of
the credit facility with a term loan of the same amount maturing December 31, 2002.

The following Forms 8-K were filed subsequent to December 31, 2001:

1 Filed January 3, 2002 (earliest event December 31, 2001) reporting in Item 1., completion of the claims process in the federal stockholder litigation settlement with respect to a
series of class action and derivative lawsuits brought against us.

) Filed March 8, 2002 (earliest event March 6, 2002) reporting in Item 9., a presentation for an analyst and institutional investor conference and supplemental financial information
included on our website.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

Date: March 20, 2002 By: /s/John D. Ferguson

John D. Ferguson, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

/s/ John D. Ferguson March 20, 2002
John D. Ferguson, President and Chief Executive Officer March 20, 2002
/s/ Irving E. Lingo, Jr. March 20, 2002
Irving E. Lingo Jr., Chief Financial Officer March 20, 2002
/s/ William F. Andrews March 20, 2002
William F. Andrews, Chairman of the Board and Director March 20, 2002
/s/ Joseph V. Russell March 20, 2002
Joseph V. Russell, Director March 20, 2002
/s/ Lucius E. Burch, III March 20, 2002
Lucius E. Burch, III, Director March 20, 2002
/s/ John D. Correnti March 20, 2002
John D. Correnti, Director March 20, 2002
/s/ C. Michael Jacobi March 20, 2002
C. Michael Jacobi, Director March 20, 2002
/s/ John R. Prann, Sr. March 20, 2002
John R. Prann, Sr., Director March 20, 2002
/s/ Henri L. Wedell March 20, 2002
Henri L. Wedell, Director March 20, 2002
/s/ Charles L. Overby March 20, 2002
Charles L. Overby, Director March 20, 2002
/s/ John R. Horne March 20, 2002
John R. Horne, Director March 20, 2002
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INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Exhibits marked with an * are filed herewith. Other exhibits have previously been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) and are incorporated herein by
reference.

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

2.1 Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 29, 1998, by and among Corrections Corporation of America, a Tennessee corporation (“Old
CCA?”), CCA Prison Realty Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (“Old Prison Realty”), and Prison Realty Corporation, a Maryland corporation currently known as
Corrections Corporation of America (the “Company”) (previously filed as Appendix A to the Prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) included in the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Commission File no. 333-65017), filed with the Commission on September 30, 1998, as declared effective on October 16, 1998, and
incorporated herein by this reference) (as directed by Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, certain schedules and exhibits to this document were omitted from that filing, and the
Company has agreed to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the Commission upon request).

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 26, 1999, by and among the Company, CCA Acquisition Sub, Inc., a Tennessee corporation currently known as CCA of
Tennessee, Inc. (“CCA of Tennessee”), PMSI Acquisition Sub, Inc., a Tennessee corporation (“PMSI Acquisition Sub”), JJFMSI Acquisition Sub, Inc. a Tennessee corporation
(“JJFMSI Acquisition Sub”), and Corrections Corporation of America, a Tennessee corporation formerly known as Correctional Management Services Corporation (“Operating
Company”), Prison Management Services, Inc., a Tennessee corporation (“PMSI”), and Juvenile and Jail Facility Management Services, Inc. (“JJEMSI”) (previously filed as
Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on December 28, 1999 and incorporated herein by this
reference) (as directed by Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, certain schedules and exhibits to this document were omitted from that filing, and the Company has agreed to
furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the Commission upon request).

2.3 Mutual Written Consent, dated as of June 30, 2000, to Terminate Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 26, 1999, by and among the Company, CCA of
Tennessee, PMSI Acquisition Sub, JJEMSI Acquisition Sub, and Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on July 3, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

2.4 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 30, 2000, by and among the Company, CCA of Tennessee, and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245) filed with the Commission on July 3, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference) (as directed by
Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, certain schedules and exhibits to this document were omitted from this filing, and the Company has agreed to furnish
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Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibits
supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the Commission upon request).

2.5 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 17, 2000, by and among the Company, CCA of Tennessee, and PMSI (previously filed as Exhibit 2.5 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference) (as directed by
Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, certain schedules and exhibits to this document have been omitted, and the Company agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted
schedule or exhibit to the Commission upon request).

2.6 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 17, 2000, by and among the Company, CCA of Tennessee, and JJFMSI (previously filed as Exhibit 2.6 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference) (as directed by
Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, certain schedules and exhibits to this document have been omitted, and the Company has agreed to furnish supplementally a copy of any
omitted schedule or exhibit to the Commission upon request).

3.1 Amended and Restated Charter of the Company (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the
Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

3.2 Amendment to the Amended and Restated Charter of the Company effecting the reverse stock split of the Company’s Common Stock and a related reduction in the stated
capital stock of the Company (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on
August 13, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

3.3 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed
with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

4.1 Provisions defining the rights of stockholders of the Company are found in Article V of the Amended and Restated Charter of the Company, as amended (included as Exhibits
3.1 and 3.2 hereto), and Article II of the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (included as Exhibit 3.3 hereto).

*4.2 Specimen of certificate representing the Company’s Common Stock.

*4.3 Specimen of certificate representing the Company’s 8.0% Series A Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock™).

*4.4 Specimen of certificate representing the shares of the Company’s Series B Cumulative Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred Stock”).

4.5 Indenture, dated as of June 10, 1999, by and between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as trustee, relating to the issuance of debt securities
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

(previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on August 17, 1999 and
incorporated herein by this reference).

4.6 First Supplemental Indenture, by and between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as trustee, dated as of June 11, 1999, relating to the $100.0 million
aggregate principal amount of the Company’s 12% Senior Notes due 2006 (previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File
No. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on August 17, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

4.7 Prison Realty Trust, Inc. Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File
No. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on May 14, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2001, by and among the Company, as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as Guarantor,
the several lenders from time to time party thereto, Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. (“Lehman”), as Administrative Agent, Societe Generale, as Documentation Agent, The
Bank of Nova Scotia, as Syndication Agent, SouthTrust Bank, N.A., as Co-Agent, and Lehman Brothers Inc., as Lead Arranger and as Book Manager (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on December 12, 2001 and incorporated herein by this
reference).

10.2 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 4, 1999, by and among the Company, as Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as Guarantor, the several
lenders from time to time party thereto, Lehman, as Administrative Agent, Societe Generale, as Documentation Agent, The Bank of Nova Scotia, as Syndication Agent,
SouthTrust Bank, N.A., as Co-Agent, and Lehman Brothers Inc., as Advisor, Lead Arranger, and as Book Manager (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 1999 (Commission File no. 0-25245), as filed with the Commission on August 17, 1999 and incorporated herein
by this reference).

10.3 Waiver and Amendment, dated as of June 9, 2000, by and among the Company, as Borrower, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as Subsidiary Guarantors, certain of the
Company’s lenders, and Lehman, as Administrative Agent (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245),
filed with the Commission on June 13, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.4 Consent and Amendment, dated as of November 17, 2000, by and among the Company, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as Subsidiary Guarantors, certain of the
Company’s lenders, and Lehman, as Administrative Agent (the “November 17, 2000 Consent and Amendment”) (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on November 28, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).
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10.5 Consent and Amendment, dated as of January 10, 2001, by and among the Company, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as Subsidiary Guarantors, certain of the Company’s
lenders, and Lehman, as Administrative Agent (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the
Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.6 Amendment, dated as of March 13, 2001, by and among the Company, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as Subsidiary Guarantors, certain of the Company’s lenders, and
Lehman, as Administrative Agent (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission
on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.7 Second Waiver and Amendment, dated as of April 16, 2001, by and among the Company, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as Subsidiary Guarantors, certain of the
Company’s lenders, and Lehman, as Administrative Agent (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File no. 0-25245),
filed with the Commission on May 15, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.8 Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of September 15, 2000, by and among Operating Company, as Borrower, certain of Operating Company’s subsidiaries as Subsidiary
Guarantors, certain lenders and Lehman, as Agent, with Consent and First Amendment, dated as of November 30, 2000, attached thereto (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2002 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.9 Waiver to Loan and Security Agreement, as amended, dated as of April 16, 2001, by and among CCA of Tennessee, as Borrower and successor to Operating Company, certain
of CCA of Tennessee’s subsidiaries as Subsidiary Guarantors, certain lenders and Lehman, as Administrative Agent (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on May 15, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.10 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between the Company and PMI Mezzanine Fund, L.P., including, as Exhibit R-1 thereto, Registration Rights
Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between the Company and PMI Mezzanine Fund, L.P. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.11 7.5% Convertible, Subordinated Note, due February 28, 2005, made payable to PMI Mezzanine Fund, L.P. in the aggregate principal amount of $30.0 million (previously filed

as Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this
reference).
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10.12 Waiver and Amendment, dated as of June 30, 2000, by and between the Company and PMI Mezzanine Fund, L.P., with form of replacement note attached thereto as Exhibit B
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on July 3, 2000 and incorporated herein by this
reference).

10.13 Waiver and Amendment, dated as of March 5, 2001, by and between the Company and PMI Mezzanine Fund, L.P., including, as an exhibit thereto, Amendment to Registration
Rights Agreement (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17,
2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.14 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 31, 1998, by and between the Company and MDP Ventures IV LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.15 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 31, 1998, by and between the Company and MDP Ventures IV LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.16 Original note from the Company made payable to MDP Ventures IV LLC, dated as of December 31, 1998, in the principal amount of $20.0 million (previously filed as
Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this
reference).

10.17 Original notes from the Company made payable to MDP Ventures IV LLC, and certain other purchasers, dated as of January 29, 1999, in the aggregate principal amount of
$20.0 million (previously filed as Exhibit 4.21 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on March 30, 1999
and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.18 Form of Waiver and Amendment, dated as of June 30, 2000, by and between the Company and MDP Ventures IV LLC, with form of replacement note and PIK note attached
thereto as Exhibit B and D, respectively (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the
Commission on July 3, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.19 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 26, 1999, by and between the Company, Operating Company, PMSI, and JJEMSI, on the one hand, and Prison

Acquisition Company, L.L.C., on the other hand, including: (i) as Exhibit A thereto, Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 26, 1999, by and among the
Company, CCA of Tennessee, PMSI Acquisition Sub, JJFMSI Acquisition Sub, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI; (ii) as Exhibit B thereto, the Form of Articles of
Amendment and Restatement of the Company; (iii) as Exhibit C thereto, the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company; (iv) as Exhibit D thereto, the Form of Articles
Supplementary for Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred
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10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

Stock; (v) as Exhibit E thereto, the Form of Warrant; (vi) as Exhibit F thereto, the Form of Articles Supplementary for Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock; (vii) as
Exhibit G thereto, the Form of Registration Rights Agreement; and (viii) as Exhibit H thereto, the Financing Commitment Letter (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on December 28,1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

First Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2000, by and among the Company, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI, on the one hand, and
Prison Acquisition Company, L.L.C., on the other hand (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed
with the Commission on March 1, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

Securities Purchase Agreement, effective as of April 16, 2000, by and among the Company, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI, on the one hand, and Pacific Life
Insurance Company, on the other hand (“Pacific Life”), with the following exhibits attached: (i) as Exhibit A thereto, Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 26,
1999, by and among the Company, CCA of Tennessee, PMSI Acquisition Sub, JJFMSI Acquisition Sub, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI; (ii) as Exhibit B thereto, the
Form of Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Company; (iii) as Exhibit C thereto, the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company; (iv) as Exhibit D thereto, the
Form of Articles Supplementary for Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (filed therewith); (v) as Exhibit E thereto, the Form of Articles Supplementary for

Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock; (vi) as Exhibit F thereto, the Form of Warrant; and (vii) as Exhibit G thereto, the Form of Registration Rights Agreement (the
Securities Purchase Agreement, together with items (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi) and (vii), have been previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 18, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference, with item (i) having been previously filed as

Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on December 28, 1999 and incorporated herein by this
reference).

Mutual Termination and Release Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2000, by and among the Company, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI, on the one hand, and Pacific Life,
on the other hand (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on July 3, 2000
and incorporated herein by this reference).

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2000, by and between the Company and Baron Asset Fund, and all series thereof, on behalf of itself and one or more mutual
funds managed by it, or its affiliates (collectively, “Baron”) (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245),
filed with the Commission on July 3, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 11, 2000, by and between the
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Company and Sodexho Alliance, S.A. (“Sodexho”) (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File no. 0-25245), filed with the
Commission on September 12, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.25 Master Agreement to Lease, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between the Company, USCC, Inc. and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.26 Form of Lease Agreement by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission
File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.27 First Amendment to Master Agreement to Lease, dated as of December 31, 1999, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.67 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on March 30, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.28 Master Amendment to Lease Agreements, dated as of December 31, 1999, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.68 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on March 30, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.29 Second Master Amendment to Lease Agreements, dated as of June 9, 2000, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on June 13, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.30 Termination Agreement With Respect to Master Agreement to Lease and Lease Agreements, dated as of September 29, 2000, by and between the Company, Operating
Company and CCA of Tennessee (previously filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission
on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.31 Master Agreement to Lease, dated as of December 31, 2000, by and between the Company, as landlord, and CCA of Tennessee, as tenant (previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.32 Services Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.33 Amended and Restated Services Agreement, dated as of March 5, 1999, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.30 to
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the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.34 Amendment Number One to Amended and Restated Services Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2000, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on June 13, 2000 and incorporated herein by this
reference).

10.35 Termination Agreement With Respect to Amended and Restated Services Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2000, by and between the Company, Operating Company and
CCA of Tennessee (previously filed as Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17,
2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.36 Tenant Incentive Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.37 Amended and Restated Tenant Incentive Agreement, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 1999 (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on May 14, 1999 and incorporated herein by
this reference).

10.38 Amendment Number One to Amended and Restated Tenant Incentive Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2000, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on June 13, 2000 and incorporated herein by
this reference).

10.39 Termination Agreement With Respect to Amended and Restated Tenant Incentive Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2000, by and between the Company, Operating
Company and CCA of Tennessee (previously filed as Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission
on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.40 Business Development Agreement, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended March 31, 1999 (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on May 14, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.41 Amendment Number One to Business Development Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2000, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as

Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on June 13, 2000 and incorporated herein by this
reference).
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10.42 Termination Agreement With Respect to Business Development Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2000, by and between the Company, Operating Company and CCA of
Tennessee (previously filed as Exhibit 10.39 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and
incorporated herein by this reference).

10.43 Administrative Services Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between Operating Company and PMSI (previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.44 Amendment Number One to Administrative Services Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2000, by and between the Company and PMSI (previously filed as Exhibit 10.41 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.45 Administrative Services Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between Operating Company and JJFMSI (previously filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.46 Amendment Number One to Administrative Services Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2000, by and between the Company and JJFMSI (previously filed as Exhibit 10.43
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.47 Right to Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.48 Service Mark and Trade Name Use Agreement, dated as of December 31, 1998, by and between Old CCA and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.49 Service Mark and Trade Name Use Agreement, dated as of December 31, 1998, by and between Operating Company and Prison Management Services, LLC (previously filed
as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this
reference).

10.50 Service Mark and Trade Name Use Agreement, dated as of December 31, 1998, by and between Operating Company and Juvenile and Jail Facility Management Services, LLC

(previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Current Report on

102




Table of Contents

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibits
Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.51 Termination Agreement With Respect to Service Mark and Trade Name Use Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2000, by and between the Company, Operating Company,
PMSI, JJEMSI and CCA of Tennessee (previously filed as Exhibit 10.48 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the
Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.52 Promissory Note, dated as of December 31, 1998, executed by Operating Company made payable to Old CCA in the principal amount of $137.0 million (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this
reference).

10.53 Guaranty Agreement, dated as of December 31, 1998, executed and delivered by Doctor R. Crants to Old CCA (previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.54 Old Prison Realty’s 1997 Employee Share Incentive Plan, as adopted by the Company (the “Company’s 1997 Employee Share Incentive Plan”) (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.25 to Old Prison Realty’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File no. 1-13049), filed with the Commission on August 25, 1997 and incorporated herein
by this reference).

10.55 First Amendment to the Company’s 1997 Employee Share Incentive Plan (previously filed as Appendix B to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to the
Company’s 2000 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on November 20, 2000 and incorporated herein by this
reference).

*10.56 Second Amendment to the Company’s 1997 Employee Share Incentive Plan.

10.57 Old Prison Realty’s Non-Employee Trustees’ Share Option Plan, as amended (previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 to Old Prison Realty’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission File no. 1-13049), filed with the Commission on August 25, 1997 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.58 Old Prison Realty’s Non-Employee Trustees” Compensation Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Old Prison Realty’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Commission File
no. 333-58339), filed with the Commission on July 1, 1998 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.59 Old CCA’s 1995 Employee Stock Incentive Plan, effective as of March 20, 1995 (previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Old CCA’s Registration Statement on Form S-8

(Commission File no. 33-61173), filed with the Commission on July 20, 1995 and incorporated herein by this reference).
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10.60 Option Agreement, dated as of March 31, 1997, by and between Old CCA and Joseph F. Johnson, Jr. relating to the grant of an option to purchase 80,000 shares of Old CCA
Common Stock (previously filed as Appendix B to Old CCA’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to Old CCA’s 1998 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (Commission File no. 0-
15719), filed with the Commission on March 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.61 Old CCA’s Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan (previously filed as Appendix A to Old CCA’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to Old CCA’s 1998 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders (Commission File no. 0-15719), filed with the Commission on March 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.62 The Company’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (previously filed as Appendix C to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to the Company’s 2000 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on November 20, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

*10.63 Amendment to the Company’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan.

10.64 Employment Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2000, by and between the Company and John D. Ferguson, with form of option agreement included as Exhibit A thereto
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on August 14, 2000 and incorporated herein
by this reference).

10.65 Employment Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2000, by and between the Company and Irving E. Lingo, Jr. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.67 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.66 Previous Employment Agreement, dated as of August 3, 1999, by and between Operating Company and J. Michael Quinlan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.68 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

*10.67 Employment Agreement, dated as of February 14, 2002 by and between the Company and J. Michael Quinlan.

10.68 Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between Doctor R. Crants and the Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on January 6, 1999 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.69 Amendment Number One to Employment Agreement with Doctor R. Crants, dated as of June 29, 2000, by and between the Company and Doctor R. Crants (previously filed as

Exhibit 10.70 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this
reference).
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10.70 Severance Agreement, dated as of December 31, 1999, by and among D. Robert Crants, III, the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.69 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on March 30, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.71 Severance Agreement, dated as of December 31, 1999, by and among Michael W. Devlin, the Company and Operating Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.70 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on March 30, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.72 Stock Acquisition Agreement, dated as of September 11, 2000, by and among the Company, Operating Company, PMSI, JJEMSI, Corrections Corporation of America (U.K.)
Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales (“CCA UK?”), and Sodexho (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File no. 0-
25245), filed with the Commission on September 12, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.73 Amendment Number One to Stock Acquisition Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2000, by and among the Company, CCA of Tennessee, PMSI, JJEMSI, CCA UK and
Sodexho (previously filed as Exhibit 10.74 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and
incorporated herein by this reference).

10.74 Option Agreement, dated as of September 11, 2000, by and between JJFMSI and Sodexho (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on September 12, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.75 Amendment Number One to Option Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2000, by and between JJFMSI and Sodexho (previously filed as Exhibit 10.76 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.76 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2000, by and between the Company and PMSI (previously filed as Exhibit 10.77 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.77 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2000, by and between the Company and JJFMSI (previously filed as Exhibit 10.78 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.78 Memorandum of Understanding, dated as of December 14, 2000, by and among attorneys for the Company and the plaintiffs in the outstanding stockholder litigation against

the Company and certain of its existing and former directors and officers (the “Plaintiffs”) (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
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Form 8-K (File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on December 19, 2000 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.79 8.0%, $26.1 million promissory note, due January 2, 2009, issued by the Company on December 31, 2001 in connection with the completion of the federal portion of the
stockholder litigation settlement (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on
January 3, 2002 and incorporated herein by this reference).

10.80 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 10, 2001, by and among the Company; Abbey National Treasury Services plc, a public limited company incorporated in England
and Wales and registered with company number 2338548; and Agecroft Properties (No. 2) Limited, a private limited company incorporated in England and Wales and
registered with company number 4167343 (“API 2”), relating to the Company’s sale of all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Agecroft Properties, Inc., a Tennessee
corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“API”), to API 2 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.80 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission
File no. 0-25245), filed with the Commission on April 17, 2001 and incorporated herein by this reference).

*21 Subsidiaries of the Company.

*23.1 Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP.

*24 Powers of Attorney (included on signature pages).

99.1 Final Judgment and Order of Dismissal with Prejudice, Civil Action No. 3:99-0458, issued by the United States District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee (previously
filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File no. 0-25245) filed with the Commission on February 16, 2001 and incorporated herein by this
reference).

99.2 Final Judgment and Order of Dismissal with Prejudice, Civil Action No. 98-239-II1, issued by the Chancery Court of Davidson County for the Twentieth Judicial District
(previously filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File no. 0-25245) filed with the Commission on February 16, 2001 and incorporated herein by
this reference).

99.3 Final Judgment and Order of Dismissal with Prejudice, Civil Action No. 99-1719-I11, issued by the Chancery Court of Davidson County for the Twentieth Judicial District
(previously filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File no. 0-25245) filed with the Commission on February 16, 2001 and incorporated herein by
this reference).

*99.4 Letter to the Commission regarding representations from Arthur Andersen LLP.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To Corrections Corporation of America:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA (a Maryland corporation) AND SUBSIDIARIES as of December 31,
2001 and 2000, and the related combined and consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 15, as of December 31, 2001, the Company has $963.6 million of debt outstanding, including $791.9 million outstanding under the Company’s senior bank credit
facility, which matures on December 31, 2002. Although management has developed plans for addressing the December 31, 2002 debt maturity as discussed in Notes 2 and 15, there can be no
assurance that management’s plans will be successful and there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to refinance or renew its debt obligations maturing on December 31, 2002.

In our opinion, the combined and consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Corrections Corporation of America and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
As explained in Note 17, upon adoption of a new accounting pronouncement effective January 1, 2001, the Company changed its method of accounting for derivative financial instruments.
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Nashville, Tennessee
February 11, 2002 (except with respect to the matter

discussed in the last paragraph of Note 16, as to

which the date is March 9, 2002)
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $729 and $1,486, respectively
Income tax receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Assets held for sale under contract

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Investment in direct financing leases
Assets held for sale
Goodwill
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income tax payable
Distributions payable
Fair value of interest rate swap agreement
Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Preferred stock — $0.01 par value; 50,000 shares authorized:
Series A — 4,300 shares issued and outstanding; stated at liquidation preference of $25.00 per share
Series B — 3,948 and 3,297 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively; stated at
liquidation preference of $24.46 per share
Common stock — $0.01 par value; 80,000 and 400,000 shares authorized; 27,921 and 235,395 shares issued and 27,920 and
235,383 shares outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred compensation
Retained deficit
Treasury stock, 1 and 12 shares, respectively, at cost
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

December 31,

2001 2000

$ 46,307 $ 20,889
12,537 9,209
144,078 132,306
568 32,662
12,841 18,726
- 24,895
216,331 238,687
1,573,152 1,615,130
18,873 23,808
22,312 138,622
104,019 109,006
36,593 51,739
$1,971,280 $2,176,992
$ 145,157 $ 243,312
10,137 8,437
15,853 9,156
13,564 _
792,009 14,594
976,720 275,499
171,591 1,137,976
56,511 56,450
19,297 19,052
1,224,119 1,488,977
107,500 107,500
96,566 80,642
279 2,354
1,341,958 1,299,390
(3,153) (2,723)
(793,236) (798,906)
(242) (242)
(2,511) —
747,161 688,015
$1,971,280 $2,176,992

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined and consolidated financial statements.
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
REVENUE:
Management and other $ 974,360 $ 261,774 $ —
Rental 6,431 40,938 270,134
Licensing fees from affiliates —_ 7,566 8,699
980,791 310,278 278,833
EXPENSES:
Operating 753,521 217,315 —
General and administrative 34,568 45,463 24,125
Depreciation and amortization 54,135 59,799 44,062
Licensing fees to Operating Company — 501 —
Administrative service fee to Operating Company — 900 —
Write-off of amounts under lease arrangements — 11,920 65,677
Impairment losses — 527,919 76,433
842,224 863,817 210,297
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 138,567 (553,539) 68,536
OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE:
Equity (earnings) loss and amortization of deferred gain, net 358 11,638 (3,608)
Interest expense, net 125,640 131,545 45,036
Other income — (3,099) —
Change in fair value of derivative instruments (14,554) — —
Loss on disposals of assets 74 1,733 1,995
Unrealized foreign currency transaction loss 219 8,147 —
Stockholder litigation settlements — 75,406 —
‘Write-off of loan costs — — 14,567
111,737 225,370 57,990
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND MINORITY INTEREST 26,830 (778,909) 10,546
Income tax (expense) benefit (1,136) 48,002 (83,200)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE MINORITY INTEREST 25,694 (730,907) (72,654)
Minority interest in net loss of PMSI and JJFMSI — 125 —
NET INCOME (LOSS) 25,694 (730,782) (72,654)
Distributions to preferred stockholders (20,024) (13,526) (8,600)
NET INCOME (LOSS) AVAILABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS $ 5,670 $ (744,308) $ (81,254)
I I I
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE $ 0.23 $ (56.68) $ (7.06)
I I I
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE $ 0.20 $  (56.68) $  (7.06)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined and consolidated financial statements.
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss)

(in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of debt issuance costs and other non-cash interest

Deferred and other non-cash income taxes

Equity in (earnings) losses and amortization of deferred gain, net

Write-off of amounts under lease arrangements
Write-off of loan costs

Unrealized foreign currency transaction loss

Other non-cash items

Loss on disposals of assets

Impairment losses

Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Minority interest

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets

Receivable from affiliates
Income tax receivable

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

Payable to Operating Company
Income tax payable

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Additions of property and equipment, net
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash
Payments received on investments in affiliates
Issuance of note receivable
Proceeds from sale of assets and businesses
Increase in other assets
Cash acquired in acquisitions

Payments received on direct financing leases and notes receivable

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from (payments on) debt, net
Payment of debt issuance costs
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants
Preferred stock issuance costs
Payment of dividends
Cash paid for fractional shares
Purchase of treasury stock by PMSI and JJFMSI

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year

2001 2000 1999
$ 25,694 $(730,782) $ (72,654)
54,135 59,799 44,062
22,652 15,684 7,901
(3,531) (13,767) 83,200
358 11,638 (3,608)
— 11,920 65,677
= = 14,567
219 8,147 —
2,579 3,595 3,679
74 1,733 1,995
— 527,919 76,433
(14,554) — —
= (125) —
(6,657) (4,728) (2,732)
— 28,864 (28,608)
32,207 (32,662) (9,490)
(22,002) 68,527 (32,302)
— (2,325) (68,623)
1,587 — —
92,761 (46,563) 79,497
(6,435) (78,663) (528,935)
(3,328) 15,200 (7,221)
= 6,686 21,668
— (529) (6,117)
140,277 6,400 43,959
(1,443) — 3,536
= 6,938 21,894
1,861 5,517 3,643
130,932 (38,451) (447,573)
(188,970) 29,089 566,558
(7,012) (11,316) (59,619)
— — 131,977
— — 166
(20) (403) —
(2,182) (4,586) (217,654)
(91) (11 —
— (13,356) —
(198,275) (583) 421,428
25,418 (85,597) 53,352
20,889 106,486 31,141
$ 46,307 $ 20,889 $ 84,493
I I I

(Continued)
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

(Continued)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest (net of amounts capitalized of $0, $8,330 and $37,700 in 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively)

Income taxes

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
The Company issued shares of Series B Preferred Stock under the terms of the Company’s 2001
Series B Preferred Stock Restricted Plan:
Preferred stock — Series B
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred compensation

The Company issued shares of common stock and a promissory note payable in partial satisfaction of
the stockholder litigation discussed in Note 21, as adjusted for the reverse stock split:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Long-term debt
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital

The Company issued Series B Preferred Stock in lieu of cash distributions to the holders of
shares of Series B Preferred Stock on the applicable record date:
Dividend payable
Preferred stock — Series B

The Company completed construction of a facility and entered into a direct financing lease:
Investment in direct financing lease
Property and equipment

The Company committed to a plan of disposal for certain long-lived assets:
Assets held for sale
Investment in direct financing lease
Property and equipment

The Company issued debt to satisfy accrued default rate interest on a convertible note and to
satisfy a payable for professional services:
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

(Continued)
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
$104,438 $ 132,798 $ 28,022
$ 3,014 $ 2,453 $ 9,490
$ 4,904 $ — [ J—

(2,869) — —

(2,035) — _
$ - $ — s
$ (69,408) $ — $ —

25,606 — _

187 _ _

43,615 — _
$ - $ — s
$ (11,070) CR— [ J—

11,070 — _
$ — $ — $ —
$ — $ (89,426) $ —

— 89,426 _
$ - $ — s
- $(163,517) [ J—
= 85,722 -
— 77,795 —
$ — $ — $ —
J— $ 2014 s  —
— (2,014) —
$ - $ = s
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

(Continued)

Long-term debt was converted into common stock:
Other assets
Long-term debt
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital

The Company issued a preferred stock dividend to satisfy the REIT distribution requirements:
Preferred stock — Series B
Additional paid-in capital

Preferred stock was converted into common stock:
Preferred stock — Series B
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital

The Company acquired the assets and liabilities of Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI for stock:

Accounts receivable

Receivable from affiliate

Income tax receivable

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Property and equipment, net

Notes receivable

Goodwill

Investment in affiliates

Deferred tax assets

Other assets

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Payable to Operating Company
Distributions payable

Note payable to JJFMSI

Current portion of long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred gains on sales of contracts
Other liabilities

Common stock

Additional paid-in capital

Deferred compensation

The Company acquired treasury stock and issued common stock in connection with the exercise of stock options:

Additional paid-in capital
Treasury stock, at cost

(Continued)
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2001

2000

1999

$ 183,872
(183,872)

$ —

$(105,471)
951
104,520

$(133,667)
9,027
(3,781)
(903)
(38,475)
100,756
(110,596)
102,308
37,246
(11,767)
103,769
(18,765)
31
4,000
23,876
2,600
(96,258)
25,525
217
29,789
(2,884)

$ 22,048

$ 1,161
(47,000)
50
45,789
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

The Company acquired Old Prison Realty’s assets and liabilities for stock:

Restricted cash

Property and equipment, net

Other assets

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred gains on sales of contracts
Long-term debt

Distributions payable

Common stock

Preferred stock

Additional paid-in capital

(in thousands)

(Continued)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2001

2000

1999

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined and consolidated financial statements.
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(17,188)

(1,223,370)
22,422
23,351

(125,751)
279,600
2,150
253
107,500
952,927

21,894
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BALANCE, December 31, 1998

Acquisition of Old Prison Realty

Effect of election of status as a real
estate investment trust

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of restricted stock

Stock options exercised

Conversion of long-term debt

Shares issued to trustees

Compensation expense related to
deferred stock awards and stock
options

Net loss

Distributions to stockholders

BALANCE, December 31, 1999

Acquisition of Operating Company

Acquisition of PMSI

Acquisition of JJFSMI

Distribution to common
stockholders

Conversion of series B preferred
stock into common stock, net

Compensation expense related to
deferred stock awards and stock
options

Forfeiture of restricted stock

Shares issued to trustees

Dividends on preferred stock

Net loss

BALANCE, December 31, 2000

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

(in thousands)

Accumulated

Series A Series B Additional Retained Other Total
Preferred Preferred Common Paid-In Deferred Earnings Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders'
Stock Stock Stock Capital Compensation (Deficit) Stock Income (Loss) Equity
$ — $ = $ 800 $ 398,493 $ — $ 52,693 $ — $ — $ 451,986
107,500 — 253 952,927 — — — — 1,060,680
— — — 52,693 — (52,693) — — —
— — 79 131,898 — — — — 131,977
= = = 468 (293) = = = 175
— — 2 406 — — (242) — 166
— — 50 45,789 — — — — 45,839
— — — 125 — — — — 125
— — — 229 202 — — — 431
— — — (83,200) — 10,546 — — (72,654)
= = = (152,510) — (65,144) = = (217,654)
$107,500 $ — $1,184 $1,347,318 $ (91) $ (54,598) $(242) $ — $1,401,071
— — 188 28,580 (1,646) — — — 27,122
— — 13 537 (550) — — — —
— — 16 672 (688) — — — —
— 183,872 — (184,275) — — — — (403)
— (105,482) 951 104,520 — — — — 11)
— — 2 2,043 171 — — — 2,216
— — — (81) 81 — — — —
— — — 76 — — — — 76
— 2,252 — — — (13,526) — — (11,274)
— — — — — (730,782) — — (730,782)
$107,500 $ 80,642 $2,354 $1,299,390 $(2,723) $(242) $ — $ 688,015

(Continued)
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BALANCE, December 31, 2000

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Amortization of transition adjustment

Total comprehensive income

Distributions to preferred stockholders

Issuance of common stock under terms of
stockholder litigation

Amortization of deferred compensation

Restricted stock issuances, net of
forfeitures

Reverse stock split

Other

BALANCE, December 31, 2001

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined and consolidated financial statements.

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999

(in thousands)

(Continued)
Accumulated
Series A Series B Additional Retained Other Total
Preferred Preferred Common Paid-In Deferred Earnings Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders'
Stock Stock Stock Capital Compensation (Deficit) Stock Income (Loss) Equity
$107,500 $80,642 $ 2,354 $1,299,390 $(2,723) $(798,906) $(242) $ — $688,015
— — — — — 25,694 — — 25,694
— — — — — — — (5,023) (5,023)
— — — — — — — 2,512 2,512
— — — — — 25,694 — (2,511) 23,183
— 11,070 — — — (20,024) — — (8,954)
— — 187 43,615 — — — — 43,802
— — 3 3) 1,305 — — — 1,305
— 4,904 — (3,179) (1,735) — — — (10)
— — (2,265) 2,240 — — — — (25)
— (50) — (105) — — — — (155)
$107,500 $96,566 $ 279 $1,341,958 $(3,153) $(793,236) $(242) $(2,511) $747,161
— I I
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CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001, 2000 AND 1999
1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS

As of December 31, 2001, the Company owned 39 correctional, detention and juvenile facilities, three of which the Company leases to other operators, and two additional facilities which
are not yet in operation. The Company also has a leasehold interest in a juvenile facility. At December 31, 2001, the Company operated 64 facilities, including 36 facilities that it owned,
with a total design capacity of approximately 61,000 beds in 21 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.

The Company specializes in owning, operating and managing prisons and other correctional facilities and providing inmate residential and prisoner transportation services for
governmental agencies. In addition to providing the fundamental residential services relating to inmates, the Company’s facilities offer a variety of rehabilitation and educational programs,
including basic education, life skills and employment training and substance abuse treatment. These services are intended to help reduce recidivism and to prepare inmates in the facilities
the Company operates for their successful reentry into society. The Company also provides health care (including medical, dental and psychiatric services), food services and work and
recreational programs.

Background and Formation Transactions

Corrections Corporation of America (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”), a Maryland corporation formerly known as Prison Realty Trust, Inc. (“New Prison Realty”),
commenced operations as Prison Realty Corporation on January 1, 1999, following its mergers with each of the former Corrections Corporation of America, a Tennessee corporation (“Old
CCA”), on December 31, 1998 and CCA Prison Realty Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (“Old Prison Realty”), on January 1, 1999 (such mergers referred to collectively
herein as the “1999 Merger”).

Prior to the 1999 Merger, Old Prison Realty had been a publicly traded entity operating as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, primarily in the business of owning and leasing prison
facilities to private prison management companies and certain government entities. Prior to the 1999 Merger, Old CCA was also a publicly traded entity primarily in the business of
owning, operating and managing prisons on behalf of government entities (as discussed further herein). Additionally, Old CCA had been Old Prison Realty’s primary tenant.

Immediately prior to the 1999 Merger, Old CCA sold all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of certain wholly-owned corporate subsidiaries of Old CCA, certain management
contracts and certain other non-real estate assets related thereto, to a newly formed entity, Correctional Management Services Corporation, a privately-held Tennessee corporation
(“Operating Company”). Also immediately prior to the 1999 Merger, Old CCA sold certain management contracts and other assets and liabilities relating to government owned adult
facilities to Prison Management Services, LLC (subsequently merged with Prison Management Services, Inc.) and sold certain management contracts and other assets and liabilities
relating to government owned jails and juvenile facilities to Juvenile and Jail Facility Management Services, LLC (subsequently merged with Juvenile and Jail Facility Management
Services, Inc.). Refer to Note 3 for a more detailed discussion of these transactions occurring immediately prior to the 1999 Merger.
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Effective January 1, 1999, New Prison Realty elected to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 1999. Also effective
January 1, 1999, New Prison Realty entered into lease agreements and other agreements with Operating Company, whereby Operating Company would lease the substantial majority of
New Prison Realty’s facilities and Operating Company would provide certain services to New Prison Realty. Refer to Note 6 for a more complete discussion of New Prison Realty’s
historical relationship with Operating Company.

During 2000, the Company completed a comprehensive restructuring (the “Restructuring”). As part of the Restructuring, Operating Company was merged with and into a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company on October 1, 2000 (the “Operating Company Merger”). Immediately prior to the Operating Company Merger, Operating Company leased from New Prison
Realty 35 correctional and detention facilities. Also in connection with the Restructuring, the Company amended its charter to, among other things, remove provisions relating to the
Company’s operation and qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with its 2000 taxable year and change its name to “Corrections Corporation of America.”

From December 31, 1998 until December 1, 2000, the Company owned 100% of the non-voting common stock of Prison Management Services, Inc. (“PMSI”) and Juvenile and Jail
Facility Management Services, Inc. (“JJFMSI”), both of which were privately-held service companies which managed certain government-owned prison and jail facilities under the
“Corrections Corporation of America” name (together, the “Service Companies”). The Company was entitled to receive 95% of each company’s net income, as defined, as dividends on
such shares, while other outside shareholders and the wardens at the individual facilities owned 100% of the voting common stock of PMSI and JJFMSI, entitling those voting stockholders
to receive the remaining 5% of each company’s net income, as defined, as dividends on such shares. During September 2000, wholly-owned subsidiaries of PMSI and JJFMSI entered into
separate transactions with each of PMSI’s and JJFMSI’s respective non-management, outside shareholders to reacquire all of the outstanding voting stock of their non-management, outside
shareholders, representing 85% of the outstanding voting stock of each entity for cash payments of $8.3 million and $5.1 million, respectively.

On December 1, 2000, the Company completed the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI. PMSI provided adult prison facility management services to government agencies pursuant to
management contracts with state governmental agencies and authorities in the United States and Puerto Rico. Immediately prior to the acquisition date, PMSI had contracts to manage 11
correctional and detention facilities. JJFMSI provided juvenile and jail facility management services to government agencies pursuant to management contracts with federal, state and local
government agencies and authorities in the United States and Puerto Rico and provided adult prison facility management services to certain international authorities in Australia and the
United Kingdom. Immediately prior to the acquisition date, JJFMSI had contracts to manage 17 correctional and detention facilities.

Operations

Prior to the 1999 Merger, Old CCA operated and managed prisons and other correctional and detention facilities and provided prisoner transportation services for governmental agencies.
Old CCA also provided a full range of related services to governmental agencies, including managing, financing, developing, designing and constructing new correctional and detention
facilities and redesigning and renovating older facilities. Following the completion of the 1999 Merger and through September 30, 2000, New Prison Realty specialized in acquiring,

developing, owning and leasing correctional and detention facilities. Following the completion of the 1999 Merger and
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through September 30, 2000, Operating Company was a separately owned private prison management company that operated, managed and leased the substantial majority of facilities
owned by New Prison Realty. As a result of the 1999 Merger and certain contractual relationships existing between New Prison Realty and Operating Company, New Prison Realty was
dependent on Operating Company for a significant source of its income. In addition, New Prison Realty paid Operating Company for services rendered to New Prison Realty in the
development of its correctional and detention facilities. As a result of liquidity issues facing Operating Company and New Prison Realty, the parties amended certain of the contractual
agreements between New Prison Realty and Operating Company during 2000. For a more complete description of these amendments, see Note 6.

As a result of the acquisition of Operating Company on October 1, 2000 and the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI on December 1, 2000, the Company now specializes in owning,
operating and managing prisons and other correctional facilities and providing inmate residential and prisoner transportation services for governmental agencies. In addition to providing
the fundamental residential services relating to inmates, the Company’s facilities offer a variety of rehabilitation and educational programs, including basic education, life skills and
employment training and substance abuse treatment. These services are intended to help reduce recidivism and to prepare inmates in the facilities the Company operates for their successful
reentry into society. The Company also provides health care (including medical, dental and psychiatric services), food services and work and recreational programs.

2. FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS

After completion of the first quarter of 1999, the first quarter in which operations were conducted in the structure after the 1999 Merger, management of the Company and management of
Operating Company determined that Operating Company had not performed as well as projected for several reasons: occupancy rates at its facilities were lower than in 1998; operating
expenses were higher as a percentage of revenue than in 1998; and certain aspects of the Operating Company Leases (as defined in Note 6) adversely affected Operating Company. As a
result, in May 1999, the Company and Operating Company amended certain of the agreements between them to provide Operating Company with additional cash flow. See Note 6 for
further discussion of these amendments. The objective of these changes was to allow Operating Company to be able to continue to make its full lease payments, to allow the Company to
continue to make dividend payments to its stockholders and to provide time for Operating Company to improve its operations so that it might ultimately perform as projected and be able to
make its full lease payments to the Company.

However, after these changes were announced, a chain of events occurred which adversely affected both the Company and Operating Company. The Company’s stock price fell
dramatically, resulting in the commencement of stockholder litigation against the Company and its former directors and officers. These events made it more difficult to raise capital. A
lower stock price meant that the Company had more restricted access to equity capital, and the uncertainties caused by the falling stock price made it much more difficult to obtain debt
financing. As described in Note 21, the stockholder lawsuits were settled in 2001.

In order to address its liquidity constraints, during the summer of 1999, the Company increased its credit facility (the “Senior Bank Credit Facility,” as also defined in Note 15) from
$650.0 million to $1.0 billion. One of the financing requirements in connection with this increase required that the Company raise $100.0 million in equity and Operating Company raise

$25.0 million in equity in order for the Company to make the distributions in cash that would be necessary to enable the

F-13




Table of Contents

Company to qualify as a REIT with respect to its 1999 taxable year. See Note 15 for a further discussion of the Company’s Senior Bank Credit Facility.

In a further attempt to address the capital and liquidity constraints facing the Company and Operating Company, as well as concerns regarding the corporate structure and management of
the Company, management elected to pursue strategic alternatives for the Company, including a restructuring led by a group of institutional investors consisting of an affiliate of Fortress
Investment Group LLC and affiliates of The Blackstone Group (“Fortress/Blackstone™). Shortly after announcing the proposal led by Fortress/Blackstone, the Company received an
unsolicited proposal from Pacific Life Insurance Company (“Pacific Life”). Fortress/Blackstone elected not to match the terms of the proposal from Pacific Life. Consequently, the
securities purchase agreement with Fortress/Blackstone was terminated, and the Company entered into an agreement with Pacific Life. The Pacific Life securities purchase agreement was
mutually terminated by the parties after Pacific Life was unwilling to confirm that a waiver and amendment of the Senior Bank Credit Facility obtained in June 2000 satisfied the terms of
the agreement with Pacific Life. The Company also terminated the services of one of its financial advisors. See Note 21 for further information regarding the Company’s 2001 settlement of
disputes arising from its previous agreements with Fortress/Blackstone, Pacific Life, and the Company’s financial advisor.

Consequently, the Company determined to pursue a comprehensive restructuring without a third-party equity investment, and approved a series of agreements providing for the
comprehensive restructuring of the Company. As further discussed in Note 15, the Restructuring included obtaining amendments to, and a waiver of existing defaults under, the Company’s
Senior Bank Credit Facility in June 2000 (the “June 2000 Waiver and Amendment”). The June 2000 Waiver and Amendment resulted from the financial condition of the Company and
Operating Company, the transactions undertaken by the Company and Operating Company in an attempt to resolve the liquidity issues of the Company and Operating Company, and the
previously announced restructuring transactions. In obtaining the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the Company agreed to complete certain transactions which were incorporated as
covenants to the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment. Pursuant to these requirements, the Company was obligated to complete the Restructuring, including the Operating Company Merger,
as further discussed in Note 3; the amendment of its charter to remove the requirements that it elect to be taxed as a REIT commencing with its 2000 taxable year, as further discussed in
Note 16; the restructuring of management; and the distribution of shares of Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share (the “Series B Preferred Stock™), in
satisfaction of the Company’s remaining 1999 REIT distribution requirement, as further discussed in Notes 14 and 19. As further discussed in Note 3, the June 2000 Waiver and
Amendment also permitted the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI. The Restructuring provided for a simplified corporate and financial structure while eliminating conflicts arising out of the
landlord-tenant and debtor-creditor relationship that existed between the Company and Operating Company.

In order to address existing and potential events of default under the Company’s convertible subordinated notes resulting from the Company’s financial condition and as a result of the
proposed restructurings, during the second quarter of 2000, the Company obtained waivers and amendments to the provisions of the note purchase agreements governing the notes, as
further discussed in Note 15. In order to address existing and potential events of default under the Operating Company’s revolving credit facility resulting from the financial condition of
Operating Company and certain restructuring transactions, during the first quarter of 2000, Operating Company obtained a waiver of events of default, as further discussed in Note 15.
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During the third quarter of 2000, the Company named a new president and chief executive officer, followed by a new chief financial officer in the fourth quarter. At the Company’s 2000
annual meeting of stockholders held during the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company’s stockholders elected a newly constituted board of directors of the Company, including a majority of
independent directors. During 2001, one of these directors resigned from the board of directors, while two additional directors were appointed to the board of directors, resulting in a ten-
member board.

Following the completion of the Operating Company Merger and the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI, during the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company’s new management conducted
strategic assessments; developed a strategic operating plan to improve the Company’s financial position; developed revised projections for 2001; and evaluated the utilization of existing
facilities, projects under development, excess land parcels, and identified certain of these non-strategic assets for sale. As a result of these assessments, the Company recorded non-cash
impairment losses totaling $508.7 million, as further discussed in Note 8.

As further discussed in Note 15, during the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company obtained a consent and amendment to its Senior Bank Credit Facility to replace existing financial
covenants. During the first quarter of 2001, the Company also obtained amendments to the Senior Bank Credit Facility, as further discussed in Note 15, to modify the financial covenants to
take into consideration any loss of EBITDA, or earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, as further defined in the terms of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, that may
result from certain asset dispositions during 2001 and subsequent periods and to permit the issuance of indebtedness in partial satisfaction of its obligations in the stockholder litigation
settlement. Also, during the first quarter of 2001, the Company amended the provisions to the note purchase agreement governing its $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes to
replace previously existing financial covenants, as further discussed in Note 15, in order to remove existing defaults and attempt to remain in compliance during 2001 and subsequent
periods.

Additionally, the Company also has certain non-financial covenants which must be met in order to remain in compliance with its debt agreements. For example, the Company’s Senior
Bank Credit Facility contained a non-financial covenant requiring the Company to consummate the securitization of lease payments (or other similar transaction) with respect to the
Company’s Agecroft facility located in Salford, England. On April 10, 2001, the Company consummated the Agecroft transaction through the sale of all of the issued and outstanding
capital stock of Agecroft Properties, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, thereby fulfilling the Company’s covenant requirements with respect to the Agecroft transaction.

The Senior Bank Credit Facility also contains a non-financial covenant requiring the Company to provide the lenders with audited financial statements within 90 days of the Company’s
fiscal year end, subject to an additional five-day grace period. Due to the Company’s attempts to close the Agecroft transaction discussed above, the Company did not provide the audited
financial statements within the required time period. However, the Company obtained a waiver from the lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility of this financial reporting
requirement. This waiver also cured the resulting cross-default under the Company’s $41.1 million convertible subordinated notes.

Additional non-financial covenants, among others, included a requirement to use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) raise $100.0 million through equity or asset sales (excluding the
securitization of lease payments or other similar transaction with respect to the Agecroft facility) on or before June 30, 2001, and (ii) register shares into which the $41.1 million
convertible subordinated notes are convertible. The Company had considered a distribution of rights to purchase common or preferred stock to the Company’s existing stockholders, or an
equity
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investment in the Company from an outside investor. However, the Company determined that it was not commercially reasonable to issue additional equity or debt securities, other than
those securities for which the Company had already contractually agreed to issue, including primarily the issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with the
settlement of the Company’s stockholder litigation, as more fully discussed in Note 21. Further, as a result of the Company’s restructuring during the third and fourth quarters of 2000, prior
to the completion of the audit of the Company’s 2000 financial statements and the filing of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on April 17, 2001, the Company was unable to provide the SEC with the requisite financial information required to be included in a
registration statement. Therefore, even if the Company had been able to negotiate a public or private sale of its equity securities on commercially reasonable terms, the Company’s inability
to obtain an effective registration statement with respect to such securities prior to April 17, 2001 would have effectively prohibited any such transaction. Moreover, the terms of any
private sale of the Company’s equity securities likely would have included a requirement that the Company register with the SEC the resale of the Company’s securities issued to a private
purchaser thereby also making it impossible to complete any private issuance of its securities. Due to the fact that the Company would have been unable to obtain an effective registration
statement, and therefore, would have been unable to effect any public issuance of its securities (or any private sale that included the right of resale), any actions prior to April 17, 2001 to
complete a capital raising event through the sale of equity or debt securities would have been futile.

Although the Company would technically have been able to file a registration statement with the SEC following April 17, 2001, the Company believes that various market factors,
including the depressed market price of the Company’s common stock immediately preceding April 17, 2001, the pending reverse stock split required to maintain the Company’s continued
New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) listing, and the uncertainty regarding the Company’s maturity of the revolving loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, made the issuance of
additional equity or debt securities commercially unreasonable.

Because the issuance of additional equity or debt securities was deemed unreasonable, the Company determined that the sale of assets represented the most effective means by which the
Company could satisfy the covenant. During the first and second quarters of 2001, the Company completed the sale of its Mountain View Correctional Facility for approximately $24.9
million and its Pamlico Correctional Facility for approximately $24.0 million, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company completed the sale of its Southern Nevada
Women’s Correctional Facility for approximately $24.1 million, and is actively pursuing the sales of additional assets. See Note 9 for further discussion of these sales. As a result of the
foregoing, the Company believes it demonstrated commercially reasonable efforts to complete the $100.0 million capital raising event as of June 30, 2001. Under terms of the December
2001 Amendment and Restatement to the Senior Bank Credit Facility, as defined in Note 15, the Company’s obligation to complete the capital raising event was removed.

Following the filing of the Company’s Form 10-K in April 2001, the Company commenced negotiations with MDP Ventures IV LLC and affiliated purchasers (collectively, “MDP”), the
holders of the Company’s $41.1 million convertible subordinated notes, with respect to an amendment to the registration rights agreement to defer the Company’s obligations to use its best
efforts to file and maintain the registration statement to register the shares into which the $41.1 million convertible notes are convertible. MDP later informed the Company that it would
not complete such an amendment. As a result, the Company completed and filed a shelf registration
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statement with the SEC on September 13, 2001, which became effective on September 26, 2001, in compliance with this obligation.

The revolving loan portion of the Senior Bank Credit Facility was to mature on January 1, 2002. As part of management’s strategic operating plan to improve the Company’s financial
position, the Company committed to a plan of disposal for certain long-lived assets. During 2001, the Company received net proceeds of approximately $138.7 million through the sale of
such assets. During 2001, the Company paid-down $189.0 million in total debt through a combination of cash generated from asset sales and internally generated cash. Additionally, assets
with an aggregate carrying value of $22.3 million were held for sale as of December 31, 2001. The Company may also pursue the sale of additional assets; however, there can be no
assurance that any sales will be completed. The Company expects to use anticipated proceeds from any such future asset sales to pay-down additional amounts outstanding under the Senior
Bank Credit Facility.

The Company believes that utilizing sale proceeds to pay-down debt and the generation of $138.6 million of operating income during 2001 has improved its leverage ratios and overall
financial position, which has improved its ability to renew and refinance maturing indebtedness.

As further discussed in Note 15, in December 2001, the Company completed an amendment and restatement of its existing Senior Bank Credit Facility (the “December 2001 Amendment
and Restatement”). As part of the December 2001 Amendment and Restatement, the existing $269.4 million revolving portion of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, which was scheduled to
mature on January 1, 2002, was replaced with a term loan of the same amount maturing on December 31, 2002, to coincide with the maturity of the other loans under the Senior Bank
Credit Facility.

The Company believed, and continues to believe, that a short-term extension of the revolving portion of the Senior Bank Credit Facility was in its best interests for a longer-term financing
strategy, particularly due to difficult market conditions for the issuance of debt securities following the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, and during the fourth quarter of 2001.
Additionally, the Company believed that certain terms of the December 2001 Amendment and Restatement, including primarily the removal of prior restrictions to pay cash dividends on
shares of its Series A Preferred Stock, including all dividends in arrears, as further discussed in Notes 14 and 19, would result in an improvement to its credit ratings, enhancing the terms of
a more comprehensive refinancing. Further, the Company believes that the successful pursuit of additional transactions that would not be completed by January 1, 2002, such as the sale of
additional assets and a potential contract award from the Federal Bureau of Prisons (“BOP”) for 1,500 inmates under the BOP’s Criminal Alien Requirement II, or CAR II, could improve
the terms of a more comprehensive refinancing.

Management has prepared financial projections for 2002, which indicate the Company will continue to remain compliant with its debt covenants. In addition, management continues to
pursue additional asset sales and new contract awards. Based upon these additional factors, management has begun pursuing alternatives to refinance the Senior Bank Credit Facility
scheduled to mature December 31, 2002. The Company believes that it will be able to complete a refinancing of the Senior Bank Credit Facility during the first half of 2002 through senior
secured bank debt or through a combination of senior secured bank debt and senior unsecured debt even without the sale of additional assets or the BOP contract award. However, there can
be no assurance that the Company will be able to meet its financial projections for 2002, sell additional assets, obtain a new contract from the BOP or complete a refinancing of the Senior
Bank Credit Facility prior to its maturity on December 31, 2002, on commercially reasonable or any other terms. Unsuccessful attempts to refinance the Senior Bank Credit Facility, or
events of default which result in the
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acceleration of all or a portion of the Company’s outstanding debt, would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity and financial position. The Company does not have
sufficient working capital resources to satisfy its debt obligations in the event it cannot complete a refinancing prior to December 31, 2002.

Due to certain cross-default provisions contained in certain of the Company’s debt instruments (as further discussed in Note 15), if the Company were to be in default under the Senior
Bank Credit Facility and if the lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility elected to exercise their rights to accelerate the Company’s obligations under the Senior Bank Credit Facility,
such events could result in the acceleration of all or a portion of the outstanding principal amount of the Company’s $100.0 million senior notes or the Company’s aggregate $70.0 million
convertible subordinated notes, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity and financial position. Additionally, under the Company’s $40.0 million convertible
subordinated notes, even if the lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility did not elect to exercise their acceleration rights upon a default under the Senior Bank Credit Facility
permitting acceleration, the holders of the $40.0 million convertible subordinated notes could require the Company to repurchase such notes. The Company does not have sufficient
working capital to satisfy its debt obligations in the event of an acceleration of all or a substantial portion of the Company’s outstanding indebtedness.

3. MERGER TRANSACTIONS
The 1999 Merger

On December 31, 1998, immediately prior to the 1999 Merger, Old CCA sold to Operating Company all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of certain wholly-owned corporate
subsidiaries of Old CCA, certain management contracts and certain other assets and liabilities, and the Company and Operating Company entered into a series of agreements as more fully
described in Note 6. In exchange, Old CCA received a $137.0 million promissory note payable by Operating Company (the “CCA Note”) and 100% of the non-voting common stock of
Operating Company. The non-voting common stock represented a 9.5% economic interest in Operating Company and was valued at the implied fair market value of $4.8 million. The
Company succeeded to these interests as a result of the 1999 Merger. The sale to Operating Company generated a deferred gain of $63.3 million. See Note 6 for discussion of the
accounting for the CCA Note, the deferred gain and for discussion of other relationships between the Company and Operating Company.

On December 31, 1998, immediately prior to the 1999 Merger, Old CCA sold to a newly-created company, Prison Management Services, LLC (“PMS, LLC”), certain management
contracts and certain other assets and liabilities relating to government-owned adult prison facilities. In exchange, Old CCA received 100% of the non-voting membership interest in PMS,
LLC, valued at the implied fair market value of $67.1 million. On January 1, 1999, PMS, LLC merged with PMSI and all PMS, LLC membership interests were converted into a similar
class of stock in PMSI. The Company succeeded to this ownership interest as a result of the 1999 Merger. The sale to PMSI generated a deferred gain of $35.4 million.

On December 31, 1998, immediately prior to the 1999 Merger, Old CCA sold to a newly-created company, Juvenile and Jail Facility Management Services, LLC (“JJFMS, LLC”), certain
management contracts and certain other assets and liabilities relating to government-owned jails and juvenile facilities, as well as Old CCA’s international operations. In exchange, Old
CCA received 100% of the non-voting membership interest in JJEMS, LLC valued at the implied fair market value of $55.9 million. On January 1, 1999, JJFMS, LLC merged with
JJFMSI and all JJFMS, LLC membership interests were converted into a similar class of stock in JJEMSI. The Company
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succeeded to this ownership interest as a result of the 1999 Merger. The sale to JJFMSI generated a deferred gain of $18.0 million.

On December 31, 1998, Old CCA merged with and into New Prison Realty. In the 1999 Merger, each share of Old CCA’s common stock was converted into the right to receive 0.875 share
of New Prison Realty’s common stock. On January 1, 1999, Old Prison Realty merged with and into New Prison Realty in the 1999 Merger. In the 1999 Merger, Old Prison Realty
shareholders received 1.0 share of common stock or 8.0% Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”) of the Company in exchange for each Old Prison Realty
common share or 8.0% Series A Cumulative Preferred Share.

The first step of the 1999 Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition of New Prison Realty by Old CCA, with the second step of the 1999 Merger representing an acquisition of Old
Prison Realty by New Prison Realty. As such, Old CCA’s assets and liabilities have been carried forward at historical cost, and the provisions of reverse acquisition accounting prescribe
that Old CCA’s historical financial statements be presented as the Company’s historical financial statements prior to January 1, 1999. The historical equity section of the financial
statements and earnings per share have been retroactively restated to reflect the Company’s equity structure, including the exchange ratio and the effects of the differences in par values of
the respective companies’ common stock. However, Old Prison Realty’s assets and liabilities acquired in the second step of the 1999 Merger have been recorded at their estimated fair
market value, as required by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 16, “Business Combinations” (“APB 16”).

The 2000 Operating Company Merger and Restructuring Transactions

In order to address liquidity and capital constraints, the Company entered into a series of agreements providing for the comprehensive restructuring of the Company. As a part of this
Restructuring, the Company entered into an agreement and plan of merger with Operating Company, dated as of June 30, 2000, providing for the Operating Company Merger.

Effective October 1, 2000, New Prison Realty and Operating Company completed the Operating Company Merger in accordance with an agreement and plan of merger, after New Prison
Realty’s stockholders approved the agreement and plan of merger on September 12, 2000. In connection with the completion of the Operating Company Merger, New Prison Realty
amended its charter to, among other things:

. remove provisions relating to its qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with its 2000 taxable year,
. change its name to “Corrections Corporation of America,” and
. increase the amount of its authorized capital stock.

Following the completion of the Operating Company Merger, Operating Company ceased to exist, and the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary began operating collectively under
the “Corrections Corporation of America” name. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement and plan of merger, the Company issued approximately 0.8 million shares (as adjusted for the
reverse stock split in May 2001) of its common stock valued at approximately $10.6 million to the holders of Operating Company’s voting common stock at the time of the completion of
the Operating Company Merger.
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On October 1, 2000, immediately prior to the completion of the Operating Company Merger, the Company purchased all of the shares of Operating Company’s voting common stock held
by the Baron Asset Fund (“Baron”) and Sodexho Alliance S.A., a French société anonyme (“Sodexho”), the holders of approximately 34% of the outstanding common stock of Operating
Company, for an aggregate of $16.0 million in non-cash consideration, consisting of an aggregate of approximately 1.1 million shares of the Company’s common stock. In addition, the
Company issued to Baron warrants to purchase approximately 142,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share and warrants to purchase
approximately 71,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $14.10 per share in consideration for Baron’s consent to the Operating Company Merger. The
warrants issued to Baron were valued at approximately $2.2 million. In addition, in the Operating Company Merger, the Company assumed the obligation to issue up to approximately
75,000 shares of its common stock, at an exercise price of $33.30 per share, pursuant to the exercise of warrants to purchase common stock previously issued by Operating Company. The
number of common shares and per share amounts described above have been retroactively restated to reflect the reduction in common shares and corresponding increase in the per share
amounts resulting from the reverse stock split in May 2001, as further discussed in Note 5.

Also on October 1, 2000, immediately prior to the Operating Company Merger, the Company purchased an aggregate of 100,000 shares of Operating Company’s voting common stock for
$200,000 cash from D. Robert Crants, I1I and Michael W. Devlin, former executive officers and directors of the Company, pursuant to the terms of severance agreements between the
Company and Messrs. Crants, 11T and Devlin. The cash proceeds from the purchase of the shares of Operating Company’s voting common stock from Messrs. Crants, III and Devlin were
used to immediately repay a like portion of amounts outstanding under loans previously granted to Messrs. Crants, III and Devlin by the Company. The Company also purchased 300,000
shares of Operating Company’s voting common stock held by Doctor R. Crants, the former chief executive officer of the Company and Operating Company, for $600,000 cash. Under the
original terms of the severance agreements between the Company and each of Messrs. Crants, III and Devlin, Operating Company was to make a $300,000 payment for the purchase of a
portion of the shares of Operating Company’s voting common stock originally held by Messrs. Crants, III and Devlin on December 31, 1999. However, as a result of restrictions on
Operating Company’s ability to purchase these shares, the rights and obligations were assigned to and assumed by Doctor R. Crants. In connection with this assignment, Mr. Crants
received a loan in the aggregate principal amount of $600,000 from PMSI, the proceeds of which were used to purchase the 300,000 shares of Operating Company’s voting common stock
owned by Messrs. Crants, IIT and Devlin. The cash proceeds from the purchase by the Company of the shares of Operating Company’s voting common stock from Mr. Crants were used to
immediately repay the $600,000 loan previously granted to Mr. Crants by PMSI.

The Operating Company Merger was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting as prescribed by APB 16. Accordingly, the aggregate purchase price of $75.3 million was
allocated to the assets purchased and liabilities assumed (identifiable intangibles included a workforce asset of approximately $1.6 million, a contract acquisition costs asset of
approximately $1.5 million and a contract values liability of approximately $26.1 million) based upon the estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. The aggregate purchase price
consisted of the value of the Company’s common stock and warrants issued in the transaction, the Company’s net carrying amount of the CCA Note as of the date of acquisition (which has
been extinguished), the Company’s net carrying amount of deferred gains and receivables/payables between the Company and Operating Company as of the date of acquisition, and
capitalized merger costs. The excess of the aggregate purchase price over the assets purchased and liabilities assumed of $87.0 million was reflected as goodwill. See Note 4 regarding
amortization of the Company’s intangibles.
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As aresult of the Restructuring, all existing Operating Company Leases, the Tenant Incentive Agreement, the Trade Name Use Agreement, the Right to Purchase Agreement, the Services
Agreement and the Business Development Agreement (each as defined in Note 6) were cancelled. In addition, all outstanding shares of Operating Company’s non-voting common stock, all
of which shares were owned by the Company, were cancelled in the Operating Company Merger.

In connection with the Restructuring, in September 2000 a wholly-owned subsidiary of PMSI purchased 85% of the outstanding voting common stock of PMSI which was held by
Privatized Management Services Investors, LLC, an outside entity controlled by a director of PMSI and members of the director’s family, for a cash purchase price of $8.0 million. In
addition, PMSI and its wholly-owned subsidiary paid the chief manager of Privatized Management Services Investors, LLC $150,000 as compensation for expenses incurred in connection
with the transaction, as well as $125,000 in consideration for the chief manager’s agreement not to engage in a business competitive to the business of PMSI for a period of one year
following the completion of the transaction. Also in connection with the Restructuring, in September 2000 a wholly-owned subsidiary of JJEMSI purchased 85% of the outstanding voting
common stock of JJFMSI which was held by Correctional Services Investors, LLC, an outside entity controlled by a director of JJFMS]I, for a cash purchase price of $4.8 million. In
addition, JJFMSI and its wholly-owned subsidiary paid the chief manager of Correctional Services Investors, LLC $250,000 for expenses incurred in connection with the transaction.

As a result of the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI on December 1, 2000, all shares of PMSI and JJFMSI voting and non-voting common stock held by the Company and certain
subsidiaries of PMSI and JJFMSI were cancelled. In connection with the acquisition of PMSI, the Company issued approximately 128,000 shares of its common stock (as adjusted for the
reverse stock split in May 2001) valued at approximately $0.6 million to the wardens of the correctional and detention facilities operated by PMSI who were the remaining shareholders of
PMSI. Shares of the Company’s common stock owned by the PMSI wardens are subject to vesting and forfeiture provisions under a restricted stock plan. In connection with the acquisition
of JJFMS]I, the Company issued approximately 160,000 shares of its common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) valued at approximately $0.7 million to the
wardens of the correctional and detention facilities operated by JJFMSI who were the remaining shareholders of JJFMSI. Shares of the Company’s common stock owned by the JJFMSI
wardens are subject to vesting and forfeiture provisions under a restricted stock plan.

The acquisition of PMSI was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting as prescribed by APB 16. Accordingly, the aggregate purchase price of $43.2 million was allocated to
the assets purchased and liabilities assumed (identifiable intangibles included a workforce asset of approximately $0.5 million, a contract acquisition costs asset of approximately

$0.7 million and a contract values asset of approximately $4.0 million) based upon the estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. The aggregate purchase price consisted of the net
carrying amount of the Company’s investment in PMSI less the Company’s net carrying amount of deferred gains and receivables/payables between the Company and PMSI as of the date
of acquisition, and capitalized merger costs. The excess of the aggregate purchase price over the assets purchased and liabilities assumed of $12.2 million was reflected as goodwill. See
Note 4 regarding amortization of the Company’s intangibles.

The acquisition of JJFMSI was also accounted for using the purchase method of accounting as prescribed by APB 16. Accordingly, the aggregate purchase price of $38.2 million was
allocated to the assets purchased and liabilities assumed (identifiable intangibles included a workforce asset of approximately $0.5 million, a contract acquisition costs asset of

approximately $0.5 million and a contract values liability of approximately $3.1 million) based upon the estimated fair value at the
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date of acquisition. The aggregate purchase price consisted of the net carrying amount of the Company’s investment in JJFMSI less the Company’s net carrying amount of deferred gains
and receivables/payables between the Company and JJFMSI as of the date of acquisition, and capitalized merger costs. The excess of the aggregate purchase price over the assets purchased
and liabilities assumed of $11.4 million was reflected as goodwill. See Note 4 regarding amortization of the Company’s intangibles.

As a part of the Restructuring, CCA (UK) Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales (“CCA UK”) and a wholly-owned subsidiary of JJFMSI, sold its 50% ownership interest
in two international subsidiaries, Corrections Corporation of Australia Pty. Ltd., an Australian corporation (“CCA Australia”), and U.K. Detention Services Limited, a company
incorporated in England and Wales (“UKDS”), to Sodexho on November 30, 2000 and December 7, 2000, respectively, for an aggregate cash purchase price of $6.4 million. Sodexho
already owned the remaining 50% interest in each of CCA Australia and UKDS. The purchase price of $6.4 million included $5.0 million for the purchase of UKDS and $1.4 million for
the purchase of CCA Australia. JJFMSI’s book basis in UKDS was $3.4 million, which resulted in a $1.6 million gain in the fourth quarter of 2000. JJFMSI’s book basis in CCA Australia
was $5.0 million, which resulted in a $3.6 million loss, which was recognized as a loss on sale of assets during the third quarter of 2000. In connection with the sale of CCA UK’s interest
in CCA Australia and UKDS to Sodexho, Sodexho granted JJEMSI an option to repurchase a 25% interest in each entity at any time prior to September 11, 2002 for aggregate cash
consideration of $4.0 million if such option is exercised on or before February 11, 2002, and for aggregate cash consideration of $4.2 million if such option is exercised after February 11,
2002 but prior to September 11, 2002. These options were terminated during the second quarter of 2001.

The following unaudited pro forma operating information presents a summary of comparable results of combined operations of the Company, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI for
the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 as if the Operating Company Merger and acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI had collectively occurred as of the beginning of the periods
presented. The unaudited information includes the dilutive effects of the Company’s common stock issued in the Operating Company Merger and the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI as
well as the amortization of the intangibles recorded in the Operating Company Merger and the acquisition of PMSI and JJFMSI, but excludes: (i) transactions or the effects of transactions
between the Company, Operating Company, PMSI and JJFMSI including rental payments, licensing fees, administrative service fees and tenant incentive fees; (ii) the Company’s write-off
of amounts under lease arrangements; (iii) the Company’s recognition of deferred gains on sales of contracts; (iv) the Company’s recognition of equity in earnings or losses of Operating
Company, PMSI and JJFMST; (v) non-recurring merger costs expensed by the Company; (vi) strategic investor fees expensed by the Company; (vii) excise taxes accrued by the Company
in 1999 related to its status as a REIT; and (viii) the Company’s provisions for changes in tax status in both 1999 and 2000. The per share amounts have also been retroactively restated to
reflect the one-for-ten reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock in May 2001. The unaudited pro forma operating information is presented for comparison purposes only and
does not purport to represent what the Company’s results of operations actually would have been had the Operating Company Merger and acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI, in fact,
collectively occurred at the beginning of the periods presented.
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Pro Forma for the Year Ended
December 31,

2000 1999

(unaudited) (unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue $ 891,680 $782,335
Operating loss $(481,026) $(10,167)
Net loss available to common stockholders $(578,174) $(57,844)
Net loss per common share:
Basic $ (39.04) $ (4.23)
Diluted $ (39.04) $ (4.23)

The unaudited pro forma information presented above does not include adjustments to reflect the dilutive effects of the fourth quarter of 2000 conversion of the Company’s Series B
Preferred Stock into approximately 9.5 million shares of the Company’s common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) as if those conversions occurred at the
beginning of the periods presented. Additionally, the unaudited pro forma information does not include the dilutive effects of the Company’s potentially issuable common shares such as
convertible debt and equity securities, options and warrants as the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS 128”) prohibit the
inclusion of the effects of potentially issuable shares in periods that a company reports losses from continuing operations. The unaudited pro forma information also does not include the
dilutive effects of the expected issuance of an aggregate of approximately 4.7 million shares of the Company’s common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) in
connection with the settlement of the Company’s stockholder litigation.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The combined and consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company on a consolidated basis with its wholly-owned subsidiaries as of and for each period presented.
The Company’s results of operations for 1999 reflect the operating results of the Company as a REIT. Management believes the comparison between 2001 and 2000, and between 2000 and
prior years is not meaningful because the 2000 financial condition, results of operations and cash flows reflect the operation of the Company as a subchapter C corporation, which, for the
period from January 1, 2000 through September 30, 2000, included real estate activities between the Company and Operating Company during a period of severe liquidity problems, and as
of October 1, 2000, also includes the operations of the correctional and detention facilities previously leased to and managed by Operating Company. In addition, the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the year ended December 31, 2000 also include the operations of the Service Companies as of December 1, 2000 (acquisition
date) on a consolidated basis. For the period January 1, 2000 through August 31, 2000, the investments in the Service Companies were accounted for and were presented under the equity
method of accounting. For the period from September 1, 2000 through November 30, 2000, the investments in the Service Companies were accounted for on a combined basis due to the
repurchase by the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Service Companies of the non-management, outside stockholders’ equity interest in the Service Companies during September 2000.
The resulting increase in the Company’s assets and liabilities as of September 1, 2000 as a result of combining the balance sheets of PMSI and JJFMSI has been treated as a non-cash
transaction in the accompanying combined statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2000, with the September 1, 2000 combined cash balances of PMSI and JJFMSI
($22.0 million) included in “cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year.” Consistent with the Company’s previous financial statement presentations, the Company has presented its
economic
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interests in each of PMSI and JJFMSI under the equity method for all periods prior to September 1, 2000. All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in
combining the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries with the respective financial statements of PMSI and JJFMSI.

Although the Company’s consolidated results of operations and cash flows presented in the accompanying 2000 financial statements are presented on a combined basis with the results of
operations and cash flows of PMSI and JJFMSI for the period from September 1, 2000 through November 30, 2000, the Company did not control the assets and liabilities of either PMSI or
JJFMSI. Additionally, the Company was only entitled to receive dividends on its non-voting common stock upon declaration by the respective boards of directors of PMSI and JJFMSI.

For the entire year 2001, the Company’s consolidated results of operations and cash flows reflect the results of the Company as a business specializing in owning, operating and managing
prisons and other correctional facilities and providing prisoner transportation services for governmental agencies.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all liquid debt instruments with a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash at December 31, 2001 was $12.5 million, of which $7.0 million represents cash collateral for a guarantee agreement and $5.5 represents cash collateral for outstanding
letters of credit. Restricted cash at December 31, 2000 was $9.2 million, of which $7.0 million represents cash collateral for a guarantee agreement and $2.2 million represents cash
collateral for outstanding letters of credit.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is carried at cost. Assets acquired by the Company in conjunction with acquisitions are recorded at estimated fair market value in accordance with the purchase
method of accounting prescribed by APB 16. Betterments, renewals and extraordinary repairs that extend the life of an asset are capitalized; other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed. Interest is capitalized to the asset to which it relates in connection with the construction of major facilities. The cost and accumulated depreciation applicable to assets retired are

removed from the accounts and the gain or loss on disposition is recognized in income. Depreciation is computed over the estimated useful lives of depreciable assets using the straight-line
method. Useful lives for property and equipment are as follows:

Land improvements 5-20 years
Buildings and improvements 5-50 years
Equipment 3-5 years
Office furniture and fixtures 5 years

Assets Held for Sale
Assets held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value less estimated cost to sell. Depreciation is suspended during the period held for sale.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets primarily include goodwill, value of workforce, contract acquisition costs, and contract values established in connection with certain business combinations. Goodwill
represents the cost in excess of the net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is amortized into amortization expense over fifteen years using the straight-line method. However, as further
discussed under recent accounting pronouncements herein, goodwill will no longer be subject to amortization beginning January 1, 2002. Value of workforce, contract acquisition costs
(both included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets) and contract values (included in other non-current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets) represent the estimated fair values of the identifiable intangibles acquired in the Operating Company Merger and in the acquisitions of the Service Companies. Value of
workforce is amortized into amortization expense over estimated useful lives ranging from 23 to 38 months using the straight-line method. Contract acquisition costs and contract values
are generally amortized into amortization expense using the interest method over the lives of the related management contracts acquired, which range from three to 227 months. The
Company evaluates the realizability of the carrying value of its intangible assets when events suggest that an impairment may have occurred. The Company determines if a potential
impairment of intangible assets exists based on the estimated undiscounted value of expected future operating cash flows in relation to the carrying values. The Company does not believe
that impairments of intangible assets have occurred. As further discussed under recent accounting pronouncements herein, effective January 1, 2002, the Company will test goodwill for
impairment using a fair-value based approach. The Company also periodically evaluates whether changes have occurred that would require revision of the remaining estimated useful lives
of intangible assets.

Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of” (“SFAS
121”), the Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying values of its long-lived assets, other than intangibles, when events suggest that an impairment may have occurred. In these
circumstances, the Company utilizes estimates of undiscounted cash flows to determine if an impairment exists. If an impairment exists, it is measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset. See Note 8 for discussion of impairment of long-lived assets.

Investment in Direct Financing Leases

Investment in direct financing leases represents the portion of the Company’s management contracts with certain governmental agencies that represent capitalized lease payments on
buildings and equipment. The leases are accounted for using the financing method and, accordingly, the minimum lease payments to be received over the term of the leases less unearned
income are capitalized as the Company’s investments in the leases. Unearned income is recognized as income over the term of the leases using the interest method.

Investment in Affiliates

Investments in affiliates that are equal to or less than 50%-owned over which the Company cannot exercise significant influence are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

For the period from January 1, 1999 through August 31, 2000, the investments in the Service Companies were accounted for under the equity method of accounting. For the period from
September 1, 2000
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through November 30, 2000, the investments in the Service Companies are presented on a combined basis due to the repurchase by the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Service
Companies of the non-management, outside stockholders’ equity interest in the Service Companies during September 2000.

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs, which are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets, are amortized into interest expense on a straight-line basis, which is not materially different than
the interest method, over the term of the related debt.

Deferred Gains on Sales of Contracts

Deferred gains on sales of contracts were generated as a result of the sale of certain management contracts to Operating Company, PMSI and JJEMSI. The Company previously amortized
these deferred gains into income in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 81, “Gain Recognition on the Sale of a Business or Operating Asset to a Highly Leveraged Entity.”
The deferred gain from the sale to Operating Company was to be amortized concurrently with the receipt of the principal payments on the CCA Note, over a six-year period beginning
December 31, 2003. As of the date of the Operating Company Merger, the Company had not recognized any of the deferred gain from the sale to Operating Company. The deferred gains
from the sales to PMSI and JJFMSI had been amortized over a five-year period commencing January 1, 1999, which represented the average remaining lives of the contracts sold to PMSI
and JJFMSI, plus any contractual renewal options. Effective with the Operating Company Merger and the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI, the Company applied the unamortized
balances of the deferred gains on sales of contracts in accordance with the purchase method of accounting under APB 16.

Management and Other Revenue

The Company maintains contracts with certain governmental entities to manage their facilities for fixed per diem rates or monthly fixed rates. The Company also maintains contracts with
various federal, state and local governmental entities for the housing of inmates in company-owned facilities at fixed per diem rates. These contracts usually contain expiration dates with
renewal options ranging from annual to multi-year renewals. Most of these contracts have current terms that require renewal every two to five years. Additionally, most facility
management contracts contain clauses which allow the government agency to terminate a contract without cause, and are generally subject to legislative appropriations. The Company
expects to renew these contracts for periods consistent with the remaining renewal options allowed by the contracts or other reasonable extensions; however, no assurance can be given that
such renewals will be obtained. Fixed monthly rate revenue is recorded in the month earned and fixed per diem revenue is recorded based on the per diem rate multiplied by the number of
inmates housed during the respective period. The Company recognizes any additional management service revenues when earned. Certain of the government agencies also have the
authority to audit and investigate the Company’s contracts with them. For contracts that actually or effectively provide for certain reimbursement of expenses, if the agency determines that
the Company has improperly allocated costs to a specific contract, the Company may not be reimbursed for those costs and could be required to refund the amount of any such costs that
have been reimbursed.
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Rental Revenue

Rental revenues are recognized based on the terms of the Company’s leases. Tenant incentive fees paid to lessees, including Operating Company prior to the Operating Company Merger,
have been deferred and amortized as a reduction of rental revenue over the term of related leases. During 1999, due to Operating Company’s financial condition, as well as the proposed
merger with Operating Company and the proposed termination of the Operating Company Leases in connection therewith, the Company wrote-off the tenant incentive fees due to
Operating Company, totaling $65.7 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. Tenant incentive fees due to Operating Company during 2000 totaling $11.9 million were expensed as
incurred.

Self -funded Insurance Reserves

The Company is significantly self-insured for employee health, workers’ compensation, and automobile liability insurance. As such, the Company’s insurance expense is largely dependent
on claims experience and the Company’s ability to control its claims experience. The Company has consistently accrued the estimated liability for employee health based on its history of
claims experience and time lag between the incident date and the date the cost is reported to the Company. The Company has accrued the estimated liability for workers’ compensation and
automobile insurance based on a third-party actuarial valuation of the outstanding liabilities. These estimates could change in the future.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”). SFAS 109 generally requires
the Company to record deferred income taxes for the tax effect of differences between book and tax bases of its assets and liabilities. For the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company
elected to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). As a result, the Company was generally not subject to income tax on its taxable income at
corporate rates to the extent it distributed annually at least 95% of its taxable income to its shareholders and complied with certain other requirements. Accordingly, no provision was made
for income taxes in the accompanying 1999 consolidated financial statements. The Company’s election of REIT status for the taxable year ended December 31, 1999 is subject to review by
the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), generally for a period of three years from the date of filing of its 1999 tax return. In connection with the Restructuring, on September 12, 2000, the
Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the Company’s charter to remove provisions requiring the Company to elect to qualify and be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax
purposes effective January 1, 2000. The Company has been taxed as a taxable subchapter C corporation beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2000.

Prior to the 1999 Merger, Old CCA operated as a taxable corporation for federal income tax purposes since its inception. Subsequent to the 1999 Merger the Company elected to change its
tax status to a REIT effective with the filing of its 1999 federal income tax return. Although the Company recorded a provision for income taxes during 1999 reflecting the removal of net
deferred tax assets on the Company’s balance sheet as of December 31, 1998, as a REIT, the Company was not subject to federal income taxes, so long as the Company continued to
qualify as a REIT under the Code. Therefore, no income tax provision was incurred, nor benefit realized, relating to the Company’s operations for the year ended December 31, 1999.
However, in order to qualify as a REIT, the Company was required to distribute the accumulated earnings and profits of Old CCA. See Note 14 for further information. In connection with
the Restructuring, the Company’s
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stockholders approved an amendment to the Company’s charter to, among other things, remove provisions relating to the Company’s operation and qualification as a REIT for federal
income tax purposes commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 2000. The Company recognized an income tax provision during the third quarter of 2000 for establishing net
deferred tax liabilities in connection with the change in tax status, net of a valuation allowance applied to certain deferred tax assets. The Company expects to continue to operate as a
taxable corporation in future years.

As further described in Note 16, as of December 31, 2001, the Company’s deferred tax assets totaled approximately $150.5 million. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Realization of the future tax
benefits related to deferred tax assets is dependent on many factors, including the Company’s ability to generate taxable income within the net operating loss carryforward period. Since the
change in tax status in connection with the Restructuring in 2000, and as of December 31, 2001, the Company has provided a valuation allowance to reserve the deferred tax assets in
accordance with SFAS 109. The valuation allowance was recognized based on the weight of available evidence indicating that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets would
not be realized. This evidence primarily consisted of, but was not limited to, recurring operating losses for federal tax purposes.

The Company’s assessment of the valuation allowance could change in the future. Removal of the valuation allowance in whole or in part would result in a non-cash reduction in income
tax expense during the period of removal. To the extent no reserve is established for the Company’s deferred tax assets, the financial statements would reflect a provision for income taxes
at the applicable federal and state tax rates on income before taxes.

Foreign Currency Transactions

During 2000, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a 25-year property lease with Agecroft Prison Management, Ltd. (“APM”) in connection with the construction and
development of the Company’s Agecroft facility, located in Salford, England. The Company also extended a working capital loan to the operator of this facility. These assets along with
various other short-term receivables are denominated in British pounds; consequently, the Company adjusts these receivables to the current exchange rate at each balance sheet date and
recognizes the unrealized currency gain or loss in current period earnings. Realized foreign currency gains or losses are recognized in operating expenses as payments are received. On
April 10, 2001, the Company sold its interest in the Agecroft facility. However, the Company retained its 50% interest in APM, which has a management contract for the Agecroft facility.
The Company retained and will continue to record foreign currency transaction gains and losses on the working capital loan.

Fair Value of Derivative and Financial Instruments

Derivative Instruments

The Company may enter into derivative financial instrument transactions in order to mitigate its interest rate risk on a related financial instrument. The Company accounts for these
derivative financial instruments in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”),
which became effective January 1, 2001. SFAS 133, as amended, requires that changes in a derivative’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting
criteria are met. The Company has entered into an interest rate swap agreement on $325.0 million of floating rate debt on the Senior Bank Credit Facility. The Company has elected not to

attempt to meet the hedge

F-28




Table of Contents

accounting criteria for the interest rate swap agreement. The Company estimates the fair value of its interest rate swap agreements using option-pricing models that value the potential for
interest rate swap agreements to become in-the-money through changes in interest rates during the remaining term of the agreements. A negative fair value represents the estimated amount
the Company would have to pay to cancel the contract or transfer it to other parties.

At December 31, 2001, the Company also had a derivative instrument associated with the issuance of a $26.1 million promissory note due in 2009. The terms of the note, which allow the
principal balance to fluctuate dependent on the trading price of the Company’s common stock, create a derivative instrument that is accounted for under the provisions of SFAS 133. As a
result of the extinguishment of the note in full in January 2002, management estimated the fair value of this derivative to approximate the face amount of the note. The derivative asset
offsets the face amount of the note in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001.

Financial Instruments
To meet the reporting requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, “Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (“SFAS 107”), the Company

calculates the estimated fair value of financial instruments using quoted market prices of similar instruments or discounted cash flow techniques. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, there
were no differences between the carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments, other than as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2001 2000
Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value
Investment in direct financing leases $ 19,340 $ 22,317 $ 24877 $ 17,541
Debt $(963,600) $(974,039) $(1,152,570) $(844,334)
Interest rate swap agreement $ (13,564) $ (13,564) $ — $ (5,023)

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risks

The Company’s credit risks relate primarily to cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and investment in direct financing leases. Cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash are primarily held in bank accounts and overnight investments. The Company’s accounts receivable and investment in direct financing leases represent amounts due
primarily from governmental agencies. The Company’s financial instruments are subject to the possibility of loss in carrying value as a result of either the failure of other parties to perform

according to their contractual obligations or changes in market prices that make the instruments less valuable.
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Approximately 93% of the Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 relates to amounts earned under federal, state and local government management contracts,
respectively. Approximately 28% and 58% of the Company’s revenue was from federal and state governments, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2001. Management revenue
from the BOP represents approximately 13% of total revenue for 2001. No other customer generated more than 10% of total revenue.

Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income” establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income and its components in
a full set of general purpose financial statements. Comprehensive income encompasses all changes in stockholders’ equity except those arising from transactions with stockholders.

The Company reports comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity. Comprehensive income (loss) was equivalent to the Company’s reported net income
(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 142 addresses accounting and
reporting standards for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 17, “Intangible Assets”. Under SFAS 142, goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives will no longer be subject to amortization, but instead will be tested for impairment at least annually using a fair-value-based approach. The
impairment loss is the amount, if any, by which the implied fair value of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is less than their carrying amounts and is recognized in
earnings. SFAS 142 also requires companies to disclose information about the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, the carrying amount of intangible assets by major intangible
asset class for those assets subject to amortization and those not subject to amortization, and the estimated intangible asset amortization expense for the next five years. As of December 31,
2001, the Company had $104.0 million of goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $9.1 million reflected on the accompanying balance sheet associated with the Operating Company
Merger and the acquisitions of the Service Companies completed during the fourth quarter of 2000. The Company does not have any intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.
Amortization of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $7.6 million.

Provisions of SFAS 142 are required to be applied starting with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. Because goodwill and some intangible assets will no longer be amortized,

the reported amounts of goodwill and some intangible assets (as well as total assets) will not decrease at the same time and in the same manner as under previous standards. There may be

more volatility in reported income than under previous standards because impairment losses may occur irregularly and in varying amounts. The impairment losses, if any, that arise due to

the initial application of SFAS 142 resulting from a transitional impairment test applied as of January 1, 2002, will be reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in
the Company’s statement of operations during the first quarter of 2002. Although the amount of impairment losses, if any, has not yet been determined, the initial application of SFAS 142

could have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements.
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In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144
addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets and supersedes SFAS 121, and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion
No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions”, for the disposal of a segment of a business (as previously defined in that Opinion). SFAS 144 retains the fundamental provisions of SFAS 121 for recognizing and measuring
impairment losses on long-lived assets held for use and long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale, while also resolving significant implementation issues associated with SFAS 121. Unlike
SFAS 121, however, an impairment assessment under SFAS 144 will never result in a write-down of goodwill. Rather, goodwill is evaluated for impairment under SFAS 142. The
provisions of SFAS 144 are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Adoption of SFAS
144 is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Reclassifications

Merger transaction expenses totaling $24.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, have been reclassified to general and administrative expense to conform with the 2001
presentation. Lease expenses totaling $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 have been reclassified to operating expenses to conform with the 2001 presentation.

5. REVERSE STOCK SPLIT

At the Company’s 2000 annual meeting of stockholders held in December 2000, the holders of the Company’s common stock approved a reverse stock split of the Company’s common
stock at a ratio to be determined by the board of directors of the Company of not less than one-for-ten and not to exceed one-for-twenty. The board of directors subsequently approved a
reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock at a ratio of one-for-ten, which was effective May 18, 2001.

As a result of the reverse stock split, every ten shares of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the reverse stock split has been reclassified and changed
into one fully paid and nonassessable share of the Company’s common stock. The Company paid its registered common stockholders cash in lieu of issuing fractional shares in the reverse
stock split at a post reverse-split rate of $8.60 per share, totaling approximately $15,000. The number of common shares and per share amounts have been retroactively restated in the
accompanying financial statements and these notes to the financial statements to reflect the reduction in common shares and corresponding increase in the per share amounts resulting from
the reverse stock split. In conjunction with the reverse stock split, during the second quarter of 2001, the Company amended its charter to reduce the number of shares of common stock
which the Company was authorized to issue to 80.0 million shares (on a post-reverse stock split basis) from 400.0 million shares (on pre-reverse stock split basis). As of December 31,
2001, the Company had 27.9 million shares of common stock issued and outstanding (on a post-reverse stock split basis).

6. HISTORICAL RELATIONSHIP WITH OPERATING COMPANY
Operating Company was a private prison management company that operated, managed and leased the substantial majority of facilities owned by the Company from January 1, 1999

through September 30, 2000. As a result of the 1999 Merger and certain contractual relationships existing between the Company and Operating Company, the Company was dependent on
Operating
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Company for a significant source of its income. In addition, the Company was obligated to pay Operating Company tenant incentive fees and fees for services rendered to the Company in
the development of its correctional and detention facilities. As of September 30, 2000 (immediately prior to the Operating Company Merger), Operating Company leased 37 of the 46
operating facilities owned by the Company.

CCA Note

As discussed in Note 3, the Company succeeded to the CCA Note as a result of the 1999 Merger. Interest on the CCA Note was payable annually at an interest rate of 12%. Principal was
due in six equal annual installments of approximately $22.8 million beginning December 31, 2003. Ten percent of the outstanding principal of the CCA Note was personally guaranteed by
the Company’s former chief executive officer, who also served as the chief executive officer and a member of the board of directors of Operating Company. As of December 31, 1999, the
first scheduled payment of interest, totaling approximately $16.4 million, on the CCA Note was unpaid. Pursuant to the terms of the CCA Note, Operating Company was required to make
the payment on December 31, 1999; however, pursuant to the terms of a subordination agreement, dated as of March 1, 1999, by and between the Company and the agent of Operating
Company’s revolving credit facility, Operating Company was prohibited from making the scheduled interest payment on the CCA Note when Operating Company was not in compliance
with certain financial covenants under the facility. Pursuant to the terms of the subordination agreement between the Company and the agent of Operating Company’s revolving credit
facility, the Company was prohibited from accelerating payment of the principal amount of the CCA Note or taking any other action to enforce its rights under the provisions of the CCA
Note for so long as Operating Company’s revolving credit facility remained outstanding. The Company fully reserved the $16.4 million of interest accrued under the terms of the CCA
Note during 1999.

On September 29, 2000, the Company and Operating Company entered into agreements pursuant to which the Company forgave interest due under the CCA Note. The Company forgave
$27.4 million of interest accrued under the terms of the CCA Note from January 1, 1999 to August 31, 2000, all of which had been fully reserved. The Company also fully reserved the
$1.4 million of interest accrued for the month of September 2000. In connection with the Operating Company Merger, the CCA Note was assumed by the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiary on October 1, 2000. The CCA Note has since been extinguished.

Deferred Gain on Sale to Operating Company

The sale to Operating Company as part of the 1999 Merger generated a deferred gain of $63.3 million. No amortization of the Operating Company deferred gain occurred during the year
ended December 31, 1999 or during the period from January 1, 2000 through September 30, 2000. Effective with the Operating Company Merger on October 1, 2000, the Company
applied the unamortized balance of the deferred gain on sales of contracts in accordance with the purchase method of accounting under APB 16.

Operating Company Leases

In order for New Prison Realty to qualify as a REIT, New Prison Realty’s income generally could not include income from the operation and management of correctional and detention
facilities, including those facilities operated and managed by Old CCA. Accordingly, immediately prior to the 1999 Merger, the non-real estate assets of Old CCA, including all

management contracts, were sold to Operating Company and the Service Companies. On January 1, 1999, immediately after the
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1999 Merger, all existing leases between Old CCA and Old Prison Realty were cancelled. Following the 1999 Merger, a substantial majority of the correctional and detention facilities
acquired by New Prison Realty in the 1999 Merger were leased to Operating Company pursuant to the Operating Company Leases. The terms of the Operating Company Leases were for
twelve years and could be extended at fair market rates for three additional five-year periods upon the mutual agreement of the Company and Operating Company.

As of December 31, 1999, the annual base rent with respect to each facility was subject to increase each year in an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) 4% of the annualized yearly rental
payment with respect to such facility or (ii) 10% of the excess of Operating Company’s aggregate gross management revenues for the prior year over a base amount of $325.0 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company recognized rental revenue from Operating Company of $31.0 million and $263.5 million, respectively, all of which was
collected by the Company as discussed below.

During the month ended December 31, 1999, and the nine months ended September 30, 2000, due to Operating Company’s liquidity position, Operating Company failed to make timely
rental payments under the terms of the Operating Company Leases. As of December 31, 1999, approximately $24.9 million of rents due from Operating Company to the Company were
unpaid. The terms of the Operating Company Leases provided that rental payments were due and payable on December 25, 1999. During 2000, Operating Company paid the $24.9 million
of lease payments related to 1999 and $31.0 million of lease payments related to 2000. For the nine months ended September 30, 2000, the Company recognized rental revenue from
Operating Company of $244.3 million and recorded a reserve of $213.3 million, resulting in recognition of net rental revenue from Operating Company of $31.0 million. The reserve was
recorded due to the uncertainty regarding the collectibility of the revenue. In June 2000, the Operating Company Leases were amended to defer, with interest, rental payments originally
due during the period from January 1, 2000 to September 2000, with the exception of certain installment payments. Through September 30, 2000, the Company accrued and fully reserved
$8.0 million of interest due to the Company on unpaid rental payments. On September 29, 2000, the Company and Operating Company entered into agreements pursuant to which the
Company forgave all unpaid rental payments, plus accrued interest, due and payable from Operating Company through August 31, 2000, including $190.8 million due under the Operating
Company Leases and $7.9 million of interest due on the unpaid rental payments. The Company also fully reserved the $22.5 million of rental payments due for the month of September
2000. The Company cancelled the Operating Company Leases in connection with the Operating Company Merger.

Tenant Incentive Arrangement

On May 4, 1999, the Company and Operating Company entered into an amended and restated tenant incentive agreement (the “Amended and Restated Tenant Incentive Agreement”),
effective as of January 1, 1999, providing for (i) a tenant incentive fee of up to $4,000 per bed payable with respect to all future facilities developed and facilitated by Operating Company,
as well as certain other facilities which, although operational on January 1, 1999, had not achieved full occupancy, and (ii) an $840 per bed allowance for all beds in operation at the
beginning of January 1999, approximately 21,500 beds, that were not subject to the tenant allowance in the first quarter of 1999. The amount of the amended tenant incentive fee included
an allowance for rental payments to be paid by Operating Company prior to the facility reaching stabilized occupancy. The term of the Amended and Restated Tenant Incentive Agreement
was four years, unless extended upon the written agreement of the Company and Operating Company. The incentive fees with Operating
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Company were deferred and were to be amortized as a reduction to rental revenue over the respective lease term.

For the year ended December 1999, the Company paid tenant incentive fees of $68.6 million, with $2.9 million of those fees amortized against rental revenue. During the fourth quarter of
1999, the Company undertook a plan that contemplated either merging with Operating Company and thereby eliminating the Operating Company Leases or amending the Operating
Company Leases to reduce the lease payments to be paid by Operating Company to the Company during 2000. Consequently, the Company determined that the remaining deferred tenant
incentive fees under the existing lease arrangements at December 31, 1999 were not realizable and wrote-off fees totaling $65.7 million.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2000, the Company opened two facilities and expanded three facilities that were operated and leased by Operating Company. The Company
expensed the tenant incentive fees due Operating Company in 2000, totaling $11.9 million, but made no payments to Operating Company in 2000 with respect to the Amended and
Restated Tenant Incentive Agreement. On June 9, 2000, Operating Company and the Company amended the Amended and Restated Tenant Incentive Agreement to defer, with interest,
payments to Operating Company by the Company pursuant to this agreement. At September 30, 2000, $11.9 million of payments under the Amended and Restated Tenant Incentive
Agreement, plus $0.7 million of interest payments, were accrued but unpaid under the original terms of this agreement. This agreement was cancelled in connection with the Operating
Company Merger on October 1, 2000, and the unpaid amounts due under this agreement, plus accrued interest, were applied in accordance with the purchase method of accounting under
APB 16.

Trade Name Use Agreement

In connection with the 1999 Merger, Old CCA entered into a trade name use agreement with Operating Company (the “Trade Name Use Agreement”). Under the Trade Name Use
Agreement, which had a term of ten years, Old CCA granted to Operating Company the right to use the name “Corrections Corporation of America” and derivatives thereof, subject to
specified terms and conditions therein. The Company succeeded to this interest as a result of the 1999 Merger. In consideration for such right under the terms of the Trade Name Use
Agreement, Operating Company was to pay a licensing fee equal to (i) 2.75% of the gross revenue of Operating Company for the first three years, (ii) 3.25% of Operating Company’s gross
revenue for the following two years, and (iii) 3.625% of Operating Company’s gross revenue for the remaining term, provided that after completion of the 1999 Merger the amount of such
fee could not exceed (a) 2.75% of the gross revenue of the Company for the first three years, (b) 3.5% of the Company’s gross revenue for the following two years, and (c) 3.875% of the
Company’s gross revenue for the remaining term.

For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company recognized income of $7.6 million and $8.7 million, respectively, from Operating Company under the terms of the Trade
Name Use Agreement, all of which was collected. This agreement was cancelled in connection with the Operating Company Merger.

Right to Purchase Agreement
On January 1, 1999, immediately after the 1999 Merger, the Company and Operating Company entered into a Right to Purchase Agreement (the “Right to Purchase Agreement”) pursuant
to which Operating Company granted to the Company a right to acquire, and lease back to Operating Company at fair market rental rates, any correctional or detention facility acquired or

developed and owned by Operating Company in the future for a period of ten years following the date inmates are
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first received at such facility. The initial annual rental rate on such facilities was to be the fair market rental rate as determined by the Company and Operating Company. Additionally,
Operating Company granted the Company a right of first refusal to acquire any Operating Company-owned correctional or detention facility should Operating Company receive an
acceptable third party offer to acquire any such facility. The Company did not purchase any assets from Operating Company under the Right to Purchase Agreement, which was cancelled
in connection with the Operating Company Merger.

Services Agreement

On January 1, 1999, immediately after the 1999 Merger, the Company entered into a services agreement (the “Services Agreement”) with Operating Company pursuant to which Operating
Company agreed to serve as a facilitator of the construction and development of additional facilities on behalf of the Company for a term of five years from the date of the Services
Agreement. In such capacity, Operating Company agreed to perform, at the direction of the Company, such services as were customarily needed in the construction and development of
correctional and detention facilities, including services related to construction of the facilities, project bidding, project design and governmental relations. In consideration for the
performance of such services by Operating Company, the Company agreed to pay a fee equal to 5% of the total capital expenditures (excluding the incentive fee discussed below and the
5% fee herein referred to) incurred in connection with the construction and development of a facility, plus an amount equal to approximately $560 per bed for facility preparation services
provided by Operating Company prior to the date on which inmates are first received at such facility. The board of directors of the Company subsequently authorized payments, and
pursuant to an amended and restated services agreement, dated as of March 5, 1999 (the “Amended and Restated Services Agreement”), the Company agreed to pay up to an additional 5%
of the total capital expenditures (as determined above) to Operating Company if additional services were requested by the Company. A majority of the Company’s development projects
during 1999 and 2000 were subject to a fee totaling 10%.

Costs incurred by the Company under the Amended and Restated Services Agreement were capitalized as part of the facilities” development cost. Costs incurred under the Amended and
Restated Services Agreement and capitalized as part of the facilities’ development cost totaled $41.6 million for the year ended December 31, 1999, and $5.6 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2000.

On June 9, 2000, Operating Company and the Company amended the Amended and Restated Services Agreement to defer, with interest, payments to Operating Company by the Company
pursuant to this agreement. At September 30, 2000, $5.6 million of payments under the Amended and Restated Services Agreement, plus $0.3 million of interest payments, were accrued
but unpaid under the original terms of this agreement. This agreement was cancelled in connection with the Operating Company Merger and the unpaid amounts due under the agreement,
plus accrued interest, were applied in accordance with the purchase method of accounting under APB 16.

Busi Develop t Agr

On May 4, 1999, the Company entered into a four year business development agreement (the “Business Development Agreement”) with Operating Company, which provided that
Operating Company would perform, at the direction of the Company, services designed to assist the Company in identifying and obtaining new business. Pursuant to the agreement, the
Company agreed to pay to Operating Company a total fee equal to 4.5% of the total capital expenditures (excluding the amount of the tenant incentive fee and the services fee discussed
above as well as the 4.5% fee)
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incurred in connection with the construction and development of each new facility, or the construction and development of an addition to an existing facility, for which Operating Company
performed business development services.

Costs incurred by the Company under the Business Development Agreement were capitalized as part of the facilities’ development cost. Costs incurred under the Business Development
Agreement and capitalized as part of the facilities’ development cost totaled $15.0 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. No costs were incurred under the Business Development
Agreement during 2000. On June 9, 2000, Operating Company and the Company amended this agreement to defer, with interest, any payments to Operating Company by the Company
pursuant to this agreement. This agreement was cancelled in connection with the Operating Company Merger.

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
At December 31, 2001, the Company owned 43 real estate properties, including 39 correctional, detention and juvenile facilities, three of which the Company leases to other operators, two
corporate office buildings, and two correctional and detention facilities under construction. Two of the 39 correctional and detention facilities the Company owns are substantially idle.
Additionally, at December 31, 2001, the Company managed 28 correctional and detention facilities owned by government agencies and sub-leased an alternative educational facility for at-

risk juveniles. Two of the properties owned by the Company are held for sale and are classified as such on the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2001.

Property and equipment, at cost, consists of the following:

December 31,

2001 2000

(in thousands)

Land and improvements $ 30,977 $ 25,651
Buildings and improvements 1,524,286 1,523,560
Equipment 29,713 27,455
Office furniture and fixtures 20,832 20,270
Construction in progress 101,220 99,416
1,707,028 1,696,352
Less: Accumulated depreciation (133,876) (81,222)
$1,573,152 $1,615,130
I I

Depreciation expense was $53.1 million, $57.2 million and $44.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Pursuant to the 1999 Merger, the Company acquired all of the assets and liabilities of Old Prison Realty on January 1, 1999, including 23 leased facilities and one real estate property under
construction. The real estate properties acquired by the Company in conjunction with the acquisition of Old Prison Realty were recorded at estimated fair market value in accordance with
the purchase method of accounting prescribed by APB 16, resulting in a $1.2 billion increase to real estate properties at January 1, 1999.

As of December 31, 2001, nine of the facilities owned by the Company are subject to options that allow various governmental agencies to purchase those facilities. In addition, two of the
facilities are constructed on land that the Company leases from governmental agencies under ground leases. Under the terms of those ground leases, the facilities become the property of

the governmental
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8.

agencies upon expiration of the ground leases. The Company depreciates these two properties over the term of the ground lease.

The Company’s property and equipment, along with all other tangible and intangible assets of the Company, are pledged as collateral on the Company’s Senior Bank Credit Facility. See
discussion of the Senior Bank Credit Facility in Note 15.

In late 2001 and early 2002, the Company was provided notice from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico of its intention to terminate the management contracts at the Ponce Young Adult
Correctional Facility and the Ponce Adult Correctional Facility, located in Ponce, Puerto Rico, upon the expiration of the management contracts in February 2002. Although management
continues to negotiate with respect to the continued operation of these facilities, the Company has begun a transition period to transfer operation of the facilities to the Commonwealth of
Puerto Rico. There can be no assurance that the Company will continue to operate these facilities. The termination of the Ponce Adult Correctional Facility management contract would
result in a non-cash charge of approximately $1.9 million for the write-off of the carrying value of assets associated with this management contract.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

As of December 31, 2001, the Company was holding for sale numerous assets, including six parcels of land, one correctional facility leased to a governmental agency, and one correctional
facility leased to a private operator, with an aggregate book value of approximately $22.3 million. Additionally, the Company has had discussions with various parties regarding the
potential sale of additional assets. The Company expects to use the net proceeds from any such sales to repay outstanding indebtedness. However, there can be no assurance that the
Company will complete any such sales.

SFAS 121 requires impairment losses to be recognized for long-lived assets used in operations when indications of impairment are present and the estimate of undiscounted future cash
flows is not sufficient to recover asset carrying amounts. Under terms of the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the Company was obligated to complete the Restructuring, including the
Operating Company Merger, and complete the restructuring of management through the appointment of a new chief executive officer and a new chief financial officer. The June 2000
Waiver and Amendment also permitted the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI in connection with the Restructuring. During the third quarter of 2000, the Company named a new president
and chief executive officer, followed by the appointment of a new chief financial officer during the fourth quarter. At the Company’s 2000 annual meeting of stockholders held during the
fourth quarter of 2000, the Company’s stockholders elected a newly constituted board of directors of the Company, including a majority of independent directors.

Following the completion of the Operating Company Merger and the acquisitions of PMSI and JJFMSI, during the fourth quarter of 2000, after considering the Company’s financial
condition, the Company’s new management developed a strategic operating plan to improve the Company’s financial position and developed revised projections for 2001 to evaluate
various potential transactions. Management also conducted strategic assessments and evaluated the Company’s assets for impairment. Further, the Company evaluated the utilization of
existing facilities, projects under development, and excess land parcels, and identified certain of these non-strategic assets for sale.

F-37




Table of Contents

In accordance with SFAS 121, the Company estimated the undiscounted net cash flows for each of its properties and compared the sum of those undiscounted net cash flows to the
Company’s investment in each property. Through its analyses, the Company determined that eight of its correctional and detention facilities and the long-lived assets of the transportation
business had been impaired. For these properties, the Company reduced the carrying values of the underlying assets to their estimated fair values, as determined based on anticipated future
cash flows discounted at rates commensurate with the risks involved. The resulting impairment loss totaled $420.5 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, as part of the strategic assessment, the Company’s management committed to a plan of disposal for certain long-lived assets of the Company. In
accordance with SFAS 121, the Company recorded losses on these assets based on the difference between the carrying value and the estimated net realizable value of the assets. The
Company estimated the net realizable values of certain facilities and direct financing leases held for sale based on outstanding offers to purchase and appraisals, as well as by utilizing
various financial models, including discounted cash flow analyses, less estimated costs to sell each asset. The resulting impairment loss for these assets totaled $86.1 million.

Included in property and equipment were costs associated with the development of potential facilities. Based on the Company’s strategic assessment during the fourth quarter of 2000,
management decided to abandon further development of these projects and expense any amounts previously capitalized. The resulting expense totaled $2.1 million.

During the third quarter of 2000, the Company’s management determined either not to pursue further development or to reconsider the use of certain parcels of property in California,
Maryland and the District of Columbia. Accordingly, the Company reduced the carrying values of the land to their estimated net realizable value, resulting in an impairment loss totaling
$19.2 million.

In December 1999, based on the poor financial position of the Operating Company, the Company determined that three of its correctional and detention facilities located in the state of
Kentucky and leased to Operating Company were impaired. In accordance with SFAS 121, the Company reduced the carrying values of the underlying assets to their estimated fair values,
as determined based on anticipated future cash flows discounted at rates commensurate with the risks involved. The resulting impairment loss totaled $76.4 million.

9. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

In April 1999, the Company purchased the Eden Detention Center in Eden, Texas for $28.1 million. Prior to the Operating Company Merger, the facility had been leased to Operating
Company under lease terms substantially similar to the Operating Company Leases.

In June 1999, the Company incurred a loss of $1.6 million as a result of a settlement with the State of South Carolina for property previously owned by Old CCA. Under the settlement, the
Company, as the successor to Old CCA, received $6.5 million in three installments by June 30, 2001 for the transferred assets. The net proceeds were approximately $1.6 million less than
the surrendered assets’ depreciated book value.

In December 1999, the Company incurred a loss of $0.4 million resulting from a sale of a newly constructed facility in Florida. Construction on the facility was completed by the Company
in May 1999. In accordance with the terms of the management contract between Old CCA and Polk County, Florida, Polk County exercised an option to purchase the facility. Net proceeds
of $40.5 million were received by the Company.
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During 2000, the contract to manage one of the Company’s facilities located in Kentucky expired and was not renewed. Subsequent to the non-renewal of the contract, the Company sold
the facility for a net sales price of approximately $1.0 million, resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $0.6 million during 2000, after writing-down the carrying value of this asset by
$7.1 million in 1999. Also, during 2000, Operating Company and the contracting party mutually agreed to cancel the management contracts on two facilities located in North Carolina. In
March 2001, the Company sold one of these facilities, the Mountain View Correctional Facility, located in Spruce Pine, North Carolina, which was classified as held for sale under contract
as of December 31, 2000, for a net sales price of approximately $24.9 million. On June 28, 2001, the Company sold the other of these facilities, the Pamlico Correctional Facility, located
in Bayboro, North Carolina, which was classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2000, for a net sales price of approximately $24.0 million. The net proceeds from both of these sales
were used to pay-down a like portion of amounts outstanding under the Company’s Senior Bank Credit Facility.

On April 10, 2001, the Company sold its interest in the Agecroft facility, located in Salford, England, which was classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2000, for a net sales price of
approximately $65.7 million through the sale of all the issued and outstanding capital stock of Agecroft Properties, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The net proceeds from
the sale were used to pay-down a like portion of amounts outstanding under the Senior Bank Credit Facility.

On October 3, 2001, the Company sold its Southern Nevada Women’s Correctional Facility, a facility located in Las Vegas, Nevada, which was classified as held for sale during the second
quarter of 2001, for a net sales price of approximately $24.1 million. The net proceeds were used to pay-down a like portion of amounts outstanding under the Senior Bank Credit Facility.
Subsequent to the sale, the Company continues to manage the facility pursuant to a contract with the State of Nevada.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company was holding for sale two additional correctional facilities and various parcels of undeveloped land with an aggregate carrying value of
$22.3 million. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to complete the sale of any of these assets, or that the net proceeds received from these sales will achieve expected
levels.

INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATES

In connection with the 1999 Merger, Old CCA received 100% of the non-voting common stock in each of PMSI and JJFMSI, valued at the implied fair market values of $67.1 million and
$55.9 million, respectively. The Company succeeded to these interests as a result of the 1999 Merger. The Company’s ownership of the non-voting common stock of PMSI and JJFMSI
entitled the Company to receive, when and if declared by the boards of directors of the respective companies, 95% of the net income, as defined, of each company as cash dividends.
Dividends were cumulative if not declared. For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company received cash dividends from PMSI totaling approximately $4.4 million and
$11.0 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company received cash dividends from JJFMSI totaling approximately $2.3 million and $10.6 million,
respectively.

The following operating information presents a combined summary of the results of operations of PMSI and JJFMSI for the period January 1, 2000 through November 30, 2000 and for the
year ended December 31, 1999 (in thousands):
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January 1, 2000 - Year ended
November 30, 2000 December 31, 1999
Revenue $279,228 $288,289
Net income (loss) before taxes $ (588) $ 12,851

During 2000 and prior to the acquisition of PMSI and JJEMSI on December 1, 2000, PMSI and JJFMSI (collectively) recorded approximately $27.3 million in charges related to
agreements with the Company and Operating Company. Of these charges, approximately $5.4 million were fees paid under a trade name use agreement, approximately $9.9 million were
fees paid under an administrative service agreement and approximately $12.0 million were fees paid under an indemnification agreement with the Company.

Under the terms of the indemnification agreements with the Company, effective September 29, 2000, each of PMSI and JJFMSI agreed to pay the Company $6.0 million in exchange for
full indemnity by the Company for any and all liabilities incurred by PMSI and JJFMSI in connection with the settlement or disposition of litigation known as Prison Acquisition Company,
LLC v. Prison Realty Trust, Inc., et al. described in Note 21 herein. The combined and consolidated results of operations of the Company were unaffected by the indemnification
agreements.

As previously discussed in Note 4, the combined and consolidated financial statements reflect the results of operations of PMSI and JJFMSI under the equity method of accounting from
January 1, 1999 through August 31, 2000, on a combined basis from September 1, 2000 through November 30, 2000, and consolidated for the month of December 2000.

As discussed in Note 3, the Company’s 9.5% non-voting interest in Operating Company had been recorded in the 1999 Merger at its implied value of $4.8 million. In accordance with the
provisions of APB 18, the Company applied the recognized equity in losses of Operating Company of $19.3 million for the year ended December 31, 1999, first to reduce the Company’s
recorded investment in Operating Company of $4.8 million to zero and then to reduce the carrying value of the CCA Note by the amount of the recognized equity in losses in excess of
$4.8 million. The Company’s recognized equity in losses related to its investment in Operating Company for the nine months ended September 30, 2000 of $20.6 million were applied to
reduce the carrying value of the CCA Note.

For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, equity in earnings (losses) and amortization of deferred gains were approximately $11.6 million in losses and $3.6 million in earnings,
respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company recognized equity in losses of PMSI and JJFMSI of approximately $12,000 and $870,000, respectively. In addition, for
the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company recognized equity in losses of Operating Company of approximately $20.6 million. For 2000, the amortization of the deferred gain on the
sales of contracts to PMSI and JJEMSI was approximately $6.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company recognized equity in earnings
of PMSI and JJEMSI of approximately $4.7 million and $7.5 million, respectively. In addition, for the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company recognized equity in losses of
Operating Company of approximately $19.3 million. For 1999, the amortization of the deferred gain on the sales of contracts to PMSI and JJFMSI was approximately $7.1 million and
$3.6 million, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2001, equity in loss was approximately $0.4 million. The loss resulted from the Company’s interest in APM, an entity holding the management contract
for the Agecroft facility under a 25-year prison management contract with an agency of the U.K. government. Agecroft, located in Salford, England, was previously constructed and owned

by a
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wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which was sold in April 2001, as further discussed in Note 9. As discussed in Note 4, the Company has extended a working capital loan to APM,
which totaled $5.6 million, including accrued interest, as of December 31, 2001.

11. INVESTMENT IN DIRECT FINANCING LEASES

At December 31, 2001, the Company’s investment in a direct financing lease represents net receivables under a building and equipment lease between the Company and a governmental
agency.

A schedule of future minimum rentals to be received under the direct financing lease in years subsequent to December 31, 2001, is as follows (in thousands):

2002 $ 2,793
2003 2,793
2004 2,793
2005 2,793
2006 2,793
Thereafter 28,621
Total minimum obligation 42,586
Less unearned interest income (23,246)
Less current portion of direct financing lease (467)
Investment in direct financing leases $ 18,873

As discussed in Note 8, during the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company’s management committed to a plan of disposal for certain long-lived assets of the Company, including the Agecroft
facility and the D.C. Correctional Treatment Facility, both previously classified as investments in direct financing leases. The Company estimated the fair values of these direct financing
leases held for sale based on outstanding offers to purchase and discounted cash flow analyses. These direct financing leases, with estimated net realizable values totaling $85.7 million at
December 31, 2000, were classified on the consolidated balance sheet as assets held for sale as of December 31, 2000. The investment in the D.C. Correctional Treatment Facility was
reclassified to an investment in direct financing lease during 2001 from assets held for sale because the Company was unable to achieve an acceptable sales price. Also during 2001, the
Company identified the direct financing lease of Southern Nevada Women’s Correctional Facility as a non-strategic asset and entered into discussions with a potential buyer of this facility.
During 2001, the Company sold its interest in the Agecroft facility and Southern Nevada Women’s Correctional Facility, as further discussed in Note 9.

During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company recorded interest income of $4.3 million, $10.1 million, and $3.4 million, respectively, under all direct financing
leases.
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12. OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2001 2000
Debt issuance costs, less accumulated amortization of $40,698 and $21,502 $24,915 $37,099
Notes receivable 6,271 6,703
Value of workforce, net 1,132 2,425
Contract acquisition costs, net 905 2,190
Deposits 2,680 1,630
Other 690 1,692
$36,593 $51,739
I I
13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2001 2000
Stockholder litigation settlements $ 5,998 $ 75,406
Other accrued litigation 18,148 41,114
Trade accounts payable 15,891 26,356
Accrued salaries and wages 19,687 14,183
Accrued workers’ compensation 14,818 12,508
Accrued property taxes 14,578 13,638
Accrued interest 12,392 5,765
Other 43,645 54,342
$145,157 $243,312

14. DISTRIBUTIONS TO STOCKHOLDERS

On March 22, 2000, the board of directors of the Company declared a quarterly dividend on the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock of $0.50 per share to preferred stockholders of record
on March 31, 2000. These dividends were paid on April 17, 2000. In connection with the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the Company was prohibited from declaring or paying any
further dividends with respect to its outstanding Series A Preferred Stock until such time as the Company raised at least $100.0 million in equity. Dividends with respect to the Series A
Preferred Stock continued to accrue under the terms of the Company’s charter until such time as payment of such dividends was permitted under the terms of the Senior Bank Credit
Facility. Under the terms of the Company’s charter, in the event dividends are unpaid and in arrears for six or more quarterly periods, the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock have the
right to vote for the election of two additional directors to the board of directors. During the third quarter of 2001, the Company received a consent and waiver from its lenders under the
Senior Bank Credit Facility, which allowed the Company’s board of directors to declare a cash dividend on September 28, 2001. As a result of the board’s declaration, the holders of the
Company’s Series A Preferred Stock received $0.50 on October 15, 2001 for every share of the Series A Preferred Stock they held on the record date. Approximately $2.2 million was paid
on October 15, 2001, as a result of this dividend.
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As further discussed in Note 15, on December 7, 2001, the Company completed an amendment and restatement of its existing Senior Bank Credit Facility. As a result of the December
2001 Amendment and Restatement, certain financial and non-financial covenants were amended, including the removal of prior restrictions on the Company’s ability to pay cash dividends
on shares of its issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock. Under the terms of the December 2001 Amendment and Restatement, the Company is permitted to pay quarterly
dividends, when declared by the board of directors, on the shares of its issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock, including all dividends in arrears. Following the December 2001
Amendment and Restatement, on December 13, 2001, the Company’s board of directors declared a cash dividend on the Series A Preferred Stock for the fourth quarter of 2001 and for the
five quarters in arrears, payable on January 15, 2002. As a result of the board’s declaration, the holders of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock received $3.00 for every share of Series
A Preferred Stock they held on the record date. The dividend was based on a dividend rate of 8% per annum of the stock’s stated value of $25.00 per share. Approximately $12.9 million
was paid on January 15, 2002, as a result of this dividend, which was accrued as of December 31, 2001.

Under the terms of the Company’s charter, as in effect prior to the Restructuring, the Company was required to elect to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes for its taxable
year ended December 31, 1999. The Company, as a REIT, could not complete any taxable year with accumulated earnings and profits from a taxable corporation. Accordingly, the
Company was required to distribute Old CCA’s earnings and profits to which it succeeded in the 1999 Merger (the “Accumulated Earnings and Profits”). For the year ended December 31,
1999, the Company made approximately $217.7 million of distributions related to its common stock and Series A Preferred Stock. Because the Company’s Accumulated Earnings and
Profits were approximately $152.5 million, and the Company’s distributions were deemed to have been paid first from those Accumulated Earnings and Profits, the Company met the
above-described distribution requirements. In addition to distributing its Accumulated Earnings and Profits, the Company, in order to qualify for taxation as a REIT with respect to its 1999
taxable year, was required to distribute 95.0% of its taxable income for 1999. The Company believes that this distribution requirement was satisfied by its distribution of shares of the
Company’s Series B Preferred Stock, as discussed below.

On September 22, 2000, the Company issued approximately 5.9 million shares of its Series B Preferred Stock in connection with its remaining 1999 REIT distribution requirement. The
distribution was made to the Company’s common stockholders of record on September 14, 2000, who received five shares of Series B Preferred Stock for every 100 shares of the
Company’s common stock held on the record date. The Company paid its common stockholders approximately $15,000 in cash in lieu of issuing fractional shares of Series B Preferred
Stock. On November 13, 2000, the Company issued approximately 1.6 million additional shares of Series B Preferred Stock in satisfaction of this REIT distribution requirement. This
distribution was made to the Company’s common stockholders of record on November 6, 2000, who received one share of Series B Preferred Stock for every 100 shares of the Company’s
common stock held on the record date. The Company also paid its common stockholders approximately $15,000 in cash in lieu of issuing fractional shares of Series B Preferred Stock in
the second distribution.

The Company recorded the issuance of the Series B Preferred Stock at its stated value of $24.46 per share, or a total of $183.9 million. The Company has determined the distribution made
on September 22, 2000 amounted to a taxable distribution by the Company of approximately $107.6 million. The Company has also determined that the distribution made on November 13,
2000 amounted to a taxable distribution by the Company of approximately $20.4 million. Common stockholders who received shares of Series B Preferred Stock in the distribution
generally were
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required to include the taxable value of the distribution in ordinary income. Refer to Note 19 for a more complete description of the terms of Series B Preferred Stock.

On December 13, 2000, the Company’s board of directors declared a paid-in-kind dividend on the shares of Series B Preferred Stock for the period from September 22, 2000 (the original
date of issuance) through December 31, 2000, payable on January 2, 2001, to the holders of record of the Company’s Series B Preferred Stock on December 22, 2000. As a result of the
board’s declaration, the holders of the Company’s Series B Preferred Stock were entitled to receive approximately 3.3 shares of Series B Preferred Stock for every 100 shares of Series B
Preferred Stock held by them on the record date. The number of shares to be issued as the dividend was based on a dividend rate of 12.0% per annum of the stock’s stated value ($24.46 per

share).

Quarterly distributions and the resulting tax classification for common stock distributions are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999:

Record Payment Distribution Per Ordinary Return of

Declaration Date Date Date Share Income Capital
03/04/99 03/19/99 03/31/99 $0.60 100.0% 0.0%
05/11/99 06/18/99 06/30/99 $0.60 100.0% 0.0%
08/27/99 09/17/99 09/30/99 $0.60 100.0% 0.0%

Quarterly distributions and the resulting tax classification for the Series A Preferred Stock distributions are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999:

Record Payment Distribution Per Ordinary Return of

Declaration Date Date Date Share Income Capital
03/04/99 03/31/99 04/15/99 $0.50 100.0% 0.0%
05/11/99 06/30/99 07/15/99 $0.50 100.0% 0.0%
08/27/99 09/30/99 10/15/99 $0.50 100.0% 0.0%
12/22/99 12/31/99 01/15/00 $0.50 100.0% 0.0%
03/22/00 03/31/00 04/17/00 $0.50 100.0% 0.0%
09/28/01 10/05/01 10/15/01 $0.50 0.0% 100.0%
12/13/01 12/31/01 01/15/02 $3.00 (A) A)

Quarterly distributions and the resulting tax classification for the Series B Preferred Stock distributions are as follows for the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000:

Record Payment Fair Market Value Ordinary Return of
Declaration Date Date Date Per Share Income Capital
12/13/00 12/22/00 01/02/01 $ 6.85 0.0% 100.0%
03/13/01 03/19/01 04/02/01 $ 9.20 0.0% 100.0%
06/11/01 06/19/01 07/02/01 $14.00 0.0% 100.0%
09/07/01 09/17/01 10/01/01 $14.83 0.0% 100.0%
12/11/01 12/21/01 01/02/02 $19.55 A) (A)

(A) - Will be determined based on the extent the Company has current or accumulated earnings and profits in 2002.
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15. DEBT

Debt consists of the following:

December 31,

2001 2000

(in thousands)
$1.0 Billion Senior Bank Credit Facility:
Revolving loans, with unpaid balance due January 1, 2002, interest payable
periodically at variable interest rates (10.92% at December 31, 2000), replaced
with term loans during 2001. $ — $ 382,532

Term loans, quarterly principal payments of $1.5 million through September 30,
2001, at which time the quarterly principal payment was increased to $2.2 million
with unpaid balance due December 31, 2002, interest payable periodically at
variable interest rates. The interest rate was 7.41% and 11.01% at December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively. 791,906 589,750

Total outstanding under Senior Bank Credit Facility 791,906 972,282

Senior Notes, principal due at maturity in June 2006, interest payable semi-annually at
12%. 100,000 100,000

10.0% Convertible Subordinated Notes, principal due at maturity in December 2008,
interest payable semi-annually at 9.5% through June 30, 2000, at which time the rate was
increased to 10.0%. 40,000 40,000

8.0% Convertible Subordinated Notes, principal due at maturity in February 2005 with call
provisions beginning in February 2003, interest payable quarterly at 7.5% through
June 30, 2000, at which time the rate was increased to 8.0%. 30,000 30,000

$50.0 Million Revolving Credit Facility, with unpaid balance due at maturity in December
2002, interest payable at prime plus 2.25%. The interest rate was 7.0% and 11.75% at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. — 7,601

10.0% Convertible Subordinated Notes, principal due at maturity in December 2003,

interest payable semi-annually at 10.0%. 1,114 1,114
Other 580 1,573
963,600 1,152,570

Less: Current portion of long-term debt (792,009) (14,594)
$ 171,591 $1,137,976

I I

Senior Bank Credit Facility

Original Credit Facility. On January 1, 1999, in connection with the completion of the 1999 Merger, the Company obtained a $650.0 million secured credit facility (the “Credit Facility™)
from NationsBank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and several U.S. and non-U.S. banks. The Credit Facility included up to a maximum of $250.0 million in tranche B term loans and
$400.0 million in revolving loans, including a $150.0 million subfacility for letters of credit. The term loan required quarterly principal payments of $625,000 throughout the term of the
loan with the remaining balance maturing on December 31, 2002. The revolving loans were scheduled to mature January 1, 2002. Interest rates, unused commitment fees and letter of
credit fees on the Credit Facility were subject to change based on the Company’s senior debt rating.
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Senior Bank Credit Facility. On August 4, 1999, the Company completed an amendment and restatement of the Credit Facility (the “Senior Bank Credit Facility”) increasing amounts
available to the Company to $1.0 billion through the addition of a $350.0 million tranche C term loan, payable in equal quarterly installments of $875,000 through September 30, 2002,
with the balance to be paid in full on December 31, 2002. Under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. (“Lehman”) became the administrative agent.

The Senior Bank Credit Facility bore interest at variable rates of interest based on a spread over an applicable base rate or the London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) (as elected by the
Company), which spread was determined by reference to the Company’s credit rating. Prior to the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the spread for the revolving loans ranged from 0.5%
to 2.25% for base rate loans and from 2.0% to 3.75% for LIBOR rate loans. Prior to the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the spread for term loans ranged from 2.25% to 2.5% for base
rate loans and from 3.75% to 4.0% for LIBOR rate loans.

During the first quarter of 2000, the ratings on the Company’s bank indebtedness, senior unsecured indebtedness and Series A Preferred Stock were lowered. As a result of these reductions,
the interest rate applicable to outstanding amounts under the Senior Bank Credit Facility for revolving loans was increased by 0.5%, to 1.5% over the base rate and to 3.0% over the LIBOR
rate; the spread for term loans remained unchanged at 2.5% for base rate loans and 4.0% for LIBOR rate loans. The rating on the Company’s indebtedness was also lowered during the
second quarter of 2000, although no interest rate increase was attributable to this rating adjustment.

June 2000 Waiver and Amendment. Following the approval of the requisite senior lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, the Company, certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
various lenders and Lehman, as administrative agent, executed the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, dated as of June 9, 2000. Upon effectiveness, the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment
waived or addressed all then existing events of default under the provisions of the Senior Bank Credit Facility that resulted from: (i) the financial condition of the Company and Operating
Company; (ii) the transactions undertaken by the Company and Operating Company in an attempt to resolve the liquidity issues of the Company and Operating Company; and

(iii) previously announced restructuring transactions. As a result of the then existing defaults, the Company was subject to the default rate of interest, or 2.0% higher than the rates
discussed above, effective from January 25, 2000 until June 9, 2000. The June 2000 Waiver and Amendment also contained certain amendments to the Senior Bank Credit Facility,
including the replacement of existing financial covenants contained in the Senior Bank Credit Facility applicable to the Company with new financial ratios following completion of the
Restructuring. As a result of the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the Company began monthly interest payments on outstanding amounts under the Senior Bank Credit Facility
beginning July 2000.

In obtaining the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the Company agreed to complete certain transactions which were incorporated as covenants in the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment.
Pursuant to these requirements, the Company was obligated to complete the Restructuring, including: (i) the Operating Company Merger; (ii) the amendment of its charter to remove the
requirements that it elect to be taxed as a REIT commencing with its 2000 taxable year; (iii) the restructuring of management; and (iv) the distribution of shares of Series B Preferred Stock
in satisfaction of the Company’s remaining 1999 REIT distribution requirement. The June 2000 Waiver and Amendment also amended the terms of the Senior Bank Credit Facility to
permit (i) the amendment of the Operating Company Leases and the other contractual arrangements between the Company and Operating Company, and (ii) the merger of each of PMSI
and JJFMSI with the Company, upon terms and conditions specified in the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment.
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The June 2000 Waiver and Amendment prohibited: (i) the Company from settling its then outstanding stockholder litigation for cash amounts not otherwise fully covered by the
Company’s existing directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies; (ii) the declaration and payment of dividends with respect to the Company’s currently outstanding Series A
Preferred Stock prior to the receipt of net cash proceeds of at least $100.0 million from the issuance of additional shares of common or preferred stock; and (iii) Operating Company from
amending or refinancing its revolving credit facility on terms and conditions less favorable than Operating Company’s then existing revolving credit facility. The June 2000 Waiver and
Amendment also required the Company to complete the securitization of lease payments (or other similar transaction) with respect to the Company’s Agecroft facility on or prior to
February 28, 2001, although such deadline was extended (as described herein).

As a result of the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the Company is generally required to use the net cash proceeds received by the Company from certain transactions, including the
following transactions, to repay outstanding indebtedness under the Senior Bank Credit Facility:

« any disposition of real estate assets; and
« the sale-leaseback of the Company’s headquarters.

The Company is also required to apply a designated portion of its “excess cash flow,” as such term is defined in the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, to the prepayment of outstanding
indebtedness under the Senior Bank Credit Facility.

As a result of the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the interest rate spreads applicable to outstanding borrowings under the Senior Bank Credit Facility were increased by 0.5%. As a
result, the range of the spread for the revolving loans became 1.0% to 2.75% for base rate loans and 2.5% to 4.25% for LIBOR rate loans. The resulting range of the spread for the term
loans became 2.75% to 3.0% for base rate loans and 4.25% to 4.5% for LIBOR rate loans. Based on the Company’s credit rating at that time, the range of the spread for revolving loans
was 2.75% for base rate loans and 4.25% for LIBOR rate loans, while the range of the spread for term loans was 3.0% for base rate loans and 4.5% for LIBOR rate loans.
November 2000 Consent and Amendment. During the third and fourth quarters of 2000, the Company was not in compliance with certain applicable financial covenants contained in the
Company’s Senior Bank Credit Facility, including: (i) debt service coverage ratio; (ii) interest coverage ratio; (iii) leverage ratio; and (iv) net worth. In November 2000, the Company
obtained the consent of the requisite percentage of the senior lenders (the “November 2000 Consent and Amendment”) to replace previously existing financial covenants with amended
financial covenants, each defined in the November 2000 Consent and Amendment:

« total leverage ratio;

« interest coverage ratio;

« fixed charge coverage ratio;

« ratio of total indebtedness to total capitalization;

« minimum EBIDTA; and

« total beds occupied ratio.
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The November 2000 Consent and Amendment further provided that the Company would be required to use commercially reasonable efforts to complete a “capital raising event” on or
before June 30, 2001. A “capital raising event” was defined in the November 2000 Consent and Amendment as any combination of the following transactions, which together would result
in net cash proceeds to the Company of $100.0 million:

« an offering of the Company’s common stock through the distribution of rights to the Company’s existing stockholders;
« any other offering of the Company’s common stock or certain types of the Company’s preferred stock;
* issuances by the Company of unsecured, subordinated indebtedness providing for in-kind payments of principal and interest until repayment of the Senior Bank Credit Facility;

« certain types of asset sales by the Company, including the sale-leaseback of the Company’s headquarters, but excluding the securitization of lease payments (or other similar
transaction) with respect to the Agecroft facility.

The November 2000 Consent and Amendment also contained limitations upon the use of proceeds obtained from the completion of such “capital raising events.” The requirements relating
to “capital raising events” contained in the November 2000 Consent and Amendment replaced the requirement contained in the Senior Bank Credit Facility that the Company use
commercially reasonable efforts to consummate a rights offering on or before December 31, 2000.

The Company had considered a distribution of rights to purchase common or preferred stock to the Company’s existing stockholders, or an equity investment in the Company from an
outside investor. However, the Company determined that it was not commercially reasonable to issue additional equity or debt securities, other than those securities for which the Company
had already contractually agreed to issue, including primarily the issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with the settlement of the Company’s stockholder
litigation, as more fully discussed in Note 21. Further, as a result of the Company’s restructuring during the third and fourth quarters of 2000, prior to the completion of the audit of the
Company’s 2000 financial statements and the filing of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 with the SEC on April 17, 2001, the Company
was unable to provide the SEC with the requisite financial information required to be included in a registration statement. Therefore, even if the Company had been able to negotiate a
public or private sale of its equity securities on commercially reasonable terms, the Company’s inability to obtain an effective SEC registration statement with respect to such securities
prior to April 17, 2001 would have effectively prohibited any such transaction. Moreover, the terms of any private sale of the Company’s equity securities likely would have included a
requirement that the Company register with the SEC the resale of the Company’s securities issued to a private purchaser thereby also making it impossible to complete any private issuance
of its securities. Due to the fact that the Company would have been unable to obtain an effective registration statement, and therefore, would have been unable to make any public issuance
of its securities (or any private sale that included the right of resale), any actions prior to April 17, 2001 to complete a capital raising event through the sale of equity or debt securities
would have been futile.

Although the Company would have technically been able to file a registration statement with the SEC following April 17, 2001, the Company believes that various market factors,
including the depressed market price of the Company’s common stock immediately preceding April 17, 2001, the pending reverse stock split required to maintain the Company’s continued

NYSE listing, and the
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uncertainty regarding the Company’s maturity of the revolving loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, made the issuance of additional equity or debt securities commercially
unreasonable.

Because the issuance of additional equity or debt securities was deemed unreasonable, the Company determined that the sale of assets represented the most effective means by which the
Company could satisfy the covenant. During the first and second quarters of 2001, the Company completed the sale of its Mountain View Correctional Facility for approximately $24.9
million and its Pamlico Correctional Facility for approximately $24.0 million, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company completed the sale of its Southern Nevada
Women’s Correctional Facility for approximately $24.1 million and is actively pursuing the sales of additional assets. As a result of the foregoing, the Company believes it demonstrated
commercially reasonable efforts to complete the $100.0 million capital raising event as of June 30, 2001. Under terms of the December 2001 Amendment and Restatement, further
described below, the Company’s obligation to complete the capital raising event was removed.

The maturities of the loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility remained unchanged as a result of the November 2000 Consent and Amendment. No event of default was declared due to
the amendment of the financial covenants obtained in connection with the November 2000 Consent and Amendment. As a result of the November 2000 Consent and Amendment, the
interest rate applicable to the Company’s Senior Bank Credit Facility remained unchanged from the rate stipulated in the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment. This applicable rate, however,
was subject to (i) an increase of 25 basis points (0.25%) on July 1, 2001 if the Company had not prepaid $100.0 million of the outstanding loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, and
(ii) an increase of 50 basis points (0.50%) on October 1, 2001 if the Company had not prepaid an aggregate of $200.0 million of the loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility.

The Company satisfied the condition to prepay, prior to July 1, 2001, $100.0 million of outstanding loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility through the application of proceeds from
the sale of the Mountain View Correctional Facility, the Pamlico Correctional Facility and the completion of the Agecroft transaction, and through the lump sum pay-down of $35.0 million
of outstanding loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility with cash on hand. Although the Company applied additional proceeds from the sale of the Southern Nevada Women’s
Correctional Facility to further pay-down the Senior Bank Credit Facility, the Company did not satisfy the condition to prepay, prior to October 1, 2001, $200.0 million of outstanding loans
under the Senior Bank Credit Facility. As a result, the interest rates under the Senior Bank Credit Facility were increased by 0.50% until the Senior Bank Credit Facility was amended and
restated in December 2001, as further discussed below.

Amendments in 2001. In January 2001, the requisite percentage of the Company’s senior lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility consented to the Company’s issuance of a
promissory note (described in Note 21) in partial satisfaction of its requirements under the definitive settlement agreements relating to the Company’s then-outstanding stockholder
litigation (the “January 2001 Consent and Amendment”). The January 2001 Consent and Amendment also modified certain provisions of the Senior Bank Credit Facility to permit the
issuance of the promissory note.

In March 2001, the Company obtained an amendment to the Senior Bank Credit Facility which: (i) changed the date the securitization of lease payments (or other similar transaction) with
respect to the Company’s Agecroft facility was required to be consummated from February 28, 2001 to March 31, 2001; (ii) modified the calculation of EBITDA used in calculating the

total leverage ratio, to take into effect any loss of EBITDA that may result from certain asset dispositions, and (iii)
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modified the minimum EBITDA covenant to permit a reduction by the amount of EBITDA that certain asset dispositions had generated.

The securitization of lease payments (or other similar transaction) with respect to the Company’s Agecroft facility did not close by the required date. However, the covenant allowed for a
30 day grace period during which the lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility could not exercise their rights to declare an event of default. On April 10, 2001, prior to the expiration
of the grace period, the Company consummated the Agecroft transaction through the sale of all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Agecroft Properties, Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and used the net proceeds to pay-down the Senior Bank Credit Facility, thereby fulfilling the Company’s covenant requirements with respect to the Agecroft
transaction.

The Senior Bank Credit Facility also contains a covenant requiring the Company to provide the lenders with audited financial statements within 90 days of the Company’s fiscal year-end,
subject to an additional five-day grace period. Due to the Company’s attempts to close the Agecroft transaction, the Company did not provide the audited financial statements within the
required time period. However, the Company obtained a waiver from the lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility of this financial reporting requirement. This waiver also cured the
resulting cross-default under the Company’s $41.1 million convertible subordinated notes. During the third quarter of 2001, the Company also obtained waivers from the lenders under the
Senior Bank Credit Facility to permit the settlement of the Fortress/Blackstone litigation, as further described in Note 21, and to pay a one-time dividend with respect to the Series A
Preferred Stock, which was paid on October 15, 2001 as discussed in Note 14.

December 2001 Amendment and Restatement. During December 2001, the Company completed an amendment and restatement of the Senior Bank Credit Facility (the “December 2001
Amendment and Restatement”). As part of the December 2001 Amendment and Restatement, the existing $269.4 million revolving portion of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, which was to
mature on January 1, 2002, was replaced with a term loan of the same amount maturing on December 31, 2002, to coincide with the maturity of other term loans under the Senior Bank
Credit Facility.

Pursuant to terms of the December 2001 Amendment and Restatement, all loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility bear interest at a variable rate of 5.5% over LIBOR, or 4.5% over the
base rate, at the Company’s option, through June 30, 2002. Following June 30, 2002, the applicable interest rate for all loans under the Senior Bank Credit Facility will increase to 6.5%
over LIBOR, or 5.5% over the base rate, at the Company’s option. In the event the Company is unable to refinance the entire Senior Bank Credit Facility prior to July 1, 2002, the
Company will also be required to pay the lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility an additional fee equal to 1.0% of the amounts then outstanding under the Senior Bank Credit
Facility.

As a result of the December 2001 Amendment and Restatement, certain financial and non-financial covenants were amended, including the removal of prior restrictions on the Company’s
ability to pay cash dividends on shares of the Company’s issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock, including all dividends in arrears. Subsequent to December 31, 2001, the
Company paid $12.9 million to shareholders of Series A Preferred Stock. See Note 14 for further discussion of distributions to stockholders.

At December 31, 2001, the Company believes it was in compliance with all covenants under the Senior Bank Credit Facility. Management has prepared financial projections for 2002,
which indicate the Company will continue to remain compliant with its debt covenants. In addition, management continues to pursue additional asset sales and new contract awards. Based

upon these
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additional factors, management has begun pursuing alternatives to refinance the Senior Bank Credit Facility scheduled to mature December 31, 2002.

The Company believes that it will be able to complete a refinancing of the Senior Bank Credit Facility during the first half of 2002 through senior secured bank debt or through a
combination of senior secured bank debt and senior unsecured debt even without the sale of additional assets or contract awards. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will
be able to meet its financial projections for 2002, sell additional assets, obtain new contract awards or complete a refinancing of the Senior Bank Credit Facility prior to its maturity on
December 31, 2002, on commercially reasonable or other terms. Unsuccessful attempts to refinance the Senior Bank Credit Facility, or events of default which result in the acceleration of
all or a substantial portion of the Company’s outstanding debt, would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity and financial position. The Company does not have
sufficient working capital resources to satisfy it debt obligations in the event of an acceleration of all or a substantial portion of the Company’s outstanding debt. The Senior Bank Credit
Facility is secured by all of the Company’s tangible and intangible assets.

During 1999, the Company incurred costs of $59.2 million in consummating the Credit Facility and the Senior Bank Credit Facility transactions, including $41.2 million related to the
amendment and restatement. The Company wrote-off $9.0 million of expenses related to the Credit Facility upon completion of the amendment and restatement, in addition to $5.6 million
of other debt financing costs written-off in 1999. During 2000 the Company incurred and capitalized approximately $9.0 million in consummating the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment,
and $0.5 million for the November 2000 Consent and Amendment. During 2001, the Company incurred and capitalized approximately $5.8 million in consummating the 2001 December
Amendment and Restatement.

In accordance with the terms of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, the Company entered into certain swap arrangements guaranteeing that it will not pay an index rate greater than 6.51% on
outstanding balances of at least $325.0 million through December 31, 2002. The effect of these arrangements is recognized in interest expense and in the change in fair value of derivative
instruments, as further described in Note 17.

$100.0 Million Senior Notes

On June 11, 1999, the Company completed its offering of $100.0 million aggregate principal amount of 12% Senior Notes due 2006 (the “Senior Notes”). Interest on the Senior Notes is
paid semi-annually in arrears, and the Senior Notes have a seven year non-callable term due June 1, 2006. Net proceeds from the offering were approximately $95.0 million, after deducting
expenses payable by the Company in connection with the offering. The Company used the net proceeds from the sale of the Senior Notes for general corporate purposes and to repay
revolving bank borrowings under the Senior Bank Credit Facility. At any time prior to June 1, 2002, the Company may, at its option, on any one or more occasions redeem up to 35% of the
aggregate principal at a redemption price equal to 112% of the principal amount thereof, with the proceeds of one or more equity offerings, subject to certain restrictions.

The Company has made all required interest payments under the terms of the Senior Notes, and currently believes it is in compliance with all of its covenants. The indenture governing the
Senior Notes contains cross-default provisions, as further discussed below.
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$41.1 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes

On January 29, 1999, the Company issued $20.0 million of convertible subordinated notes due December 2008, with interest payable semi-annually at 9.5%. This issuance constituted the
second tranche of a commitment by the Company to issue an aggregate of $40.0 million of convertible subordinated notes, with the first $20.0 million tranche issued in December 1998
under substantially similar terms. The convertible subordinated notes (the “$40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes”) require that the Company revise the conversion price as a result
of the payment of a dividend or the issuance of stock or convertible securities below market price. Additionally, the notes are non-callable but are redeemable on or following January 1,
2005, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof.

During the first and second quarters of 2000, certain existing or potential events of default arose under the provisions of the note purchase agreement relating to the $40.0 Million
Convertible Subordinated Notes as a result of the Company’s financial condition and a “change of control” arising from the Company’s execution of certain securities purchase agreements
with respect to the proposed restructuring. This “change of control” gave rise to the right of MDP, the holder of the notes, to require the Company to repurchase the notes at a price of 105%
of the aggregate principal amount of such notes within 45 days after the provision of written notice by such holders to the Company. In addition, the Company’s defaults under the
provisions of the note purchase agreement gave rise to the right of the holders of such notes to require the Company to pay an applicable default rate of interest of 20.0%. In addition to the
default rate of interest, as a result of the events of default, the Company is obligated, under the original terms of the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes, to pay the holders of the
notes contingent interest sufficient to permit the holders to receive a 15.0% rate of return (increased by 0.5%, as further discussed below), excluding the effect of the default rate of interest,
on the $40.0 million principal amount. The contingent interest is payable upon each of December 31, 2003 and upon repayment of the notes, unless the holders of the notes elect to convert
the notes into the Company’s common stock under the terms of the note purchase agreement or unless the price of the Company’s common stock meets or exceeds a “target price” as
defined in the note purchase agreement. Such contingent interest was retroactive to the date of issuance of the notes. The contingent interest accrual as of December 31, 2001 amounted to
$8.7 million.

In order to address the events of default discussed above, on June 30, 2000, the Company and MDP executed a waiver and amendment to the provisions of the note purchase agreement
governing the notes. This waiver and amendment provided for a waiver of all existing events of default under the provisions of the note purchase agreement. In addition, the waiver and
amendment to the note purchase agreement amended the economic terms of the notes to increase the applicable interest rate of the notes by 0.5% per annum from 9.5% to 10.0%, and
adjusted the conversion price of the notes to a price equal to 125% of the average high and low sales price of the Company’s common stock on the NYSE for a period of 20 trading days
immediately following the earlier of (i) October 31, 2000 or (ii) the closing date of the Operating Company Merger. The waiver and amendment also increased the contingent interest rate
to 15.5% retroactive to the date of issuance of the notes. In addition, the waiver and amendment to the note purchase agreement provided for the replacement of financial ratios applicable
to the Company. The conversion price for the notes has been established at $11.90 (as adjusted for the reverse-stock split in May 2001), subject to adjustment in the future upon the
occurrence of certain events, including the payment of dividends and the issuance of stock at below market prices by the Company. Under the terms of the waiver and amendment, the
distribution of the Company’s Series B Preferred Stock during the fourth quarter of 2000 did not cause an adjustment to the conversion price of the notes. In addition, the Company does
not believe that the distribution of shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with the settlement of
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all outstanding stockholder litigation against the Company, as further discussed in Note 21, will cause an adjustment to the conversion price of the notes. MDP, however, has indicated its
belief that such an adjustment is required. At an adjusted conversion price of $11.90 (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001), the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes
are convertible into approximately 3.4 million shares (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) of the Company’s common stock.

In connection with the waiver and amendment to the note purchase agreement, the Company issued additional convertible subordinated notes containing substantially similar terms in the
aggregate principal amount of $1.1 million (collectively with the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes, the “$41.1 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes”), which amount
represented all interest owed at the default rate of interest through June 30, 2000. These additional notes were convertible, at an adjusted conversion price of $11.90 (as adjusted for the
reverse-stock split in May 2001), into an additional 0.1 million shares (as adjusted for the reverse-stock split in May 2001) of the Company’s common stock. After giving consideration to
the issuance of these additional notes, the Company has made all required interest payments under the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes. On January 14, 2002, MDP
converted the $1.1 million convertible subordinated notes into approximately 0.1 million shares of common stock.

Under the terms of the registration rights agreement between the Company and the holders of the $41.1 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes, the Company is required to use its best
efforts to file and maintain with the SEC an effective shelf registration statement covering the future sale by the holders of the shares of common stock to be used upon conversion of the
notes. As a result of the completion of the Restructuring, as previously discussed herein, the Company was unable to file such a registration statement with the SEC prior to the filing of the
Company’s 2000 Form 10-K with the SEC on April 17, 2001. Following the filing of the Company’s Form 10-K, the Company commenced negotiations with MDP with respect to an
amendment to the registration rights agreement to defer the Company’s obligations to use its best efforts to file and maintain the registration statement. MDP later informed the Company
that it would not complete such an amendment. As a result, the Company completed and filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC on September 13, 2001, which became effective
September 26, 2001, in compliance with this obligation.

The Company currently believes it is in compliance with all covenants under the provisions of the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes, as amended. There can be no assurance,
however, that the Company will be able to remain in compliance with all covenants under the provisions of the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes. The provisions of the note
purchase agreement governing the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes contain cross-default provisions as further discussed below.

$30.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes

The Company’s $30.0 million convertible subordinated notes due February 2005 (the “$30.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes”), which were issued to PMI Mezzanine Fund, L.P.
(“PMI”) on December 31, 1998, require that the Company revise the conversion price as a result of the payment of a dividend or the issuance of stock or convertible securities below
market price.

Certain existing or potential events of default arose under the provisions of the note purchase agreement relating to the Company’s $30.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes as a result
of the Company’s financial condition and as a result of the Restructuring. However, on June 30, 2000, the Company and PMI executed a waiver and amendment to the provisions of the
note purchase
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agreement governing the notes. This waiver and amendment provided for a waiver of all existing events of default under the revisions of the note purchase agreement. In addition, the
waiver and amendment to the note purchase agreement amended the economic terms of the notes to increase the applicable interest rate of the notes by 0.5% per annum, from 7.5% to
8.0%, and adjusted the conversion price of the notes to a price equal to 125% of the average closing price of the Company’s common stock on the NYSE for a period of 30 trading days
immediately following the earlier of (i) October 31, 2000 or (ii) the closing date of the Operating Company Merger. In addition, the waiver and amendment to the note purchase agreement
provided for the replacement of financial ratios applicable to the Company.

The conversion price for the notes has been established at $10.68 (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001), subject to adjustment in the future upon the occurrence of certain
events, including the payment of dividends and the issuance of stock at below market prices by the Company. Under the terms of the waiver and amendment, the distribution of the
Company’s Series B Preferred Stock during the fourth quarter of 2000 did not cause an adjustment to the conversion price of the notes. However, the distribution of shares of the
Company’s common stock in connection with the settlement of all outstanding stockholder litigation against the Company, as further discussed in Note 21, will cause an adjustment to the
conversion price of the notes in an amount to be determined at the time shares of the Company’s common stock are distributed pursuant to the settlement. However, the ultimate adjustment
to the conversion ratio will depend on the number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on the date of issuance of the shares pursuant to the stockholder litigation
settlement. In addition, since all of the shares have not been issued simultaneously, multiple adjustments to the conversion ratio will be required. The Company currently estimates that the
$30.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes will be convertible into approximately 3.4 million shares (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) of the Company’s common
stock once all of the shares under the stockholder litigation settlement have been issued.

At any time after February 28, 2004, the Company may require the holder of the notes to convert all or a portion of the principal amount of the indebtedness into shares of common stock
if, at such time, the current market price of the common stock has equaled or exceeded 150% of the conversion price for 45 consecutive trading days.

At December 31, 2000, the Company was in default under the terms of the note purchase agreement governing the $30.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes. The default related to the
Company’s failure to comply with the total leverage ratio financial covenant. However, in March 2001, the Company and PMI executed a waiver and amendment to the provisions of the
note purchase agreement governing the notes. This waiver and amendment provided for a waiver of all existing events of default under the provisions of the note purchase agreement and
amended the financial covenants applicable to the Company.

The Company has made all required interest payments under the $30.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes. The Company currently believes it is in compliance with all covenants
under the provisions of the $30.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes, as amended. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be able to remain in compliance with
all of the covenants under the provisions of the $30.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes. The provisions of the note purchase agreement governing the $30.0 Million Convertible
Subordinated Notes contain cross-default provisions as further discussed below.
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$50.0 Million Revolving Credit Facility

On September 15, 2000, Operating Company entered into a $50.0 million revolving credit facility with Lehman (the “Operating Company Revolving Credit Facility”). This facility, which
bears interest at an applicable prime rate, plus 2.25%, was secured by the accounts receivable and all other assets of Operating Company. This facility, which matures on December 31,
2002, was assumed by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in connection with the Operating Company Merger. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had no outstanding balance
on the facility.

Other Debt Transactions

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had $5.5 million and $2.2 million in letters of credit, respectively. The letters of credit were issued to secure the Company’s workers’
compensation insurance policy, performance bonds and utility deposits. The Company is required to maintain cash collateral for the letters of credit.

The Company capitalized interest of $8.3 million and $37.7 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively. No interest was capitalized during 2001.

Debt maturities for the next five years and thereafter are (in thousands):

2002 $792,009
2003 1,228
2004 126
2005 30,139
2006 100,098
Thereafter 40,000
$963,600

I

Cross-default Provisions

The provisions of the Company’s debt agreements related to the Senior Bank Credit Facility, the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes, the $30.0 Million Convertible
Subordinated Notes and the Senior Notes contain certain cross-default provisions. Any events of default under the Senior Bank Credit Facility which give rise to the ability of the lenders
under the Senior Bank Credit Facility to exercise their acceleration rights result in an event of default under the Company’s $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes. Any events of
default under the Senior Bank Credit Facility that results in the lenders’ actual acceleration of amounts outstanding thereunder also result in an event of default under the Company’s $30.0
Million Convertible Subordinated Notes and the Senior Notes. Additionally, any events of default under the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes, the $30.0 Million Convertible
Subordinated Notes and the Senior Notes which give rise to the ability of the holders of such indebtedness to exercise their acceleration rights also result in an event of default under the
Senior Bank Credit Facility.

If the Company were to be in default under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, and if the lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility elected to exercise their rights to accelerate the
Company’s obligations under the Senior Bank Credit Facility, such events could result in the acceleration of all or a portion of the Company’s $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated
Notes, the $30.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes and the Senior Notes, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity and financial position. Additionally,
under the Company’s $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes, even if the lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility
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did not exercise their acceleration rights, the holders of the $40.0 Million Convertible Subordinated Notes could require the Company to repurchase such notes upon an event of default
under the Senior Bank Credit Facility permitting acceleration. The Company does not have sufficient working capital to satisfy its debt obligations in the event of an acceleration of all or a
substantial portion of the Company’s outstanding indebtedness.

16. INCOME TAXES

Prior to 1999, Old CCA, the Company’s predecessor by merger, operated as a taxable subchapter C corporation. The Company elected to change its tax status from a taxable corporation to
a REIT effective with the filing of its 1999 federal income tax return. As of December 31, 1998, the Company’s balance sheet reflected $83.2 million in net deferred tax assets. In
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 109, the Company provided a provision for these deferred tax assets, excluding any estimated tax liabilities required for prior tax periods, upon
completion of the 1999 Merger and the election to be taxed as a REIT. As such, the Company’s results of operations reflect a provision for income taxes of $83.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999. However, due to New Prison Realty’s tax status as a REIT, New Prison Realty recorded no income tax provision or benefit related to operations for the year ended
December 31, 1999.

In connection with the Restructuring, on September 12, 2000 the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the Company’s charter to remove provisions requiring the Company
to elect to qualify and be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes effective January 1, 2000. As a result of the amendment to the Company’s charter, the Company is taxed as a
taxable subchapter C corporation beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2000. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 109, the Company was required to establish current
and deferred tax assets and liabilities in its financial statements in the period in which a change of tax status occurs. As such, the Company’s benefit for income taxes for the year ended
December 31, 2000 includes the provision associated with establishing the deferred tax assets and liabilities in connection with the change in tax status during the third quarter of 2000, net
of a valuation allowance applied to certain deferred tax assets.

The provision (benefit) for income taxes is comprised of the following components (in thousands):

For the years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Current provision (benefit)

Federal $ — $(26,593) 5 —
State 4,667 586 —
4,667 (26,007) —

Deferred provision (benefit)
Federal (3,169) (19,739) 74,664
State (362) (2,256) 8,536
(3,531) (21,995) 83,200
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 1,136 $(48,002) $83,200




Table of Contents

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, are as follows (in thousands):

2001 2000
Current deferred tax assets:
Asset reserves and liabilities not yet deductible for tax $ 17,333 $ 24,894
Less valuation allowance (17,333) (24,894)
Net total current deferred tax assets $ — $ —
I N
Noncurrent deferred tax assets:
Asset reserves and liabilities not yet deductible for tax $ 10,394 $ 4,634
Tax over book basis of certain assets 21,799 41,923
Net operating loss carryforwards 82,369 56,115
Other 18,632 8,743
Total noncurrent deferred tax assets 133,194 111,415
Less valuation allowance (133,194) (111,415)
Net noncurrent deferred tax assets — —
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities:
Book over tax basis of certain assets 4,975 6,556
Basis difference in sale of investment 49,839 49,839
Other 1,697 55
Total noncurrent deferred tax liabilities 56,511 56,450
Net noncurrent deferred tax liabilities $ 56,511 $ 56,450

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
income tax purposes. Realization of the future tax benefits related to deferred tax assets is dependent on many factors, including the Company’s ability to generate taxable income within
the net operating loss carryforward period. Management has considered these factors in assessing the valuation allowance for financial reporting purposes. In accordance with SFAS 109,
the Company has provided a valuation allowance to reserve the deferred tax assets. At December 31, 2001, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes
totaling approximately $211.2 million available to offset future taxable income. The carryforward period begins expiring in 2009.

A reconciliation of the income tax expense (benefit) at the statutory income tax rate and the effective tax rate as a percentage of pretax income (loss) for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000 is as follows:

2001 2000

Statutory federal rate 35.0% (35.0)%
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit 4.0 (4.0)
Puerto Rico taxes 10.5 —
— 12.5

Change in tax status

Permanent differences (primarily related to stockholder litigation and sale of a subsidiary) (51.6) 5.9

Change in valuation allowance 6.1 12.2

Other items, net 0.2 2.2
4.2% (6.2)%

I I
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On March 9, 2002, the “Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002” was signed into law. Among other changes, the law extends the net operating loss carryback period to five
years from two years for net operating losses arising in tax years ending in 2001 and 2002, and allows use of net operating loss carrybacks and carryforwards to offset 100% of the
alternative minimum taxable income. The Company experienced net operating losses during 2001 resulting primarily from the sale of assets at prices below the tax basis of such assets.
Under terms of the new law, the Company will be able to utilize its net operating losses to offset taxable income generated in 1997 and 1996. As a result of this tax law change in 2002,
the Company will be due an income tax refund of approximately $30.0 million, which will be reflected as an income tax benefit during the first quarter of 2002.

17. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

SFAS 133, as amended, establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at
its fair value. SFAS 133, as amended, requires that changes in a derivative’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. SFAS 133, as
amended, was issued in June 1998, and was effective for fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company adopted SFAS 133, as amended, effective January 1,
2001. The Company’s derivative instruments include an interest rate swap agreement and an 8.0%, $26.1 million promissory note due in 2009, issued December 31, 2001, in conjunction
with the settlement in federal court of a series of stockholder lawsuits against the Company and certain of its existing and former directors and executive officers, as further discussed in
Note 21. Upon issuance, the Company’s derivative instruments will also include an 8.0%, $2.9 million promissory note due in 2009, expected to be issued in conjunction with the issuance
of shares of common stock to plaintiffs arising from the state court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement. The issuance of these shares, and consequently the promissory note, is
expected to occur during the first half of 2002.

In accordance with the terms of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, the Company entered into certain swap arrangements in order to hedge the variable interest rate associated with portions of
the debt. The swap arrangements fix LIBOR at 6.51% (prior to the applicable spread) on outstanding balances of at least $325.0 million through December 31, 2002. The difference
between the floating rate and the swap rate is recognized in interest expense.

The Company has elected not to attempt to meet the hedge accounting criteria for the interest rate swap agreement under SFAS 133, as amended, and has reflected in earnings the change in
the estimated fair value of the interest rate swap agreement. As of December 31, 2001, due to a reduction in interest rates since entering into the swap agreement, the interest rate swap
agreement had a negative fair value of $13.6 million. This negative fair value consists of a transition adjustment of $5.0 million for the reduction in the fair value of the interest rate swap
agreement from its inception through the adoption of SFAS 133 on January 1, 2001 reflected in other comprehensive income (loss) effective January 1, 2001 and a decrease in the fair value
of the swap agreement of $8.6 million reflected in earnings for the year ended December 31, 2001.

In accordance with SFAS 133, as amended, the Company recorded an $11.1 million non-cash charge for the change in fair value of the interest rate swap agreement for the year ended
December 31, 2001, which includes $2.5 million for amortization of the transition adjustment. The unamortized transition adjustment at December 31, 2001 of $2.5 million is expected to
be included in earnings as a non-cash charge, along with a corresponding increase to stockholders’ equity through accumulated comprehensive income, over the remaining term of the swap
agreement. The non-cash charge of $11.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 is expected to reverse into
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earnings through increases in the fair value of the swap agreement, prior to the maturity of the swap agreement on December 31, 2002, unless the swap is terminated in conjunction with a
refinancing of the Senior Bank Credit Facility. However, for each quarterly period prior to the maturity of the swap agreement, the Company will continue to adjust the swap agreement to
its estimated fair value potentially resulting in additional non-cash charges or gains.

On December 31, 2001, approximately 2.8 million shares of the Company’s common stock were issued, along with a $26.1 million promissory note, in conjunction with the final
settlement of the federal court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement. Under the terms of the promissory note, the note and accrued interest became extinguished in January 2002
once the average closing price of the common stock exceeded a “termination price” equal to $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive trading days following the issuance of such note. The
terms of the note, which allow the principal balance to fluctuate dependent on the trading price of the Company’s common stock, create a derivative instrument that must be valued and
accounted for under the provisions of SFAS 133. As a result of the extinguishment of the note in January 2002, management has estimated the fair value of this derivative to approximate
the face amount of the note, resulting in an asset being recorded in the fourth quarter of 2001. The derivative asset offsets the face amount of the note in the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2001.

The state court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement has not yet been completed; however, the settlement is expected to result in the issuance of approximately 0.3 million
additional shares of the Company’s common stock and a $2.9 million subordinated promissory note, which may also be extinguished if the average closing price of the Company’s
common stock meets or exceeds $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive trading days following the note’s issuance and prior to its maturity in 2009. Additionally, to the extent the
Company’s common stock price does not meet the termination price, the note will be reduced by the amount that the shares of common stock issued to the plaintiffs appreciate in value in
excess of $4.90 per share, based on the average trading price of the stock following the date of the note’s issuance and prior to the maturity of the note. If the remaining promissory note is
issued under the current terms, in accordance with SFAS 133, as amended, the Company will reflect in earnings the change in the estimated fair value of the derivative included in the
promissory note from quarter to quarter. Since the Company has reflected the maximum obligation of the contingency associated with the state court portion of the stockholder litigation in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001, the issuance of the note is currently expected to have a favorable impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
position and results of operations initially; thereafter, the financial statement impact will fluctuate based on changes in the Company’s stock price. However, the impact cannot be
determined until the promissory note is issued and an estimated fair value of the derivative included in the promissory note is determined.

18. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

In accordance with SFAS 128, basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into
common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the entity. For the Company, diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income
(loss), as adjusted, by the weighted average number of common shares after considering the additional dilution related to convertible subordinated notes, restricted common stock plans,
and stock options and warrants.
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A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic earnings per share computation to the numerator and denominator of the diluted earnings per share computation is as
follows (in thousands, except per share data, which has also been adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001):

2001 2000 1999
NUMERATOR
Basic and Diluted
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 5,670 $(744,308) $(81,254)
I I I
DENOMINATOR
Basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding 24,380 13,132 11,510
I I I
Diluted:

Weighted average common shares outstanding 24,380 13,132 11,510
Stock options and warrants 371 — —
Stockholder litigation 3,402 — —
Restricted stock 239 — —

Weighted average shares and assumed conversion- diluted 28,392 13,132 11,510

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.23 $ (56.68) $ (7.06)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 020 $ (56.68) $ (7.06)
I I I

For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company’s convertible subordinated notes were convertible into 6.8 million shares of common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in
May 2001), using the if-converted method. These incremental shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2001, as the effect
of their inclusion was anti-dilutive.

For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company’s stock options and warrants were convertible into 0.1 million shares of common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock
split in May 2001), using the treasury stock method. For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the Company’s convertible subordinated notes were convertible into 6.3 million and
0.3 million shares of common stock, respectively (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001), using the if-converted method. These incremental shares were excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 as the effect of their inclusion was anti-dilutive.

19. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock

On January 11, 1999, the Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 to register an aggregate of $1.5 billion in value of its common stock, preferred stock, common stock rights,
warrants and debt securities for sale to the public (the “Shelf Registration Statement”). Proceeds from sales under the Shelf Registration Statement were to be used for general corporate
purposes, including the acquisition and development of correctional and detention facilities. During 1999, the Company issued and sold approximately 6.7 million shares of its common
stock under the Shelf Registration Statement, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of approximately $120.0 million. The Shelf Registration Statement is not available for further use by
the Company.
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On May 7, 1999, the Company registered 10.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock for issuance under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (the
“DRSPP”). The DRSPP provided a method of investing cash dividends in, and making optional monthly cash purchases of, the Company’s common stock, at prices reflecting a discount
between 0% and 5% from the market price of the common stock on the NYSE. During 1999, the Company issued approximately 1.3 million shares under the DRSPP, with substantially all
of these shares issued under the DRSPP’s optional cash feature, resulting in proceeds of $12.3 million. The Company has suspended the DRSPP.

At the Company’s 2000 annual meeting of stockholders held in December 2000, the holders of the Company’s common stock approved a reverse stock split of the Company’s common
stock at a ratio to be determined by the board of directors of the Company of not less than one-for-ten and not to exceed one-for-twenty. The board of directors subsequently approved a
reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock at a ratio of one-for-ten, which was effective May 18, 2001.

As a result of the reverse stock split, every ten shares of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the reverse stock split has been reclassified and changed
into one fully paid and nonassessable share of the Company’s common stock. The Company paid its registered common stockholders cash in lieu of issuing fractional shares in the reverse
stock split at a post reverse-split rate of $8.60 per share, totaling approximately $15,000. The number of common shares and per share amounts have been retroactively restated in the
accompanying financial statements and these notes to the financial statements to reflect the reduction in common shares and corresponding increase in the per share amounts resulting from
the reverse stock split. In conjunction with the reverse stock split, during the second quarter of 2001, the Company amended its charter to reduce the number of shares of common stock
which the Company was authorized to issue to 80.0 million shares (on a post-reverse stock split basis) from 400.0 million shares (on a pre-reverse stock split basis). As of December 31,
2001, the Company had 27.9 million shares of common stock issued and outstanding (on a post-reverse stock split basis).

During 1995, Old CCA authorized the issuance of 29,500 shares of common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) to certain key employees as a deferred stock award.
The award was to fully vest ten years from the date of grant based on continuous employment with the Company. The Company had been expensing the $3.7 million of awards over the
ten-year vesting period. Due to the resignation or termination of these employees, these shares (along with an additional 23,500 shares issued pursuant to an adjustment resulting from the
issuance and subsequent conversion of shares of the Series B preferred stock as discussed below) became fully vested; therefore the Company expensed the unamortized portion of the
award, totaling approximately $1.8 million, during 2000.

Series A Preferred Stock

Upon its formation in 1998, the Company authorized 20.0 million shares of $0.01 par value preferred stock, of which 4.3 million shares are designated as Series A Preferred Stock.

As discussed in Note 3, in connection with the 1999 Merger, Old Prison Realty shareholders received one share of Series A Preferred Stock of the Company in exchange for each Old
Prison Realty Series A Cumulative Preferred Share. Consequently, the Company issued 4.3 million shares of its Series A Preferred Stock on January 1, 1999. The shares of the Company’s
Series A Preferred Stock are redeemable at any time by the Company on or after January 30, 2003 at $25.00 per share, plus dividends accrued and unpaid to the redemption date. Shares of

the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock have no stated maturity, sinking fund provision or mandatory redemption and are
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not convertible into any other securities of the Company. Dividends on shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock are cumulative from the date of original issue of such shares and
are payable quarterly in arrears on the fifteenth day of January, April, July and October of each year, to shareholders of record on the last day of March, June, September and December of
each year, respectively, at a fixed annual rate of 8.0%.

As discussed in Notes 14 and 15, in connection with the June 2000 Waiver and Amendment, the Company was prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends with respect to the
Series A Preferred Stock until such time as the Company had raised at least $100.0 million in equity. As a result, the Company had not declared or paid any dividends on its shares of
Series A Preferred Stock since the first quarter of 2000. Dividends continued to accrue under the terms of the Company’s charter until the Company received a consent and waiver from its
lenders under the Senior Bank Credit Facility in September 2001, which allowed the Company’s board of directors to declare a one-time dividend on the issued and outstanding Series A
Preferred Stock, which was paid on October 15, 2001.

In connection with the December 2001 Amendment and Restatement of the Senior Bank Credit Facility, certain financial and non-financial covenants were amended, including the removal
of prior restrictions on the Company’s ability to pay cash dividends on shares of its issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock. Under the terms of the December 2001 Amendment
and Restatement, the Company is permitted to pay quarterly dividends on the shares of its issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock, including all dividend in arrears. See Note 14
for further information on distributions on the Company’s shares of Series A Preferred Stock.

Series B Preferred Stock

In order to satisfy the REIT distribution requirements with respect to its 1999 taxable year, during 2000 the Company authorized an additional 30.0 million shares of $0.01 par value
preferred stock, designated 12.0 million shares of such preferred stock as Series B Preferred Stock and subsequently issued approximately 7.5 million shares to holders of the Company’s
common stock as a stock dividend.

The shares of Series B Preferred Stock issued by the Company provide for cumulative dividends payable at a rate of 12% per year of the stock’s stated value of $24.46. The dividends are
payable quarterly in arrears, in additional shares of Series B Preferred Stock through the third quarter of 2003, and in cash thereafter, provided that all accrued and unpaid cash dividends
have been made on the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock. The shares of the Series B Preferred Stock are callable by the Company, at a price per share equal to the stated value of
$24.46, plus any accrued dividends, at any time after six months following the later of (i) three years following the date of issuance or (ii) the 91st day following the redemption of the
Company’s Senior Notes. The shares of Series B Preferred Stock were convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock during two conversion periods: (i) from October 2, 2000 to
October 13, 2000; and (ii) from December 7, 2000 to December 20, 2000, at a conversion price based on the average closing price of the Company’s common stock on the NYSE during
the 10 trading days prior to the first day of the applicable conversion period, provided, however, that the conversion price used to determine the number of shares of the Company’s
common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock could not be less than $1.00. The number of shares of the Company’s common stock that were issued upon the
conversion of each share of Series B Preferred Stock was calculated by dividing the stated price ($24.46), plus accrued and unpaid dividends as of the date of conversion of each share of
Series B Preferred Stock, by the conversion price established for the conversion period.
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Approximately 1.3 million shares of Series B Preferred Stock issued by the Company on September 22, 2000 were converted during the first conversion period in October 2000, resulting
in the issuance of approximately 2.2 million shares of the Company’s common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001). The conversion price for the initial conversion
period was established at $1.48.

Approximately 2.9 million shares of Series B Preferred Stock issued by the Company on November 13, 2000 were converted during the second conversion period in December 2000,
resulting in the issuance of approximately 7.3 million shares of the Company’s common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001). The conversion price for the second
conversion period was established at $1.00. The shares of Series B Preferred Stock currently outstanding, as well as any additional shares issued as dividends, are not and will not be
convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock.

During 2001, the Company issued 452,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock in satisfaction of the regular quarterly distributions. Additionally, as of December 31, 2001, the Company has
accrued approximately $3.0 million of distributions on Series B Preferred Stock. See Note 14 for further information on distributions on the Company’s shares of Series B Preferred Stock.

During 2001, the Company issued 0.2 million shares of Series B Preferred Stock under two Series B Preferred Stock restricted stock plans (the “Series B Restricted Stock Plans™), which
were valued at $2.0 million on the date of the award. The restricted shares of Series B Preferred Stock were granted to certain of the Company’s key employees and wardens. Under the
terms of Series B Restricted Stock Plans, the shares in the key employee plan vest in equal intervals over a three-year period expiring in May 2004, while the shares in the warden plan vest
all at one time in May 2004. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company expensed $0.4 million, net of forfeitures, relating to the Series B Restricted Stock Plans.

Stock Warrants

In connection with the Operating Company Merger, the Company issued warrants for approximately 213,000 shares (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) of the Company’s
common stock to acquire the voting common stock of Operating Company. The warrants issued allow the holder to purchase approximately 142,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) and approximately 71,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of
$14.10 per share (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001). These warrants expire September 29, 2005. Also in connection with the Operating Company Merger, the Company
assumed the obligation to issue up to approximately 75,000 shares of its common stock, at a price of $33.30 per share (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001), through their
expiration date on December 31, 2008.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock was recorded in 1999 related to the cashless exercise of stock options.

Stock Option Plans

The Company has equity incentive plans under which, among other things, incentive and non-qualified stock options are granted to certain employees and non-employee directors of the
Company by the compensation committee of the Company’s board of directors. The options are
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generally granted with exercise prices equal to the market value at the date of grant. Vesting periods for options granted to employees generally range from one to four years. Options
granted to non-employee directors vest at the date of grant. The term of such options is ten years from the date of grant.

In connection with the 1999 Merger, all options outstanding at December 31, 1998 to purchase Old CCA common stock and all options outstanding at January 1, 1999 to purchase Old
Prison Realty common stock, were converted into options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock, after giving effect to the exchange ratio and carryover of the vesting and
other relevant terms. Options granted under Old CCA’s stock option plans are exercisable after the later of two years from the date of employment or one year after the date of grant until
ten years after the date of grant. Options granted under Old Prison Realty’s stock option plans were granted with terms similar to the terms of the Company’s plans.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, pursuant to anti-dilution provisions under the Company’s equity incentive plans, an automatic adjustment of approximately 0.6 million stock options (as
adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) was issued to existing optionees as a result of the dilutive effect of the issuance of the Series B Preferred Stock, as further discussed in
Note 14 and above. In accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” the Company also adjusted the exercise prices of
existing and newly issued options such that the automatic adjustment resulted in no accounting consequence to the Company’s financial statements. All references in this Note 19 to the
number and prices of options still outstanding have been retroactively restated to reflect the increased number of options resulting from the automatic adjustment. The number and prices of
options have also been retroactively restated to reflect the one-for-ten reverse stock split in May 2001.

Stock option transactions relating to the Company’s incentive and nonqualified stock option plans are summarized below (in thousands, except exercise prices):

Weighted average

exercise price per
Number of options option
Outstanding at December 31, 1998 434 $103.88
Old Prison Realty options 307 $ 91.29
Granted 100 $ 79.38
Exercised (36) $ 11.23
Cancelled (197) $ 96.43
Outstanding at December 31, 1999 608 $101.49
Granted 552 $ 16.52
Cancelled (181) $ 96.00
Outstanding at December 31, 2000 979 $ 54.54
Granted 1,613 $ 8.84
Cancelled (160) $ 37.05
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 2,432 $ 25.30

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $7.05, $8.10, and $15.40 per option, respectively, based on the estimated fair value using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model.
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Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2001, are summarized below:

Options outstanding ‘Weighted average
at December 31, Options exercisable remaining
2001 at December 31, contractual life in Weighted average
Exercise Price (in thousands) 2001 years exercise price
$8.75 - 9.96 1,771 335 9.19 $ 947
$11.20-19.91 178 52 8.23 $ 13.68
$23.00 — 79.41 173 48 7.67 $ 60.70
$83.07 - 117.78 173 173 5.45 $ 92.17
$121.76 — 159.31 137 137 5.49 $145.46
2,432 745 8.54 $ 57.21

At the Company’s 2000 annual meeting of stockholders held in December 2000, the Company obtained the approval of an amendment to the Company’s 1997 Employee Share Incentive
Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance thereunder from 130,000 to 1.5 million and the adoption of the Company’s 2000 Equity Incentive Plan,
pursuant to which the Company will reserve 2.5 million in shares of the Company’s common stock for issuance thereunder. These changes were made in order to provide the Company
with adequate means to retain and attract quality directors, officers and key employees through the granting of equity incentives. The number of shares available for issuance under each of
the plans has been adjusted to reflect the one-for-ten reverse stock split discussed above.

The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”) and
accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method as prescribed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” As a
result, no compensation cost has been recognized for the Company’s stock option plans under the criteria established by SFAS 123. Had compensation cost for the stock option plans been
determined based on the fair value of the options at the grant date for awards in 2001, 2000 and 1999 consistent with the provisions of SFAS 123, the Company’s net income

(loss) available to common stockholders and per share amounts would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below for the years ended December 31 (amounts in
thousands except per share data):

2001 2000 1999

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders

- - as reported $5,670 $(744,308) $(81,254)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders

- - pro forma $1,434 $(745,598) $(84,252)
Basic earnings (loss) per share — as reported $ 0.23 $ (56.68) $ (7.06)
Basic earnings (loss) per share — pro forma $ 0.06 $ (56.78) $ (7.32)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share — as reported $ 0.20 $ (56.68) $ (7.06)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share — pro forma $ 0.05 $ (56.78) $ (7.32)

The effect of applying SFAS 123 for disclosing compensation costs under such pronouncement may not be representative of the effects on reported net income (loss) available to common
stockholders for future years.
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20.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

2001 2000 1999
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 9.0%
Expected stock price volatility 89.4% 112.5% 49.1%
Risk-free interest rate 4.8% 5.3% 5.4%
Expected life of options 7 years 7 years 10 years

Retirement Plans

On December 28, 1998, Operating Company adopted a 401(k) plan (the “Plan”). In connection with the Operating Company Merger, the Company assumed all benefits and obligations of
the Plan. All employees of the Company are eligible to participate upon reaching age 18 and completing one year of qualified service. Employees may elect to defer from 1% to 15% of
their compensation. The provisions of the Plan provide for employer matching discretionary contributions currently equal to 100% of the employee’s contributions up to 4% of the
employee’s compensation. Additionally, the Company also makes a basic contribution on behalf of each eligible employee, equal to 2% of the employee’s compensation for the first year
of eligibility, and 1% of the employee’s compensation for each year of eligibility following. The Company’s contributions become 40% vested after four years of service and 100% vested
after five years of service. The Company’s board of directors has discretion in establishing the amount of the Company’s matching and basic contributions, which amounted to $5.9
million and $0.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

During 2001, the Company elected to amend the Plan, effective January 1, 2002. The Company’s vesting schedule was changed so that, effective January 1, 2002, employer contributions
and investment earnings or losses thereon become vested 20% after two years of service, 40% after three years of service, 80% after four years of service, and 100% after five or more
years of service. The maximum employee compensation deferral was also increased to 20% of the employee’s compensation.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company paid $0.1 million in 2000 to a former member of Operating Company’s board of directors for consulting services related to various contractual relationships.

The Company and Operating Company paid $0.6 million to a company that is majority-owned by an individual that was a member of the Old CCA board of directors for services rendered
during 2000.

The Company paid $26.5 million in each of 2000 and 1999, to a construction company that is owned by a former member of the Company’s board of directors, for services rendered in the
construction of facilities.

In 2000, the Company and Operating Company paid $0.2 million to a former member of the Company’s board of directors for ongoing consulting services. The Company did not make
payments to this individual during 2001 or 1999 other than board of director fees in 1999.
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21.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

During the first quarter of 2001, the Company obtained final court approval of the settlements of the following outstanding consolidated federal and state class action and derivative
stockholder lawsuits brought against the Company and certain of its former directors and executive officers: (i) In re: Prison Realty Securities Litigation; (ii) In re: Old CCA Securities
Litigation; (iii) John Neiger, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated v. Doctor Crants, Robert Crants and Prison Realty Trust, Inc.; (iv) Dasburg, S.A., on behalf of itself and
all others similarly situated v. Corrections Corporation of America, Doctor R. Crants, Thomas W. Beasley, Charles A. Blanchette, and David L. Myers; (v) Wanstrath v. Crants, et al.; and
(vi) Bernstein v. Prison Realty Trust, Inc. The final terms of the settlement agreements provide for the “global” settlement of all such outstanding stockholder litigation against the
Company brought as the result of, among other things, agreements entered into by the Company and Operating Company in May 1999 to increase payments made by the Company to
Operating Company under the terms of certain agreements, as well as transactions relating to the proposed corporate restructurings led by the Fortress/Blackstone investment group and
Pacific Life Insurance Company. Pursuant to the terms of the settlements, the Company agreed to issue or pay to the plaintiffs (and their respective legal counsel) in the actions: (i) an
aggregate of 4.7 million shares of the Company’s common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001); (ii) a subordinated promissory note in the aggregate principal
amount of $29.0 million; and (iii) approximately $47.5 million in cash payable solely from the proceeds of certain insurance policies.

Pursuant to the terms of the settlement agreements, the promissory note would be due January 2, 2009, and accrue interest at a rate of 8.0% per year. Pursuant to the terms of the
settlements, the note and accrued interest may be extinguished if the Company’s common stock price meets or exceeds a “termination price” equal to $16.30 per share for any fifteen
consecutive trading days following the note’s issuance and prior to the maturity date of the note. Additionally, to the extent the Company’s common stock price does not meet the
termination price, the note will be reduced by the amount that the shares of common stock issued to the plaintiffs appreciate in value in excess of $4.90 per share, based on the average
trading price of the stock following the date of the note’s issuance and prior to the maturity of the note. The Company accrued the estimated obligation of approximately $75.4 million
associated with the stockholder litigation during the third quarter of 2000.

During March and April 2001, the Company issued approximately 1.6 million shares of common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, under the settlement to the plaintiffs’
counsel in the actions. Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company issued approximately 2.8 million shares of common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split,
along with a $26.1 million promissory note, in conjunction with the final settlement of the federal court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement. Under the terms of the promissory
note, the note was extinguished in full in January 2002 as the result of the average closing price of the Company’s common stock meeting or exceeding a price of $16.30 per share for
fifteen consecutive trading days following the issuance of the note. The state court portion of the stockholder litigation settlement has not yet been completed; however, the settlement is
expected to result in the issuance of approximately 310,000 additional shares of common stock and a $2.9 million subordinated promissory note, which may also be extinguished if the
average closing price of the common stock meets or exceeds $16.30 per share for fifteen consecutive trading days following the issuance of such note and prior to its maturity in 2009.
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On June 9, 2000, a complaint captioned Prison Acquisition Company, L.L.C. v. Prison Realty Trust, Inc., Correction Corporation of America, Prison Management Services, Inc. and
Juvenile and Jail Facility Management Services, Inc. was filed in federal court in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York to recover fees allegedly owed the
plaintiff as a result of the termination of a securities purchase agreement related to the Company’s proposed corporate restructuring led by the Fortress/Blackstone investment group. The
complaint alleged that the defendants failed to pay amounts allegedly due under the securities purchase agreement and asked for compensatory damages of approximately $24.0 million
consisting of various fees, expenses and other relief. During August 2001, the Company and plaintiffs entered into a definitive agreement to settle this litigation. Under terms of the
agreement, the Company made a cash payment of $15.0 million to the plaintiffs in full settlement of all claims. During 2000, the Company recorded an accrual reflecting the estimated
liability of this matter.

On September 14, 1998, a complaint captioned Thomas Horn, Ferman Heaton, Ricky Estes, and Charles Combs, individually and on behalf of the U.S. Corrections Corporation Employee
Stock Ownership Plan and its participants v. Robert B. McQueen, Milton Thompson, the U.S. Corrections Corporation Employee Stock Ownership Plan, U.S. Corrections Corporation,
and Corrections Corporation of America was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Kentucky alleging numerous violations of the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act, including but not limited to a failure to manage the assets of the U.S. Corrections Corporation Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the “ESOP”) in the sole interest of the
participants, purchasing assets without undertaking adequate investigation of the investment, overpayment for employer securities, failure to resolve conflicts of interest, lending money
between the ESOP and employer, allowing the ESOP to borrow money other than for the acquisition of employer securities, failure to make adequate, independent and reasoned
investigation into the prudence and advisability of certain transactions, and otherwise. The plaintiffs were seeking damages in excess of $30.0 million plus prejudgment interest and
attorneys’ fees. The Company has entered into a definitive agreement with the plaintiffs to settle their claims against the Company, which was preliminarily approved by the court during
the first quarter of 2002. During 2000, the Company recorded an accrual reflecting the estimated liability of this matter.

Commencing in late 1997 and through 1998, Old CCA became subject to approximately sixteen separate suits in federal district court in the state of South Carolina claiming the abuse and
mistreatment of certain juveniles housed in the Columbia Training Center, a South Carolina juvenile detention facility formerly operated by Old CCA. These suits claim unspecified
compensatory and punitive damages, as well as certain statutory costs. One of these suits, captioned William Pacetti v. Corrections Corporation of America, went to trial in late November
2000, and in December 2000 the jury returned a verdict awarding the plaintiff in the action $125,000 in compensatory damages, $3.0 million in punitive damages, and attorneys’ fees.
However, during the second quarter of 2001, the Company reached an agreement in principle with all plaintiffs to settle their asserted and unasserted claims against the Company, and the
Company subsequently executed a definitive settlement agreement which was approved by the court, with the full settlement funded by insurance.

In February 2000, a complaint was filed in federal court in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas against the Company’s inmate transportation subsidiary,
TransCor America, LLC (“TransCor”). The lawsuit, captioned Cheryl Schoenfeld v. TransCor America, Inc., et al., alleges that two former employees of TransCor sexually assaulted
plaintiff Schoenfeld during her transportation to a facility in Texas in late 1999. An additional individual, Annette Jones, has also joined the suit as a plaintiff, alleging that she was also
mistreated by the two former employees during the same trip. No trial date has been set. Both former employees were subject to pending
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criminal charges in Houston, Harris County, Texas; one has pleaded guilty to a criminal civil rights violation, and the other was convicted of sexual assault. TransCor is defending this
action vigorously. The Company expects that a portion of any of TransCor’s liabilities resulting from this litigation will be covered by liability insurance; however, the insurance carrier and
TransCor are in litigation over various coverage issues relating to this lawsuit. TransCor has recorded an accrual reflecting management’s best estimate of the ultimate outcome of this
matter based on consultation with legal counsel. In the event any resulting liability is not covered by insurance proceeds and is in excess of the amount accrued by TransCor, such liability
could have a material adverse effect upon the business, results of operations and financial position of TransCor and, potentially, the Company and its other subsidiaries.

In addition to the above legal matters, the nature of the Company’s business results in claims and litigation alleging that the Company is liable for damages arising from the conduct of its
employees or others. In the opinion of management, other than the outstanding litigation discussed above, there are no pending legal proceedings that would have a material effect on the
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company for which the Company has not established adequate reserves.

Insurance Contingencies

Each of the Company’s management contracts and the statutes of certain states require the maintenance of insurance. The Company maintains various insurance policies including
employee health, workers’ compensation, automobile liability and general liability insurance. These policies are fixed premium policies with various deductible amounts that are self-
funded by the Company. Reserves are provided for estimated incurred claims within the deductible amounts.

Income Tax Contingencies

In connection with the 1999 Merger, the Company assumed the tax obligations of Old CCA. The IRS has completed field audits of Old CCA’s federal tax returns for the taxable years
ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, and is currently auditing the Company’s federal tax returns for the taxable year ended December 31, 2000. The Company has received the IRS agent’s
report related to 1998 and 1997, which includes a determination by the IRS to increase taxable income by approximately $120.0 million. If ultimately upheld, these adjustments would
result in a cash tax liability to the Company of approximately $46.8 million, not including penalties and interest. The Company is currently appealing the IRS’s preliminary findings with
the Appeals Office of the IRS. While the Company intends to vigorously defend its position, the Company is currently unable to predict the ultimate outcome of these IRS audits. It is
possible that such audits will result in claims against the Company in excess of reserves currently recorded.

In connection with the IRS’s audit of the Company’s 2000 federal tax return, the agent conducting the audit has indicated that the IRS may disallow a loss claimed by the Company as the
result of the Company’s forgiveness in September 2000 of certain indebtedness with Operating Company. The IRS, however, has not made any assessment of tax liability against the
Company to date. In the event the IRS does make such an assessment and prevails, the Company would be required to pay the IRS in excess of $56.0 million in cash plus penalties and
interest. This adjustment would also substantially eliminate the Company’s net operating loss carryforward. The Company believes, based on consultation with its tax advisors, that it will
be able to successfully defend its position. Accordingly, the Company has not established a reserve for this matter. No assurance can be given that the IRS will not make such an assessment
and prevail in any such claim against the Company.
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In addition, although the IRS has concluded its audit of the Company’s federal tax return for the taxable year ended December 31, 1999, the statute of limitations for such taxable year still
has not expired. Thus, the Company’s election of REIT status for 1999 remains subject to review by the IRS generally until the expiration of three years from the date of filing of the
Company’s 1999 federal tax return. While the Company believes that it met the qualifications as a REIT for 1999, qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and
complex provisions of the Code for which there is only limited judicial and administrative interpretations. Should the IRS subsequently disallow the Company’s election to be taxed as a
REIT for the 1999 taxable year, the Company would be subject to income taxes and interest on the Company’s 1999 taxable income and possibly could be subject to penalties, which would
have an adverse impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. To the extent that any IRS audit adjustments, including any adjustments resulting from
the audit of Old CCA’s 1997 and 1998 tax returns, increase the accumulated earnings and profits of Old CCA, the Company could be required to make additional distributions of such to
the Company’s stockholders, either in cash or through the issuance of certain types of the Company’s securities, in order to preserve its REIT status for the 1999 taxable year. With respect
to an increase in Old CCA’s earnings and profits for 1997 and 1998, if the IRS ultimately increases taxable income as described above and requires the Company to distribute the full
amount of the increase in Old CCA’s earnings and profits (less any taxes, interest and penalties paid by the Company), the Company would be required to distribute approximately

$70.5 million in cash or securities to the Company’s stockholders of record at the time of distribution, none of which is currently accrued. Pursuant to the terms of the Company’s Senior
Bank Credit Facility, however, the Company would not be permitted to satisfy any such obligation with cash.

Guarantees

In connection with the bond issuance of a governmental entity for which the Company currently provides management services at a correctional facility, the Company is obligated, under a
debt service deficits agreement, to pay the trustee of the bond’s trust indenture (the “Trustee”) amounts necessary to pay any debt service deficits consisting of principal and interest
requirements (outstanding principal balance of $64.2 million at December 31, 2001 plus future interest payments). In the event the State of Tennessee, which is currently utilizing the
facility, exercises its option to purchase the correctional facility, the Company is also obligated to pay the difference between principal and interest owed on the bonds on the date set for the
redemption of the bonds and amounts paid by the State of Tennessee for the facility and all other funds on deposit with the Trustee and available for redemption of the bonds. Ownership of
the facility reverts to the State of Tennessee in 2017 at no cost. Therefore, the Company does not currently believe the State of Tennessee will exercise its option to purchase the facility. At
December 31, 2001, the outstanding principal balance of the bonds exceeded the purchase price option by $13.2 million. The Company also maintains a restricted cash account of
approximately $7.0 million as collateral against a guarantee it has provided for a forward purchase agreement related to the above bond issuance.

Employment and Severance Agreements

On July 28, 2000, Doctor R. Crants was terminated as the chief executive officer of the Company and from all positions with the Company and Operating Company. Under certain
employment and severance agreements, Mr. Crants will continue to receive his salary and health, life and disability insurance benefits until 2003 and was vested immediately in 14,000
shares of the Company’s common stock (as adjusted for the reverse stock split in May 2001) previously granted as part of a deferred stock award. The compensation expense related to

these benefits, totaling $0.7 million in cash and $1.2 million in non-cash charges representing the unamortized portion of the deferred
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22,

stock award, was recognized during the third quarter of 2000. The unamortized portion was based on the trading price of the common stock of Old CCA, as of the date of grant, which
occurred in the fourth quarter of 1995.

The Company also currently has employment agreements with several executive officers which provide for the payment of certain severance amounts upon an event of termination or
change of control, as further defined in the agreements.

Other Commitments

The Company received an invoice, dated October 25, 2000, from Merrill Lynch & Co. for $8.1 million for services as the Company’s financial advisor in connection with the
Restructuring. Prior to their termination in the third quarter of 2000, Merrill Lynch served as a financial advisor to the Company and its board of directors in connection with the
Restructuring. Merrill Lynch claimed that the merger between Operating Company and the Company constituted a “restructuring transaction,” which Merrill Lynch further contended
triggered certain fees under engagement letters allegedly entered into between Merrill Lynch and the Company and Merrill Lynch and Operating Company management, respectively. In
July 2001, Merrill Lynch agreed to accept payment of $3.0 million in three $1.0 million installment payments over a one year period in full and complete satisfaction of the invoice. As of
December 31, 2001, the Company had paid $2.0 million to Merrill Lynch in connection with the satisfaction of this obligation. The remaining $1.0 million owed to Merrill Lynch has been
accrued in the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2001.

SEGMENT REPORTING

As of December 31, 2001, the Company owned and managed 36 correctional and detention facilities, and managed 28 correctional and detention facilities it does not own. During the
second quarter of 2001, management began viewing the Company’s operating results in two segments: owned and managed correctional and detention facilities and managed-only
correctional and detention facilities. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 4. Owned and managed facilities include the operating results of
those facilities owned and managed by the Company. Managed-only facilities include the operating results of those facilities owned by a third party and managed by the Company. The
Company measures the operating performance of each facility within the above two segments, without differentiation, based on facility contribution. The Company defines facility
contribution as a facility’s operating income or loss from operations before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Since each of the Company’s facilities within the two operating
segments exhibit similar economic characteristics, provide similar services to governmental agencies, and operate under a similar set of operating procedures and regulatory guidelines,
the facilities within the identified segments have been aggregated and reported as one operating segment.

The revenue and facility contribution for the reportable segments and a reconciliation to the Company’s operating income (loss) is as follows for the three years ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999 (dollars in thousands). Intangible assets are not included in each segment’s reportable assets and the amortization of intangible assets is not included in the determination of
the segment’s facility contribution:
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2001 2000 1999
Revenue:
Owned and managed $619,652 $ 149,984 $ —
Managed-only 337,951 108,409 —
Total management revenue 957,603 258,393 —
Operating expenses:
Owned and managed 464,392 121,752 —
Managed-only 272,468 90,047 —
Total operating expenses 736,860 211,799 —
Facility contribution:
Owned and managed 155,260 28,232 —
Managed-only 65,483 18,362 —
Total facility contribution 220,743 46,594 —
Other revenue (expense):
Rental and other revenue 23,188 51,885 278,833
Other operating expense (16,661) (5,516) —
General and administrative expense (34,568) (45,463) (24,125)
Depreciation and amortization (54,135) (59,799) (44,062)
Licensing fees to Operating Company — (501) —
Administrative service fee to Operating Company — (900) —
Write-off of amounts under lease arrangements — (11,920) (65,677)
Impairment losses — (527,919) (76,433)
Operating income (loss) $138,567 $(553,539) $ 68,536
December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
Assets:
Owned and managed $1,597,697 $1,564,279
Managed-only 86,598 84,397
Corporate and other 286,985 528,316
Total assets $1,971,280 $2,176,992
I I

23. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Selected quarterly financial information for each of the quarters in the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

March 31, 2001 June 30, 2001 September 30, 2001 December 31, 2001
Revenue $240,382 $245,725 $248,188 $246,496
Operating income $ 34,426 $ 34,934 $ 35,994 $ 33,213
Net income (loss) $ (5,307) $ 514 $  (564) $ 31,051
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $(10,128) $ (4,466) $ (5,678) $ 25,942
Net income (loss) per common share — basic $ (043) $ (0.18) $ (0.23) $ 1.05
Net income (loss) per common share — diluted $ (0.43) $ (0.18) $ (0.23) $ 080
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March 31, 2000 June 30, 2000 September 30, 2000 December 31, 2000
Revenue $ 14,036 $ 14,132 $ 43,854 $ 238,256
Operating loss $ (5,424) $(35,888) $ (26,700) $(485,527)
Net loss $(33,751) $(79,405) $(258,488) $(359,138)
Net loss available to common stockholders $(35,901) $(81,555) $(261,072) $(365,780)
Net loss per common share — basic $ (3.03) $ (6.89) $ (22.04) $ (21.55)
Net loss per common share — diluted $ (3.03) $ (6.89) $ (22.04) $ (21.55)

Fluctuations in net income (loss), net income (loss) available to common stockholders and per share amounts during 2001, were principally due to changes in the estimated fair value of
derivative instruments. Fluctuations in net loss, net loss available to common stockholders and per share amounts during 2000 were principally due to impairment losses and stockholder
litigation charges. Refer to Note 4 for a further discussion of the comparability of results of operations between 2001 and 2000, and Note 2 and Note 8 for a further discussion of
transactions regarding stockholder litigation charges, impairment losses and other transactions having a significant impact on operations during 2000.
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Exhibit 4.2

NUMBER SHARES
CXw

COMMON STOCK COMMON STOCK

CUSIP 22025Y 40 7
SEE REVERSE FOR
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

THIS CERTIFIES THAT

IS THE REGISTERED HOLDER OF

FULLY-PAID AND NON-ASSESSABLE COMMON STOCK,
PAR VALUE $.01 PER SHARE, OF

Corrections Corporation of America, transferable on the books of the Corporation
by the holder hereof in person or by duly authorized attorney upon surrender of
this certificate properly endorsed. This certificate is not valid until
countersigned by the Transfer Agent and registered by the Registrar. In Witness
Whereof, the Corporation has caused the facsimile signatures of its duly
authorized officers and the facsimile of its seal to be printed hereon.

[SEAL]

Dated:

COUNTERSIGNED AND REGISTERED:
AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST COMPANY
(NEW YORK, NEW YORK)
TRANSFER AGENT
AND REGISTRAR,

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE ~  =-=-s-mmmmsocomon ommomioooooos
SECRETARY PRESIDENT



CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

THE CORPORATION HAS THE AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES OF CAPITAL STOCK OF
MORE THAN ONE CLASS. THE CORPORATION WILL, ON REQUEST AND WITHOUT CHARGE,
FURNISH A FULL STATEMENT OF THE DESIGNATIONS AND ANY PREFERENCES, CONVERSION AND
OTHER RIGHTS, VOTING POWERS, RESTRICTIONS, LIMITATIONS AS TO DIVIDENDS,
QUALIFICATIONS, AND TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES OF CAPITAL
STOCK OF EACH CLASS WHICH THE CORPORATION IS AUTHORIZED TO ISSUE. SUCH REQUESTS
MAY BE MADE BY A STOCKHOLDER OF THE CORPORATION TO THE SECRETARY OF THE
CORPORATION AT ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICE.

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face
of this certificate, shall be construed as though they were written out in full
according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM -- as tenants in common UNIF GIFT MIN ACT
TEN ENT -- as tenants by the entireties
JT TEN -- as joint tenants with right of

survivorship and not as tenants

in common

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list.
For value received, hereby sell, assign and transfer unto

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER
IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE

(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS, INCLUDING ZIP CODE, OR ASSIGNEE)

B R e R e T T shares
of the Common Stock represented by the within certificate, and do hereby
irrevocably constitute and appoint Attorney
to transfer the said stock on the books of the within named Corporation with

full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:

Signature:

Custodian

(Cust)
Under Uniform Gifts to Minors

Act

(State)

Notice: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face
of the certificate in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever.

Signature guaranteed:

THE SIGNATURE(S) SHOULD BE GUARANTEED BY AN ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION (BANKS,

STOCKBROKERS, SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS AND CREDIT UNIONS WITH MEMBERSHIP IN

AN APPROVED SIGNATURE GUARANTEE MEDALLION PROGRAM), PURSUANT TO S.E.C. RULE 17Ad-

15.

(Minor)



Exhibit 4.3

NUMBER SHARES
CORA
8.0% SERIES A CUMULATIVE 8.0% SERIES A CUMULATIVE
PREFERRED STOCK PREFERRED STOCK
$25 PER SHARE $25 PER SHARE
LIQUIDATION PREFERENCE LIQUIDATION PREFERENCE

CUSIP 22025Y 20 9
SEE REVERSE FOR
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

THIS CERTIFIES THAT

IS THE REGISTERED HOLDER OF

FULLY-PAID AND NON-ASSESSABLE 8.0% SERIES A CUMULATIVE PREFERRED STOCK,
$25 PER SHARE LIQUIDATION PREFERENCE, PAR VALUE $.01 PER SHARE, OF

Corrections Corporation of America, transferable on the books of the Corporation
by the holder hereof in person or by duly authorized attorney upon surrender of
this certificate properly endorsed. This certificate is not valid until
countersigned by the Transfer Agent and registered by the Registrar. In Witness
Whereof, the Corporation has caused the facsimile signatures of its duly
authorized officers and the facsimile of its seal to be printed hereon.

[SEAL]

Dated:

COUNTERSIGNED AND REGISTERED:
AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST COMPANY
(NEW YORK, NEW YORK)

TRANSFER AGENT
AND REGISTRAR,
BY

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE ~  --=--msmmmsommoooo oo
SECRETARY PRESIDENT



CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

THE CORPORATION HAS THE AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES OF CAPITAL STOCK OF
MORE THAN ONE CLASS. THE CORPORATION WILL, ON REQUEST AND WITHOUT CHARGE,
FURNISH A FULL STATEMENT OF THE DESIGNATIONS AND ANY PREFERENCES, CONVERSION AND
OTHER RIGHTS, VOTING POWERS, RESTRICTIONS, LIMITATIONS AS TO DIVIDENDS,
QUALIFICATIONS, AND TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES OF CAPITAL
STOCK OF EACH CLASS WHICH THE CORPORATION IS AUTHORIZED TO ISSUE. SUCH REQUESTS
MAY BE MADE BY A STOCKHOLDER OF THE CORPORATION TO THE SECRETARY OF THE
CORPORATION AT ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICE.

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face
of this certificate, shall be construed as though they were written out in full
according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM -- as tenants in common UNIF GIFT MIN ACT
TEN ENT -- as tenants by the entireties
JT TEN -- as joint tenants with right of

survivorship and not as tenants

in common

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list.
For value received, hereby sell, assign and transfer unto

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER
IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE

(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS, INCLUDING ZIP CODE, OR ASSIGNEE)

I e e e shares
of the Series A Preferred Stock represented by the within certificate, and do
hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint
Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the within named Corporation
with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:

Signature:

Custodian

(Cust)
Under Uniform Gifts to Minors

Act

(State)

Notice: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face
of the certificate in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever.

Signature guaranteed:

THE SIGNATURE(S) SHOULD BE GUARANTEED BY AN ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION (BANKS,

STOCKBROKERS, SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS AND CREDIT UNIONS WITH MEMBERSHIP IN

AN APPROVED SIGNATURE GUARANTEE MEDALLION PROGRAM), PURSUANT TO S.E.C. RULE 17Ad-

15.

(Minor)



Exhibit 4.4

NUMBER SHARES
CORB
12% SERIES B 12% SERIES B
CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED STOCK PREFERRED STOCK

CUSIP 22025Y 30 8
SEE REVERSE FOR
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

THIS CERTIFIES THAT

IS THE REGISTERED HOLDER OF

FULLY-PAID AND NON-ASSESSABLE 12% SERIES B CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE
PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE $.01 PER SHARE, OF

Corrections Corporation of America, transferable on the books of the Corporation
by the holder hereof in person or by duly authorized attorney upon surrender of
this certificate properly endorsed. This certificate is not valid until
countersigned by the Transfer Agent and registered by the Registrar. In Witness
Whereof, the Corporation has caused the facsimile signatures of its duly
authorized officers and the facsimile of its seal to be printed hereon.

[SEAL]

Dated:

COUNTERSIGNED AND REGISTERED:
AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST COMPANY
(NEW YORK, NEW YORK)

TRANSFER AGENT
AND REGISTRAR,

BY

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE ~  --=--msmmmsommoooo oo
SECRETARY PRESIDENT



CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

THE CORPORATION HAS THE AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES OF CAPITAL STOCK OF
MORE THAN ONE CLASS. THE CORPORATION WILL, ON REQUEST AND WITHOUT CHARGE,
FURNISH A FULL STATEMENT OF THE DESIGNATIONS AND ANY PREFERENCES, CONVERSION AND
OTHER RIGHTS, VOTING POWERS, RESTRICTIONS, LIMITATIONS AS TO DIVIDENDS,
QUALIFICATIONS, AND TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES OF CAPITAL
STOCK OF EACH CLASS WHICH THE CORPORATION IS AUTHORIZED TO ISSUE. SUCH REQUESTS
MAY BE MADE BY A STOCKHOLDER OF THE CORPORATION TO THE SECRETARY OF THE
CORPORATION AT ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICE.

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face
of this certificate, shall be construed as though they were written out in full
according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM -- as tenants in common UNIF GIFT MIN ACT
TEN ENT -- as tenants by the entireties
JT TEN -- as joint tenants with right of

survivorship and not as tenants

in common

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list.
For value received, hereby sell, assign and transfer unto

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER
IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE

(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS, INCLUDING ZIP CODE, OR ASSIGNEE)

I e e e shares
of the Series B Preferred Stock represented by the within certificate, and do
hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint
Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the within named Corporation
with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:

Signature:

Custodian

(Cust)
Under Uniform Gifts to Minors

Act

(State)

Notice: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face
of the certificate in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever.

Signature guaranteed:

THE SIGNATURE(S) SHOULD BE GUARANTEED BY AN ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION (BANKS,

STOCKBROKERS, SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS AND CREDIT UNIONS WITH MEMBERSHIP IN

AN APPROVED SIGNATURE GUARANTEE MEDALLION PROGRAM), PURSUANT TO S.E.C. RULE 17Ad-

15.

(Minor)



EXHIBIT 10.56

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA
1997 EMPLOYEE SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN

WHEREAS, Corrections Corporation of America, a Maryland corporation
formerly known as Prison Realty Trust, Inc. (the "Company"), administers the
Corrections Corporation of America 1997 Employee Share Incentive Plan (formerly
known as the CCA Prison Realty Trust 1997 Employee Share Incentive Plan) (the
"Plan");

WHEREAS, Section 5(f) of the Plan currently provides that, upon the
death of a holder of a Share Option (as defined in the Plan), the heirs or
estate of the optionee may exercise such Share Option, to the extent it was
exercisable at death, for a period of one year from the date of death or the
expiration of the stated term of the Share Option, whichever period is shorter;

WHEREAS, Section 5(g) of the Plan currently provides that, upon the
termination of a holder of a Share Option for reason of Disability (as defined
in the Plan), the optionee may exercise such Share Option, to the extent it was
exercisable at the time of termination, for a period of three years from the
date of termination or the expiration of the stated term of the Share Option,
whichever period is shorter;

WHEREAS, Section 5(h) of the Plan currently provides that, upon the
Retirement (as defined in the Plan) of a holder of a Share Option, the optionee
may exercise such Share Option, to the extent it was exercisable at the time of
termination, for a period of three years from the date of termination or the
expiration of the stated term of the Share Option, whichever period is shorter;

WHEREAS, the Company desires to amend the Plan to allow the exercise of
Share Options granted in the future (whether or not then exercisable) for their
full stated term upon death, Disability or Retirement; and

WHEREAS, on December 13, 2001, the Compensation Committee of the
Company's Board of Directors considered and approved the amendments to the Plan
set forth herein effective as of the date of such approval.

NOW, THEREFORE, Section 5(f) of the Plan is hereby amended as follows:

By deleting the section in its entirety and substituting therefor the
following:

"(f) Termination by Death.

(1) with respect to Share Options granted prior to December 13,
2001, subject to Section 5(j), if an optionee's employment by the Company and
any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of death, any Share Option held
by such optionee may thereafter be exercised, to the extent such option was
exercisable at the time of death or on such accelerated basis as the Committee
may determine at or after grant (or as may be determined in accordance with
procedures established by the Committee), by the legal representative of the
estate or by the legatee of the optionee under the will of the optionee, for a
period of one year (or such other period as the



Committee may specify at grant) from the date of such death or until the
expiration of the stated term of such Share Option, whichever period is the
shorter.

(ii) with respect to Share Options granted on or following
December 13, 2001, subject to Section 5(j), if an optionee's employment by the
Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of death, any Share
Option held by such optionee (whether or not then exercisable) may thereafter be
exercised by the legal representative of the estate or by the legatee of the
optionee under the will of the optionee for the stated term of such Share
Option."

FURTHER, Section 5(g) of the Plan is hereby amended as follows:

By deleting the section in its entirety and substituting therefor the
following:

"(g) Termination by Reason of Disability.

(i) with respect to Share Options granted prior to December 13,
2001, subject to Section 5(j), if an optionee's employment by the Company and
any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of Disability, any Share Option
held by such optionee may thereafter be exercised by the optionee, to the extent
it was exercisable at the time of termination or on such accelerated basis as
the Committee may determine at or after grant (or as may be determined in
accordance with procedures established by the Committee), for a period of three
years (or such other period as the Committee may specify at grant) from the date
of such termination of employment or until the expiration of the stated term of
such Share Option, whichever period is the shorter; provided, however, that, if
the optionee dies within such three-year period (or such other period as the
Committee shall specify at grant), any unexercised Share Option held by such
optionee shall thereafter be exercisable to the extent to which it was
exercisable at the time of death for a period of one year from the date of such
death or until the expiration of the stated term of such Share Option, whichever
period is the shorter. In the event of termination of employment by reason of
Disability, if an Incentive Option is exercised after the expiration of the
exercise periods that apply for purposes of Section 422 of the Code, such Share
Option will thereafter be treated as a Non- Qualified Option.

(ii) with respect to Share Options granted on or following
December 13, 2001, subject to Section 5(j), if an optionee's employment by the
Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of Disability, any
Share Option held by such optionee (whether or not then exercisable) may
thereafter be exercised by the optionee (or, in the event of the optionee's
death prior to the expiration of the stated term of such Share Option, by the
legal representative of the optionee's estate or by the legatee under the will
of the optionee) for the stated term of such Share Option. In the event of
termination of employment by reason of Disability, if an Incentive Option is
exercised after the expiration of the exercise periods that apply for purposes
of Section 422 of the Code, such Share Option will thereafter be treated as a
Non-Qualified Option."



FURTHER, Section 5(h) of the Plan is hereby amended as follows:

By deleting the section in its entirety and substituting therefor the
following:

"(h) Termination by Reason of Retirement.

(1) with respect to Share Options granted prior to December 13,
2001, subject to Section 5(j), if an optionee's employment by the Company and
any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of Normal or early Retirement,
any Share Option held by such optionee may thereafter be exercised by the
optionee, to the extent it was exercisable at the time of such Retirement or on
such accelerated basis as the Committee may determine at or after grant (or as
may be determined in accordance with procedures established by the Committee),
for a period of three years (or such other period as the Committee may specify
at grant) from the date of such termination of employment or the expiration of
the stated term of such Share Option, whichever period is the shorter; provided,
however, that, if the optionee dies within such three-year period (or such other
period as the Committee may specify at grant), any unexercised Share Option held
by such optionee shall thereafter be exercisable, to the extent to which it was
exercisable at the time of death, for a period of one year from the date of such
death or until the expiration of the stated term of such Share Option, whichever
period is the shorter. In the event of termination of employment by reason of
Retirement, if an Incentive Option is exercised after the expiration of the
exercise periods that apply for purposes of Section 422 of the Code, the option
will thereafter be treated as a Non-Qualified Option.

(ii) with respect to Share Options granted on or following
December 13, 2001, subject to Section 5(j), if an optionee's employment by the
Company and any Subsidiary or Affiliate terminates by reason of Normal or Early
Retirement, any Share Option held by such optionee (whether or not then
exercisable) may thereafter be exercised by the optionee (or, in the event of
the optionee's death prior to the expiration of the stated term of such Share
Option, by the legal representative of the optionee's estate or by the legatee
under the will of the optionee) for the stated term of such Share Option. In the
event of termination of employment by reason of Retirement, if an Incentive
Option is exercised after the expiration of the exercise periods that apply for
purposes of Section 422 of the Code, the option will thereafter be treated as a
Non-Qualified Option."

FURTHER, all references to Section 5(f)-(h) of the Plan and all other
terms and provisions of the Plan for which an amendment is necessary to further
the purpose of this Second Amendment to Corrections Corporation of America 1997
Employee Share Incentive Plan (the "Amendment") are hereby amended to conform
with the terms of this Amendment.



FURTHER, Section 12 of the Plan is hereby amended as follows:

By deleting the entire Section (including Section headings) in its
entirety and substituting therefor the following:

"SECTION 12. 1999 REIT Election.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no provision in this
Plan shall be construed in a manner so as to adversely affect the Company's
ability to elect taxable status as a REIT for its 1999 taxable year and any
award which shall be deemed to have such an adverse effect shall be void ab
initio."

FURTHER, from the date hereof, for purposes of the Plan, all references
to the Company shall mean Corrections Corporation of America, a Maryland
corporation, and all references to the Plan shall mean the Corrections
Corporation of America 1997 Employee Share Incentive Plan, as amended.

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

By: /s/ John D. Ferguson

Title: President



EXHIBIT 10.63

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA
2000 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

WHEREAS, Corrections Corporation of America, a Maryland corporation
formerly known as Prison Realty Trust, Inc. (the "Company"), administers the
Corrections Corporation of America 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan");

WHEREAS, Section 6(g) of the Plan currently provides that a Participant
(as defined in the Plan), or his/her estate, may exercise all Options (as
defined in the Plan) granted to such Participant (whether or not then
exercisable) within one year of the Participant's death, Disability or
Retirement (each as defined in the Plan);

WHEREAS, the Company desires to amend the Plan to allow the exercise of
all Options granted in the future (whether or not then exercisable) for the full
stated term of the Options upon the Participant's death, Disability or
Retirement; and

WHEREAS, on December 13, 2001, the Compensation Committee of the
Company's Board of Directors considered and approved the amendments to the Plan
set forth herein effective as of the date of such approval.

NOW, THEREFORE, Section 6(g) of the Plan is hereby amended as follows:

By deleting the section in its entirety and substituting therefor the
following:

"(a) Acceleration of Benefits upon Death, Disability or Retirement of
Participant or a Change in Control with Respect to Options Granted Prior to
December 13, 2001. With respect to Options granted prior to December 13, 2001,
if (x) a Participant shall die while in the employ or service of the Company or
an Affiliate Corporation or within a period of three (3) months after the
termination of such employment or service, (y) a Participant's employment or
service with the Company shall terminate by reason of Disability or Retirement,
or (z) there occurs a Change in Control, then in any such case all Options
theretofore granted to such Participant (whether or not then exercisable) may,
unless earlier terminated or expired in accordance with their terms, be
exercised by the Participant or by the Participant's estate or by a person who
acquired the right to exercise such Option by bequest or inheritance or
otherwise by reason of the death or Disability of the Participant, at any time
within one year after the date of death, Disability or Retirement of the
Participant or the Change in Control. The Committee in its discretion may alter
the foregoing limitations at or after the date of grant of an Option.

(b) Acceleration of Benefits upon Death, Disability or Retirement of
Participant or a Change in Control with Respect to Options Granted on or
Following December 13, 2001. With respect to Options granted on or following
December 13, 2001, if (x) a Participant shall die while in the employ or service
of the Company or an Affiliate Corporation or within a period of three (3)
months after the termination of such employment or service, (y) a Participant's
employment or service with the Company shall terminate by reason of Disability,
or (z) the Participant's



employment or service with the Company shall terminate by reason of Retirement,
then in any such case all Options theretofore granted to such Participant
(whether or not then exercisable) may, unless earlier terminated or expired in
accordance with their terms, be exercised by the Participant or by the
Participant's estate or by a person who acquired the right to exercise such
Option by bequest or inheritance or otherwise by reason of the death or
Disability of the Participant, for the stated term of the Option. If there
occurs a Change in Control, then in any such case all Options theretofore
granted to such Participant (whether or not then exercisable) may, unless
earlier terminated or expired in accordance with their terms, be exercised by
the Participant (or by the Participant's estate or by a person who acquired the
right to exercise such Option by bequest or inheritance or otherwise by reason
of the death or Disability of the Participant) at any time within one year after
the Change in Control. The Committee in its discretion may alter the foregoing
limitations at or after the date of grant of an Option."

FURTHER, all references to Section 6(g) of the Plan and all other terms
and provisions of the Plan for which an amendment is necessary to further the
purpose of this Second Amendment to Corrections Corporation of America 2000
Stock Incentive Plan (the "Amendment") are hereby amended to conform with the
terms of this Amendment.

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

By: /s/ John D. Ferguson

Title: President



EXHIBIT 10.67

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the "Agreement"), dated as of this 14th day
of February, 2002, is by and between CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA, a
Maryland corporation with its principal place of business at 10 Burton Hills
Boulevard, Nashville, Tennessee 37215 ("CCA" or the "Company"), and J. MICHAEL
QUINLAN, a resident of Springfield, Virginia (the "Employee").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Employee is currently serving as an Executive Vice President
of the Company and as its Chief Operating Officer;

WHEREAS, Employee and the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary,
CCA of Tennessee, Inc., a Tennessee corporation and successor by merger to
Corrections Corporation of America, a Tennessee corporation formerly known as
Correctional Management Services Corporation, were parties to that certain
Employment Agreement, dated August 3, 1999, which by its terms expired on
January 1, 2002 (the "Prior Employment Agreement");

WHEREAS, Employee and Company desire to effect a restructuring of
Employee's position and responsibilities with the Company, pursuant to which
Employee shall no longer serve as an Executive Vice President of the Company and
as its Chief Operating Officer, but rather Employee shall perform such services
for the Company as may be directed from time to time by the Board of Directors
or Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company; and

WHEREAS, the Company and Employee now desire to enter into this
Agreement and set forth the terms and conditions of the foregoing transition and
Employee's continued employment with the Company.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing premises and
the mutual promises, covenants and agreements set forth below and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby
acknowledged, the Company and Employee do hereby agree as follows:

1. Employment. (a) Until such time as the Company engages a full-time
and permanent Chief Operating Officer of the Company to replace Employee in such
position (the "Interim Period"), the Employee shall continue to be employed by
the Company as an Executive Vice President and as its Chief Operating Officer.
In such capacity, Employee shall perform the duties and responsibilities
normally associated with the position of an Executive Vice President and the
Chief Operating Officer of the Company and such other duties as may be directed
from time to time by the Board of Directors and/or Chief Executive Officer and
President of the Company. In addition, during the Interim Period Employee shall
cooperate fully with the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer and
President of the Company in the engagement of, and transition to, a new
full-time and permanent Chief Operating Officer of the Company.



During the Interim Period, Employee shall also serve in such other offices of
the Company to which he may be elected or appointed by the Board of Directors.
In fulfilling these responsibilities and duties, Employee agrees to abide by the
Company's Charter, Bylaws and the direction of its Board of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer and President except to the extent such direction would be
inconsistent with applicable law. Employee shall perform these functions while
being located at the Company's headquarters in Nashville, Tennessee.

(b) Following the Interim Period set forth in (a) above and during the
remaining term of this Agreement (the "Primary Period"), Employee shall cease to
serve as an Executive Vice President of the Company and as its Chief Operating
Officer and shall instead serve in such positions and capacities and perform
such duties and responsibilities as may be directed from time to time by the
Company's Board of Directors and/or the Chief Executive Officer and President of
the Company. In fulfilling these responsibilities and duties, Employee agrees to
abide by the Company's Charter, Bylaws and the direction of its Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer and President except to the extent such
direction would be inconsistent with applicable law. Employee shall perform
these services for the Company while being located in the Washington D.C. area
or at such other location as Employee and the Board of Directors and/or the
Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company may agree.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event the
Company determines at any time during the Term (as hereinafter defined) of this
Agreement not to engage a full-time and permanent Chief Operating Officer of the
Company to replace Employee in such position, upon notice to Employee of such
determination, the Interim Period will be deemed immediately and automatically
ended and the Primary Period commenced, and the obligations and rights of the
parties hereunder shall shift to those applicable during the Primary Period.

2. Term. Subject to the provisions of termination as provided in
Section 4 herein, the term of Employee's employment under this Agreement shall
begin as of the day and year first above written and shall terminate on January
31, 2004 (the "Term"). Upon the expiration of the Term of this Agreement, unless
provided to the contrary herein or otherwise provided by law, all rights and
obligations of the parties hereunder shall cease and be of no further force and
effect. The Company and Employee may thereafter enter into such consulting or
other agreements as the parties may deem desirable with such terms as may be
mutually acceptable to the parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing
herein shall be deemed to obligate either party to enter into such an agreement
or otherwise establish such a relationship upon the expiration of the Term of
this Agreement.

3. Compensation.

3.1. Base Salary During Interim Period. For all duties rendered by
Employee during the Interim Period, the Company shall pay Employee a base salary
(the "Interim Period Base Salary") in such amount as the Board of Directors may
determine, provided that such Interim Period Base Salary is not less than Three
Hundred and Eight Thousand Dollars ($308,000.00)



per year. Such Interim Period Base Salary shall be payable in bi-weekly
installments in accordance with the Company's standard payroll practices.

3.2. Bonus During Interim Period. The Company shall pay Employee an
annual cash bonus during the Interim Period (the "Interim Period Bonus") as may
be applicable to the Company's Executive Vice Presidents and/or the Company's
Chief Operating Officer under the terms of the Company's cash bonus plan then in
effect. Any such bonus earned by and payable to Employee under this Section 3.2.
shall be paid to Employee as provided for by such plan.

3.3. Base Salary During Primary Period. For all duties rendered by
Employee during the Primary Period, the Company shall pay Employee a base salary
(the "Primary Period Base Salary") in such amount as the Board of Directors may
determine, provided that such Primary Period Base Salary is not less than Two
Hundred Forty Thousand Dollars ($240,000.00) per year. Such Primary Period Base
Salary shall be payable in bi-weekly installments in accordance with the
Company's standard payroll practices. For the purposes of this Agreement, the
applicable base salary payable to Employee during either the Interim Period or
during the Primary Period (whichever may be in effect during the time in
gquestion) is known as the Employee's "Base Salary."

3.4. Bonus During Primary Period. The Company shall pay the Employer an
annual cash bonus during the Primary Period (the "Primary Period Bonus") as may
be applicable to the Company's Vice Presidents under the terms of the Company's
cash bonus plan then in effect. Any such bonus earned by and payable to Employee
under this Section 3.4. shall be paid to Employee as provided for by such plan.
For the purposes of this Agreement, the applicable cash bonus payable to
Employee during either the Interim Period or during the Primary Period
(whichever may be in effect during the time in question) is known as the
Employee's "Cash Bonus."

3.5. Benefits. During the Term of this Agreement, Employee shall be
entitled to an annual paid vacation as established by the Board of Directors
and/or the Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company. In addition,
during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall be entitled to participate in
all compensation or employee benefit plans or programs and receive all benefits
and perquisites for which any salaried employees are eligible under any existing
or future plan or program established by the Company for salaried employees.
Employee will participate to the extent permissible under the terms and
provisions of such plans or programs in accordance with program provisions.
These may include group life, disability, hospitalization, health, dental care,
life or other insurance, tax qualified pension, savings, thrift and profit
sharing plans, termination pay programs, sick leave plans, travel or accident
insurance, disability insurance, and contingent compensation plans including
stock purchase programs and stock option plans. Nothing in this Agreement shall
preclude the Company from amending or terminating any of the plans or programs
applicable to salaried employees as long as such amendment or termination is
applicable to all salaried employees. Employee shall also be entitled to
reimbursement for all reasonable business expenses incurred by Employee in the



performance of his duties under this Agreement in accordance with custom and
standard Company policy.

3.6. Withholdings. All compensation payable hereunder shall be subject
to withholding for federal income taxes, FICA and all other applicable federal,
state and local withholding requirements.

3.7. Effect of Agreement on Previously Granted Equity Compensation.
During the Term of this Agreement, any and all options to purchase shares of the
Company's common stock and restricted shares of the Company's Series B Preferred
Stock previously granted to Employee shall continue to vest (to the extent not
already vested) and be exercisable (with respect to options) according to the
terms of the plans under which such options or restricted shares were granted.
Upon the expiration of the Term of this Agreement, any and all unvested options
to purchase shares of common stock and/or restricted shares of Series B
Preferred Stock shall automatically vest (with respect to options, such options
shall vest as the result of Employees "retirement" under the applicable plans to
which they are subject). In the event Employee's employment is terminated prior
to the expiration of the Term, all options and restricted shares shall be
treated as provided for under the terms of the applicable plans to which they
are subject.

4. Termination of Agreement.
4.1. Termination of Agreement Upon Death of Employee.

4.1.1. General. The Company may terminate this Agreement without any
further obligation (except as provided in this Section 4.1.1. and in Section
4.1.2. herein) to Employee upon the death of Employee. If Employee's death
occurs in the course or as the result of the performance of his duties under
this Agreement, however, Employee's Base Salary shall continue to be paid to the
Employee's estate or designated beneficiaries for a period of six (6) months
from the date of Employee's death. Nothing in this Section 4.1.1. is intended to
effect the entitlement of Employee or his estate or beneficiaries to any
payments or benefits to which he or it would otherwise be entitled under any
other Company plan or program.

4.1.2. Salary and Bonus. If Employee's employment shall be terminated
because of Employee's death, Employee's estate or designated beneficiaries shall
receive or commence receiving, as soon as practicable: (A) the actual Cash
Bonus, if any, he would have received in respect of the fiscal year in which his
death occurs, prorated by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of
days of the fiscal year until his death and the denominator of which is 365,
payable at the same time as bonuses are paid to other employees and (B) accrued
but unpaid Base Salary and such payments under applicable plans or programs to
which Employee's estate or designated beneficiaries are entitled pursuant to the
terms of such plans or programs.



4.2. Termination of Agreement Upon Disability of Employee.

4.2.1. General. The Company may terminate this Agreement without any
further obligation (except as provided in this Section 4.2.1. and in Section
4.2.2. herein) to Employee upon the Disability of the Employee (as defined
below). If Employee's Disability occurs in the course or as the result of the
performance of his duties under this Agreement, however, Employee's Base Salary
shall continue to be paid to the Employee or his guardian for a period of six
(6) months from the date of Disability. Nothing in this Section 4.2.1. is
intended to effect the entitlement of Employee or his guardian to any payments
or benefits to which he or it would otherwise be entitled under any other
Company plan or program.

4.2.2. Salary and Bonus. If Employee's employment shall be terminated
because of Employee's Disability, Employee shall receive or commence receiving,
as soon as practicable: (A) the actual Cash Bonus, if any, he would have
received in respect of the fiscal year in which his Disability occurs, prorated
by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days of the fiscal year
until his Disability and the denominator of which is 365, payable at the same
time as bonuses are paid to other employees and (B) accrued but unpaid Base
Salary and such payments under applicable plans or programs to which the
Employee or Employee's guardian is entitled pursuant to the terms of such plans
or programs.

4.2.3. Definition of Disability. For purposes of this Agreement,
"Disability" shall mean Employee's absence from performance of his assigned
duties for the Company on a full-time basis for three (3) consecutive calendar
months as a result of incapacity due to medically documented physical or mental
illness and which, in the opinion of the Employee's physician, makes it
impossible for Employee to perform his duties and responsibilities under this
Agreement.

4.3. Termination for Cause.

4.3.1. General. During the term of this Agreement, the Company may, at
any time and in its sole discretion, terminate this Agreement for Cause,
effective as of the date of provision of written notice to Employee thereof.

4.3.2. Salary and Bonus. If Employee's employment shall be terminated
with Cause: (i) the Company shall pay Employee his Base Salary earned through
the date of termination of Employee's employment with the Company; and (ii) the
Company shall not have any further obligations to Employee under this Agreement
except those required to be provided by law.

4.3.3. Definition of "Cause". For purposes of this Agreement, "Cause"
shall mean: (i) Employee's commission or conviction of a felony or of a crime
involving dishonesty or moral turpitude, including misappropriation or
embezzlement of Company assets or funds; (ii) willful and material wrongdoing by
Employee, including, but not limited to, acts of dishonesty or fraud, which have
an adverse effect on the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates; (iii)
Employee's intentional violation of any applicable local, state or federal law
or regulation



affecting the Company in any material respect; (iv) willful or negligent failure
of Employee to perform his duties to the Company or breach a material obligation
under this Agreement; or (v) any other action by Employee which in the
reasonable judgment of the Board of Directors and/or the Chief Executive Officer
and President of the Company materially adversely impacts the business or
reputation of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any
of the events, actions or breaches set forth above are able to be remedied or
cured by Employee, Cause shall not be deemed to exist (and thus the Company may
not terminate Employee for Cause hereunder) unless Employee fails to remedy or
cure such event, action or breach within ten (10) days after being given written
notice of such event, action or breach by the Company.

4.4, Resignation by Employee for Good Reason.

4.4.1. General. Employee shall be entitled to resign his employment
with the Company for Good Reason at any time pursuant to this Section 4.4. The
fact that Employee may choose not to resign his employment for Good Reason after
the occurrence of any event constituting Good Reason shall in no way affect
Employee's right to do so upon the occurrence of a subsequent transaction or
event which constitutes a Good Reason.

4.4.2. Salary and Bonus. In the event Employee resigns for Good Reason,
Employee shall receive (A) the actual Cash Bonus, if any, he would have received
in respect of the fiscal year in which his resignation for Good Reason occurs,
prorated by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days of the
fiscal year until his resignation for Good Reason and the denominator of which
is 365, payable at the same time as bonuses are paid to other executives and (B)
accrued but unpaid Base Salary and such payments under applicable plans or
programs to which Employee is entitled pursuant to the terms of such plans or
programs. The Company shall also pay Employee, on a monthly basis, the amount
due to Employee as his compensation, based upon the annual rate payable as of
the date of resignation for Good Reason, without any cost of living adjustments.
Such payments shall continue from the date of resignation for Good Reason
through the earlier to occur of (i) the first anniversary date of Employee's
resignation for Good Reason, or (ii) the expiration of the term of this
Agreement. The Company's obligation to make the payments set forth in this
Section 4.4.2. shall be unconditional, and Employee shall not be required to
mitigate the amount of any payment provided for in this Section 4.4.2. In
addition, Employee shall continue to be covered under medical, health, life and
disability insurance plans of the Company of which Employee participates at the
time of his resignation for Good Reason for a period continuing from the date of
resignation for Good Reason through the earlier to occur of (i) the first
anniversary date of Employee's resignation for Good Reason, or (ii) the
expiration of the Term of this Agreement. All payments will cease upon death of
Employee, regardless of the term remaining.

4.4.3 Definition of Good Reason. "Good Reason" shall mean the
occurrence of any of the following events without Employee's express written
consent:

(i) the elimination or material reduction by the Company of
any of the benefits to which Employee is eligible for and entitled to
participate in, whether now in



effect or added during the term of this Agreement or the failure of the
Company to provide Employee with benefits or facilities at least
comparable to those benefits or facilities made available to other
employees within the Company; or

(ii) any purported termination of the employment of Employee
by the Company which is not effected according to the requirements of
this Agreement.

4.5. Resignation by Employee without Good Reason.

4.5.1. General. Employee shall be entitled to resign his employment
with the Company without Good Reason at any time pursuant to this Section 4.5.

4.5.2. Salary and Bonus. If Employee resigns without Good Reason:
(i) the Company shall pay Employee his Base Salary earned through the date of
termination of Employee's employment with the Company as the result of his
resignation and (ii) the Company shall not have any further obligations to
Employee under this Agreement except those required to be provided by law.

5. Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation and Non-Disclosure.

5.1. Non-Competition. Employee, in his former and present capacities as
an executive officer and employee of the Company and its affiliates and
subsidiaries, is well versed in the development, ownership, management and
operation of correctional and detention facilities. In consideration of the
agreements of the Company contained herein, Employee hereby agrees that during
the Time Period, as hereinafter defined, he and/or any of his Affiliates, as
hereinafter defined, will not, directly or indirectly, as employee, agent,
consultant, stockholder, director, manager, co-partner or in any other
individual or representative capacity, own, operate, manage, control, engage in,
invest in or participate in any manner in, act as a consultant or advisor to,
render services for (alone or in association with any Person, firm, corporation
or entity), or otherwise assist any Person or entity that engages in or owns,
invests in, operates, manages or controls any entity, venture or enterprise that
directly or indirectly engages or proposes to engage in any Competitive
Business, as hereinafter defined, anywhere within the United States, without the
express written consent of the Company. Nothing contained herein, however, shall
prohibit Employee from owning common stock or similar interest of any
corporation or entity engaged in a Competitive Business and which is listed on a
recognized securities exchange or traded in the over-the counter-market to the
extent that ownership of such common stock does not exceed five percent (5%) of
the outstanding common stock or similar interest of such corporation or entity.
For the purpose of this Agreement, the following definitions shall apply:

"Affiliate" means any person or entity which, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by or under the
common control of Employee.

"Competitive Business" means the construction, development, financing,
owning, operating or managing of correctional or detention facilities, including
government-owned



prison, jail and detention facilities, or any other business which is currently
conducted or proposed to be conducted by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or affiliates.

"Person" means and includes any individual, partnership, joint venture,
trust, estate, corporation, limited liability company, company, firm, group or
other entity.

"Time Period" means during the period which Employee serves as an
employee of the Company and for a period of one (1) year thereafter; provided,
however, that in the event that the Employee's employment is terminated by the
Company for Good Reason, the provisions of this Section 5.1 shall be of no
further force or effect.

5.2. Non-Solicitation. Employee hereby covenants and agrees that during
the Time Period, Employee shall not directly or indirectly: (i) solicit any
customer or client of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates with
respect to any business in which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
affiliates is then engaged other than on the Company's behalf; or (ii) induce or
encourage any employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates
to leave the employ of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates
other than at the Company's direction.

5.3. Confidential Information. Employee acknowledges and agrees that
all confidential or proprietary information, including but not limited to,
contract terms, financial information, operating data, customer lists, supplier
lists, pricing policies, marketing plans, business plans or models, marketing
information and all other information (the "Confidential Information"), and all
other tangible or intangible items or ideas making up the Confidential
Information owned or developed by or related to the Company, and the goodwill
associated with them, which (i) is, was or will be obtained by Employee as a
result of his employment with the Company, and (ii) is not generally available
to the public, shall remain the sole and exclusive property of the Company,
shall not be used by Employee for any purpose other than in the course of his
employment with the Company hereunder, and shall not be described or disclosed
to any party or person (other than in connection with his employment with the
Company) without the express written consent of the Company. Employee agrees
that following the termination of his employment with the Company (for any
reason), no copies will be retained of any written Confidential Information,
documentary materials, computer hard drives, diskettes, and/or any other
electronic storage devices to which Employee has or had access in the course of
his employment with the Company, except with the express written consent and
permission of the Company. Employee also agrees that following the termination
of his employment with the Company (for any reason), Employee will return all
Company property including, but not limited to, Confidential Information,
written notes, photographs, memoranda and other similar items, keys, computers,
diskettes, other electronic storage devices, and any copies made thereof,
obtained in the course of his relationship, to the Company.

5.4. Remedies. In addition to any other rights and remedies available
under this Agreement, at law or otherwise, the Company shall be eligible for an
injunction to be issued by any court of competent jurisdiction enjoining and
restraining Employee from committing any



violation of Section 5.1., Section 5.2. or Section 5.3. above. Any provisions of
Section 5.1., Section 5.2. or Section 5.3. above which are deemed invalid,
illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to that jurisdiction and
subject to this paragraph, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity,
illegality or unenforceability, without affecting in any way the remaining
provisions hereof in such jurisdiction or rendering that or any other provisions
of this Agreement invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any other jurisdiction.
If any covenant should be deemed invalid, illegal or unenforceable because its
scope is considered excessive, such covenant shall be modified so that the scope
of the covenant is reduced only to the minimum extent necessary to render the
modified covenant valid, legal and enforceable.

6. Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given under this
Agreement shall be deemed given if delivered in person or if in writing, sent by
registered or certified mail to the address set forth following his signature to
this Agreement, in the case of Employee, or to its principal office, in the case
of the Company.

7. Waiver of Breach. The waiver by either party of any provision of
this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent
breach by the other party.

8. Assignment. The rights and obligations of the Company under this
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the successors
and assigns of the Company. Employee acknowledges that the services to be
rendered by him are unique and personal, and Employee may not assign any of his
rights or delegate any of his duties or obligations under this Agreement.

9. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire
understanding and agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the subject
matter hereof and thereof and supersedes all prior agreements and
understandings, oral or written, between the parties related to the subject
matter hereof and thereof. There are no arrangements, understandings,
restrictions, representations or warranties among the parties other than those
expressly set forth herein. Employee expressly acknowledges that the Prior
Employment Agreement has expired by its terms and as a result thereof the
Company has no further obligation to Employee thereunder.

10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed
in accordance with, the laws of the State of Tennessee without giving effect to
conflicts of law principles thereof.

11. Headings. Captions and section headings are used herein for
convenience only, and are not part of this Agreement, and shall not by used in
construing it.

12. Counterparts; Facsimile Signatures. This Agreement may be executed
in any number of counterparts, each of which may be executed by only one of the
parties hereto, each of which shall be enforceable against the party actually
executing such counterpart, and all of which together shall constitute one
instrument. Facsimile signatures shall be deemed to constitute original
signatures.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the

day and year first written.

EMPLOYEE:

/s/ J. Michael Quinlan

J. MICHAEL QUINLAN
Address: [intentionally omitted]

THE COMPANY:
CORRECTION CORPORATION OF AMERICA

By: /s/ John D. Ferguson

Title: President
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EXHIBIT 21

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA

First Tier Subsidiaries:

Second Tier Subsidiaries:

CCA of Tennessee, Inc., a Tennessee corporation
Prison Realty Management, Inc., a Tennessee corporation

CCA (UK) Ltd., a United Kingdom corporation

Corrections Corporation of Canada, Inc., a Canadian corporation

CCA International, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Viccor Investments PTY. LTD., a Victoria (Australia) corporation

Technical and Business Institutes of America, Inc., a Tennessee corporation
TransCor Puerto Rico, Inc., a Puerto Rico corporation

TransCor America, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

As independent public accountants, we hereby consent to the incorporation of our
report dated February 11, 2002 (except with respect to the matter discussed in
the last paragraph of Note 16, as to which the date is March 9, 2002) included
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K into the Company's previously filed

Registration Statement File Numbers 333-70625, 333-41778, 333-69352, 333-69358,
and 333-69360.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Nashville, Tennessee
March 19, 2002



EXHIBIT 99.4

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA
10 BURTON HILLS BOULEVARD
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 37219

March 21, 2002

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
washington, D.C. 20549

Re: Corrections Corporation of America (the "Company")
Ladies and Gentlemen:

This letter is being provided to you pursuant to Temporary Note 3T to
Article 3 of Regulation S-X promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. Arthur Andersen LLP, the Company's independent auditors for the year
ended December 31, 2001, has represented to the Company that the audit of the
Company's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2001, included as
part of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001, was subject to Arthur Andersen LLP's quality control system for the U.S.
accounting and auditing practice, and as such, the Company has received
reasonable assurance that the engagement was conducted in compliance with
professional standards and that there was appropriate continuity of Arthur
Andersen LLP personnel working on the audit and availability of national office
consultation. Availability of personnel at foreign affiliates of Arthur Andersen
LLP was not relevant to the audit.

Sincerely,

CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA






